
Page 1 of 4 

WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 29, 2025 
11:30 AM 

ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM 2 
  OAKLAND, CA 94612 

OBSERVE 

▪ To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on this link:   
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983 at the noticed meeting time.  

▪ To listen to the meeting by phone, please call the numbers below at the noticed meeting time: 
Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location):  

▪ iPhone one-tap: US: +16699006833, 82880493983# or +13462487799, 82880493983# 

▪ US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 
6799 or +1 929 205 6099  

▪ International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax 

▪ Webinar ID: 828 8049 3983. 

▪ If asked for a participant ID or code, press #. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
There are two ways to submit public comments.  

▪ Speaker Card:  All persons wishing to address the Board must complete a speaker’s card, stating 
their name and the agenda item they wish to address, including “Open Forum”. 

▪ eComment:  To send your comment directly to staff BEFORE the meeting starts, please email to 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov with “PFRS Board Meeting Public Comment” in the subject line for the 
corresponding meeting.  Please note that eComment submission closes two (2) hours before 
posted meeting time.  

If you have any questions, please email Maxine Visaya, Administrative Analyst I at 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov 

Retirement Unit 
150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 
Oakland, California 94612 

 

RETIREMENT BOARD MEMBERS 

Walter L. Johnson, Sr. 
President 

Jaime T. Godfrey 
Vice President 

Martin J. Melia 
Member 

Robert W. Nichelini 
Member 

John C. Speakman 
Member 

R. Steven Wilkinson 
Member 

Erin Roseman 
Member 

 

MEETING of the BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
of the OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) 

AGENDA 

Due to the termination of the 
statewide COVID-19 State of 
Emergency by the Governor of 
California, effective March 1, 2023, 
all meetings of the Oakland Police 
& Fire Retirement System Board 
and its Committees will be 
conducted in person. 

Meetings are held in wheelchair 
accessible facilities. 

The Board may take action on 
items not on the agenda only if 
findings pursuant to the Sunshine 
Ordinance and Brown Act are 
made that the matter is urgent or 
an emergency. 

For additional information, contact 
the Retirement Unit by calling (510) 
238-7295. or send an email to 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov


OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION MEETING AGENDA 
JANUARY 29, 2025 
 

Page 2 of 4 

ORDER OF BUSINESS  

   
A. Subject: POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) BOARD OF 

ADMINISTRATION MEETING MINUTES 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: APPROVE the December 11, 2024 PFRS Board of Administration Meeting 
Minutes 

   
B. Subject: PFRS ACTUARY VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 From: Cheiron, Inc. 

 Recommendation: APPROVE the PFRS Actuary Valuation Report as of July 1, 2024 
   
   

C. AUDIT & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE AGENDA – JANUARY 29, 2025 
  

C1. Subject: ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES REPORT 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding PFRS administrative expenses as of 

November 30, 2024 
   

C2. Subject: RESOLUTION NO. 8118 
TRAVEL REQUEST:  JAIME T. GODFREY 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution No. 8118 authorizing request of Oakland Police and Fire 

Retirement System Board Member Jaime T. Godfrey to travel and attend 
Pension Bridge The Annual 2025 conference from March 24, 2025, through 
March 26, 2025, in Half Moon Bay, CA, and authorizing member reimbursement 
of travel-related expenses in an amount not to exceed one thousand nine 
hundred fifty dollars ($1,950.00) 

   
C3. Subject: RESOLUTION NO. 8119 

TRAVEL REQUEST:  R. STEVEN WILKINSON 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution No. 8119 authorizing request of Oakland Police and Fire 

Retirement System Board Member R. Steven Wilkinson to travel and attend 
2025 California Association of Public Retirement Systems (CALAPRS) General 
Assembly from March 2, 2025, through March 5, 2025 in Napa, CA, and 
authorizing direct payment to the vendor for conference registration fees and 
member reimbursement of travel- related expenses in an amount not to exceed 
two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) 

   
C4. Subject: MANNER OF PFRS BOARD & COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT an informational report regarding the manner of PFRS Board & 

Committee Meetings and APPROVE the Committee’s recommend course of 
action 

   



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION MEETING AGENDA 
JANUARY 29, 2025 
 

Page 3 of 4 

D. INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE AGENDA – JANUARY 29, 2025 

  
D1. Subject: ECONOMIC AND INVESTMENT MARKET OVERVIEW 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the Global Investment Markets as of   
December 31, 2024 

   
D2. Subject: PFRS PRELIMINARY INVESTMENT FUND PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding PFRS Preliminary Investment Fund 
Performance as of December 31, 2024 

   
D3. Subject: PFRS INVESTMENT POLICY UPDATE: 

ASSET ALLOCATION IMPLEMENTATION (VERBAL REPORT) 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: RECEIVE update regarding the status of the implementation of the new target 
asset allocation of the PFRS Investment Portfolio 

   
D4. Subject: PFRS INVESTMENT POLICY UPDATE: 

INTERNATIONAL EQUITY INVESTMENT STRATEGY MANAGER SEARCH 
(VERBAL REPORT) 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: RECEIVE update regarding the status of the Request for Proposal (RFP) for 
International Equity investment strategy manager search 

   
D5. Subject: BENCHMARK UPDATE RECOMMENDATIONS: 

FIXED INCOME & CREDIT 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: RECEIVE informational report regarding a benchmark review of the Fixed 
Income asset class APPROVE Meketa Investment Group’s recommendation 
regarding a proposed update to the primary benchmark of the Fixed Income (as 
combined Fixed Income & Credit) asset class 

   
D6. Subject: MANAGER SEARCH UPDATE & FINALIST RECOMMENDATIONS: 

CORE FIXED INCOME INVESTMENT STRATEGY  
 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: RECEIVE informational report regarding the results of the Request for 
Proposals (RFP) for the Core Fixed Income investment strategy manager 
search. DISCUSS and APPROVE Meketa Investment Group’s 
recommendation regarding prospective candidates to interview to serve as 
PFRS Core Fixed Income investment strategy managers. 

   
   
   
   
   



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION MEETING AGENDA 
JANUARY 29, 2025 
 

Page 4 of 4 

 

D7. Subject: MANAGER SEARCH UPDATE & FINALIST RECOMMENDATIONS: 
CORE PLUS FIXED INCOME INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: RECEIVE informational report regarding the results of the Request for 
Proposals (RFP) for the Core Plus Fixed Income investment strategy manager 
search. DISCUSS and APPROVE Meketa Investment Group’s 
recommendation regarding prospective candidates to interview to serve as 
PFRS Core Plus Fixed Income investment strategy managers. 

   
E. Subject: DISCUSS PROPERTY TAX OVERRIDE (PTO) 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: RECEIVE informational report regarding the Property Tax Override (PTO) 

   
F. Subject: MEMBER RESOLUTION NOS. 8120 – 8121 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: APPROVE Member Resolution Nos. 8120 – 8121 

   F1. RESOLUTION 
NO. 8120 

Resolution fixing the monthly allowance of the surviving spouses of the following 
retired members of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System in the 
amounts indicated: 
 Deceased Member Surviving Spouse Monthly Allowance 

▪ Patrick H. Caulfield Antoinette Caulfield $4,829.97  

▪ Alex R. Mathews Patricia Mathews $4,150.73  

▪ James M. Reed Ouida E. Reed $4,154.55  

 

F2. RESOLUTION 
NO. 8121 

Resolution approving death benefit payment and directing a warrant thereunder 
in the total sum of $1,000.00 payable to the beneficiary of the following 
deceased member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System: 
▪ George Kastanos 
▪ Raymond C. Nicolai 

 

   

G. PENDING ITEMS  

H. NEW BUSINESS  

I. OPEN FORUM  

J. FUTURE SCHEDULING 

K. ADJOURNMENT 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

DECEMBER 11, 2024 
PAGE 1 OF 3 

 

A SPECIAL MEETING OF THE OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) 
BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION was held Wednesday, December 11, 2024, at One Frank Ogawa Plaza, 
Hearing Room 2, Oakland, California. 

Board Members: ▪ Walter L. Johnson President  

 ▪ Jaime T. Godfrey Vice President (Excused) 

 ▪ Martin J. Melia Member  

 ▪ Robert W. Nichelini  Member  

 ▪ Erin Roseman Member  

 ▪ John C. Speakman Member 

 ▪ R. Steven Wilkinson Member (Excused) 

Additional Attendees: ▪ David F. Jones PFRS Plan Administrator & Secretary  

 ▪ Téir Jenkins PFRS Investment & Operations Manager  

 ▪ Maxine Visaya PFRS Staff Member 

 ▪ Selia Warren PFRS Legal Counsel 

 ▪ David Sancewich Meketa Investment Group 

 ▪ Craig Harner Macias, Gini, & O'Connell LLP 

 ▪ Yia Yang Macias, Gini, & O'Connell LLP 

The meeting was called to order at 9:40 a.m. Pacific 

A. APPROVAL OF THE PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION MEETING MINUTES 
Member Nichelini made a motion to approve the October 30, 2024, PFRS Board of Administration 
Meeting Minutes, second by Member Speakman. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED Y / MELIA: Y / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: EXCUSED] 
(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

B. AUDIT REPORT OF PFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:  FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

Craig Harner of Macias, Gini, & O’Connell, LLP (MGO) presented the annual audit report of PFRS financial 

statements for fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. It was reported MGO completed the audit on November 27, 

2024, and issued an unmodified opinion on the financial statements, which is the highest-level assurance that 

an independent auditor can give an organization regarding the fair presentation of the amounts in their financial 

statements and disclosures. C. Harner highlighted there were no new accounting policies or standards adopted, 

nor did MGO did not identify any findings, there were no disagreements with management or significant 

difficulties performing the audit, and there were no material audit adjustments or uncorrected misstatements. 

The required summary report to the PFRS Board of Administration was also provided and it was noted the 

second section contains recent accounting pronouncements the system will need to consider over the next 

couple of years if and when they become applicable. 
 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to accept MGO’s report of the Audit of PFRS Financial 
Statements for the Year Ended June 30, 2024, second by Member Speakman. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED Y / MELIA: Y / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: EXCUSED] 
(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

DECEMBER 11, 2024 
PAGE 2 OF 3 

 

C. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES REPORT: OCTOBER 31, 2024 

PFRS Investment & Operations Manager Jenkins presented an informational report regarding PFRS’ 
administrative expenditures as of October 31, 2024. PFRS has an approved annual budget of approximately 
$4.1 million and expensed approximately $786,000 to date for fiscal year 2024/2025. Membership consisted 
of 618 retired members and beneficiaries, of which there are 386 are Police and 232 are Fire members and 
beneficiaries. 

MOTION:  Member Speakman made a motion to accept the informational report regarding PFRS 
Administrative Expenses Report as of October 31, 2024, second by Member Nichelini. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED Y / MELIA: Y / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: EXCUSED] 
(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

D. PFRS INVESTMENT FUND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE UPDATE AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 

David Sancewich of Meketa Investment Group (Meketa) presented an informational report regarding 
PFRS Investment Fund Quarterly Performance Update as of September 30, 2024 and highlighted the 
Total Portfolio Review and the Summary of Cash Flows. 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to approve Meketa’s informational report regarding PFRS 
Investment Fund Quarterly Performance Update as of September 30, 2024, second by Member 
Speakman. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED Y / MELIA: Y / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: EXCUSED] 
(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

E. $13.2 MILLION DRAWDOWN FOR PFRS MEMBER RETIREMENT ALLOWANCES FROM  
JANUARY 1, 2025 THROUGH MARCH 30, 2025 

David Sancewich of Meketa presented informational report regarding PFRS cash flow and 
recommended drawdown of $13.2 million, which included a $8.7 Million contribution from the City of 
Oakland and a $4.5 Million contribution from the PFRS Investment Fund, to be used to pay PFRS 
Member Retirement Allowances from January 1, 2025 through March 30, 2025 for Fiscal Year 
2024/2025 and for funds to be drawn from Wellington Select Equity Strategy within PFRS U.S. Equity 
Portfolio. 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to approve Meketa’s recommended drawdown of  $13.2 
million, comprised of an $8.7 Million contribution from the City of Oakland and a $4.5 Million contribution 
from the PFRS Investment Fund and for funds to be drawn from Wellington Select Equity Strategy, 
second by Member Speakman. Motion Passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED Y / MELIA: Y / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: EXCUSED] 
(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

DECEMBER 11, 2024 
PAGE 3 OF 3 

 

F. MEMBER RESOLUTION NO. 8117 
Resolution approving death benefit payments and directing a warrant thereunder in the total sum of 
$1,000.00 payable to the beneficiary of the following deceased members of the Oakland Police and Fire 
Retirement System: 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to approve Resolution No. 8117, second by Member 
Speakman. Motion Passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED Y / MELIA: Y / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: EXCUSED] 
(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

G. PENDING ITEMS – PFRS Plan Administrator Jones reported the PFRS Ad Hoc Committee did not meet 
in advance of today’s special meeting but are scheduled to meet in advance of the January 2025 
meeting. 

H. NEW BUSINESS – Member Roseman advised the Board that City Council is considering a reduction of 
the amount of PTO collected in an overall effort to balance the City’s FY 2024-2025 budget and will be 
placing the matter on an upcoming agenda to provide an update to the Board and facilitate discussion. 
Any questions on the matter can be directed to Member Roseman in advance of the next meeting. 

I. OPEN FORUM – None 

J. FUTURE SCHEDULING – The next regular Board Meeting will be held in-person and is tentatively 
scheduled to occur Wednesday, January 29, 2025, at One Frank Ogawa Plaza, Hearing Room 2, 
Oakland, CA. However, the Board considered the possibility of convening for a Special Meeting in 
advance of the next regularly scheduled meeting to discuss the PTO if deemed urgent and necessary. 

K. ADJOURNMENT – Member Speakman made a motion to adjourn, second by Member Nichelini. Motion 
passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED Y / MELIA: Y / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: EXCUSED] 
(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

The meeting adjourned at 10:00 a.m.  
 

                                    
       DAVID F. JONES                              DATE 

               PLAN ADMINISTRATOR & SECRETARY 

▪ Ronald G. Bailey 

▪ Daniel A. Murray 



 

Oakland Police and Fire 

Retirement System 

Actuarial Valuation Report 

as of July 1, 2024 

Produced by Cheiron 

January 2025 

 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Section Page 

 

Letter of Transmittal ........................................................................................................................ i 

 

Foreword ........................................................................................................................................ iii 

 

 
Section I  Executive Summary .................................................................................................1 

 

Section II  Identification and Assessment of Risks ...................................................................9 

 

Section III  Assets .....................................................................................................................18 

 

Section IV  Liabilities ...............................................................................................................22 

 

Section V  Contributions..........................................................................................................26 

 

Section VI  Headcount and Benefit Payment Projections .........................................................28 

 

 

Appendices 
 

Appendix A  Membership Information .......................................................................................30 

 

Appendix B Statement of Actuarial Assumptions and Methods ................................................34 

 

Appendix C  Summary of Plan Provisions ..................................................................................37 

 

Appendix D  Glossary .................................................................................................................39 

 

 

 



 

  

 

January 7, 2025 

 

City of Oakland Police and Fire 

Retirement System Board 

150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 

Oakland, CA  94612 

 

Dear Members of the Board: 

 

At your request, we have conducted an actuarial valuation of the Oakland Police and Fire 

Retirement System (PFRS, the Plan) as of July 1, 2024. This report contains information on the 

Plan’s assets and liabilities. This report also discloses the employer contributions in accordance 

with the funding agreement between the City of Oakland and PFRS, based on the current financial 

status of the Plan. Your attention is called to the Foreword in which we refer to the general 

approach employed in the preparation of this report. 

 

The purpose of this report is to present the results of the annual actuarial valuation of the Plan. 

This report is for the use of the Retirement Board and the auditors in preparing financial reports in 

accordance with applicable law and accounting requirements. Other users of this report are not 

intended users as defined in the Actuarial Standards of Practice, and Cheiron assumes no duty or 

liability to such other users. 

 

The assumptions used in this report were adopted by the Board of Administration at the March 27, 

2024 Board meeting based on recommendations from our experience study covering plan 

experience for the period from July 1, 2011 through June 30, 2023. We believe these assumptions 

are reasonable for the purpose of the valuation. 

 

The funding ratios in this report are for the purpose of establishing contribution rates. These 

measures are not appropriate for assessing the sufficiency of plan assets to cover the estimated cost 

of settling the plan’s benefit obligations. 

 

Cheiron utilizes ProVal actuarial valuation software leased from Winklevoss Technologies 

(WinTech) to calculate liabilities and project benefit payments. We have relied on WinTech as the 

developer of ProVal. We have a basic understanding of ProVal and have used ProVal in 

accordance with its original intended purpose. We have not identified any material inconsistencies 

in assumptions or output of ProVal that would affect this valuation. 

 

Deterministic and stochastic projections in this valuation report were developed using R-scan, a 

proprietary tool used to illustrate the impact of changes in assumptions, methods, plan provisions, 

or actual experience (particularly investment experience) on the future financial status of the Plan 

and assessing the probability of different outcomes based on a range of potential investment 

returns. R-scan uses standard roll-forward techniques. Because R-scan does not automatically 

capture how changes in one variable affect all other variables, some scenarios may not be 

consistent. 

 



City of Oakland Police and Fire 

Retirement System Board 

January 7, 2025 

Page ii 

 

 ii 

We relied on Cheiron colleagues for the development of the model. The stochastic projections of 

investment returns assume that each future year’s investment return is independent from all other 

years and is identically distributed according to a lognormal distribution. The standard deviation 

used in the stochastic projection of investment returns was provided by the Plan’s investment 

consultant. 

 

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements due to such 

factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the economic or 

demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; and, changes in 

plan provisions or applicable law. 

 

This report and its contents have been prepared in accordance with generally recognized and 

accepted actuarial principles and practices and our understanding of the Code of Professional 

Conduct and applicable Actuarial Standards of Practice set out by the Actuarial Standards Board 

as well as applicable laws and regulations. Furthermore, as credentialed actuaries, we meet the 

Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the opinion contained in 

this report. This report does not address any contractual or legal issues. We are not attorneys, and 

our firm does not provide any legal services or advice. 

 

Sincerely, 

Cheiron 

 

 

 

Graham A. Schmidt, FSA, EA, MAAA, FCA Anne D. Harper, FSA, EA, MAAA 

Principal Consulting Actuary                Principal Consulting Actuary 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

FOREWORD 

 

 iii 

Cheiron has performed the actuarial valuation of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

(PFRS, the Plan) as of July 1, 2024. The valuation is organized as follows: 

 

• In Section I, the Executive Summary, we describe the purpose of an actuarial valuation, 

summarize the key results found in this valuation, and disclose important trends. 

 

• The Main Body of the report presents details on the Plan’s 

 

o Section II – Identification and Assessment of Risks 

o Section III – Assets 

o Section IV – Liabilities 

o Section V – Contributions 

o Section VI – Head Count and Benefit Payment Projections 

 

• In the Appendices, we conclude our report with detailed information describing plan 

membership (Appendix A), actuarial assumptions and methods employed in the valuation 

(Appendix B), a summary of pertinent plan provisions (Appendix C), and a glossary of key 

actuarial terms (Appendix D). 

 
The results of this report rely on future experience conforming to the underlying assumptions. To 
the extent that actual plan experience deviates from the underlying assumptions, the results would 
vary accordingly. 
 

In preparing our report, we relied on information (some oral and some written) supplied by the 

Plan’s staff. This information includes, but is not limited to, plan provisions, employee data, and 

financial information. We performed an informal examination of the obvious characteristics of the 

data for reasonableness and consistency in accordance with Actuarial Standard of Practice No. 23. 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 1 

The primary purpose of the actuarial valuation and this report is to measure, describe, and identify 

the following as of the valuation date: 

 
• The financial condition of the Plan, 
• Past and expected trends in the financial progress of the Plan,  
• Calculation of the actuarially determined contributions for years beginning in Fiscal Year 

2025-2026, and 
• An assessment and disclosure of key risks. 

 

In the balance of this Executive Summary, we present (A) the basis upon which this year’s 

valuation was completed, (B) the key findings of this valuation including a summary of all key 

financial results, (C) an examination of the historical trends, and (D) the projected financial 

outlook for the Plan. 

 

A. Valuation Basis 
 

This valuation estimates the projected employer contributions in accordance with the funding 

agreement dated July 1, 2012 between the City of Oakland and the PFRS. Based on that agreement, 

employer contributions were suspended until fiscal year 2017-2018, at which time they resumed 

at a level based upon the recommendation of the actuary. Section V of this report shows the 

development of the employer contribution for fiscal year 2025-2026.  

 

The Plan’s funding policy is to contribute an amount equal to the sum of: 

 

• The normal cost under the Entry Age Normal Cost Method (which is zero, as there are no 

active members), 

• Amortization of the Unfunded Actuarial Liability, and 

• The Plan’s expected administrative expenses. 

 

This valuation was prepared based on the plan provisions shown in Appendix C. There have been 

no changes in plan provisions since the prior valuation. 

 

A summary of the assumptions and methods used in the current valuation is shown in Appendix 

B. There have been no changes to the actuarial assumptions or methods since the prior valuation, 

other than the update to the discount rate used to calculate the Low Default Risk Obligation 

Measure (LDROM).  



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 2 

B. Key Findings of this Valuation 

 

The key results of the July 1, 2024 actuarial valuation are as follows: 

 

• The actuarially determined employer contribution amount for Fiscal Year 2025-2026 is 

$27.5 million, based on projecting the Actuarial Liabilities and the Actuarial Value of 

Assets to the end of the 2024-2025 Fiscal Year. This represents a decrease of  

$10.1 million from the estimated amount in the prior valuation for the same Fiscal Year. 

The contribution is assumed to be paid in equal installments throughout the year, or on 

average at approximately January 1, 2026. 

 

• During the year ended June 30, 2024, the return on Plan assets was 10.94% on a market 

value basis net of investment expenses, as compared to the 5.00% assumption for the  

2023-2024 Plan year. This resulted in a market value gain on investments of $24.4 million. 

The Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) is calculated as the expected AVA plus 20% of the 

difference between the market value and the expected AVA, which is restricted to be 

between 90% and 110% of the MVA. This smoothed value of assets returned 5.70%, for 

an actuarial asset gain of $2.9 million. 

 

• The Plan experienced a gain on the Actuarial Liability of $0.6 million, the net result of 

changes in the population and changes in benefits. The primary factor was an excess of 

survivor deaths above the number expected. Combining the liability gain and asset loss, 

the Plan experienced a total gain of $3.5 million. 

 

• The Plan’s smoothed funded ratio, the ratio of Actuarial Value of Assets over Actuarial 

Liability, increased from 81.4% last year to 88.3% as of June 30, 2024. The Plan’s funded 

ratio increased from 79.6% to 90.6% on a Market Value of Assets (MVA) basis. 

 

• The Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL) is the excess of the Plan’s Actuarial Liability over 

the Actuarial Value of Assets. The Plan experienced a decrease in the UAL from  

$97.0 million to $58.4 million as of July 1, 2024. 

 

• Overall participant membership decreased compared to last year, as is expected for a closed 

plan. 26 members died, 14 of whom had their benefits continue to a surviving spouse. In 

addition, 15 surviving beneficiaries died. There are no active members of the Plan. 

 

• If the contribution were determined using a projected asset value based on the current 

market (i.e., non-smoothed) value of assets, the contribution for FY 2025-2026 would be 

$17.5 million. The contribution is smaller than that determined using the projected AVA 

because the current market value reflects the full amount of prior net investment gains, 

while under the AVA projection, a portion of those gains are deferred until years after  

FY 2025-2026. 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 3 

Below we present Table I-1 that summarizes all the key results of the valuation with respect to 

membership, assets and liabilities, and contributions. The results are presented and compared for 

both the current and prior plan year. 

 

    
 

  

July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 % Change

Participant Counts

Active Participants 0 0 

Participants Receiving a Benefit               653               626 -4.1%

Total               653               626 -4.1%

Total Annual Benefits $ 51,217 $ 50,257 

Assets and Liabilities

Actuarial Liability (AL) $        522,457 $        496,690 -4.9%

Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA)        425,449        438,333 3.0%

Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL) $          97,008 $          58,357 -39.8%

Funded Ratio (AVA) 81.4% 88.3% 6.8%

MarketValue of Assets (MVA) $        416,130 $        450,008 

Funded Ratio (MVA) 79.6% 90.6% 11.0%

Contributions

Employer Contribution (FY2024-25) $          34,845 N/A

Employer Contribution (FY2025-26) $          37,585 $          27,516 -26.8%

TABLE I-1

Summary of Principal Plan Results

($ in thousands)



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 4 

C. Historical Trends 
 

Despite the fact that for most retirement plans the greatest attention is given to the current valuation 

results and in particular, the size of the current Unfunded Actuarial Liability and the employer 

contribution, it is important to remember that each valuation is merely a snapshot in the long-term 

progress of a pension fund. It is more important to judge a current year’s valuation results relative 

to historical trends, as well as trends expected into the future. 

 

Assets and Liabilities 

 

The chart below compares the Market Value of Assets (MVA) and Actuarial Value of Assets 

(AVA) to the Actuarial Liabilities. The percentages shown in the table below the chart are the 

ratios of the Actuarial Value of Assets to the Actuarial Liability (the funded ratio). We note that 

for the GASB disclosure report, this ratio is disclosed using the MVA. 

 

The funded ratio increased between 2012 and 2013 due to a $210 million contribution in  

July 2012. The funded ratio decreased from 67.2% to 49.5% between 2013 and 2017 due to 

assumption changes, liability losses, new Police MOUs, and the lack of contributions since the 

July 2012 payment. The funded ratio has increased from 49.5% to 88.3% over the past seven years 

due to recommencement of contributions, the FYE 2021 and FYE 2024 asset gains, and to a lesser 

extent other asset and liability gains and assumption changes. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AVA Funded Ratio 39.1% 67.2% 64.6% 61.4% 54.0% 49.5% 53.7% 58.0% 62.2% 72.2% 76.5% 81.4% 88.3%

UAL (Millions) 401.1$  215.0$  230.2$  247.5$  309.4$  340.1$  299.8$  261.8$  225.5$  159.3$  130.2$  97.0$    58.4$    

$0

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

$600

$700

$800

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

M
il
li
o

n
s

M
ill
io
n
s

Assets and Liabilities

Actuarial Liability Assets-Smoothed Assets at Market Value



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 5 

Cash Flows 
 
The chart below shows the Plan’s net cash flow, excluding investment returns (i.e., contributions 
less benefit payments and administrative expenses). This is an important measure, as it reflects the 
ability to have funds available to meet benefit payments without having to make difficult 
investment decisions, especially during volatile markets. 
 

 
 

The contributions, benefit payments, administrative expenses, investment returns, and Net Cash 

Flow (NCF) excluding investment returns and related investment expenses are represented by the 

scale on the left. The Plan’s net cash flow has been negative 11 of the last 12 fiscal years, most 

notably during 2014-2017 when contributions were not made to the Plan following the Pension 

Obligation Bond in 2013. Even with the recommencing of contributions in 2018 under the Plan’s 

funding policy, benefit payments exceeded contributions for the prior seven years, with a negative 

cash flow rate between 2-5% of plan assets per year.  

 

A negative cash flow magnifies the losses during a market decline, hindering the Plan in its ability 

to absorb market fluctuations. The implications of a plan in negative cash flow are that the impact 

of market fluctuations can be more severe: as assets are being depleted to pay benefits in down 

markets, there is less principal available to be reinvested during favorable return periods. The Plan 

is expected to have a growing negative cash flow position going forward, since the Plan is closed 

and the assets are expected to decline as the remaining benefits are paid out. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 6 

D. Future Expected Financial Trends 
 

The analysis of projected financial trends is perhaps the most important component of this valuation. In this section, we present our 

assessment of the implications of the July 1, 2023 valuation results in terms of benefit security (assets over liabilities) and contribution 

levels. All the projections in this section are based on the assumption that the Plan will exactly achieve the assumed rate of return each 

year of 5.0%. 

 

Projection of Employer Contributions 

 

The above graph shows a projection of the City’s required contributions compared to the same projections from last year’s report. The 

City’s required contribution decreased from $34.8 million in fiscal year 2025 to $27.5 million in fiscal year 2026, and then is expected 

to decrease to $0 the following year as the current unfunded liability is fully amortized and recent net asset gains offset the assumed 

administrative expenses. This assumes that the annual payments by the City will equal the administrative expenses, plus an amount 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 7 

needed to amortize the remaining unfunded liability as a level percentage of overall Safety payroll by July 1, 2026 as is required under 

the City’s charter.  

 

After July 1, 2026, the UAL is expected to be fully amortized, and the contribution would generally be equal to the administrative 

expense, beginning in 2026-2027. However, under the current asset smoothing method there are still expected to be some deferred asset 

gains, which will not be recognized until after 2026; the deferred recognition of these gains is expected to result in a contribution slightly 

below the administrative expenses in the years after FYE 2028 in the graph on the previous page. 

 

Note that the graph on the previous page does not forecast any future actuarial gains or losses or changes to the amortization policy. We 

also note that the occurrence of any future gains or losses in the years following the required full amortization date (July 1, 2026) may 

require a reconsideration of the funding policy for those gains or losses, as otherwise these changes would need to be recognized over 

an extremely short period. 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 8 

Asset and Liability Projections: 

 

The following graph shows the projection of assets and liabilities, assuming that assets will earn the assumed rate of return each year 

during the projection period. 

 

Projection of Assets and Liabilities 

 

 
 

The graph shows that the projected funded status increases as the current unfunded liability is fully amortized, assuming all actuarial 

assumptions are met. Once the Plan is projected to reach 100% funding, both the assets and liabilities are expected to decline as the Plan 

continues to pay out benefits to the remaining members. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF RISKS 

 

 9 

Actuarial valuations are based on a set of assumptions about future economic and demographic 

experience. These assumptions represent a reasonable estimate of future experience, but actual 

future experience will undoubtedly be different and may be significantly different. This section of 

the report is intended to identify the primary risks to the plan, provide some background 

information about those risks, and provide an assessment of those risks. 

 

Identification of Risks 
 

The fundamental risk to a pension plan is that the contributions needed to pay the benefits become 

unaffordable. While the Plan cannot determine on its own what contribution level is unaffordable, 

we can project expected contributions and illustrate the potential impact of key sources of risk on 

those contribution rates so the City can assess affordability. While there are a number of factors 

that could lead to contribution amounts becoming unaffordable, we believe the primary sources 

are: 

 

• Investment risk, 

• COLA risk,  

• Longevity risk, and 

• Contribution risk. 

 

Other risks that we have not identified may also turn out to be important. 

 

Investment Risk is the potential for investment returns to be different than expected. Lower 

investment returns than anticipated will increase the Unfunded Actuarial Liability, necessitating 

higher contributions in the future unless there are other gains that offset these investment losses. 

In contrast, higher investment returns than anticipated may create a potentially significant surplus 

that could be difficult to use until all benefits have been paid. Expected future investment returns 

and their potential volatility are determined by the Plan’s asset allocation. 

 

COLA Risk is the potential for future COLAs to increase contributions. Retirement allowances are 

based on the pensionable compensation attached to the average rank held during the three years 

immediately preceding retirement. Cost-of-living adjustments are therefore based on salary 

increases for current employees with the retiree’s same rank at retirement. Salary increases less 

than or greater than those assumed cause gains or losses, respectively. COLA increases different 

from those expected over the last 12 years are reflected in the “MOU Changes” column in the chart 

on the next page. 

 

Longevity risk is the potential for mortality experience to be different than expected. Generally, 

longevity risk emerges slowly over time and is often exceeded by other changes, particularly those 

due to investment returns. However, for a closed plan such as PFRS, the mortality experience will 

have a significant impact on future cash flows. The chart on the next page shows the liability gains 

and losses over the last 12 years compared to the total change in the UAL for each year, a portion 

of which is associated with mortality experience.  

 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF RISKS 

 

 10 

Contribution risk is the potential for actual future actuarially determined contributions to deviate 

from expected future contributions. The City Charter sets the Plan’s contribution policy. It requires 

the unfunded liability of the plan to be fully amortized by June 30, 2026. The Actuarially 

Determined Contribution (ADC) is based on a short remaining amortization period. As a result, a 

significant loss or change in assumptions may cause a large increase in the ADC.  

 

The table below shows a 12-year history of changes in the UAL by source. 

 

 
 

The UAL was reduced by approximately $342.7 million over the last 12 years. Contributions in 

excess of the “tread water” level (i.e., interest on the UAL plus administrative expenses) reduced 

the UAL by $320.4 million, liability experience reduced the UAL by $34.5 million, and investment 

returns decreased the UAL by $65.2 million. Meanwhile changes to MOUs increased the UAL by 

$37.8 million and assumption changes increased the UAL by $39.6 million.  

 

Plan Maturity Measures 
 

The future financial condition of a mature pension plan is more sensitive to each of the risks 

identified above than a less mature plan. Before assessing each of these risks, it is important to 

understand the maturity of the plan. 

 

Plan maturity can be measured in a variety of ways, but they all get at one basic dynamic – the 

larger the plan is compared to the contribution or revenue base that supports it; the more sensitive 

the plan will be to risk. Given that the Plan has been closed to new entrants since 1976 with no 

FYE

MOU 

Changes

Assumption 

Changes

Contributions 

vs. Tread 

Water Investments

Liability 

Experience

Total UAL 

Change

2013 4,091             0                   (188,922)          (3,803)           2,592             (186,042)        

2014 0                    30,598          15,146             (10,729)         (19,869)          15,147           

2015 0                    0                   17,023             (6,171)           6,522             17,374           

2016 43,480           0                   15,033             486               2,830             61,829           

2017 0                    22,730          22,888             (4,958)           (9,959)            30,702           

2018 (1,475)            0                   (24,214)            (7,128)           (7,467)            (40,284)          

2019 (7,173)            0                   (26,691)            (5,919)           1,797             (37,986)          

2020 (6,541)            0                   (27,417)            (1,877)           (417)               (36,252)          

2021 0                    0                   (29,775)            (29,872)         (6,637)            (66,284)          

2022 5,389             (3,926)           (34,056)            5,319            (1,784)            (29,059)          

2023 0                    (9,758)           (24,191)            2,330            (1,576)            (33,195)          

2024 0                    0                   (35,181)            (2,919)           (551)               (38,651)          

Total 37,771$         39,643$        (320,355)$        (65,241)$       (34,519)$        (342,701)$      

($ in Thousands)

Table II-1

UAL Change by Source



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF RISKS 

 

 11 

remaining active members, the Plan considered as a standalone entity is very mature, though 

because of the diminishing benefit cash flows it is expected to have a declining impact on overall 

City finances. 

 

Net Cash Flow 

 

The net cash flow of the plan as a percentage of the beginning of year assets indicates the sensitivity 

of the plan to short-term investment returns. Net cash flow is equal to contributions less benefit 

payments and administrative expenses. Mature plans can have large amounts of benefit payments 

compared to contributions, particularly if they are well funded.  

 

The chart below shows the projected net cash flow for the next 10 fiscal years. The bars represent 

the dollar amounts of the different components of the projected net cash flow, and the line 

represents the net cash flow as a percentage of the assets as of the beginning of the fiscal year. 

 

 
 

The Plan’s contributions are expected to drop significantly following the 2025-2026 Fiscal Year 

once the unfunded liability has been paid off. Beyond that point, the negative net cash flows are 

expected to continue until all benefits are paid. 

 

The first issue this change presents to the Plan is a need for liquidity in the investments so that 

benefits can be paid. When the cash flow was positive or close to neutral, benefits could be paid 

out of contributions without liquidating investments. As net cash flow becomes increasingly 

negative, the benefit payments will require liquidation of some investments. 

 

The other change of note is the sensitivity to short-term investment returns. Investment losses in 

the short term are compounded by the net withdrawal from the plan leaving a smaller asset base to 

try to recover from the investment losses. On the other hand, large investment gains in the short 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF RISKS 

 

 12 

term also tend to have a longer beneficial effect as any future losses are relative to a smaller liability 

base due to the negative cash flow. 

 

Assessing Costs and Risks 
 

A closed pension plan will ultimately either end up with excess assets after all benefits have been 

paid or run out of assets before all benefits have been paid. The Board adopted a change in the 

strategic asset allocation at their February 28, 2024 meeting to reduce the risk in their portfolio by 

lowering their exposure to return-seeking equities and increasing their holdings in bonds. This 

allocation adopted by the Board pursues a strategy of de-risking the Plan to minimize the likelihood 

of a significant surplus or deficit occurring. 

 

However, even if the Plan were to run out of assets, PFRS would be forced to pay benefits directly 

on a pay-as-you-go basis. As long as PFRS (and the City) can afford the pay-as-you-go costs, 

benefits would remain secure. The chart below shows a projection of expected benefit payments 

for the closed plan. 

 

 
 

Sensitivity to Investment Returns 

 

The chart on the next page compares assets to the present value of all projected future benefits 

discounted at the current expected rates of return of 5.0% and at investment returns 100 basis 

points above and below the expected rates of return for all years. The Low Default Risk Obligation 

Measure (LDROM) is the Actuarial Liability (equal to the total present value of future benefits, for a 

plan with no active members) using a discount rate derived from low-default-risk fixed income 

securities that approximately match the benefit payments of the plan. The present value of future 

benefits is shown as a teal bar and the Market Value of Assets is shown by the gold line. 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF RISKS 

 

 13 

 
If actual investment returns meet the expected returns annually, the Plan would need 

approximately $497 million in assets today to pay all projected benefits compared to current assets 

of $450 million. If investment returns are 100 basis points lower each year, the Plan would need 

approximately $534 million in assets today, and if investment returns are 100 basis points higher, 

the Plan would need approximately $464 million in assets today. 

 

A low-risk portfolio for a pension plan would be composed entirely of low-default-risk fixed 

income securities whose cash flows approximately match the benefit cash flows of the plan. Based 

on the FTSE Pension Liability discount curve as of June 30, 2024, the single equivalent rate for 

such a portfolio of high quality corporate bonds (AA rated) would be approximately 5.18%. The 

Low-Default-Risk Obligation Measure (LDROM) represents what the liability would be if the 

Plan’s assets were invested in such a portfolio. As of June 30, 2024, the LDROM is $490.4 million 

compared to the liability of $496.7 million calculated at the 5.00% assumed rate of return. The 

measures are close to each other, as can be expected since the PFRS Board has taken significant 

steps to de-risk the portfolio. The current assumed return also currently has a margin for adverse 

deviation. 

 

Sensitivity to COLA Changes 

 

The present value of future benefits shown above assumes annual COLA increases of 3.25% per 

year once the current MOUs have expired. If COLA inflation is higher (because of higher-than-

expected increases in the salaries of active employees); more assets would be needed to pay the 

benefits, and if COLA inflation is lower; fewer assets would be needed to pay benefits.  

 

The chart on the next page shows the present value of all projected future benefits (discounted 

using the current expected rates of return) based on annual COLA increases of 3.25% per year 

once the current MOUs have expired – and at COLA increases 100 basis points above and below 

the current COLA assumptions. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF RISKS 

 

 14 

 
 

Sensitivity to Mortality Assumption Changes 

 

The chart on the next page shows the sensitivity of the Plan to longevity / mortality experience. In 

the second bar, we have shown the present value of benefits using the Plan’s current mortality 

assumptions (i.e., using the CalPERS mortality assumptions from their 2021 experience study, 

with projections for generational improvements using the Society of Actuary’s MP-2021 

improvement scales). In the first and third bars, we have shown results reflecting the mortality 

assumption base rates multiplied by 110% and 90%, respectively. As always, actual experience 

will drive costs, but this exhibit provides an example of the level of sensitivity of the Plan’s 

liabilities to possible changes in mortality. 

  



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF RISKS 

 

 15 

 
 

Stochastic Projections 

 

The stochastic projections of contributions in the chart on the following page show 10 years of 

contribution amounts. The projections beyond June 30, 2026 are based on the current funding 

method – a one-year amortization period with a 12-month period between the end of the fiscal year 

and when the payment is made. This range is driven by the volatility (or standard deviation) of 

investment returns, which is assumed to be 6.8% in these projections based on the asset allocation 

chosen and information provided by Meketa at the February 28, 2024 Board meeting.  

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF RISKS 

 

 16 

Stochastic Projection of Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) 

 
 

The chart below shows the projection of the UAL for the next 10 years. While the UAL is projected 

in the baseline to be essentially eliminated by 2026, because of the statutory requirement to fully 

fund the Plan by that time, there is still a wide range of potential outcomes.  

 

Stochastic Projection of UAL/(Surplus) 

 
 

 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF RISKS 

 

 17 

More Detailed Assessment 

 

A detailed assessment of risk would be valuable in understanding the risks identified above, 

especially given the closed nature of the plan. We encourage the Board to consider a more detailed 

analysis of some of the risks identified above, particularly for developing a funding strategy to 

deal with changes in the UAL after the required full funding date. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION III – ASSETS 

 

 18 

Pension Plan assets play a key role in the financial operation of the Plan and in the decisions the 

Board may make with respect to future deployment of those assets. The level of assets, the 

allocation of assets among asset classes, and the methodology used to measure assets will likely 

impact benefit levels, employer contributions, and the ultimate security of participants’ benefits. 

 

In this section, we present detailed information on Plan assets including: 

 

• Disclosure of Plan assets as of June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2024, 

• Statement of the changes in market values during the year, and 

• Development of the Actuarial Value of Assets. 

 

Disclosure 
 

There are two types of asset values disclosed in the valuation, the Market Value of Assets and the 

Actuarial Value of Assets. The market value represents “snapshot” or “cash out” values, which 

provide the principal basis for measuring financial performance from one year to the next. Market 

values, however, can fluctuate widely with corresponding swings in the marketplace. As a result, 

market values are sometimes not as suitable for long-range planning as the Actuarial Value of 

Assets, which reflects smoothing of annual investment returns. 
 

Table III-1 discloses and compares each component of the market asset value as of June 30, 2023 

and June 30, 2024. 

 

 
 

2023 2024

$                9,567  $              10,390 

             15,147              10,348 

Investments, at Fair Value            458,166            492,690 

Total Assets $            482,881  $            513,428 

Liabilities              66,750              63,420 

$            416,130 $            450,008 

TABLE III-1

Statement of Assets at Market Value 

June 30,

(in thousands)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Receivables

Market Value of Assets



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION III – ASSETS 

 

 19 

Changes in Market Value 
 

The components of asset change are: 

• Contributions (employer and employee), 

• Benefit payments, 

• Administrative Expenses, and  

• Investment income (realized and unrealized, net of investment expenses). 

 

Table III-2 below shows the components of a change in the Market Value of Assets during 2023 

and 2024. 

 

 

2023 2024

Contributions

   Contributions of Plan Members $                       0 $                       0 

   Contributions from the City              32,712              40,763 

      Total Contributions              32,712              40,763 

Investment Income 

Miscellaneous Income                       0                       0 

Investment Income              34,408              44,912 

      Total Investment Income              34,408              44,912 

     
Disbursements

   Benefit Payments             (50,850)             (50,102)

   Administrative Expenses               (1,626)               (1,696)

      Total Disbursements             (52,477)             (51,798)

Net increase (Decrease)              14,643              33,877 

Net Assets Held in Trust for Benefits:

Beginning of Year            401,487            416,130 

End of Year $            416,130 $            450,008 

Approximate Return 8.79% 10.94%

TABLE III-2

Changes in Market Values

June 30,

(in thousands)



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION III – ASSETS 

 

 20 

Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) 
 

The Actuarial Value of Assets represents a “smoothed” value developed by the actuary to reduce 

the volatile results, which could develop due to short-term fluctuations in the Market Value of 

Assets. For this Plan, the Actuarial Value of Assets is calculated on a modified market-related 

value. The Actuarial Value of Assets recognizes one-fifth of the difference between the expected 

asset value (based on the 5.00% return assumption from 2023-2024) and the actual market value 

each year. The actuarial value is restricted to fall between 90% and 110% of the market value. 

 

 
 

TABLE III-3

Development of Actuarial Value of Assets

1. Calculate Expected Actuarial Value of Assets

a. Value of Actuarial Value of Assets - July 1, 2023 425,449$    

b. Total Contributions and Misc Income 40,763        

c. Administrative Expense (1,696)         

d. Benefit Payments (50,102)       

e. Expected Investment Earnings 21,000        

f. Expected Actuarial Value of Assets - July 1, 2024 435,414$    

[1a + 1b + 1c + 1d + 1e]

2. Calculate Final Actuarial Value of Assets

a. Value of Market Value of Assets - July 1, 2024 450,008$    

b. Excess of MVA over Expected AVA [2a - 1f] 14,593        

c. Preliminary AVA [1f + 0.2 * 2b] 438,333      

d. 90% of MVA [90% * 2a] 405,007      

e. 110% of MVA [110% * 2a] 495,009      

3. Final Actuarial Value of Assets 438,333$    

[2c, not less than 2d or greater than 2e]

(in thousands)



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION III – ASSETS 

 

 21 

Investment Performance 

 

The following table calculates the investment related gain/loss for the plan year on both a market 

value and an actuarial value basis. The market value gain/loss is an appropriate measure for 

comparing the actual asset performance to the previous valuation’s 5.00% assumption. 

 

 
 

 

Asset Gain/(Loss)

(in thousands)

Market Value Actuarial Value

July 1, 2023 value $           416,130 $             425,449 

Contributions of Plan Members 0 0

Contributions from the City 40,763 40,763

Benefit Payments            (50,102)              (50,102)

Administrative Expenses              (1,696)                (1,696)

Expected Investment Earnings (5.00%)             20,534               21,000 

Expected Value June 30, 2024 $           425,630 $             435,414 

Investment Gain / (Loss)             24,378                 2,919 

July 1, 2024 value           450,008 $             438,333 

Return 10.94% 5.70%

TABLE III-4



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION IV – LIABILITIES 

 

 22 

In this section, we present detailed information on Plan liabilities including: 

 

• Disclosure of Plan liabilities on July 1, 2023 and July 1, 2024 

• Statement of changes in these liabilities during the year 

 

Disclosure 
 

Several types of liabilities are typically shown in an actuarial valuation report. Each type is 

distinguished by the people ultimately using the figures and the purpose for which they are using 

them. Note that these liabilities are not applicable for settlement purposes, including the purchase 

of annuities and the payment of lump sums. 

 

• Present Value of Future Benefits: Used for measuring all future Plan obligations, the 

obligations of the Plan earned as of the valuation date and those to be earned in the 

future by current plan participants under the current Plan provisions, if all assumptions 

are met. 

 

• Actuarial Liability: Used for funding calculations, this liability is calculated taking 

the present value of future benefits and subtracting the present value of future normal 

costs under an acceptable actuarial funding method. Because the Plan has no active 

members, the Actuarial Liability is equal to the present value of future benefits (i.e., all 

benefits are fully accrued). 

 

• Unfunded Actuarial Liability: The excess of the Actuarial Liability over the Actuarial 

Value of Assets. 

Table IV-1 on the next page discloses each of these liabilities for the current and prior valuations. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION IV – LIABILITIES 

 

 23 

 

July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024

Present Value of Future Benefits

Active Participant Benefits $ 0 $ 0 

Retiree and Inactive Benefits        522,457        496,690 

Present Value of Future Benefits (PVB) $        522,457 $        496,690 

Actuarial Liability

Present Value of Future Benefits (PVB) $        522,457 $        496,690 

Present Value of Future Normal Costs (PVFNC)                   0                   0 

Actuarial Liability (AL = PVB – PVFNC) $        522,457 $        496,690 

Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA)        425,449        438,333 

Net (Surplus)/Unfunded (AL – AVA) $          97,008 $          58,357 

TABLE IV-1

Liabilities/Net (Surplus)/Unfunded

(in thousands)



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION IV – LIABILITIES 

 

 24 

Changes in Liabilities 
 

Each of the liabilities disclosed in the prior table is expected to change at each valuation. The 

components of that change, depending upon which liability is analyzed, can include: 

• New hires since the last valuation (not applicable for this Plan) 

• Benefits accrued since the last valuation (not applicable for this Plan) 

• Plan amendments 

• Passage of time which adds interest to the prior liability 

• Benefits paid to retirees since the last valuation 

• Participants retiring, terminating, dying, or receiving COLA adjustments at rates 

different than expected 

• A change in actuarial or investment assumptions 

• A change in the actuarial funding method or software 

 

Unfunded liabilities will change because of all of the above and also due to changes in Plan assets 

resulting from: 

• Employer contributions different than expected 

• Investment earnings different than expected 

• A change in the method used to measure plan assets 

 

   

Actuarial Liability at July 1, 2023 $ 522,457 

Actuarial Liability at July 1, 2024 $ 496,690 

Liability Increase (Decrease) $ (25,767)  

Change due to:

   Plan Design Changes (MOU) $ 0            

   Assumption Change 0            

   Accrual of Benefits 0            

   Actual Benefit Payments (50,102)  

   Interest 24,886   

   Actuarial Liability (Gain)/Loss $ (551)       

TABLE IV-2

Changes in Actuarial Liability

(in thousands)



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION IV – LIABILITIES 

 

 25 

  
 

 

 
  

Police Fire Total

Actuarial Accrued Liability

   Active $ 0 $ 0 $ 0

   Service Retirees 182,095 56,909 239,005

   Disabled Retirees 64,604 66,480 131,085

   Beneficiaries 74,671 51,930 126,601

 Total Accrued Liability $ 321,371 $ 175,319 $ 496,690

TABLE IV-3

Liabilities by Group as of July 1, 2024

(in thousands)

1. Unfunded Actuarial Liability at Start of Year (not less than zero) $ 97,008             

2. Employer Normal Cost at Start of Year 0                      

3. Interest on 1. and 2. to End of Year 4,850               

4. Contributions and Miscellaneous Income for Prior Year 40,763             

5. Administrative Expenses (1,696)              

6. Interest on 4. and 5. to End of Year 965                  

7. Change in Unfunded Actuarial Liability Due to Changes in Assumptions 0                      

8. Expected Unfunded Actuarial Liability at End of Year

[1. + 2. + 3. - 4. - 5. - 6. + 7.] $ 61,827             

9. Actual Unfunded Actuarial Liability at End of Year (not less than zero) 58,357             

10. Unfunded Actuarial Liability Gain / (Loss)  [8. – 9.] $ 3,470               

TABLE IV-4

Development of Actuarial Gain / (Loss)

(in thousands)



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION V – CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

 26 

In the process of evaluating the financial condition of any pension plan, the actuary analyzes the 

assets and liabilities to determine what level (if any) of contributions is needed to properly maintain 

the funding status of the Plan. Typically, the actuarial process will use a funding technique that 

will result in a pattern of contributions that is both stable and predictable. 

 

For this Plan, the actuarial funding method used to determine the normal cost and the Unfunded 

Actuarial Liability is the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. 

 

The normal cost rate is determined with the normal cost percentage equal to the total projected 

value of benefits at entry age, divided by present value of future salary at entry age. Since there 

are no longer any active employees, the normal cost for this plan is $0. 

 

The Unfunded Actuarial Liability is the difference between the EAN Actuarial Liability and the 

Actuarial Value of Assets. For the contribution projections, the UAL payment is based on the 

unfunded liability of the Plan being fully amortized by June 30, 2026 in accordance with the City 

Charter. Amortization payments are determined based on an assumption that payments will 

increase by 3.25% each year, reflecting the assumed ultimate rate of increase in overall City Safety 

member salaries. 

 

An amount equal to the expected administrative expenses for the Plan is added directly to the 

actuarial cost calculation. 

 

Table V-1 on the next page shows the employer contribution amount for the 2025-2026 Fiscal 

Year. The projected assets and liabilities assume that all actuarial assumptions are met and that 

contributions are made as expected between now and June 30, 2025.  

 

For this calculation, we have shown the contribution amount using both the projected actuarial and 

Market Value of Assets. The current funding policy uses the AVA to determine the UAL and the 

associated amortization payment. We have included the contribution amount as determined using 

the current Market Value of Assets to demonstrate what the actuarial cost would be if all deferred 

asset losses were fully recognized at the time the contributions commence. In both cases, the 

contribution is based on an assumption that the investment returns will exactly equal the assumed 

rate of return during the 2024-2025 Fiscal Year. 

 

   

 

 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION V – CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

 27 

Actuarial 

Value of 

Assets

Market 

Value of 

Assets

1. Value of Assets at June 30, 2024:  $      438,333  $     450,008 

   a. Expected Contributions and Misc Income            34,845           34,845 

   b. Expected Administrative Expense            (1,841)           (1,841)

   c. Expected Benefit Payments          (49,184)         (49,184)

   d. Expected Investment Earnings            21,517           22,101 

2. Expected Value of Assets at June 30, 2025:  $      443,670  $     455,929 

   a. Excess of Expected MVA over Expected AVA            12,259 

   b. Preliminary AVA [ Expected AVA  + 20% * 2a]  $      446,122 

   c. 90% of Expected MVA          410,336 

   d. 110% of Expected MVA          501,521 

3. Final Expected AVA [2b, not less than 2c or greater than 2d]  $      446,122  $     455,929 

4. Entry Age Liability at June 30, 2024  $      496,690  $     496,690 

5. Expected Benefit Payments          (49,184)         (49,184)

6. Expected Interest            23,620           23,620 

7. Expected Entry Age Liability at June 30, 2025  $      471,126  $     471,126 

8. Projected Unfunded Actuarial Liability: (7) - (3)  $        25,004  $       15,197 

9. Funded Ratio: (3) / (7) 94.7% 96.8%

10. Unfunded Actuarial Liability Amortization at Middle of Year   

     as a Level Percentage of Payroll (1 Year Remaining)

     as of June 30, 2025

 $        25,622  $       15,573 

11. Expected Administrative Expenses for Fiscal 2025-2026              1,894            1,894 

12. Total Contribution: (10) + (11)  $        27,516  $       17,467 

TABLE V-I

Development of Projected 2025-2026 Employer Contribution Amount

(in thousands)



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION VI – HEADCOUNT AND BENEFIT PAYMENT PROJECTIONS 

 

 28 

  
 

Fiscal Year

Ending Benefits Benefits Benefits

June 30, Count (in thousands) Count (in thousands) Count (in thousands)

2025 389.0 30,556$             237.0 18,628$          626.0 49,184$           

2026 374.9 30,144$             225.1 18,099$          599.9 48,242$           

2027 360.5 29,733$             213.1 17,566$          573.6 47,299$           

2028 345.9 29,240$             201.1 16,989$          547.0 46,229$           

2029 330.8 28,657$             189.3 16,369$          520.1 45,026$           

2030 315.3 27,975$             177.5 15,708$          492.9 43,683$           

2031 299.4 27,189$             165.9 15,009$          465.3 42,197$           

2032 283.0 26,292$             154.4 14,272$          437.3 40,564$           

2033 266.0 25,283$             143.0 13,501$          409.0 38,784$           

2034 248.7 24,161$             131.8 12,695$          380.5 36,857$           

2035 230.9 22,932$             120.7 11,859$          351.7 34,791$           

2036 213.0 21,608$             109.9 10,997$          322.8 32,605$           

2037 194.9 20,202$             99.2 10,117$          294.1 30,319$           

2038 177.0 18,732$             88.9 9,232$            265.9 27,963$           

2039 159.3 17,217$             79.0 8,351$            238.4 25,568$           

2040 142.2 15,680$             69.6 7,486$            211.8 23,165$           

2041 125.7 14,144$             60.7 6,648$            186.4 20,791$           

2042 110.0 12,630$             52.4 5,847$            162.4 18,478$           

2043 95.3 11,162$             44.9 5,094$            140.2 16,256$           

2044 81.7 9,760$               38.0 4,395$            119.7 14,155$           

2045 69.3 8,442$               31.9 3,755$            101.1 12,197$           

2046 58.1 7,220$               26.5 3,180$            84.6 10,400$           

2047 48.2 6,106$               21.8 2,669$            69.9 8,775$             

2048 39.5 5,106$               17.7 2,221$            57.2 7,326$             

2049 32.0 4,221$               14.3 1,832$            46.3 6,054$             

2050 25.7 3,452$               11.5 1,500$            37.1 4,953$             

2051 20.3 2,795$               9.1 1,220$            29.4 4,015$             

2052 16.0 2,241$               7.2 986$               23.2 3,227$             

2053 12.4 1,781$               5.6 793$               18.0 2,574$             

2054 9.6 1,404$               4.4 634$               14.0 2,038$             

TABLE VI-1

Police Fire Total

Benefit Payment and Headcount Projection



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

SECTION VI – HEADCOUNT AND BENEFIT PAYMENT PROJECTIONS 

 

 29 

  

Fiscal Year

Ending Benefits Benefits Benefits

June 30, Count (in thousands) Count (in thousands) Count (in thousands)

2055 7.3 1,099$               3.4 505$               10.7 1,603$             

2056 5.6 854$                  2.6 399$               8.2 1,253$             

2057 4.2 659$                  2.0 314$               6.2 974$                

2058 3.2 505$                  1.5 246$               4.7 751$                

2059 2.3 385$                  1.1 191$               3.5 576$                

2060 1.7 290$                  0.9 147$               2.6 438$                

2061 1.3 217$                  0.6 112$               1.9 329$                

2062 0.9 160$                  0.5 84$                 1.4 245$                

2063 0.7 117$                  0.3 63$                 1.0 179$                

2064 0.5 84$                    0.2 46$                 0.7 130$                

2065 0.3 59$                    0.2 33$                 0.5 92$                  

2066 0.2 41$                    0.1 23$                 0.3 64$                  

2067 0.1 28$                    0.1 16$                 0.2 44$                  

2068 0.1 18$                    0.1 11$                 0.1 29$                  

2069 0.1 12$                    0.0 7$                   0.1 18$                  

2070 0.0 7$                      0.0 4$                   0.1 11$                  

2071 0.0 4$                      0.0 3$                   0.0 7$                    

2072 0.0 2$                      0.0 1$                   0.0 4$                    

2073 0.0 1$                      0.0 1$                   0.0 2$                    

2074 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 1$                    

2075 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 0$                    

2076 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 0$                    

2077 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 0$                    

2078 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 0$                    

2079 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 0$                    

2080 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 0$                    

2081 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 0$                    

2082 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 0$                    

2083 0.0 0$                      0.0 0$                   0.0 0$                    

Benefit Payment and Headcount Projection (Continued)

Police Fire Total

TABLE VI-1



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX A – MEMBERSHIP INFORMATION 

 

 30 

 
 

Data pertaining to active and inactive Members and their beneficiaries as of the valuation date 

was supplied by the Plan Administrator. 

 

July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024

Active Participants Police Fire Total Police Fire Total

Number 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number Vested 0 0 0 0 0 0

Average Age 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Average Service 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Average Pay $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Service Retirees

Number 196 75 271 188 67 255

Average Age 78.9 82.2 79.8 79.6 82.1 80.3

Average Annual Benefit $86,776 $90,603 $87,835 $89,492 $90,902 $89,863

Disabled Retirees

Number 81 84 165 75 80 155

Average Age 78.4 79.3 78.9 79.2 80.1 79.7

Average Annual Benefit $83,502 $84,933 $84,231 $86,471 $87,356 $86,928

Beneficiaries

Number 126 91 217 126 90 216

Average Age 80.8 83.5 81.9 81.0 83.4 82.0

Average Annual Benefit $60,935 $64,148 $62,283 $62,182 $67,031 $64,202

All Inactives

Number 403 250 653 389 237 626

Average Age 79.4 81.7 80.3 80.0 81.9 80.7

Average Annual Benefit $78,039 $79,068 $78,433 $80,064 $80,640 $80,282

Summary of Participant Data as of



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX A – MEMBERSHIP INFORMATION 

 

 31 

Changes in Plan Membership: Police

Actives
Service 

Retirees

Disabled 

Retirees
Beneficiaries Total

July 1, 2023 0 196 81 126 403

Retired 0 0 0 0 0

Disabled 0 0 0 0 0

Deceased 0 (8) (6) (8) (22)

New Beneficiary 0 0 0 8 8

July 1, 2024 0 188 75 126 389

Changes in Plan Membership: Fire

Actives
Service 

Retirees

Disabled 

Retirees
Beneficiaries Total

July 1, 2023 0 75 84 91 250

Retired 0 0 0 0 0

Disabled 0 0 0 0 0

Deceased 0 (8) (4) (7) (19)

New Beneficiary 0 0 0 6 6

July 1, 2024 0 67 80 90 237

Changes in Plan Membership: All

Actives
Service 

Retirees

Disabled 

Retirees
Beneficiaries Total

July 1, 2023 0 271 165 217 653

Retired 0 0 0 0 0

Disabled 0 0 0 0 0

Deceased 0 (16) (10) (15) (41)

New Beneficiary 0 0 0 14 14

July 1, 2024 0 255 155 216 626



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX A – MEMBERSHIP INFORMATION 

 

 32 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Age Number
Total Annual 

Benefit
Number

Total Annual 

Benefit
Number

Total Annual 

Benefit

< 50 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

50-54 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

55-59 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

60-64 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

65-69 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

70-74 30 $2,734,182 2 $171,144 32 $2,905,326 

75-79 79 $6,996,611 21 $1,747,777 100 $8,744,388 

80-84 59 $5,067,407 29 $2,776,146 88 $7,843,553 

85-89 15 $1,586,266 7 $635,412 22 $2,221,678 

90-94 4 $330,271 7 $634,765 11 $965,036 

95-99 0 $0 1 $125,208 1 $125,208 

100+ 1 $109,792 0 $0 1 $109,792 

Total 188 $16,824,530 67 $6,090,452 255 $22,914,981 

Police Fire Total

Service Retired Participants

Age Number
Total Annual 

Benefit
Number

Total Annual 

Benefit
Number

Total Annual 

Benefit

< 50 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

50-54 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

55-59 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

60-64 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

65-69 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

70-74 8 $683,194 11 $862,993 19 $1,546,187 

75-79 44 $3,830,312 33 $2,807,329 77 $6,637,641 

80-84 16 $1,349,042 25 $2,227,482 41 $3,576,524 

85-89 6 $492,757 7 $723,240 13 $1,215,997 

90-94 1 $130,029 4 $367,476 5 $497,505 

95-99 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

100+ 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

Total 75 $6,485,334 80 $6,988,520 155 $13,473,853 

TotalPolice Fire

Disability Retired Participants



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX A – MEMBERSHIP INFORMATION 

 

 33 

Age Number
Total Annual 

Benefit
Number

Total Annual 

Benefit
Number

Total Annual 

Benefit

< 50 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

50-54 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

55-59 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

60-64 3 $210,731 1 $98,968 4 $309,699 

65-69 4 $292,098 4 $247,692 8 $539,790 

70-74 20 $1,213,542 10 $763,590 30 $1,977,132 

75-79 36 $2,163,271 18 $1,205,299 54 $3,368,570 

80-84 34 $1,994,396 19 $1,248,624 53 $3,243,020 

85-89 11 $703,614 13 $858,980 24 $1,562,594 

90-94 8 $646,669 14 $908,420 22 $1,555,088 

95-99 9 $553,838 10 $636,401 19 $1,190,238 

100+ 1 $56,725 1 $64,843 2 $121,569 

Total 126 $7,834,885 90 $6,032,815 216 $13,867,700 

Police Fire Total

Beneficiaries



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX B – STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS 

 

 34 

The assumptions and methods used in the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2024 are based on an 

experience study covering the period through June 30, 2023 as adopted by the Board of 

Administration at the March 27, 2024 Board meeting. Please refer to materials presented at those 

meetings for the rationale for each assumption. 
 
Contribution Allocation Procedure 
 

The contribution allocation procedure primarily consists of an actuarial cost method, an asset 

valuation method, and an amortization method as described below. This contribution allocation 

procedure, combined with reasonable assumptions, produces a Reasonable Actuarially 

Determined Contribution as defined in Actuarial Standard of Practice No. 4. The contribution 

allocation procedure was selected to balance benefit security, intergenerational equity, and the 

stability of actuarially determined contributions. The selection also considered the demographics 

of plan members, the funding goals and objectives of the Board, and the need to accumulate assets 

to make benefit payments when due. There were no changes to the contribution allocation 

procedures from the prior valuation. 

 
Actuarial Cost and Amortization Method 
 
The Entry Age Normal Actuarial Cost Method is used. Under this method, the Plan’s Actuarial 
Liability (AL) is determined as the Present Value of Future Benefits (PVFB) less the Present Value 
of Future Normal Costs (PVFNC). Since all of the Plan’s members are retired, the AL and the 
PVFB are the same. 
 
The excess of the AL over the Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) is the Unfunded Actuarial Liability 
(UAL). In accordance with the Plan’s funding agreement with the City of Oakland, the UAL must 
be amortized by July 1, 2026 with contributions resuming in the 2017-2018 fiscal year. The 
projected fiscal year 2025-2026 contribution has been calculated using level percent of pay 
amortization, based on total projected City payroll for all Safety employees. 
 
Actuarial Value of Plan Assets 
 

In determining the recommended employer contribution to the PFRS, we use a smoothed Actuarial 

Value of Assets. The asset smoothing method dampens the volatility in asset values that could 

occur because of the fluctuations in market conditions. Use of an asset smoothing method is 

consistent with the long-term nature of the actuarial valuation process. Assets are assumed to be 

used exclusively for the provision of retirement benefits and expenses. 

 
The Actuarial Value of Assets is equal to 100% of the expected Actuarial Value of Assets plus 
20% of the difference between the current Market Value of Assets and the expected Actuarial 
Value of Assets. In no event will the Actuarial Value of Assets ever be less than 90% of the Market 
Value of Assets or greater than 110% of the Market Value of Assets. The expected Actuarial Value 
of Assets is equal to the prior year’s Actuarial Value of Assets increased with actual contributions 
made, decreased with actual disbursements made, all items (prior assets, contributions, and 
disbursements) further adjusted with expected investment returns for the year. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX B – STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS 

 

 35 

Actuarial Assumptions 
 

1. Rate of Return 

 

The expected annual rate of return, net of investment expenses, on all Plan assets is 5.0%. 

 

2. Inflation 

 

The assumed rate of general inflation is 2.75% (entire US) and local inflation is 2.85% 

(Bay Area). The general inflation rate is used in the determination of the investment return 

assumptions. The local inflation rate is used in the determination of the growth in expenses 

and salaries (which determine the COLA increases). 

 

3. Administrative Expenses 

 

Administrative expenses for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 are assumed to be 

$1,841,372, growing at 2.85% per year. 

  

4. Cost-of-Living Adjustments and Long-Term Salary Increases 

 

Cost-of-living adjustments are based on salary increases for a retiree’s rank at retirement. 

 

The long-term rate of salary increase is assumed to be 3.25% (2.85% inflation plus 0.4% 

productivity). This rate is used to project cost-of-living increases after the expiration of the 

current contracts, as well as representing the expected level of overall Safety payroll 

growth used to calculate the unfunded liability amortization payment. The following 

schedule shows salary increases based on the current Police and Fire contracts that expire 

on June 30, 2026. All increases shown after that date are assumptions. 

 

  
 

Date of Increase
Police Fire

July 1, 2024 3.00% 3.00%

July 1, 2025 3.00% 3.00%

Annual Increases 

Starting

July 1, 2026

3.25% 3.25%

Post-Retirement Benefit Increases 

(Based on Salary Increases for Rank at Retirement)



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX B – STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS 

 

 36 

5. Rates of Termination 

 

None. 

 

6. Rates of Disability 

 

None. 

 

7. Rates of Retirement 

 

None. 

 

8. Rates of Mortality for Healthy Lives 

 

Mortality rates for healthy annuitants are based on the sex distinct 2021 CalPERS Healthy 

Annuitant Mortality Table, with generational mortality improvements projected from 2017 

using Projection Scale MP-2021.  

 

9. Rates of Mortality for Disabled Retirees 

Mortality rates for Safety disabled annuitants are based on the sex distinct 2021 CalPERS 

Industrially Disabled Mortality Table, with generational mortality improvements projected 

from 2017 using Projection of Scale MP-2021.  

 

10. Mortality Improvement 

 

The mortality tables are projected to improve with MP-2021 generational mortality 

improvement tables, projected from a base year of 2017 (the mid-point of the CalPERS 

mortality tables from their 2021 study). 

 

11. Survivor Continuance 

 

All retirees with a Benefit Form of “J&S” in the raw data are assumed to receive a 66-2/3% 

continuance. 

 

12. Changes in Assumptions Since the Last Valuation 

 

None. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX C – SUMMARY OF PLAN PROVISIONS 

 

 37 

1. Plan Year 

 

July 1 to June 30. 

 

2. Membership 

 

The Plan has been closed to new members since June 30, 1976. 

 

3. Salary 

 

Retirement allowances are based on the pensionable compensation attached to the average rank 

held during the three years immediately preceding retirement. 

 

4. Employee Contributions 

 

There are no active employees in the Plan, and thus no employee contributions. 

 

5. Service Retirement 

 

Eligibility 

25 years of service, or 20 years of service and age 55, or age 65. A reduced early retirement is 

available with 20 years of service. 

 

Benefit Amount 

50% of Salary plus 1.67% for each additional year of service beyond that required for service 

retirement eligibility, to a maximum of 10 years. For retirements with less than 20 years of 

service, benefits are pro-rated. 

 

6. Duty-Related Disability Retirement 

 

Equivalent to service retirement benefit if 25 or more years of service. 

 

7. Non-Duty Related Disability Retirement 

 

Equivalent to service retirement benefit if age 55 is attained. 

 

8. Post-Retirement Death Benefit 

 

For retirees without a spouse at death, a $1,000 lump sum is paid to designated beneficiary. 

 

9. Cost-of-Living Adjustments 

 

Benefit increases are based on increases in salary for rank at retirement (see above definition 

of Salary). 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX C – SUMMARY OF PLAN PROVISIONS 

 

 38 

10. Benefit Forms 

 

Benefit is paid for the lifetime of the member. For deaths following a service retirement or 

non-duty disability, a 66-2/3% continuance is paid for the lifetime of the spouse. If the member 

retired under a duty-related disability, a continuance of 100% is paid. 

 

11. Changes in Plan Provisions Since the Last Valuation 

 

None. 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX D – GLOSSARY 

 

 39 

1. Actuarial Assumptions 
 

 Assumptions as to the occurrence of future events affecting pension costs such as mortality, 

withdrawal, disability, retirement, changes in compensation, and rates of investment return. 

 

2. Actuarial Cost Method 
 

 A procedure for determining the actuarial present value of pension plan benefits and expenses 

and for developing an allocation of such value to each year of service, usually in the form of a 

normal cost and an Actuarial Liability. 

 

3. Actuarial Gain (Loss) 

 

 The difference between actual experience and that expected based upon a set of actuarial 

assumptions during the period between two actuarial valuation dates, as determined in 

accordance with a particular actuarial cost method. 

 

4. Actuarial Liability 
 

 The portion of the actuarial present value of projected benefits that will not be paid by future 

normal costs. It represents the value of the past normal costs with interest to the valuation date. 

 

5. Actuarial Present Value (Present Value) 
 

 The value as of a given date of a future amount or series of payments. The actuarial present 

value discounts the payments to the given date at the assumed investment return and includes 

the probability of the payment being made. 

 

6. Actuarial Valuation 
 

 The determination, as of a specified date, of the normal cost, Actuarial Liability, Actuarial 

Value of Assets, and related actuarial present values for a pension plan. 

 

7. Actuarial Value of Assets 

 

 The value of cash, investments, and other property belonging to a pension plan as used by the 

actuary for the purpose of an actuarial valuation. The purpose of an Actuarial Value of Assets 

is to smooth out fluctuations in market values. 

 

8. Actuarially Equivalent 

 

 Of equal actuarial present value, determined as of a given date, with each value based on the 

same set of actuarial assumptions. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT AS OF JULY 1, 2024 

 

APPENDIX D – GLOSSARY 

 

 40 

9. Amortization Payment 

 

 The portion of the pension plan contribution that is designed to pay interest and principal on 

the Unfunded Actuarial Liability in order to pay for that liability in a given number of years. 

 

10. Entry Age Normal Actuarial Cost Method 

 

 A method under which the actuarial present value of the projected benefits of each individual 

included in an actuarial valuation is allocated on a level basis over the earnings of the individual 

between entry age and assumed exit ages. 

 

11. Funded Ratio 

 

 The ratio of the Actuarial Value of Assets to the Actuarial Liabilities. 

 

12. Normal Cost 

 

 That portion of the actuarial present value of pension plan benefits and expenses that is 

allocated to a valuation year by the actuarial cost method. 

 

13. Projected Benefits 

 

 Those pension plan benefit amounts which are expected to be paid in the future under a 

particular set of actuarial assumptions, taking into account such items as increases in future 

compensation and service credits. 

 

14. Unfunded Actuarial Liability 

 

 The excess of the Actuarial Liability over the Actuarial Value of Assets. 



 

 

 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement
System

Actuarial Valuation as of
July 1, 2024

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement
System

Actuarial Valuation as of
July 1, 2024

1/32



What is the
system's
current
condition?
Membership,
Liabilities, Assets
and Funded
Status

Contribution
Requirements

How did it
get here?
What happened
since last year?

History and
Trends

Where is it
going?
What's expected?

Projections

2/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


We first review the condition of the System as of the valuation date (July 1, 2024).

What is the System's
membership?

What are the System's Liabilities,
Assets and Funded Status?

What are the contributions
required to properly fund the
System?

3/32



As of July 1, 2024 the System had 626 members, with slightly more than 60% police retirees and their beneficiaries and the rest firefighters.

= 1 Police Fire

Police Fire

2024

389

237

4/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


The System is closed (with no active members or new entrants), so the population declines each year.

= 1 Police Fire

2021 2022 2023 2024

Year

723
686 653 626

5/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


To calculate the liabilities we project the remaining population.

= 1 Police Fire

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050

6/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


We then project the expected benefit payments for those members and their beneficiaries.

Projected Benefit Payments
Projected BenefitsBase Discounted Benefits Interest Discount

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050
$0M

$50M

$40M

$30M

$20M

$10M

$5M

$45M

$35M

$25M

$15M

Projected Benefits
2032: $39M

7/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Next, we apply an interest discount based on the assumed rate of return on assets (currently 5.0%), which reduces the value of future

benefits because of the time value of money.

Projected Benefit Payments
Discounted Benefits Interest DiscountBase Projected Benefits

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050
$0M

$50M

$40M

$30M

$20M

$10M

$5M

$45M

$35M

$25M

$15M

8/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Reducing by the interest discount, leaves us with the value in today's dollars.

Projected Benefit Payments
Discounted BenefitsBase Projected Benefits Interest Discount

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050
$0M

$50M

$40M

$30M

$20M

$10M

$5M

$45M

$35M

$25M

$15M

9/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


We add them together...

Projected Benefit Payments
Base Discounted BenefitsProjected Benefits Interest Discount

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050
$0M

$500M

$400M

$300M

$200M

$100M

$50M

$450M

$350M

$250M

$150M

10/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


...and express as a single sum as of July 1, 2024, the Present Value of Benefits (PVB). For PFRS, this is also known as the Actuarial

Liability, because all benefits have been fully earned/accrued.

20242023

2024
$0M

$600M

$500M

$400M

$300M

$200M

$100M

$50M

$550M

$450M

$350M

$250M

$150M

$496.7M

11/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


The liability has dropped since last year, because of the decline in the remaining population.

2023 2024

2024 2023
$0M

$600M

$500M

$400M

$300M

$200M

$100M

$50M

$550M

$450M

$350M

$250M

$150M

$496.7M
$522.5M

12/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Next, we turn to the Plan's assets. The Market Value of Assets is the Fair Value as of the Measurement Date, June 30, 2024.

Market Value of Assets Actuarial Value of Assets (before corridor) Actuarial Value of Assets (after corridor)

$0.0M

$600.0M

$500.0M

$400.0M

$300.0M

$200.0M

$100.0M

$50.0M

$550.0M

$450.0M

$350.0M

$250.0M

$150.0M

$450.0M

13/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


The Market Value can fluctuate significantly from year to year because of rapid changes in the investment markets. We also calculate a

smoothed value, the Actuarial Value of Assets, to reduce volatility in the contributions and better understand trends in funded status.

Market Value of Assets Actuarial Value of Assets (before corridor) Actuarial Value of Assets (after corridor)

$0.0M

$600.0M

$500.0M

$400.0M

$300.0M

$200.0M

$100.0M

$50.0M

$550.0M

$450.0M

$350.0M

$250.0M

$150.0M

$450.0M $438.3M

14/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


However, the Actuarial value is limited to be within a 10% corridor of the Market Value. This year, there are some deferred gains from prior

years (about $12M), but the Actuarial Value is still within 10% of the Market Value, so the corridor does not come into play.

Market Value of Assets Actuarial Value of Assets (before corridor) Actuarial Value of Assets (after corridor)

$0M

$600M

$500M

$400M

$300M

$200M

$100M

$50M

$550M

$450M

$350M

$250M

$150M

$450M$450M$450M $438M$438M$438M $438M$438M$438M

10% Corridor Around MVA

15/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Next, we review the Funded Status of the System. The Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL) is calculated by subtracting the Actuarial Value

of Assets from the Actuarial Liability. The Funded Ratio is calculated by dividing the assets by the liabilities: 88.3% as of July 1, 2024

(compared to 81.4% last year).

Accrued Liability Assets (AVA) UAL (AVA) Assets (MVA) UAL (MVA)

Liabilities Assets
$0M

$600M

$500M

$400M

$300M

$200M

$100M

$50M

$550M

$450M

$350M

$250M

$150M

Total

$497M$497M
$438M$438M

$58M$58M

16/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


We also show these results on a Market Value basis, which is used in the System's financial reporting (GASB). The funded ratio was 90.% as

of July 1, 2024 on this basis, up from 79.6% last year.

Accrued Liability Assets (MVA) UAL (MVA)Assets (AVA) UAL (AVA)

Liabilities Assets
$0M

$600M

$500M

$400M

$300M

$200M

$100M

$50M

$550M

$450M

$350M

$250M

$150M

Total

$497M$497M
$450M$450M

$47M$47M

17/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Next, we review the Actuarially Determined Contributions (ADC) for the Plan, shown for Fiscal Year 2025-2026. The contributions are

made up of the Unfunded Actuarial Liability Amortization payment, or the amount needed to pay off the unfunded liability by the

required full funding date (7/1/2026), plus a smaller payment to cover the Plan's Administrative Expenses.

ADC (2024 Val)

UAL Amortization Administrative Expense

$0M

$50M

$40M

$30M

$20M

$10M

$5M

$45M

$35M

$25M

$15M

ADC (2024 Val)

$27.516M

18/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


We also compare the FY2025-2026 ADC to the amount that would be required if we used the Market Value of Assets (instead of the smoothed

value) and the expected ADC for FY2025-2026 from the 2023 valuation.

All

UAL Amortization Administrative Expense

$0M

$50M

$40M

$30M

$20M

$10M

$5M

$45M

$35M

$25M

$15M

ADC (2024 Val) ADC (2024 Val) Based on MVA Expected ADC (2023 Val)

$27.516M

$17.467M

$37.585M

19/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Next we review how the System got to where it is today.

What happened to the System in
the past year?

What are its history and trends
over time?

20/32



We review the change in UAL over the past year. Contributions exceeded the interest on the UAL plus the admin expenses, thus reducing the

UAL.

2023 UAL Contributions Asset Gains (AVA) Liability Gains 2024 UAL
$0.0M

$100.0M

$90.0M

$80.0M

$70.0M

$60.0M

$50.0M

$40.0M

$30.0M

$20.0M

$10.0M

$97.0M$97.0M$97.0M

-$35.2M-$35.2M-$35.2M

-$2.9M-$2.9M-$2.9M -$0.6M-$0.6M-$0.6M $58.4M$58.4M$58.4M

ContributionsContributions
reduced the UALreduced the UAL
Contributions
reduced the UAL

21/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Assets returned more than expected (10.9%) on a market basis. Because of the recognition of some deferred losses, and because some of

the current gains are also deferred, they earned less (5.7%) on a smoothed basis, but still more than the assumption (5.0%), reducing the

UAL.

2023 UAL Contributions Asset Gains (AVA) Liability Gains 2024 UAL
$0.0M

$100.0M

$90.0M

$80.0M

$70.0M

$60.0M

$50.0M

$40.0M

$30.0M

$20.0M

$10.0M

$97.0M$97.0M$97.0M

-$35.2M-$35.2M-$35.2M

-$2.9M-$2.9M-$2.9M -$0.6M-$0.6M-$0.6M $58.4M$58.4M$58.4M

Smoothed asset gains reducedSmoothed asset gains reduced
the UAL. There are still almostthe UAL. There are still almost
$12M in deferred gains.$12M in deferred gains.

Smoothed asset gains reduced
the UAL. There are still almost
$12M in deferred gains.

22/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


There were more deaths than anticipated among beneficiaries, reducing the liabilities slightly.

2023 UAL Contributions Asset Gains (AVA) Liability Gains 2024 UAL
$0.0M

$100.0M

$90.0M

$80.0M

$70.0M

$60.0M

$50.0M

$40.0M

$30.0M

$20.0M

$10.0M

$97.0M$97.0M$97.0M

-$35.2M-$35.2M-$35.2M

-$2.9M-$2.9M-$2.9M -$0.6M-$0.6M-$0.6M $58.4M$58.4M$58.4M

Liability gains reducedLiability gains reduced
the UALthe UAL

Liability gains reduced
the UAL

23/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Next, we review the history of the unfunded liability over the past decade. The line shows the funded ratio, with the scale shown along the

right-hand axis.

Funded Ratio Actuarial Value of Assets Unfunded Actuarial Liability

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
$0M

$700M

$600M

$500M

$400M

$300M

$200M

$100M

$50M

$650M

$550M

$450M

$350M

$250M

$150M

0%

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

Funded Ratio
2024: 88.3%

24/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Overall, the UAL has decreased by $172M during this period.

Unfunded Actuarial LiabilityFunded Ratio Actuarial Value of Assets

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
$0M

$300M

$200M

$100M

$50M

$350M

$250M

$150M

25/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


This chart breaks down the change in UAL for each year. After a period of no contributions (following a Pension Obligation Bond in 2013),

contributions began again in FYE 2018 and have reduced the UAL each of the last seven years.

AVA (G)/L Liability (G)/L Assumption Changes MOU Changes Contributions

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

$0M

$70M

-$70M

$60M

-$60M

$50M

-$50M

$40M

-$40M

$30M

-$30M

$20M

-$20M

$10M

-$10M

26/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Now, we turn our gaze forward.

What is expected to happen to the
System?

What are the risks going forward?

27/32



Here is a projection of the contributions through the full funding date. If the assumed return (5.0%) is earned each year and all other

assumptions are met, there should only be a small contribution required after FYE 2026, to cover the administrative expenses.

Employer ContributionPrior Year

2025 2026

Fiscal Year Ending

$0M

$30M

$20M

$10M

$5M

$35M

$25M

$15M
$34.8M$34.8M

$27.5M$27.5M

28/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


For comparison, we show the projected contributions from last year's valuation. The projected contributions have decreased as a result of

the current year asset returns and liability gain.

Prior Year Employer Contribution

2025 2026

Fiscal Year Ending

$0M

$40M

$30M

$20M

$10M

$5M

$35M

$25M

$15M

$34.8M$34.8M
$37.6M$37.6M

$34.8M$34.8M

$27.5M$27.5M

29/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


This projection of assets and liabilities shows that the funded ratio (right axis) is expected to continue to improve until the System reaches

full funding, as a result of ongoing contributions.

Funded Ratio Actuarial Value of Assets Unfunded Actuarial Liability

2024 2025 2026
$0M

$500M

$400M

$300M

$200M

$100M

$50M

$450M

$350M

$250M

$150M

0%

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

30/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Certification

The purpose of this report is to present the results of the Oakland PFRS actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2024.

In preparing our presentation, we relied on information (some oral and some written) supplied by PFRS. This information includes, but is not limited to, the Plan provisions, employee data, and financial information. We performed an informal
examination of the obvious characteristics of the data for reasonableness and consistency in accordance with Actuarial Standard of Practice No. 23.

Future projections may differ significantly from the projections presented in this presentation due to such factors as the following: plan experience different from that anticipated by the assumptions; changes in assumptions; and changes in plan
provisions or applicable law.

Cheiron utilizes ProVal actuarial valuation software leased from Winklevoss Technologies (WinTech) to calculate liabilities and project benefit payments. We have relied on WinTech as the developer of ProVal. We have a basic understanding of
ProVal and have used ProVal in accordance with its original intended purpose. We have not identified any material inconsistencies in assumptions or output of ProVal that would affect this valuation.

Projections in this presentation were developed using R-scan, a proprietary tool used to illustrate the impact of changes in assumptions, methods, plan provisions, or actual experience (particularly investment experience) on the future financial
status of the Plan. We relied on Cheiron colleagues for the development of the model. R-scan uses standard roll-forward techniques. Because R-scan does not automatically capture how changes in one variable affect all other variables, some
scenarios may not be consistent.

To the best of our knowledge, this presentation and its contents have been prepared in accordance with generally recognized and accepted actuarial principles and practices which are consistent with the Code of Professional Conduct and
applicable Actuarial Standards of Practice set out by the Actuarial Standards Board. Furthermore, as credentialed actuaries, we meet the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the opinion contained in this
presentation. This presentation does not address any contractual or legal issues. We are not attorneys, and our firm does not provide any legal services or advice.

This presentation was prepared for the PFRS Retirement Board for the purposes described herein. Other users of this presentation are not intended users as defined in the Actuarial Standards of Practice, and Cheiron assumes no duty or liability
to any other user.

31/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


PFRS Client Team
Click card for bio or to contact

Graham Schmidt
Principal Consulting
Actuary

Lafayette, CA

Anne Harper
Principal Consulting
Actuary

San Diego, CA

Tim Doyle
Associate Actuary

Portland, OR

32/32

https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/viewEmpAction.do?empID=138
https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/viewEmpAction.do?empID=64
https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/viewEmpAction.do?empID=139
https://cheiron.us/cheironHome/


Table 1

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Administrative Budget Spent to Date (Preliminary)

As of November 30, 2024

Approved

Budget November 2024 FYTD Remaining Percent Remaining

Internal Administrative Costs
PFRS Staff Salaries 1,745,000$          109,159$                        590,502$                        1,154,498$                     66.2%

Board Travel Expenditures 52,500                 -                                  -                                  52,500                            100.0%

Staff Training 20,000                 -                                  -                                  20,000                            100.0%

Staff Training  - Tuition Reimbursement 7,500                   -                                  -                                  7,500                              100.0%

Board Hospitality 7,200                   496                                 1,443                              5,757                              80.0%

Payroll Processing Fees 40,000                 -                                  -                                  40,000                            100.0%

Miscellaneous Expenditures 45,000                 1,079                              5,965                              39,035                            86.7%

Internal Service Fees (ISF) 88,000                 -                                  -                                  88,000                            100.0%

Contract Services Contingency 50,000                 750                                 1,500                              48,500                            97.0%

Internal Administrative Costs Subtotal : 2,055,200$          111,484$                        599,410$                        1,455,790$                     70.8%

Actuary and Accounting Services
Audit 54,400$               24,882$                          24,882$                          29,518$                          54.3%

Actuary 50,900                 -                                  3,233                              47,668                            93.6%

Actuary and Accounting Subtotal: 105,300$             24,882$                          28,115$                          77,186$                          73.3%

Legal Services
City Attorney Salaries 220,700$             16,799$                          85,786$                          134,914$                        61.1%

Legal Contingency 150,000               -                                  -                                  150,000                          100.0%

Legal Services Subtotal: 370,700$             16,799$                          85,786$                          284,914$                        76.9%

Investment Services
Money Manager Fees 1,353,000$          14,600$                          303,462$                        1,049,538$                     77.6%

Custodial Fee 124,500               31,125                            31,125                            93,375                            75.0%

Investment Consultant 100,000               -                                  25,000                            75,000                            75.0%

Investment Subtotal: 1,577,500$          45,725$                          359,587$                        1,217,913$                     77.2%

Total Operating Budget 4,108,700$   198,890$               1,072,897$            3,035,803$            73.89%



Table 2

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Cash in Treasury (Fund 7100) - Preliminary

As of November 30, 2024 

 

November 2024 

Beginning Cash as of 11/1/2024 9,778,077$                                      

Additions:

City Pension Contribution - November 2,903,750                                        

Investment Draw 1,500,000                                        

Misc. Receipts -                                                   

Total Additions: 4,403,750$                                      

Deductions:

Pension Payment (October Pension Paid on 11/1/2024) (4,153,726)                                       

Expenditures Paid (256,300)                                          

Total Deductions (4,410,026)$                                     

Ending Cash Balance as of 11/30/2024* 9,771,801$                                      

 

* On 12/2/2024, November pension payment of appx $4,114,000 will be made leaving a cash balance of $5,658,000.



Table 3

CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Census

As of November 30, 2024

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Retiree 259 141 400

Beneficiary 125 90 215

Total Retired Members 384 231 615

Total Membership: 384 231 615

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Service Retirement 257 105 362

Disability Retirement 119 115 234

Death Allowance 8 11 19

Total Retired Members: 384 231 615

Total Membership as of November 30, 2024: 384 231 615

Total Membership as of June 30, 2024: 389 237 626

Annual Difference: -5 -6 -11



2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 FYTD

Police 558 545 516 492 475 460 439 422 404 389 384

Fire 403 384 370 345 323 308 284 264 250 237 231

Total 961 929 886 837 798 768 723 686 654 626 615

558
545

516

492

475
460

439

422

404
389 384

403

384
370

345

323
308

284

264
250

237 231

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System
Pension Plan Membership Count

As of November 30, 2024 (FY 2015 - FY 2025)



Attachments:  PFRS Board of Administration 
(1) Resolution 8118  January 29, 2025 
(2) Conference Agenda Agenda Item: C2 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO: Oakland Police & Fire Retirement 
System (PFRS) 

FROM: David F. Jones 
PFRS Plan Administrator & 

Board of Administration Secretary 

SUBJECT: Authorization and Reimbursement 
of Board Member Godfrey’s Travel 
& Education Expenses 

DATE: January 29, 2025 

Jaime T. Godfrey, Board Member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board, 
requests authorization for reimbursement of travel and/or board education related funds for the event 
detailed below.   

Staff has verified that budgeted funds are available for this Board Member to be reimbursed and 
recommends the reimbursement of travel/education funds for the event below be approved by board 
motion. 

Travel/Education Event: Pension Bridge The Annual 2025 

Event Location: The Ritz Carlton in Half Moon Bay, CA 

Event Date: March 24, 2025 – March 26, 2025 

Estimated Event Expense: $1,950.00 

Notes: 

* If enrollment, registration, or admission expenses are required, the fund will process a check in advance and pay vendor 
directly; all other board-approved reimbursements will be made upon delivery of receipts to staff by the travelling party.  
Cancellation of event attendance requires return of all reimbursed funds paid to attendee to the fund.

For questions regarding this report, please contact Maxine Visaya, Administrative Analyst I, at    
(510) 238-7295.

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System 



ATTACHMENT 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 8018



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8118 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

RESOLUTION APPROVING REQUEST OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE 

RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD MEMBER JAIME T. GODFREY TO TRAVEL 

AND ATTEND PENSION BRIDGE THE ANNUAL 2025 CONFERENCE 

FROM MARCH 24, 2025 THROUGH MARCH 26, 2025 IN HALF MOON 

BAY, CA, AND AUTHORIZING MEMBER REIMBURSEMENT OF TRAVEL-

RELATED EXPENSES IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED ONE THOUSAND 

NINE HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS ($1,950.00) 

WHEREAS, the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) Education and Travel 

Policy (“Travel Policy”) requires that PFRS Board members and staff obtain prior Board 

approval of all education and travel-related expenses that will be reimbursed by PFRS; 

and; 

WHEREAS, PFRS Board Member Godfrey would like to attend Pension Bridge The Annual 

2025 conference from March 24, 2025 through March 26, 2025 in Half Moon Bay, CA; 

and 

WHEREAS, in compliance with Section IV(13)(c) of the Travel Policy, Member Godfrey 

has submitted documentation showing the estimated travel-related expenses to attend 

the Conference will be approximately One Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty Dollars 

($1,950.00); and therefore be it 

RESOLVED:  That PFRS Board Member Jaime T. Godfrey’s request to attend Pension 

Bridge The Annual 2025 conference in Half Moon Bay, CA from March 24, 2025 through 

March 26, 2025 at an estimated cost of One Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty Dollars 

($1,950.00) is approved; and be it 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board authorizes member reimbursement of the 

travel-related expenses in an amount not to exceed One Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty 

Dollars ($1,950.00) for Member Godfrey’s attendance at Pension Bridge The Annual 2025 

conference. 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA                       JANUARY 29, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES:  MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES:   
ABSTAIN:  GODFREY 
ABSENT:   
 
 

ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 
 

   



ATTACHMENT 2

Conference Agenda
Pension Bridge The Annual

2025



March 24-26, 2025 

Pension Bridge 
The Annual 2025  
The Ritz-Carlton, Half Moon Bay, California  

JOIN US

(https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us)

 

JOIN US  (https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us)

https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us
https://events.withintelligence.com/pensionbridgetheannual/page/4362069/join-us


Mon Mar 24

2:20 PM - 3:15 PM PDT   (55 Min)

Registration and Refreshments

3:15 PM - 3:20 PM PDT   (5 Min)

Opening Remarks

2:20 PM



3:15 PM



3:20 PM

Search Session 

All Days Mon Mar 24 Tue Mar 25 Wed Mar 26

 All Sessions  My Interests
(44)

LOG IN



3:20 PM - 3:50 PM PDT   (30 Min)

Keynote Interview

3:50 PM - 4:30 PM PDT   (40 Min)

How Long will America’s Economic Foundations Hold?

4:30 PM - 6:00 PM PDT   (1 Hour, 30 Min)

Cocktail Reception

Tue Mar 25

7:45 AM - 8:45 AM PDT   (1 Hour)

Breakfast & LP-Only Exchange



3:50 PM



4:30 PM



7:45 AM





(44)



7:45 AM - 8:45 AM PDT   (1 Hour)

Breakfast for All Attendees

8:45 AM - 9:05 AM PDT   (20 Min)

Opening Remarks with Market Trends Oveview from With Intelligence

9:05 AM - 9:35 AM PDT   (30 Min)

Keynote Allocator Interview

9:35 AM - 10:15 AM PDT   (40 Min)

Private Credit: The Next Systemic Risk or Here for the Long Game?



8:45 AM



9:05 AM



9:35 AM



10:15 AM



(44)



10:15 AM - 10:55 AM PDT   (40 Min)

US Equities: the Bronco Begins to Buck

10:55 AM - 11:15 AM PDT   (20 Min)

Headline Sponsor Presentation

11:15 AM - 11:45 AM PDT   (30 Min)

Coffee & Refreshments

11:45 AM - 12:15 PM PDT   (30 Min)

Breakout: Track A - Co-Investments: How Much is Too Much?



10:55 AM



11:15 AM



11:45 AM





(44)



11:45 AM - 12:15 PM PDT   (30 Min)

Breakout: Track B - In an Alpha-Strapped World, What Value do Hedge Funds

Offer?

12:20 PM - 12:55 PM PDT   (35 Min)

Breakout: Track A - With US Exceptionalism Surging On, How Can Emerging

Markets Compete?

12:20 PM - 12:55 PM PDT   (35 Min)

Breakout: Track B - Has Bitcoin Finally Become a Legitimate Financial

Instrument?

12:55 PM - 1:55 PM PDT   (1 Hour)

Networking Lunch Break



12:20 PM





12:55 PM



2:00 PM



(44)



2:00 PM - 2:40 PM PDT   (40 Min)

Will the Mismatch Between Buyers and Sellers in Private Equity Ever

Narrow?

2:40 PM - 3:20 PM PDT   (40 Min)

Is ESG in America Dead?

3:20 PM - 3:40 PM PDT   (20 Min)

Headline Sponsor Presentation

3:40 PM - 4:10 PM PDT   (30 Min)

Coffee & Refreshments



2:40 PM



3:20 PM



3:40 PM



4:10 PM



(44)



4:10 PM - 4:50 PM PDT   (40 Min)

Public Debt: Why Go Private?

4:50 PM - 5:30 PM PDT   (40 Min)

How Should you Manage Distressed Assets in your Real Estate Portfolio?

5:30 PM - 6:10 PM PDT   (40 Min)

Strategic Asset Allocation Needs a Rethink. But How?

6:15 PM - 7:45 PM PDT   (1 Hour, 30 Min)

Cocktail Reception

Wed Mar 26



4:50 PM



5:30 PM



6:15 PM



7:45 AM



(44)



7:45 AM - 8:45 AM PDT   (1 Hour)

Breakfast for All Attendees

8:45 AM - 8:50 AM PDT   (5 Min)

Opening Remarks

8:50 AM - 9:20 AM PDT   (30 Min)

Keynote Allocator Interview

9:20 AM - 10:00 AM PDT   (40 Min)

GP Stakes: Where's the Exit Sign?



8:45 AM



8:50 AM



9:20 AM



10:00 AM



(44)



10:00 AM - 10:20 AM PDT   (20 Min)

Headline Sponsor Presentation

10:20 AM - 10:50 AM PDT   (30 Min)

Coffee & Refreshments

10:50 AM - 11:25 AM PDT   (35 Min)

Breakout: Track A - As Geopolitics Heats up, will Oil and Gas Continue to be

Undercapitalized?

10:50 AM - 11:25 AM PDT   (35 Min)

Breakout: Track B - With All the Hype, where is the True Value in

Decarbonization?



10:20 AM



10:50 AM





11:30 AM



(44)



11:30 AM - 12:05 PM PDT   (35 Min)

Breakout: Track A - How Much Are You Willing to Give Up with Continuation

Vehicles?

11:30 AM - 12:05 PM PDT   (35 Min)

Breakout: Track B - What Role Should Allocators Play in Fixing America’s

Broken Infrastructure?

12:05 PM - 1:05 PM PDT   (1 Hour)

Networking Lunch Break

1:05 PM - 1:45 PM PDT   (40 Min)

The Dragon’s Last Dance: Can China Bounce Back?





12:05 PM



1:05 PM



1:45 PM



(44)



1:45 PM - 2:25 PM PDT   (40 Min)

Will Traditional Secondaries Fade when Exit Avenues Rebound?

2:25 PM - 2:55 PM PDT   (30 Min)

Coffee & Refreshment Break

2:55 PM - 3:35 PM PDT   (40 Min)

How Would the Death of the $1 Trillion Artificial Intelligence Boom Affect

Your Portfolio?

3:35 PM - 4:15 PM PDT   (40 Min)

The CIO Conclusion



2:25 PM



2:55 PM



3:35 PM



4:15 PM



(44)



4:15 PM - 4:20 PM PDT   (5 Min)

Closing Remarks

4:20 PM - 5:50 PM PDT   (1 Hour, 30 Min)

Cocktail Reception



4:20 PM





(44)



   

 

 
Attachments:   PFRS Board of Administration 
(1) Resolution 8119   January 29, 2025 
(2) Conference Agenda  Agenda Item: C3 

 
 
                   

                                                                                               AGENDA REPORT 
 

 

TO: Oakland Police & Fire Retirement 
System (PFRS) 

FROM: David F. Jones 
PFRS Plan Administrator & 

 Board of Administration  Secretary 
    
SUBJECT: Authorization and Reimbursement 

of Board Member Wilkinson’s 
Travel & Education Expenses 

DATE: January 29, 2025 
   

 

R. Steven Wilkinson, Board Member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board, 
requests authorization for reimbursement of travel and/or board education related funds for the event 
detailed below.   

Staff has verified that budgeted funds are available for this Board Member to be reimbursed and 
recommends the reimbursement of travel/education funds for the event below be approved by board 
motion. 
 

Travel/Education Event: CALAPRS 2025 General Assembly 

Event Location: Silverado Resort in Napa, CA 

Event Date: March 2, 2025 – March 5, 2025 

Estimated Event Expense: $2,000.00 

Notes:  

* If enrollment, registration, or admission expenses are required, the fund will process a check in advance and pay vendor 
directly; all other board-approved reimbursements will be made upon delivery of receipts to staff by the travelling party.  
Cancellation of event attendance requires return of all reimbursed funds paid to attendee to the fund. 

 

For questions regarding this report, please contact Maxine Visaya, Administrative Analyst I, at     
(510) 238-7295. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
  
 
 
 David F. Jones 
 Plan Administrator & Secretary 
 Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System 



ATTACHMENT 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 8019



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8119 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

RESOLUTION APPROVING REQUEST OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE 
RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD MEMBER R. STEVEN WILKINSON TO 
TRAVEL AND ATTEND THE 2025 CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF 
PUBLIC RETIREMENT SYSTEMS GENERAL ASSEMBLY (CALAPRS 2025 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY) FROM MARCH 2, 2025 THROUGH MARCH 5, 2025 
IN NAPA, CALIFORNIA AND AUTHORIZING DIRECT PAYMENT TO THE 
VENDOR FOR CONFERENCE REGISTRATION FEES AND MEMBER 
REIMBURSEMENT OF TRAVEL-RELATED EXPENSES IN AN AMOUNT NOT 
TO EXCEED TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) 

WHEREAS, the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) Education and Travel 

Policy (“Travel Policy”) requires that PFRS Board members and staff obtain prior Board 

approval of all education and travel-related expenses that will be reimbursed by PFRS; 

and; 

WHEREAS, PFRS Board Member Wilkinson would like to attend the 2025 California 

Association of Public Retirement Systems (CALAPRS) General Assembly (“the 

Conference”) in Napa, CA from March 2, 2025 through March 5, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, in compliance with Section IV(13)(c) of the Travel Policy, Member Wilkinson 

has submitted documentation showing the registration fees and estimated travel-related 

expenses to attend the Conference will be approximately Two Thousand Dollars 

($2,000.00); and, therefore be it 

RESOLVED: That PFRS Board Member R. Steven Wilkinson’s request to attend the 2025 

California Association of Public Retirement Systems (CALAPRS) General Assembly in 

Rancho Mirage, CA from March 2, 2025 through March 5, 2025 at an estimated cost of 

Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) is approved; and be it 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board authorizes direct payment to the vendor for 

conference registration fees and member reimbursement of travel-related expenses in 

an amount not to exceed Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) for Member Wilkinson’s 

attendance at the 2025 California Association of Public Retirement Systems (CALAPRS) 

General Assembly Conference. 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA                       JANUARY 29, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES:  GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES:   
ABSTAIN:  WILKINSON 
ABSENT:   

ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 
 

   



ATTACHMENT 2

Conference Agenda
CALAPRS General Assembly

2025



Annual

Be sure to view the full
program before booking
your room. Sessions do

not start until March
3rd. Registration is

open starting 
March 2nd.

The California Association of Public Retirement Systems (CALAPRS) invites you to attend the Annual
General Assembly, Sunday, March 2 – Wednesday, March 5, 2025 at the Silverado Resort, in Napa,
CA! The General Assembly is an educational conference for retirement system trustees, senior staff, and our
annual sponsors. Attendees will learn from experts and peers, while getting the opportunity to network with

colleagues. Please take note of the new date pattern (Sunday – Wednesday).

GENERAL ASSEMBLY MARCH 2–5, 2025
Sunday – Wednesday

REGISTRATION
Register online at www.calaprs.org/events

Retirement System Fee: $250/person
Sponsor Fee: $2,500 annual sponsorship includes registration for 2 representatives at no additional
cost.

LODGING
CALAPRS has arranged for a discounted room rate at the meeting hotel, the
Silverado Resort, 1600 Atlas Peak Rd., Napa, CA 94558 for the duration of
the meeting. The room rate is $269/night. The room rate does not
include taxes, fees, and the $35/night resort fee.

Book Online: https://book.passkey.com/e/50862602 
By Phone: (707) 257–0200, refer to California Association of Public
Retirement Systems

Cut–off Date: The room rate is available until Wednesday, February 5, 2025
or until the block is sold out, whichever comes first. Book your room early!

PLANNING COMMITTEE
CALAPRS would like to thank the 2025 General Assembly Planning Committee for their
dedication to creating a timely and impactful General Assembly Program!

Debby Cherney, CEO, San Bernardino County Employees’ Retirement Association (SBCERA) 
Steve Delaney, CEO, Orange County Employees’ Retirement System (OCERS)
Greg Levin, CEO, Santa Barbara County Employees’ Retirement System (SBCERS)
Alison Romano, CEO & CIO, San Francisco Employees’ Retirement System (SFERS)
Eric Stern, CEO, Sacramento County Employees’ Retirement System (SCERS)
Robert Theller, Retirement Administrator, City of Fresno Retirement Systems
Julie Wyne, CEO, Sonoma County Employees’ Retirement Association

575 Market Street, Suite 400, San Francisco, CA 94105 | 1–800–RETIRE–0 | info@calaprs.org | www.calaprs.org

https://www.canva.com/link?target=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.calaprs.org%2Fevents%2FEventDetails.aspx%3Fid%3D1842373%26group%3D&design=DAGWTa_8sAs&accessRole=viewer&linkSource=document
https://www.canva.com/link?target=https%3A%2F%2Fbook.passkey.com%2Fe%2F50862602&design=DAGWTa_8sAs&accessRole=viewer&linkSource=document


SUNDAY, MARCH 2
4:00 – 6:00 PM

General Assembly
PROGRAM

Registration Open

MONDAY, MARCH 3
10:00 AM –  12:00 PM

2:00 – 2:15 PM

2:15 – 3:15 PM

3:15 – 3:30 PM

3:30 – 4:30 PM

7:00– 9:30 PM

AB1234 Ethics for Trustees
Presenter: Ashley Dunning, Partner & Co–chair Pension, Benefits &
Investments Group, Nossaman LLP

Welcome Remarks

Keynote Session – Geopolitics & Investing
Presenter: Michael Hasenstab, Ph.D., Executive Vice President and
Chief Investment Officer, Franklin Templeton – Global Macro

Networking  Break

Keynote Session – Leadership & Taking Risks
Moderator: John Myers, Chief, Office of Public Affairs, California
Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS)
Panelists: Jackie Speier, Former Congresswoman and California
State Senator and Barry Dennis, Investment Consultant (Ret.)

Strolling Dinner at the Silverado Resort

TUESDAY, MARCH 4
7:00 AM – 4:00 PM

7:45 – 8:45 AM

8:45 – 9:00 AM

9:00 – 10:00 AM

10:00 – 10:30 AM

10:30 AM – 12:00 PM

12:00 – 1:30 PM

Registration Open

Breakfast

Opening Remarks & Robert Toigo Award Presentation

Keynote Session – Evolving Macro Trends & Economic Outlook
with Goldman Sachs
Moderator: Amit Thanki, Senior Investment Officer, San Bernardino
County Employees' Retirement Association (SBCERA)
Presenter: Candice Tse, Managing Director, Client Solutions Group,
Goldman Sachs Asset Management

Networking Break

Disruptive Technologies from a VC Perspective
Moderator: Alison Romano, CEO & CIO, San Francisco Employees'
Retirement System (SFERS)
Panelists: Vinod Khosla, Founder, Khosla Ventures; Mohamad
Makhzoumi, Co–CEO, NEA; and Emily Melton, Co–founder,
Threshold

Lunch



PROGRAM

TUESDAY, MARCH 4
1:30 – 2:30 PM

2:30 – 3:00 PM

3:00 – 4:00 PM

5:00 – 6:00 PM

Total Portfolio Approach
Presenter: John Bowman, CEO, CAIA

Networking Break

Post-PEPRA Retrospective: Examining Cost-savings Wins,
Political Impacts, and New Challenges 10+ Years After Pension
Reform
Presenters: Michael Cohen, Chief Operating Investment Officer,
California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS); David
Lamoureux, Deputy System Actuary, California State Teachers
Retirement System (CalSTRS); Eric Stern, CEO, Sacramento County
Employees' Retirement System (SCERS); and Todd Tauzer, Senior
Vice President and Actuary, Segal

Networking Reception

General Assembly

continued

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 5
7:30 – 11:30 AM

7:30 – 8:30 AM

8:30– 9:30 AM

9:30 – 10:00 AM

10:00 – 11:00 AM

11:00 – 11:45 AM

11:45 AM – 12:00 PM

Registration Open

Breakfast

Panel Discussion: LACERA/Independence Ruling
Panelists: Debby Cherney, CEO, San Bernardino County Employees'
Retirement Association (SBCERA); Maytak Chin, Partner, ReedSmith;
Santos H. Kreimann, CEO, Los Angeles County Employees
Retirement Association (LACERA); and Greg Levin, CEO, Santa
Barbara County Employees' Retirement System (SBCERS)

Networking Reception

Driving PAS Modernization with Secure, Responsible AI
Presenters: Nate Haws, Associate Principal Consultant and AI
Researcher, Linea Solutions and Anthony Suine, Pension Solution
Project Director, California State Teachers Retirement System
(CalSTRS)

Case Study & Discussion: The Fun and Games Trustees Get to
Play When an Education Retirement System is in Long-term
Turmoil
Presenters: Maytak Chin, Partner, ReedSmith and Rob Theller, Esq.,
Retirement Administrator, City of Fresno Systems

Closing Remarks & Adjournment

HEALTH & SAFETY
CALAPRS is dedicated to providing a safe event experience for all meeting participants including: attendees, sponsors,
staff, and guests. The General Assembly will be conducted as advised by government (local, state, and national)
regulations, CDC recommendations, and venue requirements at the time of the event.



   

 

 
   PFRS Board of Administration 
   January 29, 2025 

Agenda Item:  C4 

 
 
                   

                                                                                               AGENDA REPORT 
 

 

 TO: Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System  FROM: David F. Jones 

 
(PFRS) Board of Administration  PFRS Plan Administrator & 

Secretary 
    
SUBJECT: Manner of PFRS Board & Committee 

Meetings 
DATE: January 29, 2025 

   

 

 
 
BACKGROUND 

At the May 31, 2023 PFRS Board Meeting staff requested Board direction regarding the option to 
initiate and conduct hybrid meetings to engage with presenters and facilitate public comment via 
virtual participation. The Board discussed the matter briefly and President Johnson directed staff to 
research logistics and any necessary steps in order to possibly implement such change and place 
the matter on the agenda for further discussion at the September 2023 meeting. 
 
At the September 27, 2023 PFRS Board Meeting, staff reported it is both logistically and legally 
possible to conduct hybrid meetings for the purpose of member participation, engaging with 
presenters, and facilitate public comment via remote virtual participation. Action to implement such 
change would require an update to PFRS’ current Rules & Regulations.  
 
It was noted that AB 2449 is much more limited than the peak-pandemic laws for remote participation. 
A member of a Brown Act body could do so citing “just cause” or “emergency circumstances,” for no 
more than 20% of the regular meetings for the calendar year and requires an in-person quorum to 
be able to utilize this provision. This Board is regularly scheduled to meet once per month, and as 
such could utilize this provision no more two (2) times per year. However, members remain able to 
utilize the traditional teleconference rules that allow them to participate remotely as long as they 
provide proper notice of the remote location and allow public access to the noticed location. That 
option does not have any numerical limit. 
 
The matter was discussed and dropped by motion of the Board on September 27, 2023. Member 
Godfrey submitted a request on September 30, 2024, for the Board to reconsider the option to 
conduct hybrid meetings and for the matter to be placed on a future agenda for further discussion. 
President Johnson directed staff and legal counsel to review the matter and report to the Board.  
 



Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System Board of Administration 
Subject: Manner of PFRS Board & Committee Meetings 
Date: January 29, 2024 Page 2 

PFRS Board of Administration 
 January 29, 2025 
Agenda Item:  C4 

On September 22, 2024, Governor Newsom signed AB 2302 to amend certain portions of the Ralph 
M. Brown Act (“Brown Act”) relating to members of legislative bodies participating by teleconference
during public meetings effective January 1, 2025. AB 2302 revises those limits, instead prohibiting
such participation for more than a specified number of meetings per year, based on how frequently
the legislative body regularly meets rather than a percentage of meetings. Under the new limits, a
member may only participate remotely using “just cause” or “emergency circumstances” for two
meetings per year if the legislative body meets once per month or less. Effectively, this change does
not alter the allowable number of meetings PFRS Board members would be able to participate via
teleconference under AB 2449.

SUMMARY 

Action to implement a change to facilitate hybrid meetings would require an update to PFRS’ current 
Rules & Regulations. Additionally, any such updates to the Rules & Regulations will not supersede 
the legal requirements of Board Members to attend meetings in-person or to exercise the option to 
attend via teleconference in accordance the Brown Act, AB 2449, and AB 2302. 

Staff seeks further direction from the Board regarding how they would like to proceed. 

For questions regarding this report, please contact Maxine Visaya, Administrative Analyst I, at 
(510) 238-7295.

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System 

Attachments: (1) Bill Text AB 2449 (2022) 
(2) Bill Text AB 2303 (2024)
(3) The Brown Act (2003)
(4) Office of the City Attorney City of Oakland FAQ sheet regarding participation via

teleconference
(5) PFRS Rules & Regulations



ATTACHMENT 1
Bill Text AB 2449 (2022)



SHARE THIS:   Date Published: 09/14/2022 09:00 PM

AB-2449 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences. (2021-2022)
                    

Assembly Bill No. 2449

CHAPTER 285

An act to amend, repeal, and add Sections 54953 and 54954.2 of the Government Code, relating to local

government.

[ Approved by Governor  September 13, 2022. Filed with Secretary of State
 September 13, 2022. ]

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 2449, Blanca Rubio. Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

Existing law, the Ralph M. Brown Act, requires, with specified exceptions, that all meetings of a legislative body
of a local agency, as those terms are defined, be open and public and that all persons be permitted to attend and
participate. The act generally requires posting an agenda at least 72 hours before a regular meeting that
contains a brief general description of each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, and
prohibits any action or discussion from being undertaken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda. The
act authorizes a legislative body to take action on items of business not appearing on the posted agenda under
specified conditions. The act contains specified provisions regarding providing for the ability of the public to
observe and provide comment. The act allows for meetings to occur via teleconferencing subject to certain
requirements, particularly that the legislative body notice each teleconference location of each member that will
be participating in the public meeting, that each teleconference location be accessible to the public, that
members of the public be allowed to address the legislative body at each teleconference location, that the
legislative body post an agenda at each teleconference location, and that at least a quorum of the legislative
body participate from locations within the boundaries of the local agency’s jurisdiction. The act provides an
exemption to the jurisdictional requirement for health authorities, as defined.

Existing law, until January 1, 2024, authorizes a local agency to use teleconferencing without complying with
those specified teleconferencing requirements in specified circumstances when a declared state of emergency is
in effect, or in other situations related to public health.

This bill would revise and recast those teleconferencing provisions and, until January 1, 2026, would authorize a
local agency to use teleconferencing without complying with the teleconferencing requirements that each
teleconference location be identified in the notice and agenda and that each teleconference location be accessible
to the public if at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body participates in person from a singular
physical location clearly identified on the agenda that is open to the public and situated within the local agency’s
jurisdiction. Under this exception, the bill would authorize a member to participate remotely under specified
circumstances, including participating remotely for just cause or due to emergency circumstances. The
emergency circumstances basis for remote participation would be contingent on a request to, and action by, the

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https%3A//leginfo.legislature.ca.gov%3A443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml%3Fbill_id=202120220AB2449&t=20212022AB-2449&
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https%3A//leginfo.legislature.ca.gov%3A443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml%3Fbill_id=202120220AB2449&t=20212022AB-2449&
https://twitter.com/home?status=20212022AB-2449%20https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov:443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2449&
https://twitter.com/home?status=20212022AB-2449%20https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov:443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2449&


legislative body, as prescribed. The bill, until January 1, 2026, would authorize a legislative body to consider and
take action on a request from a member to participate in a meeting remotely due to emergency circumstances if
the request does not allow sufficient time to place the proposed action on the posted agenda for the meeting for
which the request is made. The bill would define terms for purposes of these teleconferencing provisions.

This bill would impose prescribed requirements for this exception relating to notice, agendas, the means and
manner of access, and procedures for disruptions. The bill would require the legislative body to implement a
procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation for individuals with
disabilities, consistent with federal law.

Existing constitutional provisions require that a statute that limits the right of access to the meetings of public
bodies or the writings of public officials and agencies be adopted with findings demonstrating the interest
protected by the limitation and the need for protecting that interest.

This bill would make legislative findings to that effect.

The California Constitution requires local agencies, for the purpose of ensuring public access to the meetings of
public bodies and the writings of public officials and agencies, to comply with a statutory enactment that amends
or enacts laws relating to public records or open meetings and contains findings demonstrating that the
enactment furthers the constitutional requirements relating to this purpose.

This bill would make legislative findings to that effect.
Vote: majority   Appropriation: no   Fiscal Committee: no   Local Program: no  

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. Section 54953 of the Government Code, as amended by Section 3 of Chapter 165 of the Statutes of
2021, is amended to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all
otherwise applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a
specific type of meeting or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any
meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency
elects to use teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the following:

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall.

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency.

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as otherwise required by this
chapter.

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the meeting and the agenda shall
provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to
Section 54954.3.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the
meeting or proceeding, and each teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the
teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within
the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in
subdivisions (d) and (e).

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.



(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a
final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local
agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final
action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act
(Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in
the process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference
locations within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is
established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections
14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
any joint powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of
Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and
any advisory committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with
Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with the requirements
of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if the legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this
subdivision in any of the following circumstances:

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local officials
have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing.

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of
determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present
imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(C) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and has determined, by
majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would
present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the following:

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by
which members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda shall identify
and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service option.

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to
members of the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a
disruption within the local agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public
comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further
action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption that prevents
the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

(C) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and
must provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.



(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of
an internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that
requires registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party
internet website or online platform to participate.

(E) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each agenda item shall not close
the public comment period for the agenda item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph
(F), to provide public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed.

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment period, but takes public comment
separately on each agenda item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public
members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time for members of the public to
register pursuant to subparagraph (F), or otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public
comment.

(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period that does not correspond to a
specific agenda item shall not close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to
subparagraph (F), until the timed general public comment period has elapsed.

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, or state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures
to promote social distancing, in order to continue to teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b), the legislative body shall, not later than 30 days after teleconferencing for the first time
pursuant to subparagraph (A), (B), or (C) of paragraph (1), and every 30 days thereafter, make the following
findings by majority vote:

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency.

(B) Any of the following circumstances exist:

(i) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in
person.

(ii) State or local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing.

(4) This subdivision shall not be construed to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from
which the public may attend or comment.

(f) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b) if, during the teleconference meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body
participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda, which location shall be
open to the public and situated within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises
jurisdiction and the legislative body complies with all of the following:

(A) The legislative body shall provide at least one of the following as a means by which the public may
remotely hear and visually observe the meeting, and remotely address the legislative body:

(i) A two-way audiovisual platform.

(ii) A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting.

(B) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by
which members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment.

(C) The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend and address the legislative
body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 via a call-in option, via an internet-based service option, and at
the in-person location of the meeting.

(D) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to
members of the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a
disruption within the local agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public
comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further
action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption that prevents
the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.



(E) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and
must provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.

(F) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of
an internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that
requires registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party
internet website or online platform to participate.

(2) A member of the legislative body shall only participate in the meeting remotely pursuant to this
subdivision, if all of the following requirements are met:

(A) One of the following circumstances applies:

(i) The member notifies the legislative body at the earliest opportunity possible, including at the start of
a regular meeting, of their need to participate remotely for just cause, including a general description of
the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting. The provisions of this
clause shall not be used by any member of the legislative body for more than two meetings per calendar
year.

(ii) The member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate in the meeting remotely due to
emergency circumstances and the legislative body takes action to approve the request. The legislative
body shall request a general description of the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at
the given meeting. A general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 words and shall not
require the member to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical information
that is already exempt under existing law, such as the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Chapter
1 (commencing with Section 56) of Part 2.6 of Division 1 of the Civil Code). For the purposes of this
clause, the following requirements apply:

(I) A member shall make a request to participate remotely at a meeting pursuant to this clause as
soon as possible. The member shall make a separate request for each meeting in which they seek to
participate remotely.

(II) The legislative body may take action on a request to participate remotely at the earliest
opportunity. If the request does not allow sufficient time to place proposed action on such a request
on the posted agenda for the meeting for which the request is made, the legislative body may take
action at the beginning of the meeting in accordance with paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) of Section
54954.2.

(B) The member shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action is taken, whether any other
individuals 18 years of age or older are present in the room at the remote location with the member, and
the general nature of the member’s relationship with any such individuals.

(C) The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology.

(3) The provisions of this subdivision shall not serve as a means for any member of a legislative body to
participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by teleconference from a remote location for a period of
more than three consecutive months or 20 percent of the regular meetings for the local agency within a
calendar year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body regularly meets fewer than 10 times per
calendar year.

(g) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for
reasonable accommodation for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities
Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each instance in which
notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the
legislative body shall also give notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation.

(h) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent with applicable civil rights and
nondiscrimination laws.

(i) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the public with additional
teleconference locations.

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing members of the public with additional
physical locations in which the public may observe and address the legislative body by electronic means.



(j) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

(1) “Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical emergency that prevents a member from
attending in person.

(2) “Just cause” means any of the following:

(A) A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic
partner that requires them to participate remotely. “Child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and
“sibling” have the same meaning as those terms do in Section 12945.2.

(B) A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person.

(C) A need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Sections 12926 and 12926.1 not
otherwise accommodated by subdivision (g).

(D) Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or local agency.

(3) “Remote location” means a location from which a member of a legislative body participates in a meeting
pursuant to subdivision (f), other than any physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting.
Remote locations need not be accessible to the public.

(4) “Remote participation” means participation in a meeting by teleconference at a location other than any
physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting. Watching or listening to a meeting via
webcasting or another similar electronic medium that does not permit members to interactively hear, discuss,
or deliberate on matters, does not constitute remote participation.

(5) “State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to Section 8625 of the California
Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing with Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2).

(6) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different locations,
connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both.

(7) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides participants with the ability to
participate in a meeting via both an interactive video conference and a two-way telephonic function.

(8) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not require internet access, is not
provided as part of a two-way audiovisual platform, and allows participants to dial a telephone number to listen
and verbally participate.

(9) “Webcasting” means a streaming video broadcast online or on television, using streaming media
technology to distribute a single content source to many simultaneous listeners and viewers.

(k) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024, and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 2. Section 54953 of the Government Code, as added by Section 4 of Chapter 165 of the Statutes of 2021,
is amended to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all
otherwise applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a
specific type of meeting or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any
meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency
elects to use teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the following:

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall.

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency.



(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as otherwise required by this
chapter.

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the meeting and the agenda shall
provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to
Section 54954.3.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the
meeting or proceeding, and each teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the
teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within
the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in
subdivision (d).

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a
final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local
agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final
action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act
(Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in
the process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference
locations within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is
established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections
14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
any joint powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of
Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and
any advisory committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with
Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b) if, during the teleconference meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body
participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda, which location shall be
open to the public and situated within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises
jurisdiction and the legislative body complies with all of the following:

(A) The legislative body shall provide at least one of the following as a means by which the public may
remotely hear and visually observe the meeting, and remotely address the legislative body:

(i) A two-way audiovisual platform.

(ii) A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting.

(B) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by
which members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment.



(C) The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend and address the legislative
body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 via a call-in option, via an internet-based service option, and at
the in-person location of the meeting.

(D) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to
members of the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a
disruption within the local agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public
comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further
action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption that prevents
the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

(E) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and
must provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.

(F) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of
an internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that
requires registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party
internet website or online platform to participate.

(2) A member of the legislative body shall only participate in the meeting remotely pursuant to this
subdivision, if all of the following requirements are met:

(A) One of the following circumstances applies:

(i) The member notifies the legislative body at the earliest opportunity possible, including at the start of
a regular meeting, of their need to participate remotely for just cause, including a general description of
the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting. The provisions of this
clause shall not be used by any member of the legislative body for more than two meetings per calendar
year.

(ii) The member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate in the meeting remotely due to
emergency circumstances and the legislative body takes action to approve the request. The legislative
body shall request a general description of the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at
the given meeting. A general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 words and shall not
require the member to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical information
that is already exempt under existing law, such as the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Chapter
1 (commencing with Section 56) of Part 2.6 of Division 1 of the Civil Code). For the purposes of this
clause, the following requirements apply:

(I) A member shall make a request to participate remotely at a meeting pursuant to this clause as
soon as possible. The member shall make a separate request for each meeting in which they seek to
participate remotely.

(II) The legislative body may take action on a request to participate remotely at the earliest
opportunity. If the request does not allow sufficient time to place proposed action on such a request
on the posted agenda for the meeting for which the request is made, the legislative body may take
action at the beginning of the meeting in accordance with paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) of Section
54954.2.

(B) The member shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action is taken whether any other
individuals 18 years of age or older are present in the room at the remote location with the member, and
the general nature of the member’s relationship with any such individuals.

(C) The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology.

(3) The provisions of this subdivision shall not serve as a means for any member of a legislative body to
participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by teleconference from a remote location for a period of
more than three consecutive months or 20 percent of the regular meetings for the local agency within a
calendar year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body regularly meets fewer than 10 times per
calendar year.

(f) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for
reasonable accommodation for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities



Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each instance in which
notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the
legislative body shall also give notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation.

(g) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent with applicable civil rights and
nondiscrimination laws.

(h) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the public with additional
teleconference locations.

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing members of the public with additional
physical locations in which the public may observe and address the legislative body by electronic means.

(i) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

(1) “Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical emergency that prevents a member from
attending in person.

(2) “Just cause” means any of the following:

(A) A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic
partner that requires them to participate remotely. “Child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and
“sibling” have the same meaning as those terms do in Section 12945.2.

(B) A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person.

(C) A need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Sections 12926 and 12926.1 not
otherwise accommodated by subdivision (f).

(D) Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or local agency.

(3) “Remote location” means a location from which a member of a legislative body participates in a meeting
pursuant to subdivision (e), other than any physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting.
Remote locations need not be accessible to the public.

(4) “Remote participation” means participation in a meeting by teleconference at a location other than any
physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting. Watching or listening to a meeting via
webcasting or another similar electronic medium that does not permit members to interactively hear, discuss,
or deliberate on matters, does not constitute remote participation.

(5) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different locations,
connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both.

(6) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides participants with the ability to
participate in a meeting via both an interactive video conference and a two-way telephonic function.

(7) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not require internet access, is not
provided as part of a two-way audiovisual platform, and allows participants to dial a telephone number to listen
and verbally participate.

(8) “Webcasting” means a streaming video broadcast online or on television, using streaming media
technology to distribute a single content source to many simultaneous listeners and viewers.

(j) This section shall become operative January 1, 2024, shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as
of that date is repealed.
SEC. 3. Section 54953 is added to the Government Code, to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all



requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a specific type of meeting
or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any
meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. All votes taken during a teleconferenced
meeting shall be by rollcall.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. Each
teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each
teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the
members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over
which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivision (d). The agenda shall provide
an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3
at each teleconference location.

(4) For the purposes of this section, “teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of
which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both. Nothing
in this section shall prohibit a local agency from providing the public with additional teleconference locations.

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a
final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local
agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final
action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act
(Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or
received in the process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference
locations within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is
established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections
14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
any joint powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of
Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and
any advisory committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with
Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) This section shall become operative January 1, 2026.
SEC. 4. Section 54954.2 of the Government Code is amended to read:

54954.2. (a) (1) At least 72 hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body of the local agency, or its
designee, shall post an agenda containing a brief general description of each item of business to be transacted or
discussed at the meeting, including items to be discussed in closed session. A brief general description of an item
generally need not exceed 20 words. The agenda shall specify the time and location of the regular meeting and
shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to members of the public and on the local agency’s Internet
Web site, if the local agency has one. If requested, the agenda shall be made available in appropriate alternative
formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42



U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. The agenda shall
include information regarding how, to whom, and when a request for disability-related modification or
accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may be made by a person with a disability who requires a
modification or accommodation in order to participate in the public meeting.

(2) For a meeting occurring on and after January 1, 2019, of a legislative body of a city, county, city and
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state that has an Internet Web
site, the following provisions shall apply:

(A) An online posting of an agenda shall be posted on the primary Internet Web site homepage of a city,
county, city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state that
is accessible through a prominent, direct link to the current agenda. The direct link to the agenda shall not
be in a contextual menu; however, a link in addition to the direct link to the agenda may be accessible
through a contextual menu.

(B) An online posting of an agenda including, but not limited to, an agenda posted in an integrated agenda
management platform, shall be posted in an open format that meets all of the following requirements:

(i) Retrievable, downloadable, indexable, and electronically searchable by commonly used Internet
search applications.

(ii) Platform independent and machine readable.

(iii) Available to the public free of charge and without any restriction that would impede the reuse or
redistribution of the agenda.

(C) A legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political
subdivision established by the state that has an Internet Web site and an integrated agenda management
platform shall not be required to comply with subparagraph (A) if all of the following are met:

(i) A direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall be posted on the primary Internet
Web site homepage of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political
subdivision established by the state. The direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall
not be in a contextual menu. When a person clicks on the direct link to the integrated agenda
management platform, the direct link shall take the person directly to an Internet Web site with the
agendas of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or
political subdivision established by the state.

(ii) The integrated agenda management platform may contain the prior agendas of a legislative body of a
city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the
state for all meetings occurring on or after January 1, 2019.

(iii) The current agenda of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school
district, or political subdivision established by the state shall be the first agenda available at the top of
the integrated agenda management platform.

(iv) All agendas posted in the integrated agenda management platform shall comply with the
requirements in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of subparagraph (B).

(D) For the purposes of this paragraph, both of the following definitions shall apply:

(i) “Integrated agenda management platform” means an Internet Web site of a city, county, city and
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state dedicated to
providing the entirety of the agenda information for the legislative body of the city, county, city and
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state to the public.

(ii) “Legislative body” has the same meaning as that term is used in subdivision (a) of Section 54952.

(E) The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to a political subdivision of a local agency that was
established by the legislative body of the city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or
political subdivision established by the state.

(3) No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda, except that
members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly respond to statements made or questions posed by
persons exercising their public testimony rights under Section 54954.3. In addition, on their own initiative or in



response to questions posed by the public, a member of a legislative body or its staff may ask a question for
clarification, make a brief announcement, or make a brief report on his or her own activities. Furthermore, a
member of a legislative body, or the body itself, subject to rules or procedures of the legislative body, may
provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information, request staff to report back to the body
at a subsequent meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business on
a future agenda.

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the legislative body may take action on items of business not appearing on
the posted agenda under any of the conditions stated below. Prior to discussing any item pursuant to this
subdivision, the legislative body shall publicly identify the item.

(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the legislative body that an emergency situation exists, as
defined in Section 54956.5.

(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative body present at the meeting,
or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, a unanimous vote of those members present, that there
is a need to take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the local agency
subsequent to the agenda being posted as specified in subdivision (a).

(3) The item was posted pursuant to subdivision (a) for a prior meeting of the legislative body occurring not
more than five calendar days prior to the date action is taken on the item, and at the prior meeting the item
was continued to the meeting at which action is being taken.

(4) To consider action on a request from a member to participate in a meeting remotely due to emergency
circumstances, pursuant to Section 54953, if the request does not allow sufficient time to place the proposed
action on the posted agenda for the meeting for which the request is made. The legislative body may approve
such a request by a majority vote of the legislative body.

(c) This section is necessary to implement and reasonably within the scope of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of
Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution.

(d) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on the local agency’s Internet
Web site, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a legislative body that meets either of the following
standards:

(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952.

(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, if the members of the
legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and if one or more of the members of the legislative
body are also members of a legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952.

(e) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 5. Section 54954.2 is added to the Government Code, to read:

54954.2. (a) (1) At least 72 hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body of the local agency, or its
designee, shall post an agenda containing a brief general description of each item of business to be transacted or
discussed at the meeting, including items to be discussed in closed session. A brief general description of an item
generally need not exceed 20 words. The agenda shall specify the time and location of the regular meeting and
shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to members of the public and on the local agency’s Internet
Web site, if the local agency has one. If requested, the agenda shall be made available in appropriate alternative
formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42
U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. The agenda shall
include information regarding how, to whom, and when a request for disability-related modification or
accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may be made by a person with a disability who requires a
modification or accommodation in order to participate in the public meeting.

(2) For a meeting occurring on and after January 1, 2019, of a legislative body of a city, county, city and
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state that has an Internet Web
site, the following provisions shall apply:

(A) An online posting of an agenda shall be posted on the primary Internet Web site homepage of a city,
county, city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state that
is accessible through a prominent, direct link to the current agenda. The direct link to the agenda shall not



be in a contextual menu; however, a link in addition to the direct link to the agenda may be accessible
through a contextual menu.

(B) An online posting of an agenda including, but not limited to, an agenda posted in an integrated agenda
management platform, shall be posted in an open format that meets all of the following requirements:

(i) Retrievable, downloadable, indexable, and electronically searchable by commonly used Internet
search applications.

(ii) Platform independent and machine readable.

(iii) Available to the public free of charge and without any restriction that would impede the reuse or
redistribution of the agenda.

(C) A legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political
subdivision established by the state that has an Internet Web site and an integrated agenda management
platform shall not be required to comply with subparagraph (A) if all of the following are met:

(i) A direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall be posted on the primary Internet
Web site homepage of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political
subdivision established by the state. The direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall
not be in a contextual menu. When a person clicks on the direct link to the integrated agenda
management platform, the direct link shall take the person directly to an Internet Web site with the
agendas of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or
political subdivision established by the state.

(ii) The integrated agenda management platform may contain the prior agendas of a legislative body of a
city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the
state for all meetings occurring on or after January 1, 2019.

(iii) The current agenda of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school
district, or political subdivision established by the state shall be the first agenda available at the top of
the integrated agenda management platform.

(iv) All agendas posted in the integrated agenda management platform shall comply with the
requirements in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of subparagraph (B).

(D) For the purposes of this paragraph, both of the following definitions shall apply:

(i) “Integrated agenda management platform” means an Internet Web site of a city, county, city and
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state dedicated to
providing the entirety of the agenda information for the legislative body of the city, county, city and
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state to the public.

(ii) “Legislative body” has the same meaning as that term is used in subdivision (a) of Section 54952.

(E) The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to a political subdivision of a local agency that was
established by the legislative body of the city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or
political subdivision established by the state.

(3) No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda, except that
members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly respond to statements made or questions posed by
persons exercising their public testimony rights under Section 54954.3. In addition, on their own initiative or in
response to questions posed by the public, a member of a legislative body or its staff may ask a question for
clarification, make a brief announcement, or make a brief report on his or her own activities. Furthermore, a
member of a legislative body, or the body itself, subject to rules or procedures of the legislative body, may
provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information, request staff to report back to the body
at a subsequent meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business on
a future agenda.

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the legislative body may take action on items of business not appearing on
the posted agenda under any of the conditions stated below. Prior to discussing any item pursuant to this
subdivision, the legislative body shall publicly identify the item.



(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the legislative body that an emergency situation exists, as
defined in Section 54956.5.

(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative body present at the meeting,
or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, a unanimous vote of those members present, that there
is a need to take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the local agency
subsequent to the agenda being posted as specified in subdivision (a).

(3) The item was posted pursuant to subdivision (a) for a prior meeting of the legislative body occurring not
more than five calendar days prior to the date action is taken on the item, and at the prior meeting the item
was continued to the meeting at which action is being taken.

(c) This section is necessary to implement and reasonably within the scope of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of
Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution.

(d) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on the local agency’s Internet
Web site, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a legislative body that meets either of the following
standards:

(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952.

(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, if the members of the
legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and if one or more of the members of the legislative
body are also members of a legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952.

(e) This section shall become operative January 1, 2026.
SEC. 6. The Legislature finds and declares that Sections 1 and 2 of this act, which amend Section 54953 of the
Government Code, impose a limitation on the public’s right of access to the meetings of public bodies or the
writings of public officials and agencies within the meaning of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution.
Pursuant to that constitutional provision, the Legislature makes the following findings to demonstrate the interest
protected by this limitation and the need for protecting that interest:

By removing the requirement for agendas to be placed at the location of each public official participating in a
public meeting remotely, including from the member’s private home or hospital room, this act protects the
personal, private information of public officials and their families while preserving the public’s right to access
information concerning the conduct of the people’s business.

SEC. 7. The Legislature finds and declares that Sections 1 and 2 of this act, which amend Section 54953 of the
Government Code, further, within the meaning of paragraph (7) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the
California Constitution, the purposes of that constitutional section as it relates to the right of public access to the
meetings of local public bodies or the writings of local public officials and local agencies. Pursuant to paragraph
(7) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution, the Legislature makes the following
findings:

This act is necessary to ensure minimum standards for public participation and notice requirements allowing for
greater public participation in teleconference meetings.



ATTACHMENT 2
Bill Text AB 2303 (2024)



SHARE THIS:   Date Published: 09/23/2024 09:00 PM

AB-2302 Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences. (2023-2024)
                    

Assembly Bill No. 2302

CHAPTER 389

An act to amend Section 54953 of the Government Code, relating to local government.

[ Approved by Governor  September 22, 2024. Filed with Secretary of State
 September 22, 2024. ]

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 2302, Addis. Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.

Existing law, the Ralph M. Brown Act, requires, with specified exceptions, that all meetings of a legislative body,
as defined, of a local agency be open and public and that all persons be permitted to attend and participate. The
act generally requires for teleconferencing that the legislative body of a local agency that elects to use
teleconferencing post agendas at all teleconference locations, identify each teleconference location in the notice
and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and have each teleconference location be accessible to the public.
Existing law also requires that, during the teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative
body participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises
jurisdiction. The act provides an exemption to the jurisdictional requirement for health authorities, as defined.

Existing law, until January 1, 2026, authorizes the legislative body of a local agency to use alternative
teleconferencing in specified circumstances if, during the teleconference meeting, at least a quorum of the
members of the legislative body participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the
agenda that is open to the public and situated within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency
exercises jurisdiction, and the legislative body complies with prescribed requirements. Existing law imposes
prescribed restrictions on remote participation by a member under these alternative teleconferencing provisions,
including establishing limits on the number of meetings a member may participate in solely by teleconference
from a remote location, prohibiting such participation for a period of more than 3 consecutive months or 20% of
the regular meetings for the local agency within a calendar year, or more than 2 meetings if the legislative body
regularly meets fewer than 10 times per calendar year.

This bill would revise those limits, instead prohibiting such participation for more than a specified number of
meetings per year, based on how frequently the legislative body regularly meets. The bill, for the purpose of
counting meetings attended by teleconference, would define a “meeting” as any number of meetings of the
legislative body of a local agency that begin on the same calendar day.

The California Constitution requires local agencies, for the purpose of ensuring public access to the meetings of
public bodies and the writings of public officials and agencies, to comply with a statutory enactment that amends
or enacts laws relating to public records or open meetings and contains findings demonstrating that the
enactment furthers the constitutional requirements relating to this purpose.

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https%3A//leginfo.legislature.ca.gov%3A443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml%3Fbill_id=202320240AB2302&t=20232024AB-2302&
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https%3A//leginfo.legislature.ca.gov%3A443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml%3Fbill_id=202320240AB2302&t=20232024AB-2302&
https://twitter.com/home?status=20232024AB-2302%20https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov:443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB2302&
https://twitter.com/home?status=20232024AB-2302%20https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov:443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB2302&


This bill would make legislative findings to that effect.
Vote: majority   Appropriation: no   Fiscal Committee: no   Local Program: no  

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. Section 54953 of the Government Code, as amended by Section 1 of Chapter 534 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all
otherwise applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a
specific type of meeting or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any
meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency
elects to use teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the following:

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall.

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency.

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as otherwise required by this
chapter.

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the meeting and the agenda shall
provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to
Section 54954.3.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the
meeting or proceeding, and each teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the
teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within
the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in
subdivisions (d) and (e).

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a
final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local
agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final
action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act
(Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in
the process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference



locations within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is
established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections
14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
any joint powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of
Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and
any advisory committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with
Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with the requirements
of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if the legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this
subdivision in either of the following circumstances:

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of
determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present
imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and has determined, by
majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph (A), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would
present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the following:

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by
which members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda shall identify
and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service option.

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to
members of the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a
disruption within the local agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public
comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further
action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption that prevents
the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

(C) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and
must provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of
an internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that
requires registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party
internet website or online platform to participate.

(E) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each agenda item shall not close
the public comment period for the agenda item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph
(D), to provide public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed.

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment period, but takes public comment
separately on each agenda item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public
members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time for members of the public to
register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public
comment.

(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period that does not correspond to a
specific agenda item shall not close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to
subparagraph (D), until the timed general public comment period has elapsed.

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, in order to continue to teleconference without compliance with
paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), the legislative body shall, not later than 45 days after teleconferencing for the
first time pursuant to subparagraph (A) or (B) of paragraph (1), and every 45 days thereafter, make the
following findings by majority vote:



(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency.

(B) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person.

(4) This subdivision shall not be construed to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from
which the public may attend or comment.

(f) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b) if, during the teleconference meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body
participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda, which location shall be
open to the public and situated within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises
jurisdiction and the legislative body complies with all of the following:

(A) The legislative body shall provide at least one of the following as a means by which the public may
remotely hear and visually observe the meeting, and remotely address the legislative body:

(i) A two-way audiovisual platform.

(ii) A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting.

(B) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by
which members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment.

(C) The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend and address the legislative
body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 via a call-in option, via an internet-based service option, and at
the in-person location of the meeting.

(D) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to
members of the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a
disruption within the local agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public
comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further
action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption that prevents
the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

(E) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and
must provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.

(F) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of
an internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that
requires registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party
internet website or online platform to participate.

(2) A member of the legislative body shall only participate in the meeting remotely pursuant to this
subdivision, if all of the following requirements are met:

(A) One of the following circumstances applies:

(i) The member notifies the legislative body at the earliest opportunity possible, including at the start of
a regular meeting, of their need to participate remotely for just cause, including a general description of
the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting. The provisions of this
clause shall not be used by any member of the legislative body for more than two meetings per calendar
year.

(ii) The member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate in the meeting remotely due to
emergency circumstances and the legislative body takes action to approve the request. The legislative
body shall request a general description of the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at
the given meeting. A general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 words and shall not
require the member to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical information
that is already exempt under existing law, such as the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Chapter
1 (commencing with Section 56) of Part 2.6 of Division 1 of the Civil Code). For the purposes of this
clause, the following requirements apply:



(I) A member shall make a request to participate remotely at a meeting pursuant to this clause as
soon as possible. The member shall make a separate request for each meeting in which they seek to
participate remotely.

(II) The legislative body may take action on a request to participate remotely at the earliest
opportunity. If the request does not allow sufficient time to place proposed action on such a request
on the posted agenda for the meeting for which the request is made, the legislative body may take
action at the beginning of the meeting in accordance with paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) of Section
54954.2.

(B) The member shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action is taken, whether any other
individuals 18 years of age or older are present in the room at the remote location with the member, and
the general nature of the member’s relationship with any such individuals.

(C) The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology.

(3) (A) The provisions of this subdivision shall not serve as a means for any member of a legislative body to
participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by teleconference from a remote location for more than
the following number of meetings, as applicable:

(i) Two meetings per year, if the legislative body regularly meets once per month or less.

(ii) Five meetings per year, if the legislative body regularly meets twice per month.

(iii) Seven meetings per year, if the legislative body regularly meets three or more times per month.

(B) For the purpose of counting meetings attended by teleconference under this paragraph, a “meeting”
shall be defined as any number of meetings of the legislative body of a local agency that begin on the same
calendar day.

(g) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for
reasonable accommodation for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities
Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each instance in which
notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the
legislative body shall also give notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation.

(h) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent with applicable civil rights and
nondiscrimination laws.

(i) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the public with additional
teleconference locations.

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the public with additional physical
locations in which the public may observe and address the legislative body by electronic means.

(j) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

(1) “Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical emergency that prevents a member from
attending in person.

(2) “Just cause” means any of the following:

(A) A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic
partner that requires them to participate remotely. “Child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and
“sibling” have the same meaning as those terms do in Section 12945.2.

(B) A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person.

(C) A need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Sections 12926 and 12926.1 not
otherwise accommodated by subdivision (g).

(D) Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or local agency.

(3) “Remote location” means a location from which a member of a legislative body participates in a meeting
pursuant to subdivision (f), other than any physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting.
Remote locations need not be accessible to the public.



(4) “Remote participation” means participation in a meeting by teleconference at a location other than any
physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting. Watching or listening to a meeting via
webcasting or another similar electronic medium that does not permit members to interactively hear, discuss,
or deliberate on matters, does not constitute remote participation.

(5) “State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to Section 8625 of the California
Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing with Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2).

(6) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different locations,
connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both.

(7) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides participants with the ability to
participate in a meeting via both an interactive video conference and a two-way telephonic function.

(8) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not require internet access, is not
provided as part of a two-way audiovisual platform, and allows participants to dial a telephone number to listen
and verbally participate.

(9) “Webcasting” means a streaming video broadcast online or on television, using streaming media
technology to distribute a single content source to many simultaneous listeners and viewers.

(k) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 2. The Legislature finds and declares that Section 1 of this act, which amends Section 54953 of the
Government Code, furthers, within the meaning of paragraph (7) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the
California Constitution, the purposes of that constitutional section as it relates to the right of public access to the
meetings of local public bodies or the writings of local public officials and local agencies. Pursuant to paragraph
(7) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution, the Legislature makes the following
findings:

This act is necessary to ensure minimum standards for remote participation by a member of a legislative body in
teleconference meetings.



ATTACHMENT 3
The Brown Act (2003)



THETHE 
BROWNBROWN 

ACACTT 
Open MEETINGS FOR 

LOCAL LEGISLATIVE BODIES 

2003 

California Attorney 
General’s Office 



THE

BROWN


ACT


Open MEETINGS FOR


LOCAL LEGISLATIVE BODIES


Office of the Attorney General

Bill Lockyer


Attorney General


Prepared by the Division of Civil Law


Chief Assistant Attorney General Andrea Lynn Hoch

Deputy Attorney General Ted Prim, Editor




State of California


Office of the Attorney General

Bill Lockyer 
Attorney General 

Throughout California’s history, local legislative bodies have played a vital role in bringing 
participatory democracy to the citizens of the state.  Local legislative bodies - such as boards, councils 
and commissions - are created in recognition of the fact that several minds are better than one, and that 
through debate and discussion, the best ideas will emerge.  The law which guarantees the public’s right 
to attend and participate in meetings of local legislative bodies is the Ralph M. Brown Act. 

While local legislative bodies generally are required to hold meetings in open forum, the Brown Act 
recognizes the need, under limited circumstances, for these bodies to meet in private in order to carry 
out their responsibilities in the best interests of the public. For example, the law contains a personnel 
exception based on notions of personal privacy, and a pending litigation exception based upon the 
precept that government agencies should not be disadvantaged in planning litigation strategy. 
Although the principle of open meetings initially seems simple, application of the law to real life 
situations can prove to be quite complex. 

The purpose of this pamphlet is to provide a brief description of the Brown Act, along with a 
discussion of court decisions and opinions of this office that add to our understanding by applying it 
in specific factual contexts.  We hope this pamphlet will assist both public officials and those who 
monitor the performance of local legislative bodies to minimize and resolve disputes over 
interpretations of the Brown Act. In recent years, both the California Supreme Court and the courts 
of appeal have recognized the benefit of pamphlets issued by our office.  This recognition by the 
courts, along with many favorable comments from members of the public, strengthens our resolve to 
continue producing reliable informational materials on the Brown Act and other California laws. 
Publication of these materials constitutes a tradition of service that we value greatly. 

Ideas and suggestions for future editions of this pamphlet are welcomed and should be addressed to 
the editor. 

Sincerely, 

BILL LOCKYER 
Attorney General 

1300 I Street • Suite 1740 • Sacramento, California • 95814 



Table of Contents 

Page 

INTRODUCTION v


SUMMARY OF KEY BROWN ACT PROVISIONS vi


I. PURPOSE AND SCOPE 1


II. BODIES SUBJECT TO THE BROWN ACT 2


1. Local Agencies	 3


2. Legislative Bodies	 4


A. 
B. 
C. 
D. 

Governing Bodies	
Subsidiary Bodies	
Private or Nonprofit Corporations and Other Entities	
Hospital Lessees	

5

5

6

7


III. MEETING DEFINED	 8


1. Face to Face Meetings	 8


A. 
B. 
C. 
D. 

Conferences and Retreats	
Other Public Meetings	
Meetings of Other Legislative Bodies	
Social or Ceremonial Occasions	

9

10

10

11


2.	  Serial Meetings 11


3.	 Individual Contacts Between Members of the 

Public and Board Members 13


4.	 Teleconference Meetings 14


5. 	 Writings as Meetings 15


i 



Table of Contents 
(Continued) 

Page 

IV. NOTICE AND AGENDA REQUIREMENTS 15


1. Regular Meetings 16


A. 
B. 
C. 

Agenda Requirement 
Exceptions to Agenda Requirements 
Public Testimony 

16

18

18


2. Special Meetings 20


3. Emergency Meetings 20


4. Closed Sessions 21


A. 
B. 
C. 

Agenda Requirement 
Oral Announcement Prior to Closed Sessions 
Report at the Conclusion of Closed Sessions 

21

23

24


5. Adjournments and Continuances 25


6. Location of Meetings 26


7. Special Procedures Regarding Taxes and Assessments 27


V. RIGHTS OF THE PUBLIC 27


VI. PERMISSIBLE CLOSED SESSIONS 30


1. Introduction 30


A. Narrow Construction 
B. Semi-Closed Meetings 
C. Secret Ballots 
D. Confidentiality of Closed Session 

30

31

31

32


ii




Table of Contents 
(Continued) 

Page 

2. Authorized Exceptions 33


A. 
B. 

Personnel Exception 
Pending Litigation and the Attorney-Client Privilege 

33

37


(1) 
(2) 

Historical Background 
Pending Litigation Exception 

37

37


C. Real Property Negotiations Exception 
D. Labor Negotiations Exception 
E. Public Security Exception 
F. License Application Exception 

41

42

43

43


3. Minute Book 43


VII. PENALTIES AND REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF THE ACT 44


1. Criminal Penalties 44


2. Civil Remedies 44


A. 
B. 
C. 

Injunctive, Mandatory or Declaratory Relief 
Voidability of Action 
Attorney Fees 

44

45

47


APPENDIX A 49


TIME DEADLINES 49


APPENDIX B 50


THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT 51


iii 



Table of Contents 
(Continued) 

Page 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 84


Cases 85


Statutes 88


Attorney General Opinions 92


Other Authorities 94


iv 



INTRODUCTION


This pamphlet concerns the provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act, which govern open meetings for 
local government bodies.  The Brown Act is contained in section 54950 et seq. of the Government 
Code. Accordingly, all statutory references in this pamphlet are to the Government Code unless 
otherwise noted. The pamphlet contains a table of contents, which may also serve as a topical outline 
for the reader. The pamphlet also includes a brief summary of the main provisions of the Brown Act, 
along with references to the appropriate Government Code sections and chapters of the text.  The text 
includes a discussion of the law along with tips on how the law should be applied in particular 
situations. Numerous references are made to legal authorities throughout the text.  A copy of the 
Brown Act in its entirety is set forth in the appendix to the pamphlet.  Lastly, the pamphlet contains 
a table of authorities so that the reader can determine all of the places in the text where references are 
made to a particular authority. 

In preparing this pamphlet, we relied on a variety of legal resources.  Appellate court cases were 
consulted and are cited throughout the pamphlet.  While most of the more significant cases are 
discussed, this pamphlet is not intended to be a compendium of all court cases in this area.  In addition, 
we drew upon published opinions and unpublished letter opinions issued by this office.  Attorney 
General opinions, unlike appellate court decisions, are advisory only and do not constitute the law of 
the state. However, with respect to the Brown Act, the courts have frequently adopted the analysis of 
Attorney General opinions, and have commented favorably on the service afforded by those opinions 
and this pamphlet.  (Bell v. Vista Unified School Dist. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 672; Freedom 
Newspapers v. Orange County Employees Retirement System (1993) 6 Cal. 4th 821, 829.) 

Published opinions are cited by volume and page number (e.g., 32 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 240 (1958)). 
Unpublished letter opinions are cited as indexed letters by year and page number (e.g., Cal.Atty.Gen., 
Indexed Letter, No. IL 76-201 (October 20, 1976).) Published opinions are available through law 
libraries and some attorneys’ offices.  As a general rule, indexed letters are available only in the Office 
of the Attorney General. Copies may be obtained by a request to the Public Inquiry Unit of the Office 
of the Attorney General. 

If you have specific questions or problems, the statutes, cases and opinions should be consulted.  You 
also may wish to refer the matter to the attorney for the agency in question, a private attorney or the 
district attorney. 

The pamphlet is current through January 2003 with respect to statutes, case law, and Attorney General 
opinions. 

v 



SUMMARY OF KEY BROWN ACT PROVISIONS 

COVERAGE 

PREAMBLE: 

Public commissions, boards, councils and other legislative 
bodies of local government agencies exist to aid in the conduct

of the people’s business. The people do not yield their

sovereignty to the bodies that serve them.  The people insist on

remaining informed to retain control over the legislative bodies

they have created.


54950 Ch. I


GOVERNING BODIES: 

Includes city councils, boards of supervisors, and district 
boards. Also covered are other legislative bodies of local 
government agencies created by state or federal law. 

54952(a) Ch. I & II 

SUBSIDIARY BODIES: 

Includes boards or commissions of a local government agency 
as well as standing committees of a legislative body.  A

standing committee has continuing subject matter jurisdiction

or a meeting schedule set by its parent body.  Less-than-a-

quorum advisory committees, other than standing committees,

are exempt.


54952(b) Ch. II


PRIVATE OR NONPROFIT CORPORATIONS OR ENTITIES: 

Covered only if: 

a.	 A legislative body delegates some of its 54
functions to a private corporation or entity; or 

b.	 If a legislative body provides some funding to a 
private corporation or entity and appoints one of 
its members to serve as a voting member of 
entity’s board of directors. 

952(c)(1)(A) Ch. II 

54952(c)(1)(B) 

vi 



MEETING DEFINED 

INCLUDES: 

Any gathering of a quorum of a legislative body to discuss or 54952.2 Ch. III 
transact business under the body’s jurisdiction; serial meetings 
are prohibited. 

EXEMPTS: 

(1) Individual contacts between board members and 54952.2(c)(1) Ch. III 
others which do not constitute serial meetings; 

(2) Attendance at conferences and other gatherings 54952.2(c)(2), 
which are open to public so long as members of (3) and (4) 
legislative bodies do not discuss among 
themselves business of a specific nature under 
the body’s jurisdiction; 

(3) Attendance at social or ceremonial events 54952.2(c)(5) 
where no business of the body is discussed. 

LOCATIONS OF MEETINGS: 

A body must conduct its meetings within the boundaries of its 54954 Ch. IV 
jurisdiction unless it qualifies for a specific exemption. 

TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS: 

Teleconference meetings may be held under carefully defined 54953 Ch. III 
conditions. The meeting notice must specifically identify all 
teleconference locations, and each such location must be fully 
accessible to members of the public. 

PUBLIC RIGHTS 

PUBLIC TESTIMONY: 

Public may comment on agenda items before or during 54954.3 Ch. IV & V 
consideration by legislative body. Time must be set aside for 
public to comment on any other matters under the body’s 
jurisdiction. 

vii 



NON-DISCRIMINATORY FACILITIES: 

Meetings may not be conducted in a facility that excludes 
persons on the basis of their race, religion, color, national 
origin, ancestry, or sex, or that is inaccessible to disabled 
persons, or where members of the public may not be present 
without making a payment or purchase. 

54953.2; 54961 Ch. V 

COPY OF RECORDING: 

Public may obtain a copy, at cost, of an existing tape recording 
made by the legislative body of its public sessions, and to listen 
to or view the body’s original tape on a tape recorder or 
viewing device provided by the agency. 

54953.5 Ch. V 

PUBLIC VOTE: 

All votes, except for those cast in permissible closed session, 
must be cast in public.  No secret ballots, whether preliminary 
or final, are permitted. 

54953(c) Ch. VI 

CLOSED MEETING ACTIONS/DOCUMENTS: 

At an open session following a closed session, the body must 
report on final action taken in closed session under specified 
circumstances.  Where final action is taken with respect to 
contracts, settlement agreements and other specified records, 
the public may receive copies of such records upon request. 

54957.1 Ch. IV, V & 
VI 

TAPING OR BROADCASTING: 

Meetings may be broadcast, audio-recorded or video-recorded 
so long as the activity does not constitute a disruption of the 
proceeding. 

54953.5; 
54953.6 

Ch. V 

CONDITIONS TO ATTENDANCE: 

Public may not be asked to register or identify themselves or to 
pay fees in order to attend public meetings. 

54953.3; 
54961 

Ch. V 

PUBLIC RECORDS: 

Materials provided to a majority of a body which are not 
exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act must be 
provided, upon request, to members of the public without 
delay. 

54957.5 Ch. V 

viii 



REQUIRED NOTICES AND AGENDAS 

REGULAR MEETINGS: 

Agenda containing brief general description (approximately 
twenty words in length) of each matter to be considered or 
discussed must be posted at least 72 hours prior to meeting. 

54954.2 Ch. IV 

SPECIAL MEETINGS: 

Twenty-four hour notice must be provided to members of 
legislative body and media outlets including brief general 
description of matters to be considered or discussed. 

54956 Ch. IV 

EMERGENCY MEETINGS: 

One hour notice in case of work stoppage or crippling 
activity, except in the case of a dire emergency. 

54956.5 Ch. IV 

CLOSED SESSION AGENDAS: 

All items to be considered in closed session must be described 
in the notice or agenda for the meeting.  A model format for 
closed-session agendas appears in section 54954.5.  Prior to 
each closed session, the body must orally announce the subject 
matter of the closed session.  If final action is taken in closed 
session, the body generally must report the action at the 
conclusion of the closed session. 

54954.2; 
54954.5; 
54957.1 and 
54957.7 

Ch. IV 

AGENDA EXCEPTION: 

Special procedures permit a body to proceed without an agenda 
in the case of emergency circumstances, or where a need for 
immediate action came to the attention of the body after posting 
of the agenda. 

54954.2(b) Ch. IV 

ix 



CLOSED-SESSION MEETINGS 

PERSONNEL EXEMPTION: 

The body may conduct a closed session to consider 54957 Ch. VI 
appointment, employment, evaluation of performance, 
discipline or dismissal of an employee.  With respect to 
complaints or charges against an employee brought by another 
person or another employee, the employee must be notified, at 
least 24 hours in advance, of his or her right to have the hearing 
conducted in public. 

PUBLIC SECURITY: 

A body may meet with law enforcement or security personnel 54957 Ch. VI 
concerning the security of public buildings and services. 

PENDING LITIGATION: 

A body may meet in closed session to receive advice from its 54956.9 Ch. VI 
legal counsel concerning existing litigation, initiating litigation, 
or situations involving a significant exposure to litigation. The 
circumstances which constitute significant exposure to 
litigation are expressly defined in section 54956.9(b)(3). 

LABOR NEGOTIATIONS: 

A body may meet in closed session with its negotiator to 54957.6 Ch. VI 
consider labor negotiations with represented and unrepresented 
employees.  Issues related to budgets and available funds may 
be considered in closed session, although final decisions 
concerning salaries of unrepresented employees must be made 
in public. 

REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATIONS: 

A body may meet in closed session with its negotiator to 54956.8 Ch. VI 
consider price and terms of payment in connection with the 
purchase, sale, exchange or lease of real property. 

x 



REMEDIES AND SANCTIONS 

CIVIL REMEDIES: 

Individuals or the district attorney may file civil lawsuits for 
injunctive, mandatory or declaratory relief, or to void action 
taken in violation of the Act. 

54960; 
54960.1 

Ch. VII 

Attorneys’ fees are available to prevailing plaintiffs. 54960.5 

CRIMINAL SANCTIONS: 

The district attorney may seek misdemeanor penalties against 
a member of a body who attends a meeting where action is 
taken in violation of the Act, and where the member intended 
to deprive the public of information which the member knew 
or has reason to know the public was entitled to receive. 

54959 Ch. VII 

xi 



 

 

CHAPTER I. 

PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

The Ralph M. Brown Act (Gov. Code, § 549501 et seq., hereinafter “the Brown Act,” or “the Act”) 
governs meetings conducted by local legislative bodies, such as boards of supervisors, city councils 
and school boards. The Act represents the Legislature’s determination of how the balance should be 
struck between public access to meetings of multi-member public bodies on the one hand and the need 
for confidential candor, debate, and information gathering on the other.  As the rest of this pamphlet 
will indicate, the Legislature has established a presumption in favor of public access.  As the courts 
have stated, the purpose of the Brown Act is to facilitate public participation in local government 
decisions and to curb misuse of the democratic process by secret legislation by public bodies.  (Cohan 
v. City of Thousand Oaks (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 547, 555.) To these ends, the Brown Act imposes an 
“open meeting” requirement on local legislative bodies.  (§ 54953 (a); Boyle v. City of Redondo Beach 
(1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1109, 1116.) 

However, the Act also contains specific exceptions from the open meeting requirements where 
government has a demonstrated need for confidentiality.  These exceptions have been construed 
narrowly; thus if a specific statutory exception authorizing a closed session cannot be found, the matter 
must be conducted in public regardless of its sensitivity.  (§ 54962; Rowen v. Santa Clara Unified 
School District (1981) 121 Cal.App.3d 231, 234; 68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 34, 41-42 (1985).) 

Where matters are not subject to a closed meeting exception, the Act has been interpreted to mean that 
all of the deliberative processes by legislative bodies, including discussion, debate and the acquisition 
of information, be open and available for public scrutiny.  (Sacramento Newspaper Guild v. 
Sacramento County Bd. of Suprs. (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 41; 42 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 61, 63 (1963); 32 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 240 (1958).) The Act only applies to multi-member bodies such as councils, 
boards, commissions and committees since, unlike individual decision makers, such bodies are created 
for the purpose of reaching collaborative decisions through public discussion and debate. 

A host of provisions combine to provide public access to the meetings of legislative bodies.  For 
example, the times and dates of all meetings must be noticed and an agenda must be prepared 
providing a brief general description of all matters to be discussed or considered at the meeting.  (§§ 
54954, 54954.2.) As a precondition to attending the meeting, members of the public may not be asked 
to provide their names.  (§ 54953.3.) While in attendance, members of the public may make video or 
audio recordings of the meeting.  (§ 54953.5.) As a general rule, information given to a majority of the 
members of the legislative body in connection with an open meeting must be equally available to 
members of the public.  (§ 54957.5.) Before or during consideration of each agenda item, the public 
must be given an opportunity to comment on the item.  (§ 54954.3(a).) 

1 All statutory references are to the Government Code except as otherwise indicated. 

1
 



 

While the Act creates broad public access rights to the meetings of legislative bodies, it also recognizes 
the legitimate needs of government to conduct some of its meetings outside of the public eye.  Closed-
session meetings are specifically defined and are limited in scope.  They primarily involve personnel 
issues, pending litigation, labor negotiations and real property acquisitions.  (§§ 54956.8, 54956.9, 
54957, 54957.6.) Each closed-session meeting must be preceded by a public agenda and by an oral 
announcement.  (§§ 54954.2, 54957.7.) When final action is taken in closed session, the legislative 
body may be required to report on such action.  (§ 54957.1.) 

The following chapters contain a more detailed discussion of the persons governed by the Act, the 
notice and agenda requirements, access rights of the public, limitations on closed sessions and 
available remedies for violation of the Act. 

CHAPTER II. 

BODIES SUBJECT TO THE BROWN ACT 

The Brown Act applies to the “legislative bodies” of all local agencies in California, e.g., councils, 
boards, commissions and committees.  (§§ 54951, 54952.) In addition, any person elected to serve as 
a member of a legislative body who has not assumed the duties of office shall conform his or her 
conduct to the requirements of the Act, and shall be treated for purposes of enforcement of the Act as 
if he or she had already assumed office.  (§ 54952.1; see, 216 Sutter Bay Associates v. County of Sutter 
(1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 860.) 

The Act does not apply to individual decision makers who are not elected or appointed members of 
legislative bodies such as agency or department heads when they meet with advisors, staff, colleagues 
or anyone else. Similarly, the Act does not apply to multi-member bodies which are created by an 
individual decision maker.  (75 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 263, 269 (1992); 56 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 14, 17 
(1973).) However, where a body directs or authorizes a single individual to appoint a body, it would 
probably be subject to the Act. (Frazer v. Dixon Unified School District (1993) 18 Cal.App.4th 781, 
793; International Longshoremen’s & Warehousemen’s Union v. Los Angeles Expert Terminal, Inc. 
(1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 287, 297.) Boards and commissions that are created by statute or ordinance 
are subject to the Act even if they are under the jurisdiction of an individual department head. 

A single individual acting on behalf of an agency is not a “legislative body” since the definition of that 
term connotes a group of individuals.  Thus, a hearing officer, functioning by himself or herself in an 
employee disciplinary hearing, is not a legislative body (Wilson v. San Francisco Mun. Ry. (1973) 29 
Cal.App.3d 870, 878-879), nor is an individual city councilmember screening candidates for a vacant 
city office. (Cal.Atty.Gen., Indexed Letter, No. IL 76-181 (September 13, 1976).) 

2
 



 

 

The Act applies to the meetings of “legislative bodies” of “local agencies.” An understanding of each 
of these terms is necessary in order to properly apply the provisions of the Act to individual situations. 
These terms will be discussed in the following sections. 

1. Local Agencies 

Local agencies include all cities, counties, school districts, municipal corporations, special 
districts, and all other local public entities. (§ 54951.) The first determination one must make 
in assessing the applicability of the Act is whether the agency is local in nature.  If the agency 
is essentially local in character, it is probably subject to the Act.  (§ 54951.)  If, however, the 
agency is a multi-member state body, the Bagley-Keene Act applies.  (§ 11120 et seq.) The 
fact that an agency is created by state or federal law, rather than local ordinance, does not mean 
that the agency is not essentially local in character.  (§ 54952(a).) Factors in assessing the local 
versus state character of a body may include: the geographical coverage of the agency, the 
duties of the agency, provisions concerning membership and appointment, or the existence of 
an oversight agency. 

The issue of whether an agency is local or state in character was addressed in Torres v. Board 
of Commissioners (1979) 89 Cal.App.3d 545, in the context of determining whether a housing 
authority was subject to the Act. The court stated: 

“While a housing authority may be a state agency for some purposes . 
. . if it is within the Brown Act’s definition of a local agency, it is simply not 
included within the State Act.  We hold that a housing authority created by 
Health and Safety Code section 34200 et seq. is included within the statutory 
definition of a local agency under the Brown Act in that it is either an ‘other 
local public agency’ or a ‘municipal corporation’ or both, as those terms are 
used in Government Code section 54951. . . .  The term ‘municipal corporation’ 
is broader than the term ‘city,’ particularly when the term ‘city’ already appears 
in the applicable statute. . . .  In order to give meaning to the term ‘municipal 
corporation’ in Government Code section 54951 we hold that such term is not 
restricted to its technical sense of a ‘city,’ general law or charter, but rather 
includes such entities as housing authorities. . . .  In addition, a housing 
authority is local in scope and character, restricted geographically in its area of 
operation, and does not have statewide power or jurisdiction even though it is 
created by, and is an agent of, the state rather than of the city or county in 
which it functions. . . . 

“Furthermore, as perceptively noted by the trial court, the placement of 
Government Code section 11120 and its history is some persuasive indication 
that the State Act was meant to cover executive departments of the state 
government and was not meant to cover local agencies merely because they 
were created by state law. A housing authority is no more a state agency under 

3
 



these acts than is a city or a county.  The fact that such entities from time to 
time administer matters of state concern may make them state agents for such 
purposes but not state agencies under the open meeting acts.” [Citations 
omitted.] (Torres v. Board of Commissioners (1979) 89 Cal.App.3d 545, 549-
550.) 

The Act has also been found to apply to an air pollution control district (71 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 
96 (1988)), a regional open space district (73 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 1 (1990), and to such other 
local bodies as area and local voluntary health planning agencies (Cal.Atty.Gen., Indexed 
Letter, No. IL 72-79 (April 4, 1979).) The Act is a matter of statewide concern and, therefore, 
applies equally to charter and general law cities. (San Diego Union v. City Council (1983) 146 
Cal.App.3d 947, 957.) 

The Act does not apply to the judicial branch of government or boards and commissions which 
are an adjunct to the judiciary. (See Cal.Atty.Gen., Indexed Letter, No. IL 75-109 (June 3, 
1975); Cal.Atty.Gen., Indexed Letter, No. IL 62-46 (May 15, 1962); Cal.Atty.Gen., Indexed 
Letter, No. IL 60-16 (February 14, 1960).) This office has also concluded the Act is not 
applicable to county central committees of a political party because they are neither public 
entities nor are they included in any of the special statutory provisions of the Act. (59 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 162, 164 (1976).) 

2. Legislative Bodies 

Having concluded that the Act applies to bodies that are “local” in character, we turn now to 
a discussion of the requirement that such local bodies qualify as “legislative bodies” within the 
meaning of the Act.  The term “legislative body” is not used in its technical sense in the Act. 
(§ 54952.) The Act’s application is not limited to boards and commissions insofar as they 
perform “legislative” functions.  Bodies that perform actions which are primarily executive or 
quasi-judicial in nature are also subject to the Act as well.  (61 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 220 (1978); 
57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 189 (1974).) 

In the past, the different types of bodies covered by the Act were set forth in several 
Government Code sections.  This approach led to confusion with respect to the 
interrelationship between these sections and exemptions contained within them.  (Freedom 
Newspapers v. Orange County Employees Retirement System (1993) 6 Cal.4th 821.) In 1994, 
the Legislature amended the Act to consolidate, into a single section, all of the provisions 
defining those bodies that are subject to the Act’s requirements.  (§ 54952.) By so doing, the 
Legislature hoped to clarify the definitions and the exemptions contained in them. 

Below is a discussion of the various types of bodies that are defined as “legislative bodies” for 
purposes of the Act. 

4
 



 

A. Governing Bodies 

The governing bodies of local government agencies are the most basic type of body 
subject to the Act’s requirements.  These include the board of supervisors of a county, 
the city council of a city or the governing board of a district.  (§ 54952(a).)  In addition, 
the Act expressly applies to local bodies created by state or federal statute. 
(§54952(a).) The board of directors for a joint powers authority would be covered as 
a governing body of a local agency; joint powers authorities are also covered because 
they are created according to a procedure established by state law. (§ 6500 et seq.) 

B. Subsidiary Bodies 

Any board, commission, committee or other body of a local agency created by charter, 
ordinance, resolution or formal action of a legislative body is itself a legislative body. 
(§ 54952(b).) Generally, this is the case regardless of whether the body is permanent 
or temporary, advisory or decisionmaking.  However, there is a specific exemption for 
an advisory committee which is comprised solely of less than a quorum of the members 
of the legislative body that created the advisory body.  (§ 54952(b).) This exception 
does not apply if the advisory committee is a standing committee.  (§ 54952(b).) A 
standing committee is a committee which has continuing jurisdiction over a particular 
subject matter (e.g., budget, finance, legislation) or if the committee’s meeting 
schedule is fixed by charter, ordinance, resolution or other formal action of the 
legislative body that created it. (See examples, infra, p. 6.) 

The term “formal action” is used twice in section 54952(b) in connection with advisory 
committees and standing committees.  The term “formal action of a legislative body” 
appears to be a term intended to distinguish between the official actions of the body 
and the informal actions of particular board members.  For example, in Joiner v. City 
of Sebastopol (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 799, 805, the court concluded that the city 
council had taken formal action by designating two of its members to sit on an advisory 
committee and establish the committee’s agenda, even though the council did not act 
by formal resolution.  Similarly, in Frazer v. Dixon Unified School District (1993) 18 
Cal.App.4th 781, 792-793, the court indicated that a school board’s authorization to the 
superintendent to appoint a committee under specified circumstances constituted a 
creation of an advisory committee by formal action of the board.  “Formal action of a 
legislative body” is not limited to a formal resolution or a formal vote by the body. 

When a legislative body designates less than a quorum of its members that does not 
constitute a standing committee to meet with representatives of another legislative body 
to exchange information and report back to their respective bodies, a meeting between 
the representatives would be exempt from the Act.  (Joiner v. City of Sebastopol 
(1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 799, 805.) However, if a legislative body designates less than 
a quorum of its members to meet with representatives of another legislative body to 

5
 



 

perform a task, such as the making of a recommendation, an advisory committee 
consisting of the representatives from both bodies would be created.  Such a committee 
would be subject to the open meeting and notice provisions of the Act.  (Joiner v. City 
of Sebastopol (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 799, 805.) The fact that the advisory committee 
was contingent upon the second body’s compliance does not detract from the 
conclusion that the creation of the committee must be attributed to the first body’s 
action. (Joiner v. City of Sebastopol (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 799, 805.) 

The following illustrates how section 54952(b) operates.  A city council creates four 
bodies to address various city problems. 

•	 Commission comprised of councilmembers, the city manager and interested 
citizens: This committee is covered by the Act because there is no exemption 
for it regardless of whether it is decisionmaking or advisory in nature. 

•	 Advisory committee comprised of two councilmembers for the purpose of 
reviewing all issues related to parks and recreation in the city on an ongoing 
basis: This committee is a standing committee which is subject to the Act’s 
requirements because it has continuing jurisdiction over issues related to parks 
and recreation in the city. 

•	 Advisory committee comprised of two city councilmembers for the purpose of 
producing a report in six months on downtown traffic congestion: This 
committee is an exempt advisory committee because it is comprised solely of 
less than a quorum of the members of the city council.  It is not a standing 
committee because it is charged with accomplishing a specific task in a short 
period of time, i.e., it is a limited term ad hoc committee. 

•	 Advisory committee comprised of two councilmembers to meet on the second 
Monday of each month pursuant to city council resolution: This committee is 
subject to the Act as a standing committee because its meeting schedule is fixed 
by the city council. 

C.	 Private or Nonprofit Corporations and Other Entities 

Under specified circumstances, meetings of boards, commissions, committees or other 
multi-member bodies that govern private corporations, limited liability companies or 
other entities may become subject to the open meeting requirements of the Act. 
Ordinarily, these private corporations or other entities will be nonprofit corporations. 
In some instances, they are created by the governmental entity to support the efforts of 
the governmental entity.  Other times they are privately created and, to some degree, 
may partner with a governmental entity to accomplish a common goal.  (See Ed. Code, 
§ 47604(a) [concerning possible application to charter schools].) The circumstances 

6
 



 

that determine whether nonprofit corporations or other entities are governed by the 
Brown Act are set forth in section 54952(c). 

The Act expressly applies to private corporations, limited liability companies and other 
entities that are created by the legislative body for the purpose of exercising authority 
which can be lawfully delegated to them.  (§ 54952(c)(1); Epstein v. Hollywood 
Entertainment District II Business Improvement District (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 152 
[Property Owners Association covered because it received money from taxes on 
property and businesses within the Business Improvement District, and it was 
structured to assume certain administrative functions ordinarily performed by the city]; 
85 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 55 (2002) [Act covered private nonprofit corporation formed for 
the purpose of providing programming for a cable television channel set aside for 
educational use by a cable operator pursuant to its franchise agreement with a city and 
subsequently designated by the city to provide the programming services]; 81 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 281, 290 (1998) [community redevelopment agency created 
nonprofit entity and delegated authority to it].) Typically, the entities subject to this 
subdivision will be nonprofit corporations established jointly by various government 
entities for the purpose of constructing, operating or maintaining a public works project 
or public facility.  (International Longshoremen’s & Warehousemen’s Union v. Los 
Angeles Expert Terminal, Inc. (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 287, 294.) 

The Act also applies to the meetings of entities which receive funds from a local 
agency where the legislative body for the local agency appoints one of its members to 
the governing board of the entity as a voting member of the board.  (§ 54952(c)(2).) 
The Act does not apply to boards of a nonprofit corporation or other entity where the 
legislative body appoints someone other than one of its own members to the governing 
body of such entity. It continues to be the law that the mere receipt of public funds by 
a nonprofit corporation or other entity does not subject it to the requirements of the 
Act. 

D. Hospital Lessees 

The Act expressly applies to the meetings of lessees of hospitals pursuant to Health and 
Safety Code section 32121, subdivision (p), where the hospital or any part of it was 
first leased after January 1, 1994, where the lessee exercises any delegated authority of 
a local government agency, whether or not the lessee was organized and operated by 
the local government agency or a delegated authority.  (§ 54952(d).) 

7
 



 

 

CHAPTER III. 

MEETING DEFINED 

The term “meeting” is defined in section 54952.2 and expressly discusses several types of meeting 
formats.  First, the term “meeting” includes any congregation of a majority of the members of a 
legislative body at the same time and place to hear, discuss or deliberate upon any matter which is 
under the subject matter jurisdiction of the agency.  (§ 54952.2(a).)  Under this definition, face to face 
gatherings of a legislative body in which issues under the subject matter jurisdiction of the body are 
discussed, decided or voted upon are meetings subject to the Brown Act.  Informal gatherings such as 
lunches or social gatherings also would constitute meetings if issues under the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the body are discussed or decided by the member of the body.  Second, the Act 
specifically prohibits any use of direct communication, personal intermediaries or technological 
devices that is employed by a majority of the members of the legislative body to develop a collective 
concurrence as to action to be taken. (§ 54952.2(b).) Most often this type of meeting is conducted 
through a series of communications by individual members or less-than-a-quorum groups, ultimately 
involving a majority of the body’s members.  These meetings are called serial meetings.  The Act also 
expressly excludes specified gatherings from its definition of a meeting.  (§ 54952.2(c).) 

Specific issues relating to these meeting formats are discussed below. 

1. Face to Face Meetings 

The definition of the term “meeting” contained in section 54952.2(a) includes any congregation 
of a majority of the members of a body at the same time and place to hear, discuss or deliberate 
on any issue under the subject matter jurisdiction of the body.  This definition makes it clear 
that the body need not take any action in order for a gathering to be defined as a meeting.  A 
gathering is a meeting if a majority of the members of the body merely receive information or 
discuss their views on an issue. A meeting also covers a body’s deliberations, including the 
consideration, analysis or debate of an issue, and any vote which may ultimately be taken. 
Under this construction, any gathering of a majority of the members of a body to receive 
information, hear a proposal, discuss an issue or take any action on an issue under the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the body is a meeting subject to the notice and open meeting 
requirements of the Act. 

Under section 54952.2, as well as prior case law, a gathering need not be formally convened 
in order to be covered by the Act. In Sacramento Newspaper Guild v. Sacramento County Bd. 
of Suprs. (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 41, the court held that a luncheon gathering which included 
five county supervisors, the county counsel, a variety of county officers, and representatives 
of a union to discuss a strike which was under way against the county was a meeting within 

8
 



 

the meaning of the Act.  Therefore, the meeting should have been noticed and members of the 
media and public should have been admitted to witness the meeting.  In reaching its 
conclusion, the court stated: 

“An informal conference or caucus permits crystallization of secret 
decisions to a point just short of ceremonial acceptance.  There is rarely any 
purpose to a nonpublic pre-meeting conference except to conduct some part of 
the decisional process behind closed doors.  Only by embracing the collective 
inquiry and discussion stages, as well as the ultimate step of official action, can 
an open meeting regulation frustrate these evasive devices.  As operative 
criteria, formality and informality are alien to the law’s design, exposing it to 
the very evasions it was designed to prevent.  Construed in the light of the 
Brown Act’s objectives, the term ‘meeting’ extends to informal sessions or 
conferences of the board members designed for the discussion of public 
business. The Elks Club luncheon, attended by the Sacramento County Board 
of Supervisors, was such a meeting.” (Sacramento Newspaper Guild v. 
Sacramento County Bd. of Suprs. (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 41, 50-51; see also 
42 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 61 (1963) [“informal,” “study,” “discussion,” 
“informational,” “factfinding,” or “precouncil” gatherings of a quorum of the 
members of a board are within the scope of the Act as meetings].) 

The Act contains the following specific exemptions. 

A. Conferences and Retreats 

The Act exempts conferences and similar gatherings, which are open to the public, that 
involve issues of interest to the public or to public agencies of the type represented by 
the legislative body in question, so long as the majority of the members of the 
legislative body do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled 
program, any issues of a specific nature which are within the subject matter jurisdiction 
of the legislative body. (§ 54952.2(c)(2).)  However, the conference need not 
necessarily be a conference of public agencies to fall within the exemption; rather, the 
gathering could be a conference of media outlets, environmental organizations, health 
care entities, social welfare organizations so long as the subject of the conference is 
related to the body’s jurisdiction. The exemption for conferences does contain two 
limitations.  First, a majority of the members of the legislative body in attendance at 
the conference may not caucus or discuss among themselves business of a specific 
nature within the body’s jurisdiction. However, members may enter into discussions 
on issues or business affecting their local agency in a public forum as part of the 
scheduled program of the conference.  Second, the conference must be open to the 
public, although the exemption specifically provides that a member of the public need 
not be provided with free admission where others are charged a fee. 

9
 



 

 

Agency retreats, unlike conferences, do not involve a number of public agencies and 
interested individuals apart from the legislative body itself.  Therefore, retreats 
continue to be subject to the open meeting and notice requirements of the Act. 

B. Other Public Meetings 

When a majority of a legislative body attends an open and publicized meeting held by 
a person or organization, other than the local agency on a matter of local interest, the 
legislative body is not deemed to be conducting a meeting, so long as the members in 
attendance do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled 
program, issues of a specific nature related to the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
body. (§ 54952.2(c)(3).) This exception applies to attendance at a meeting conducted 
by a private individual, or private organization, so long as the meeting concerns issues 
of local interest and is open to the public and well publicized in advance.  Under the 
terms of the exception, members of a legislative body who attend a meeting conducted 
by another person or organization may not caucus or discuss among themselves 
specific business within the body’s jurisdiction.  However, a member of the legislative 
body may discuss issues related to the purpose of the meeting during public testimony. 
Candidate debates including incumbents and challengers would be permitted under this 
exception. 

C. Meetings of Other Legislative Bodies 

When a majority of the legislative body attends an open and noticed meeting of another 
legislative body of the same or a different local agency, the legislative body is not 
deemed to be conducting a meeting, so long as the members in attendance do not 
discuss, among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled meeting, issues of a 
specific nature related to the subject matter jurisdiction of the body.  (§ 54952.2(c)(4).) 
Thus, when a majority of a planning commission attends a meeting of the city council 
for the same city, it need not treat such attendance as a meeting of the planning 
commission for purposes of the Act.  Similarly, when a majority of the members of a 
city council attend a meeting of the county board of supervisors, the city council is not 
conducting a meeting within the meaning of the Act.  However, if two bodies conduct 
a joint meeting, each body should notice the meeting as a joint meeting of the two 
bodies. This exception, which is contained in section 54952.2(c)(4), does not apply 
when a majority of the members of a parent legislative body attend a meeting of a 
standing committee of the parent body.  However, section 54952.2(c)(6) specifically 
addresses this issue. It provides that a majority of the parent body may attend an open 
and noticed meeting of a standing committee so long as the members who are not 
members of the standing committee and which cause a majority of the parent body to 
be present, attend only as observers. In 81 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 156, 158 (1998), this 
office concluded that persons who attended solely as observers could not address the 

10
 



committee by testifying, asking questions or providing information.  In addition, the 
opinion concluded that observers could not sit at the dias. 

D. Social or Ceremonial Occasions 

Attendance by a majority of the members of the legislative body at a purely social or 
ceremonial occasion is not deemed to be a meeting, so long as the members do not 
discuss among themselves specific business within the jurisdiction of the body.  (§ 
54952.2(c)(5).) This has long been the law in California. (Sacramento Newspaper 
Guild v. Sacramento County Bd. of Suprs. (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 41; 43 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 36, 38 (1964).) In practice, this prohibition may sometimes be 
difficult to observe since persons attending social or ceremonial occasions frequently 
wish to discuss specific issues with their governmental officials.  However, where a 
majority of a legislative body is present, the members must not discuss specific 
business within the jurisdiction of the body to avoid violating the Act. 

2.  Serial Meetings 

The issue of serial meetings stands at the vortex of two significant public policies: first, the 
constitutional right of citizens to address grievances and communicate with their elected 
representatives; and second, the Act’s policy favoring public deliberation by multi-member 
boards, commissions and councils.  The purpose of the serial meeting prohibition is not to 
prevent citizens from communicating with their elected representatives, but rather to prevent 
public bodies from circumventing the requirement for open and public deliberation of issues. 

The Act expressly prohibits serial meetings that are conducted through direct communications, 
personal intermediaries or technological devices for the purpose of developing a concurrence 
as to action to be taken. (§ 54952.2(b); Stockton Newspapers, Inc. v. Redevelopment Agency 
(1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 95, 103.) This provision raises two questions: first, what is a serial 
meeting for purposes of this definition; and second, what does it mean to develop a 
concurrence as to action to be taken. 

Typically, a serial meeting is a series of communications, each of which involves less than a 
quorum of the legislative body, but which taken as a whole involves a majority of the body’s 
members.  For example, a chain of communications involving contact from member A to 
member B who then communicates with member C would constitute a serial meeting in the 
case of a five-person body. Similarly, when a person acts as the hub of a wheel (member A) 
and communicates individually with the various spokes (members B and C), a serial meeting 
has occurred. In addition, a serial meeting occurs when intermediaries for board members have 
a meeting to discuss issues.  For example, when a representative of member A meets with 
representatives of members B and C to discuss an agenda item, the members have conducted 
a serial meeting through their representatives as intermediaries.  The statutory definition also 
applies to situations in which technological devices are used to connect people at the same time 

11
 



 

 

who are in different locations (but see the discussion below concerning the exception for 
teleconference meetings). 

Once serial communications are found to exist, it must be determined whether the 
communications were used to develop a concurrence as to action to be taken.  If the serial 
communications were not used to develop a concurrence as to action to be taken, the serial 
communications do not constitute a meeting and the Act is not applicable.  In construing these 
terms, one should be mindful of the ultimate purposes of the Act -- to provide the public with 
an opportunity to monitor and participate in the decision-making processes of boards and 
commissions.  As such, substantive conversations among members concerning an agenda item 
prior to a public meeting probably would be viewed as contributing to the development of a 
concurrence as to the ultimate action to be taken.  Conversations which advance or clarify a 
member’s understanding of an issue, or facilitate an agreement or compromise among 
members, or advance the ultimate resolution of an issue, are all examples of communications 
which contribute to the development of a concurrence as to action to be taken by the legislative 
body. Accordingly, with respect to items that have been placed on an agenda or that are likely 
to be placed upon an agenda, members of legislative bodies should avoid serial 
communications of a substantive nature concerning such items. 

Problems arise when systematic communications begin to occur which involve members of the 
board acquiring substantive information for an upcoming meeting or engaging in debate, 
discussion, lobbying or any other aspect of the deliberative process either among themselves 
or with staff. For example, executive officers may wish to brief their members on policy 
decisions and background events concerning proposed agenda items.  This office believes that 
a court could determine that such communications violate the Act, because such discussions 
are part of the deliberative process.  If these communications are permitted to occur in private, 
a large part of the process by which members reach their decisions may have occurred outside 
the public eye. Under these circumstances, the public would be able only to witness a 
shorthand version of the deliberative process, and its ability to monitor and contribute to the 
decision-making process would be curtailed.  Therefore, we recommend that when the 
executive director is faced with this situation, he or she prepare a memorandum outlining the 
issues for all of the members of the board as well as the public.  In this way, the serial meeting 
violation may be avoided and everyone will have the benefit of reacting to the same 
information. 

However, this office does not think that the prohibition against serial meetings would prevent 
an executive officer from planning upcoming meetings by discussing times, dates, and 
placement of matters on the agenda.  It also appears that an executive officer may receive 
spontaneous input from any of the board members with respect to these or other matters so 
long as a quorum is not involved. 

12
 



 

The express language of the statute concerning serial meetings largely codifies case law 
developed by the courts and the opinions issued by this office in the past.  In Frazer v. Dixon 
Unified School District (1993) 18 Cal.App.4th 781, 796-798, the court concluded that the Act 
applies equally to the deliberations of a body and its decision to take action.  If a collective 
commitment were a necessary component of every meeting, the body could conduct most or 
all of its deliberation behind closed doors so long as the body did not actually reach agreement 
prior to consideration in public session. Accordingly, the court concluded that the collective 
acquisition of information constituted a meeting.  The court cited briefing sessions as examples 
of deliberative meetings which are subject to the Act’s requirements, and contrasted these 
sessions with activities that fall outside the purview of the Act, such as the passive receipt of 
an individual’s mail or the solitary review of a memorandum by an individual board member. 

In Stockton Newspapers, Inc. v. Redevelopment Agency (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 95, 105, the 
court concluded that a series of individual telephone calls between the agency attorney and the 
members of the body constituted a meeting.  In that case, the attorney individually polled the 
members of the body for their approval on a real estate transaction.  The court concluded that 
even though the meeting was conducted in a serial fashion, it nevertheless was a meeting for 
the purposes of the Act. (See also, 65 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 63, 66 (1982); 63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 
820, 828-829 (1980).) 

3. Individual Contacts Between Members of the Public and Board Members 

The prohibition against serial meetings must be reconciled with the exemption for individual 
contacts and communications contained in section 54952.2(c)(1).  Individual contacts or 
communications between a member of a legislative body and any other person are specifically 
exempt from the definition of a meeting.  (§ 54952.2(c)(1).) The purpose of this exception 
appears to be to protect the constitutional rights of individuals to contact their government 
representatives regarding issues which concern them.  To harmonize this exemption with the 
serial meeting prohibition, the term “any other person” is construed to mean any person other 
than a board member or agency employee.  Thus, while this provision exempts from the Act’s 
coverage conversations between board members and members of the public, it does not exempt 
conversations among board members, or between board members and their staff. 

By using the words “individual contacts or conversations” it appears that the Legislature was 
attempting to ensure that individual contacts would not be defined as a meeting, while still 
preventing the members of a body from orchestrating contacts between a private party and a 
quorum of the body.  Accordingly, if a member of the public requests a conversation with an 
individual member of the board, who then acts independently of the board and its other 
members in deciding whether to talk with the member of the public, no meeting will have 
occurred even if the member of the public ultimately meets with a quorum of the body. 

13
 



 

4. Teleconference Meetings 

The prohibition against serial meetings specifically exempts teleconference meetings 
conducted according to the procedures set forth in section 54953(b).  All other teleconference 
meetings are prohibited.  (§ 54952.2(b).) 

A teleconference meeting is a meeting in which one or more members of the body attend the 
meeting from a remote location via electronic means, transmitting audio or audio/video.  A 
meeting is not subject to the teleconference meeting requirements where only the staff 
members or other persons retained to advise the body appear from remote locations via audio 
or audio/visual transmission, where it is in the public interest to do so.  A local agency may, 
at its discretion, permit the public to attend its meetings from additional remote locations. 

Section 54953(b) authorizes the conduct of meetings by legislative bodies through 
teleconferencing under specified circumstances.  Teleconferencing may be used for all 
purposes in conjunction with any meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the body. 
However, at least a quorum of the members of the body must participate from locations that 
are within the boundaries over which the body exercises jurisdiction. All votes taken during 
a teleconference meeting must be conducted by rollcall. 

The biggest issue surrounding the use of teleconference meetings concerns the public’s access 
to the meeting.  The Act requires that each teleconference location must be fully accessible to 
members of the public.  This means that members of the body who choose to utilize their 
homes or offices as teleconference locations must open these locations to the public and 
accommodate any member of the public who wishes to attend the meeting at that location. 
Moreover, members of the public must be able to hear the meeting and testify from each 
location. Finally, the teleconference location must be accessible to the disabled.  Because of 
these requirements, most agencies choose to utilize official or public meeting facilities for their 
remote teleconference sites. 

When a body elects to use teleconferencing, it must post an agenda at each teleconference 
location and list each teleconference location in the notice and agenda.  Each teleconference 
meeting must be conducted in such a manner so as to protect the statutory and constitutional 
rights of the public. Each teleconference meeting agenda must ensure the public’s right to 
testify at each teleconference location in accordance with section 54954.3. 

In 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 181 (2001), a disabled boardmember asked if, under the federal 
Americans with Disabilities Act,  a body were required to utilize the teleconference meeting 
provisions to permit him to participate in a meeting where his disability prevented him from 
attending. In this situation, the public would not receive notice of the teleconference meeting 
location nor would they have access to the remote site from where the disabled member would 
attend. Under these circumstances, this office concluded that the teleconference provisions 
were not available because the public would not have access to the remote site. 

14
 



5. Writings as Meetings 

Historically, meetings have not commonly occurred through written instruments; however, the 
court found that circulation of a proposal among board members for their review and signature 
was found to be a meeting in violation of the Act when a majority of the members of a 
legislative body signed the document.  (Common Cause v. Stirling (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 518, 
523-524.) However, the emergence of e-mail as a simple and effective means of 
communication has raised this issue in a fresh context.  In 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 30 (2001), this 
office concluded that a majority of a body would violate the Act if they e-mailed each other 
regarding current issues under the body’s jurisdiction even if the e-mails were also sent to the 
secretary and chairperson of the agency, the e-mails were posted on the agency’s Internet Web 
site, and a printed version of each e-mail was reported at the next public meeting of the body. 
The opinion concluded that these safeguards were not sufficient to satisfy either the express 
wording of the Act or some of its purposes.  Specifically, such e-mail communications would 
not be available to persons who do not have Internet access.  Even if a person had Internet 
access, the deliberations on a particular issue could be completed before an interested person 
had an opportunity to become involved. 

In the case of Roberts v. City of Palmdale (1993) 5 Cal.4th 363, 381, the California Supreme 
Court stated that a memorandum from a body’s attorney to the members of the body did not 
constitute a meeting under the Act.  The court concluded that this one-way memorandum, 
which represented a confidential attorney-client communication exempt from disclosure under 
the California Public Records Act, was outside the coverage of the Act.  Under the California 
Public Records Act, the memorandum was expressly exempt from disclosure pursuant to 
section 6254(k). Had the members of the body sought to meet and discuss the memorandum, 
such a meeting would have been subject to the Act and could have been conducted in closed 
session only if it qualified under the pending litigation exception contained in section 54956.9. 
Any other conversations between the members of the body and the attorney concerning the 
exempt memorandum would be subject to the serial meeting restrictions discussed previously. 

CHAPTER IV. 

NOTICE AND AGENDA REQUIREMENTS 

The Brown Act provides for three different types of meetings.  Regular meetings occur at a time and 
location generally set by ordinance, resolution, or by-laws.  At least 72 hours prior to a regular 
meeting, an agenda must be posted which contains a brief general description of each item to be 
transacted or discussed at the meeting.  Special meetings may be called at any time but notice must be 
received at least 24 hours prior to the meeting by all members of the body and by all media outlets that 
have requested notice in writing. Emergency meetings, which are extraordinarily rare, may be called 
upon one-hour notice to media outlets that have requested notice in writing. 

15
 



 

 

 

 

 

In addition to the pre-meeting notices and agendas discussed above, the Act requires two other types 
of disclosures. First, prior to meeting in closed session, a representative of the body must orally 
announce the items to be discussed in closed session.  (§ 54957.7(a).) Generally, this requirement may 
be satisfied by referring to the numbered item on the agenda which describes the closed session in 
question. However, when the agency is meeting in closed session because of significant exposure to 
pending litigation as described in section 54956.9(b), the statement may need to include additional 
information as set forth in that section.  (See discussion of pending litigation infra.) 

Second, at the conclusion of each closed session, the agency must reconvene into open session.  If any 
final decisions have been made in the closed-session meeting, a report may be required.  (§ 54957.1.) 

The Act also contains specific requirements with respect to adjourning or continuing meetings.  (§§ 
54955; 54955.1.) Lastly, unless specifically exempted, all meetings must be conducted within the 
geographical boundaries of the body’s jurisdiction. (§ 54954(b).) 

1. Regular Meetings 

Each legislative body, except for advisory bodies and standing committees, shall provide for 
the time and place for regular meetings by ordinance, resolution, or by-laws.  (§ 54954(a).)  If 
a body calls a meeting at a time or place other than the time or place specified for regular 
meetings, it is either a special or emergency meeting.  Accordingly, the body must satisfy the 
appropriate notice requirement, and should indicate the type of meeting on the notice.  Even 
where it is not required, the body may wish to provide additional notice in the form of the type 
of notice and agenda provided for a regular meeting. 

Meetings of advisory bodies and standing committees for which 72-hour notice is provided, 
pursuant to section 54954.2, are considered regular meetings.  (§ 54954(a).) 

A.  Agenda Requirement 

At least 72 hours prior to a regular meeting, the body must post an agenda containing 
a brief general description of each item to be discussed or transacted at the meeting, 
including items to be discussed in closed session.  (§ 54954.2(a).)  The Act makes it 
clear that discussion items must be placed on the agenda, as well as items which may 
be the subject of action by the body. 

The purpose of the brief general description is to inform interested members of the 
public about the subject matter under consideration so that they can determine whether 
to monitor or participate in the meeting of the body.  In Carlson v. Paradise Unified 
School Dist. (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 196, the court interpreted the agenda requirements 

16
 



 

 

set forth in section 966 of the Education Code.  That section required “. . . [a] list of 
items that will constitute the agenda for all regular meetings shall be posted. . . .” 
(Carlson v. Paradise Unified School Dist. (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 196, 199.) In 
interpreting this section, the court stated: 

“In the instant case, the school board’s agenda contained as one 
item the language ‘Continuation school site change.’ This was entirely 
inadequate notice to a citizenry which may have been concerned over 
a school closure. 

“On this point alone, we think the trial court was correct 
because the agenda item, though not deceitful, was entirely misleading 
and inadequate to show the whole scope of the board’s intended plans. 
It would have taken relatively little effort to add to the agenda that this 
‘school site change’ also included the discontinuance of elementary 
education at Canyon View and the transfer of those students to 
Ponderosa School.” (Carlson v. Paradise Unified School Dist. (1971) 
18 Cal.App.3d 196, 200, original emphasis; see also 67 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 84, 87 (1984).) 

However, the Legislature in section 54954.2 placed an important gloss on the 
requirement to provide a brief general description.  That section expressly provides that 
the brief general description generally need not exceed 20 words in length.  Thus, 
absent special circumstances, the legislative body may use a short description of less 
than 20 words to provide essential information about the item to members of the 
public. Where necessary, legislative bodies are free to provide a more detailed 
description, but as a general rule, they need not feel any obligation to do so (for more 
information about closed-session agenda description, see discussion infra). 

In 78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 327, 331-332 (1995), this office concluded that the 72-hour 
notice requirement mandates local agencies to post their notices in locations which are 
accessible 24 hours a day for the 72 hours prior to the meeting.  Accordingly, notices 
cannot be placed in buildings which are locked for some portion of the 72 hours 
immediately prior to the meeting. 

The agenda requirement does not apply when certain unnoticed topics are discussed at 
a noticed meeting.  For example, there is an exception for when a member of the body 
or a member of its staff, on his or her own initiative, or in response to a question from 
the public, asks a question for clarification, makes a brief announcement or makes a 
brief report on his or her own activities.  (§ 54954.2(a).)  In addition, any member of 
the body or the body as a whole, subject to rules or procedures of the legislative body, 
may provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information, request staff 

17
 



 
to report back to the body at a subsequent meeting concerning any matter, or take 
action to direct staff to place a matter of business on a future agenda.  (§ 54954.2(a).) 

Section 54954.2 also contains specific procedures by which the agenda requirement 
may be avoided in other specified circumstances as well.  (§ 54954.2(b).) 

B. Exceptions to Agenda Requirements 

The Act identifies three situations in which a body is permitted to discuss or take action 
on a matter at a regular meeting where the matter was not first described on a duly 
noticed agenda. (§ 54954.2(b).) Prior to discussing a matter which was not previously 
placed on an agenda, the item must be publicly identified so that interested members 
of the public can monitor or participate in the consideration of the item in question. 

The body may discuss a nonagenda item at a regular meeting if, by majority vote, the 
body determines that the matter in question constitutes an emergency pursuant to 
section 54956.5. (§ 54954.2(b)(1).) Any discussion held pursuant to this exception 
must be conducted in open session, since emergency meetings held pursuant to section 
54956.5 cannot be conducted in closed session. 

The body may discuss an item which was not previously placed upon an agenda at a 
regular meeting, when the body determines that there is a need for immediate action 
which cannot reasonably wait for the next regularly scheduled meeting.  (§ 
54954.2(b)(2).)  However, the Act specifies that in order to take advantage of this 
agenda exception, the need for immediate action must have come to the attention of the 
local “agency” after the agenda had already been posted.  (§ 54954.2(b)(2).)  The 
Legislature’s choice of the term “agency” rather than “body” seems calculated to limit 
use of this exception by prohibiting its usage if the local agency, i.e. staff, and not 
merely the body, had knowledge of the situation requiring action prior to the posting 
of the agenda. Lastly, the determination that a need for immediate action exists must 
be made by two-thirds of the members present or, if two-thirds of the body is not 
present, by a unanimous vote of those remaining.  (§ 54954.2(b)(2).) 

Finally, where an item has been posted on an agenda for a prior meeting, the item may 
be continued to a subsequent meeting that is held within five days of the meeting for 
which the item was properly posted.  Under these circumstances, the items need not be 
posted for the subsequent meeting.  (§ 54954.2(b)(3); see also, §§ 54955-55.1 
[concerning adjournment and continuances], infra at p. 25.) 

C. Public Testimony 

Every agenda for a regular meeting shall provide an opportunity for members of the 
public to directly address the legislative body on any item under the subject matter 

18
 



 

 

 

 

jurisdiction of the body. With respect to any item which is already on the agenda, or 
in connection with any item which the body will consider pursuant to the exceptions 
contained in section 54954.2(b), the public must be given the opportunity to comment 
before or during the legislative body’s consideration of the item.  (§ 54954.3(a).) The 
public testimony requirement appears to apply to closed sessions as well as open 
meetings, but see section 11125.7(d) of the Bagley-Keene Act, concerning state bodies, 
which was added in 1993 to expressly provide otherwise.  Accordingly, this office 
believes that it would be prudent for legislative bodies to afford the public an 
opportunity to comment on closed-session items prior to the body’s adjournment into 
closed session. The only exception to the public testimony requirement is where a 
committee comprised solely of members of the legislative body has previously 
considered the item at a public meeting in which all members of the public were 
afforded the opportunity to comment on the item before or during the committee’s 
consideration of it, so long as the item has not substantially changed since the 
committee’s hearing.  (§ 54954.3(a).) 

Where a member of the public raises an issue which has not yet come before the 
legislative body, the item may be briefly discussed but no action may be taken at that 
meeting.  (§ 54954.3(a).)  The purpose of the discussion is to permit a member of the 
public to raise an issue or problem with the legislative body or to permit the legislative 
body to provide information to the public, provide direction to its staff, or schedule the 
matter for a future meeting.  (§ 54954.2(a).) 

The Act specifically authorizes the legislative body to adopt regulations to assist in 
processing comments from the public.  The body may establish procedures for public 
comment as well as specifying reasonable time limitations on particular topics or 
individual speakers. So long as the body acts fairly with respect to the interest of the 
public and competing factions, it has great discretion in regulating the time and 
manner, as distinguished from the content, of testimony by interested members of the 
public. (§ 54954.3(b).) 

When a member of the public testifies before a legislative body, the body may not 
prohibit the individual from criticizing the policies, procedures, programs or services 
of the agency or the acts or omissions of the legislative body.  (§ 54954.3(c).)  This 
provision does not confer on members of the public any privilege or protection not 
otherwise provided by law. 

Public meetings of governmental bodies have been found to be limited public fora.  As 
such, members of the public have broad constitutional rights to comment on any 
subject relating to the business of the governmental body.  Any attempt to restrict the 
content of such speech must be narrowly tailored to effectuate a compelling state 
interest. Specifically, the courts found that policies that prohibited members of the 
public from criticizing school district employees were unconstitutional.  (Leventhal v. 

19
 



 

 

 

Vista Unified School Dist. (1997) 973 F.Supp. 951; Baca v. Moreno Valley Unified 
School Dist. (1996) 936 F.Supp. 719.) These decisions found that prohibiting critical 
comments was a form of viewpoint discrimination, and that such a prohibition 
promoted discussion artificially geared toward praising (and maintaining) the status 
quo, thereby foreclosing meaningful public dialogue. 

In 78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 224, 230 (1995), this office opined that the body could 
prohibit a speaker from making comments that were outside the body’s jurisdiction. 
However, when applying this opinion, the body must take into account the court’s 
broad decisions as discussed above. 

2. Special Meetings 

Under the Act, the presiding officer or a majority of the body may call a special meeting.  So 
long as substantive consideration of agenda items does not occur, a majority may meet without 
providing notice to the public in order to call the meeting and prepare the agenda.  (216 Sutter 
Bay Associates v. County of Sutter (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 860, 881-882.)  Notice of a special 
meeting must be provided 24 hours in advance of the meeting to all of the legislative body 
members and to all media outlets who have requested notification.  (§ 54956; 53 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 245, 246 (1970).) The notice also must be posted at least 24 hours prior to 
the meeting in a location freely accessible to the public.  The notice should indicate that the 
meeting is being called as a special meeting, and shall state the time, place, and business to be 
transacted at the meeting.  No other business shall be considered at the special meeting.  Notice 
is required even if the meeting is conducted in closed session, and, even if no action is taken. 
A member of the local body may waive failure to receive notice of the meeting by filing a 
written waiver prior to the meeting or by being present at the meeting. 

At every special meeting, the legislative body shall provide the public with an opportunity to 
address the body on any item described in the notice before or during consideration of that 
item.  (§ 54954.3(a).)  The special meeting notice shall describe the public’s rights to so 
comment.  (§ 54954.3(a).) 

3. Emergency Meetings 

When a majority of the legislative body determines that an emergency situation exists, it may 
call an emergency meeting.  (§ 54956.5.)  The Act defines an emergency as a crippling activity, 
work stoppage or other activity which severely impairs public health, safety or both.  (§ 
54956.5(a)(1).) Absent a dire emergency, telephonic notice must be provided to all media 
outlets that have requested that they receive notice of any special meetings called pursuant to 
section 54956 at least one hour prior to the meeting.  (§ 54956.5(b).) In the case of a dire 
emergency, notice need only be provided at or near the time that notice is provided to the 
members of the body.  (§ 54956.5(b).)  A dire emergency is a crippling disaster, mass 
destruction, terrorist act, or threatened terrorist activity that poses peril so immediate and 

20
 



 

 

 

 

 

significant that requiring a legislative body to provide one-hour notice before holding an 
emergency meeting may endanger the public health, safety, or both, as determined by a 
majority of the members of the legislative body.  (§ 54956.5(a)(2).) 

In the event telephone services are not working, the notice requirements are waived, but a 
report must be given to media outlets as soon as possible after the meeting.  Except for the 24-
hour notice requirement, the provisions of section 54956 relating to special meetings apply to 
the conduct of emergency meetings.  (§ 54956.5(d).)  At the conclusion of the meeting,  the 
minutes of the meeting, a list of persons who the legislative body notified or attempted to 
notify, a copy of the rollcall vote, and any actions taken at the meeting shall be posted for a 
minimum of 10 days in a public place as soon after the meeting as possible.  (§ 54956.5(e).) 

As a general rule, emergency meetings may not be held in closed session.  However, a 
legislative body may meet in closed session for purposes of consulting with law enforcement 
or security officials under section 54957 if agreed to by a two-thirds vote of the members of 
the legislative body present, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, by a 
unanimous vote of the members present.  (§ 54956.5(c).) 

4. Closed Sessions 

There are three types of “notice” obligations that accompany the conduct of a closed-session 
as a part of a duly noticed meeting.  First, each item to be transacted or discussed in a closed 
session must be briefly described on an agenda for the meeting.  (§ 54954.2(a).)  Second, prior 
to adjourning into closed session, a representative of the legislative body must orally announce 
the items to be discussed in closed session.  (§ 54957.7(a).)  This requirement may be satisfied 
by merely referring to the relevant portion of the written agenda for the meeting.  However, the 
Act contains specific additional requirements for closed sessions regarding pending litigation 
where the body believes it is subject to a significant exposure to potential litigation.  (§ 
54956.9(b)(3).) Third, once the closed session has been completed, the agency must reconvene 
in open session, where it may be required to report votes and actions taken in closed session. 
(§ 54957.1.)  These requirements are discussed in detail below. 

A. Agenda Requirement 

At least 72 hours prior to each regular meeting, legislative bodies must prepare an 
agenda containing a brief general description of each item to be transacted or discussed, 
including items which will be handled in closed session.  (§ 54954.2(a).)  A description 
of each item generally need not exceed 20 words, although the description must be 
sufficient to provide interested persons with an understanding of the subject matter 
which will be considered. (Carlson v. Paradise Unified School Dist. (1971) 18 
Cal.App.3d 196, 200.) In the case of pending litigation, the legislative body must make 
reference in the agenda or publicly announce the specific subsection of section 54956.9 
under which the closed session is being held. (§ 54956.9(c).) 

21
 



 

 

In order to assist legislative bodies in preparing agendas for closed-session meetings, 
the Legislature enacted section 54954.5 which establishes a model format for closed-
session agendas. Use of the model format is strictly voluntary on the part of the body. 
However, substantial compliance with the model format assures the legislative body 
that it will not be found in violation of the agenda requirements of section 54954.2. 
Substantial compliance with the model format in section 54954.5, therefore, provides 
a “safe harbor” from liability under the Act’s agenda requirements.  Substantial 
compliance is satisfied by including the information contained in the model format, 
irrespective of the form in which it is ultimately presented.  (§ 54954.5.) 

The model format, which comprises the safe harbor provisions, adopts a fill-in-the-
blank approach. The format is well suited to placement on a personal computer where 
descriptive information concerning specific agenda items can be inserted as 
appropriate. The safe harbor provisions concerning real property negotiations are set 
forth below and are illustrative of the format.  (All of the safe harbor provisions are 
contained in the appendix in § 54954.5.) 

(b) With respect to every item of business to be discussed 
in closed session pursuant to Section 54956.8: 

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property: (Specify street address, or if no street address, the parcel 
number or other unique reference, of the real property under 
negotiation) 

Agency negotiator: (Specify names of negotiators attending the closed 
session) (If circumstances necessitate the absence of a specified 
negotiator, an agent or designee may participate in place of the absent 
negotiator so long as the name of the agent or designee is announced at 
an open session held prior to the closed session.) 

Negotiating parties: (Specify name of party (not agent)) 

Under negotiation: (Specify whether instruction to negotiator will 
concern price, terms of payment, or both) 

It is noteworthy that the closed-session provisions concerning negotiations specifically 
require the body to identify the individuals who will be attending the closed session as 
negotiators. (§§ 54956.8; 54957.6) 

22
 



 

 

The safe harbor provisions concerning litigation and personnel have been tailored to 
protect the confidentiality interests of the agency, and employees who potentially are 
the subject of discipline. Thus, the safe harbor provisions require less specificity when 
the agenda deals with such matters. 

Although the safe harbor provisions are primarily designed to fulfill the agenda 
requirements for regular meetings, the provisions also can be used in connection with 
closed sessions at special meetings called pursuant to section 54956.  (§ 54954.5.) 

B.	 Oral Announcement Prior to Closed Sessions 

In addition to the agenda requirement for regular and special meetings, the Act requires 
a representative of the legislative body to orally announce the items to be discussed in 
closed session prior to any closed-session meeting.  (§ 54957.7(a).)  This requirement 
may be satisfied by referring to the item by number as it appears on the agenda. 

However, such a referral usually would not be sufficient in the case of a closed session 
concerning significant exposure to litigation. 

Pursuant to section 54956.9, a closed session may be conducted in order to permit an 
agency to receive advice from its legal counsel.  When the impetus for such a closed 
session is the agency’s exposure to potential litigation, the Act carefully regulates the 
circumstances under which a closed session may be called, and the types of 
announcement which must accompany such a meeting.  (§ 54956.9(b)(3).)  These 
required disclosures may be made as a part of the written agenda or as a part of the oral 
announcement made prior to any closed session.  These requirements do not mandate 
disclosure of privileged communications exempt from disclosure under the Public 
Records Act.  (§ 54956.9(b)(3)(F).) A summary of the disclosure requirements 
surrounding closed sessions based on an agency’s exposure to potential litigation is set 
forth below. 

•	 Where the agency believes that facts creating significant exposure to 
litigation are not known to potential plaintiffs, the facts need not be 
disclosed. (§ 54956.9(b)(3)(A).) 

•	 Where facts (e.g., an accident, disaster, incident, or transaction) creating 
significant exposure to litigation are known to potential plaintiffs, the 
facts must be publicly stated on the agenda or announced.  (§ 
54956.9(b)(3)(B).) 

•	 Where the agency receives a claim or other written communication 
threatening litigation, reference to the claim or communication must be 
publicly stated on the agenda or announced, and the claim or 

23
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

communication must be available for public inspection pursuant to 
section 54957.5. (§ 54956.9(b)(3)(C).) 

•	 Where a person makes a statement in an open and public meeting 
threatening litigation, reference to the statement must be publicly stated 
on the agenda or announced. (§ 54956.9(b)(3)(D).) 

•	 Where a person makes a statement outside of an open and public 
meeting threatening litigation, the agency may not conduct a closed 
session unless an agency official having knowledge of the threat makes 
a contemporaneous or other record of the statement prior to the 
meeting.  Reference to the statement must be publicly stated on the 
agenda or announced, and the record must be available for public 
inspection pursuant to section 54957.5. However, the record, or the 
disclosable part thereof, need not identify the alleged victim of unlawful 
or tortious sexual conduct or anyone making a threat on their behalf, or 
identify a public employee who is the alleged perpetrator of any such 
conduct, unless the identity of the person has been publicly disclosed. 
(§ 54956.9(b)(3)(E).) 

C.	 Report at the Conclusion of Closed Sessions 

Once a closed session has been completed, the legislative body must convene in open 
session. (§ 54957.7(b).)  If the legislative body took final action in the closed session, 
the body may be required to make a report of the action taken and the vote thereon to 
the public at the open session. (§ 54957.1(a).)  The report may be made either orally 
or in writing. (§ 54957.1(b).) In the case of a contract or settlement of a lawsuit, 
copies of the document also must be disclosed as soon as possible.  (§ 54957.1(b) and 
(c).) If final action is contingent upon another party, the legislative body is under no 
obligation to release a report about the closed session.  Once the other party has acted, 
making the decision final, the legislative body is under an obligation to respond to 
inquiries for information by providing a report of the action.  (§ 54957.1(a).) 

With respect to litigation, approval given to the body’s legal counsel to defend, to seek 
or refrain from seeking appellate review, or to appear as amicus curiae in any case 
resulting from a closed-session meeting held pursuant to section 54956.9 shall be 
reported in open session. (§ 54957.l(a)(2).)  The report shall identify the adverse 
parties and the substance of the litigation.  Where the body has decided to initiate 
litigation or intervene in an existing case, the report shall indicate that fact but need not 
identify the action, the parties, or other particulars.  The report shall specify that once 
the litigation or intervention has been formally commenced, the body must, upon 
inquiry, disclose such information, unless to do so would jeopardize service of process 
or existing settlement negotiations.  (§ 54957.l(a)(2).) 

24
 



 

 

 

With respect to a personnel decision, any action taken to appoint or employ an 
individual must be reported at the meeting.  Such a report would ordinarily include the 
name of the individual, but the Act specifically requires that the name of the position 
be reported. (§ 54957.1(a)(5).) In Gillespie v. San Francisco Pub. Library Comm’n 
(1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1165, a library commission met in closed session to nominate 
three candidates for consideration by the mayor for appointment as city librarian. 
Plaintiff contended that the commission was required to announce the names of the 
nominees at the conclusion of the closed session.  The court held that the requirement 
to announce appointments was not applicable because the commission had merely 
made a recommendation, not an appointment. 

With respect to a dismissal or a refusal to renew an employment contract, the report 
shall be deferred until the first public meeting after the exhaustion of administrative 
remedies. 

With respect to labor negotiations conducted pursuant to section 54957.6, the approval 
of an agreement concluding labor negotiations shall be reported after the agreement is 
final and has been accepted or ratified by the other party.  The report shall identify the 
item approved and the other party or parties.  (§ 54957.l(a)(6).) 

No action for injury to a reputational, liberty, or other personal interest may be 
commenced by an employee or former employee based upon the report made by the 
legislative body in an attempt to comply with section 54957.1.  (§ 54957.1(e).) 

5. Adjournments and Continuances 

Regular and special meetings may be adjourned to a future date.  (§ 54955.)  If the subsequent 
meeting is conducted within five (5) days of the original meeting, matters properly placed on 
the agenda for the original meeting may be considered at the subsequent meeting.  (§ 
54954.2(b)(3).) If the subsequent meeting is more than five (5) days from the original meeting, 
a new agenda must be prepared and posted pursuant to section 54954.2.  Hearings continued 
pursuant to section 54955.1 are subject to the same procedures. 

When a meeting is adjourned to a subsequent date, notice of the adjournment must be 
conspicuously posted on or near the door of the place where the meeting was held within 24 
hours after the time of the adjournment.  When less than a quorum of a body appears at a 
noticed meeting, the body may either meet as a committee of the parent body or adjourn to a 
future date pursuant to the provisions of sections 54955 or 54954.2(b)(3).  If no members of 
the legislative body appear at a noticed meeting, the clerk may adjourn the meeting to a future 
date and provide notice to members of the legislative body and to the media in accordance with 
the special meeting notice provisions set forth in section 54956. 

25
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.	 Location of Meetings 

As a general rule, regular and special meetings shall be held within the boundaries of the 
territory over which the legislative body has jurisdiction. (§ 54954(b).)  Accordingly, a city 
council must meet within the city; a county board of supervisors must meet within the county; 
and boards of directors for special districts must meet within the special district.  Gatherings 
which are not meetings, as set forth in section 54952.2(c) (e.g., conferences, social activities, 
and attendance at open and public meetings held by others) are not subject to the Act, and 
therefore are not covered by the boundary restriction.  In addition, the Act contains a number 
of specific exemptions from the boundary requirement.  (§ 54954.)  The fact that a meeting is 
exempt from the boundary requirement does not exempt the legislative body from the notice 
and open meeting requirements of the Act.  A summary of the boundary exemptions is set forth 
below. 

A legislative body must meet within its boundaries except to do any of the following: 

•	 Comply with state or federal law or any court order.  (§ 54954(b)(1).) 

•	 Inspect real property located outside the jurisdiction or personal property which 
would be inconvenient to bring inside the jurisdiction. (§ 54954(b)(2).) 

•	 Participate in meetings or discussions of multiagency significance so long as 
the meetings are held in the jurisdiction of one of the agencies and proper 
notice is provided by all bodies subject to the Act. (§ 54954(b)(3).) 

•	 Meet in the nearest available facility if the legislative body has no meeting 
facility within the jurisdiction, or at the principal office of the legislative body 
if they are located outside the jurisdiction. (§ 54954(b)(4).) 

•	 Meet with federal or California officials on a legislative or regulatory issue 
affecting the local agency and over which the state or federal officials have 
jurisdiction. (§ 54954(b)(5).) 

•	 Meet in or nearby a facility owned by the local agency so long as the topic of 
the meeting is directly related to the facility itself.  (§ 54954(b)(6).) 

•	 Visit the office of the body’s legal counsel for a closed session held on pending 
litigation held pursuant to section 54956.9, when to do so would reduce legal 
fees or costs. (§ 54954(b)(7).) 

26
 



 

 

In addition to the foregoing, governing boards of school districts have the following 
exemptions from the requirement to meet within their boundaries: 

•	 Attend a conference on nonadversarial collective bargaining techniques.  (§ 
54954(c)(1).) 

•	 Interview a potential employee from another district or interview the public 
from another district about the employment of a superintendent from that 
district. (§ 54954(c)(2) and (c)(3).) 

Joint powers agencies must meet within the jurisdiction of one of its member agencies unless 
an exemption contained in section 54954(b) is applicable.  (§ 54954(d).)  A joint powers 
agency with members throughout the state may meet anywhere in the state. 

Where a meeting place is unsafe because of emergency circumstances, the presiding officer of 
the legislative body shall designate the meeting place pursuant to specified notice 
requirements.  (§ 54954(e).) 

7.	 Special Procedures Regarding Taxes and Assessments 

Section 54954.6 establishes a series of procedures which must be followed when a legislative 
body proposes new or increased taxes or assessments.  These procedures are in addition to the 
notice and open meeting requirements contained elsewhere in the Act. 

CHAPTER V. 

RIGHTS OF THE PUBLIC 

Under the Brown Act, a member of the public can attend a meeting of a legislative body without 
having to register or give other information as a condition of attendance.  (§ 54953.3; see also 27 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 123 (1956).) If a register, questionnaire or similar document is posted or circulated 
at a meeting, it must clearly state that completion of the document is voluntary and not a precondition 
for attendance. (§ 54953.3.)  A legislative body may not prohibit any person attending an open 
meeting from video recording, audio recording or broadcasting the proceedings, absent a reasonable 
finding that such activity would constitute a disruption of the proceedings.  (§§ 54953.5, 54953.6; 
Nevens v. City of Chino (1965) 233 Cal.App.2d 775, 779; see also § 6091.) 

Under the Act, the public is guaranteed the right to provide testimony at any regular or special meeting 
on any subject which will be considered by the legislative body before or during its consideration of 
the item.  (§ 54954.3(a).) In 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 247, 248-252 (1997), this office concluded under 
a similar provision in the Bagley-Keene Act that the public’s right to comment on all agenda items 

27
 



 

 

 

applied to quasi-judicial proceedings as well as quasi-legislative proceedings.  In addition, the public 
has the right at every regular meeting to provide testimony on any matter under the legislative body’s 
jurisdiction. (§ 54954.3(a).)  However, this office concluded that a body could prohibit a member of 
the public from speaking on a matter that was outside the jurisdiction of the body.  (78 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 224, 230 (1995).) 

The Act specifically authorizes the legislative body to adopt regulations to assist in processing 
comments from the public.  The body may establish general procedures for public comment as well 
as specifying reasonable time limitations on particular topics or individual speakers.  So long as the 
body acts fairly with respect to the interest of the public and competing factions, it has great discretion 
in regulating the time and manner, as distinguished from the content, of testimony by interested 
members of the public.  (§ 54954.3(b).) 

The Act provides that the legislative body shall not prohibit a member of the public from criticizing 
the policies, procedures, programs, or services of the agency, or of the acts or omissions of the 
legislative body.  (§ 54954.3(c).)  Public meetings of governmental bodies have been found to be 
limited public fora.  As such, members of the public have broad constitutional rights to comment on 
any subject relating to the business of the governmental body.  Any attempt to restrict the content of 
such speech must be narrowly tailored to effectuate a compelling state interest.  Specifically, the courts 
found that policies that prohibited members of the public from criticizing school district employees 
were unconstitutional. (Leventhal v. Vista Unified School Dist. (1997) 973 F.Supp. 951; Baca v. 
Moreno Valley Unified School Dist. (1996) 936 F.Supp. 719.) These decisions found that prohibiting 
critical comments was a form of viewpoint discrimination, and that such a prohibition promoted 
discussion artificially geared toward praising (and maintaining) the status quo, thereby foreclosing 
meaningful public dialogue. 

Despite the public’s rights to attend meetings as discussed above, a legislative body may exclude all 
persons who willfully cause a disruption of a meeting so that it cannot be conducted in an orderly 
fashion. Where removal of the disruptive persons is not sufficient to restore order, the body may clear 
the room of all persons.  (§ 54957.9.) However, in such situations, media personnel not involved in 
the disturbance must be permitted to attend the session as continued.  (§ 54957.9.) 

Agendas or any other writings, except for records exempt from disclosure under section 6254 of the 
Public Records Act, distributed to all or a majority of the members of a legislative body for discussion 
or consideration at a public meeting are disclosable to the public upon request, and shall be made 
available without delay to members of the public in accordance with the provisions of section 54957.5. 
If materials are provided prior to a meeting, the materials should, upon request and without delay, be 
made available to the public upon request at the time of distribution to the body.  (§ 54957.5(a).) If 
the materials are distributed to the members of the body by the agency at the meeting, the materials 
should be available to the public at that time as well.  Materials provided at the meeting by a person, 
who is not a member of the body or employee of the local agency, must be made available by the body 
to the public at the conclusion of the meeting.  (§ 54957.5(b).) 

28
 



Members of the public who make written requests for documents which were finally approved in a 
closed session generally may receive copies of such documents at the conclusion of the meeting.  (§ 
54957.1(b).) This right to obtain documents does not include documents which are exempt from 
disclosure pursuant to section 6254 of the Public Records Act. (Roberts v. City of Palmdale (1993) 
5 Cal.4th 363, 370-373; Cal.Atty.Gen., Indexed Letter, No. IL 77-67 (April 28, 1977).)  Pursuant to 
section 6253(c), a fee equal to the direct cost of duplication may be charged to any person requesting 
a copy of a public record.  (§ 54957.5(c)); North County Parents Organization for Children with 
Special Needs v. California Department of Education (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 144, 147-148.) In the 
North County case, the court indicated that a pro rata share of equipment and conceivably personnel 
expenses directly involved in actually duplicating a record could be included in calculating the fee. 
However, research and retrieval costs may not be included in the fee.  Thus, the direct cost of actually 
photocopying a record may be recovered, but associated costs such as the cost of research, redaction 
and retrieval may not be recovered. 

In addition, members of the public may request in writing that the agenda or all of the documents 
comprising the meeting packet be mailed to them for a cost not to exceed the actual cost of providing 
the service. (§ 54954.1.) Upon receipt of such a written request, the agency shall mail the requested 
documents, provided that they are not exempt from disclosure pursuant to section 6254, to the 
requester at the time the agenda is posted or when the documents are provided to a majority of the 
members of the legislative body, whichever occurs first.  The request must be renewed annually and 
failure of the requester to receive such documents does not invalidate any action which was the subject 
of the records. 

If an agency records an open meeting either on video or audio tapes, the tapes and a tape recorder must 
be made available to the public if a request is made.  (§ 54953.5(b).) The agency is not required to 
prepare a transcript, but if one were prepared, the public generally would have the right to receive 
copies upon request.  (64 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 317, 321 (1981).)  If the agency wishes to destroy the 
tapes after 30 days, it may do so without regard to the limitations imposed by section 34090.  (§ 
54953.5(b).) 

Except as specifically authorized by the Act, the legislative body may not impose fees to defray its 
costs in carrying out the provisions of the Act. (§ 54956.6.) 

A legislative body may not conduct any meeting or function in any facility where racial or other 
discrimination is practiced, or which is inaccessible to disabled persons, or where members of the 
public must pay to attend the meeting.  (§ 54961.)  A facility is accessible if it fully satisfies the 
accessibility requirements of Government Code section 4450 et seq. or Health and Safety Code section 
19955 et seq., as well as the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  (§ 54953.2) If a meeting 
facility is inaccessible, the meeting must be moved to an accessible facility. 

The Act requires that agendas, agenda packets, and other writings distributed to members of a 
legislative body be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with a disability and 
that the agendas include information on the availability of disability-related aids or services to enable 

29
 



the person to participate in the public meeting consistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 
(§§ 54954.1, 54954.2, 54957.5.) Legislative bodies may go beyond the minimal requirements of the 
Act and provide greater public access to their meetings.  (§ 54953.7.) Elected legislative bodies may 
impose greater access requirements on agencies under their jurisdiction.  (§ 54953.7.) 

CHAPTER VI. 

PERMISSIBLE CLOSED SESSIONS 

1. Introduction 

A. Narrow Construction 

Under the Brown Act, closed sessions must be expressly authorized by explicit 
statutory provisions. Prior to the enactment of section 54962, the courts and this office 
had recognized impliedly authorized justifications for closed sessions.  (Sutter Sensible 
Planning, Inc. v. Board of Supervisors (1981) 122 Cal.App.3d 813; Sacramento 
Newspaper Guild v. Sacramento County Bd. of Suprs. (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 41.) 
However, that legislation made it clear that closed sessions cannot be conducted unless 
they are expressly authorized by statute.  Although confidential communication 
privileges continue to exist in other statutes such as the Public Records Act and 
Evidence Code section 1040, these provisions no longer can impliedly authorize a 
closed session. 

Since closed sessions are an exception to open meeting requirements, the authority for 
such sessions has been narrowly construed. The law evinces a strong bias in favor of 
open meetings, and court decisions and opinions of this office have buttressed that 
legislative intent. (§ 54950.) The fact that material may be sensitive, embarrassing or 
controversial does not justify application of a closed session unless it is authorized by 
some specific exception.  (Rowen v. Santa Clara Unified School District (1981) 121 
Cal.App.3d 231, 235.) Rather, in many circumstances these characteristics may be 
further evidence of the need for public scrutiny and participation in discussing such 
matters.  (See Civ. Code, § 47(b) [regarding privileged publication of defamatory 
remarks in a legislative proceeding].) 

In 61 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 220, 226 (1978), we concluded that meetings of the Board of 
Police Commissioners could not, as a general proposition, be held in closed session, 
even though the matters to be discussed were sensitive and the commission considered 
their disclosure contrary to the public interest. 

30
 



The Act does not contain a general exemption for quasi-judicial deliberations, and this 
office concluded that such an exemption was not generally authorized by implication. 
In 71 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 96, 106 (1988), this office concluded that the deliberations of 
a hearing board of an air pollution control district, after it has conducted a public 
hearing on a variance, order of abatement or permit appeal, must be conducted in 
public. The opinion further stated that the board was prohibited from conducting such 
deliberations in a closed session with the board’s counsel or the board’s attorney 
member.  Similarly, in 57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 189, 192 (1974), this office opined that 
county boards of education could not meet in closed session to deliberate when 
deciding appeals from decisions of local school boards refusing to enter into 
interdistrict attendance agreements. 

B. Semi-Closed Meetings 

In 46 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 34, 35 (1965), this office also concluded that meetings could 
not be semi-closed.  Thus, certain interested members of the public may not be 
admitted to a closed session while the remainder of the public is excluded.  Nor would 
it be proper for an investigative committee of a grand jury performing its duties of 
investigating the county’s business to be admitted to a closed session.  (Cal.Atty.Gen., 
Indexed Letter, No. IL 70-184 (October 9, 1970).)  As a general rule, closed sessions 
may involve only the membership of the body in question plus any additional support 
staff which may be required (e.g., attorney required to provide legal advice; supervisor 
or witnesses may be required in connection with disciplinary proceeding; labor 
negotiator required for consultation). Persons without an official role in the meeting 
should not be present. 

C. Secret Ballots 

Secret ballots are expressly prohibited by section 54953(c).  This office has long 
disapproved secret ballot voting in open meetings and the casting of mail ballots. 
Thus, items under consideration which are not subject to a specific closed meeting 
exception must be conducted in a fully open forum.  (68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 65 (1985).) 
One aspect of the public’s right to scrutinize and participate in public hearings is their 
right to witness the decision-making process.  If votes are secretly cast, the public is 
deprived of a portion of its right. (See also 59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 619, 621-622 
(1976).) However, it is the view of this office that members of a body may cast their 
ballots either orally or in writing so long as the written ballots are marked and tallied 
in open session and the ballots are disclosable public records. 

31
 



D.	 Confidentiality of Closed Session 

Section 54963 provides that a person may not disclose confidential information that has 
been acquired by attending a proper closed session to a person not entitled to receive 
it, unless the disclosure is authorized by the legislative body. 

For purposes of this section, “confidential information” means a communication made 
in a closed session that is specifically related to the basis for the legislative body to 
meet lawfully in closed session. 

If this prohibition is violated, it may be enforced by relying upon current available legal 
remedies including the following: 

•	 Injunctive relief to prevent the disclosure of confidential information. 

•	 Disciplinary action against an employee who has willfully disclosed 
confidential information in violation of this prohibition.  Such disciplinary 
action must be first preceded by training or notice of the prohibition. 

•	 Referral of a member of a legislative body who has willfully disclosed 
confidential information to the grand jury. 

However, section 54963 provides that no action may be taken against a person for any 
of the following: 

•	 Making a confidential inquiry or complaint to a district attorney or grand jury 
concerning a perceived violation of law, including disclosing facts that are 
necessary to establish the illegality of an action taken by a legislative body or 
the potential illegality of an action that has been the subject of deliberation at 
a closed session if that action were ultimately to be taken by the legislative 
body. 

•	 Expressing an opinion concerning the propriety or legality of actions taken by 
a legislative body in closed session, including disclosure of the nature and 
extent of the illegal or potentially illegal action. 

•	 Disclosing information acquired by being present in a closed session that is not 
confidential information. 

•	 Disclosing information under the whistle blower statutes contained in Labor 
Code section 1102.5 or Government Code section 53296. 

32
 



 

 

 

(See Kleitman v. Superior Court (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 324, 335, fn. 9 [where the 
court found that the contents of a closed session were privileged information and 
applied Evidence Code 1040(b)(1), which provides an absolute privilege for 
confidential government information to prevent compelled disclosure in a civil 
proceeding]; 76 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 289, 290-291 (1993); 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 231, 
235 (1997).) 

2. Authorized Exceptions 

All closed sessions must be conducted pursuant to expressly authorized statutory exceptions. 
(§ 54962.)  As stated previously, the closed session exception to open meeting laws has been 
narrowly construed by the courts. 

A. Personnel Exception 

The purpose of the personnel exception is to avoid undue publicity or embarrassment 
for public employees and to allow full and candid discussion of such employees by the 
body in question. (Fischer v. Los Angeles Unified School Dist. (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 
87, 96; San Diego Union v. City Council (1983) 146 Cal.App.3d 947, 955; 61 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 283, 291 (1978).)  Accordingly, the Act provides for closed sessions 
regarding the appointment, employment, evaluation of performance, discipline or 
dismissal of a public employee.  (§ 54957.) 

In Gillespie v. San Francisco Pub. Library Comm’n (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1165, the 
Library Commission conducted a closed-session meeting to consider appointment of 
a new city librarian.  Although the mayor actually makes the appointment, the city 
charter requires the Library Commission to participate in the appointment process.  The 
court held that the Commission’s closed-session meeting under the personnel exception 
for the purpose of nominating three candidates for consideration by the mayor was 
proper. 

In 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 308, 311 (1997), this office concluded that the personnel 
exception could be utilized by an advisory committee created by a school district to 
provide it with recommendations on the employment of a new superintendent after 
conducting interviews and deliberations on the applicants.  However, a body may not 
conduct a closed session where it is not assigned responsibility in connection with the 
decision. Accordingly, this office concluded that a county board of education may not 
conduct a closed session on a personnel decision where that decision rested solely with 
the superintendent, and not with the board. (85 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 77 (2002).) 

Under the Act, an employee may request and require a public hearing where the 
purpose of the closed session is to discuss specific charges or complaints against the 
employee.  Under the Act, the employee must be given at least 24-hour written notice 

33
 



 

 

of any meeting to hear specific charges or complaints against the employee, or any 
action taken at the meeting will be null and void.  (§ 54957.) 

In Fischer v. Los Angeles Unified School Dist. (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 87, 100, the 
court determined that an employee had the right to receive the 24-hour notice only 
when the body was considering complaints and charges brought by a third person or 
an employee.  The court specifically distinguished these hearings concerning 
complaints or charges from closed-session meetings to consider the appointment, 
employment, evaluation of performance, discipline or dismissal of an employee.  In 
these latter instances, the court indicated that the body need not provide 24-hour notice 
to the individuals in question. Thus, when complaints or charges are not pending, this 
office opined that the Act permits the holding of a closed session to discuss an 
employee’s job performance irrespective of the employee’s desires.  (61 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 283, 291(1978).)  In Duval v. Board of Trustees (2001) 93 
Cal.App.4th 902, 909-910, the court found that an employee evaluation could – be 
comprehensive or focus on specific instances of conduct; include consideration of the 
process to be followed in conducting the evaluation; provide feedback to the employee; 
and, establish goals for future performance. 

In Fischer v. Los Angeles Unified School Dist. (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 87, 101-102, the 
court concluded that charges or complaints brought against a person generally involve 
something in the nature of an accusation.  An evaluation of performance conducted in 
the normal course of the employer’s business usually does not involve communications 
resembling an accusation.  Thus, a review of a probationary employee to determine 
whether permanent status will be conferred does not involve complaints or charges 
since no cause need be shown, no reason given and no appeal granted. Under these 
circumstances, the employee has no right to be present in a closed session to consider 
whether to grant permanent status.  (See also 78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 218 (1995) [review 
of evaluation and denial of tenure]; Furtado v. Sierra Community College (1998) 68 
Cal.App.4th 876 [review of evaluation and dismissal of nontenured employee].)  These 
reviews of probationary teachers retain their evaluative nature even though allegations 
of misconduct may be a part of the evaluation.  These citations are in contrast to Bell 
v. Vista Unified School Dist. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 672, where the school 
superintendent brought a complaint against a teacher before the school board in a 
context unrelated to a performance evaluation.  In that case, the court found that the 24-
hour notice was required. 

In Bollinger v. San Diego Civil Service Comm. (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 568, an 
employee was demoted.  The demotion was appealed and a hearing officer conducted 
a hearing and prepared a report for the full reviewing body to consider in closed 
session. The employee contended that he should have been provided with 24-hour 
notice of the hearing officer’s report and his right to make the hearing public.  The 
court concluded that the body was not hearing complaints or charges, but was merely 

34
 



 

deliberating after a proper evidentiary proceeding had been conducted by the hearing 
officer. The court found that the employee had the opportunity to contest or present 
any information during the hearing, and therefore, neither due process nor the Brown 
Act required that he receive notice prior to the closed session.  The court found that, 
as a general matter, the language of the Act and the legislative history supported the 
conclusion that a body may deliberate in closed session after a public hearing to hear 
charges and complaints. 

Care must be exercised to analyze the status of the individual involved in a closed 
session subject to the personnel exception. If the person is not an “employee,” all 
action must be taken in public session.  The Act defines the term “employee” to include 
an officer or an independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee, but 
shall not include any elected official, member of a legislative body or other 
independent contractors. (§ 54957.) Thus, the personnel exception not only applies 
to civil service employees or their equivalent, it includes department heads and other 
high-ranking local officers.  The exception applies to such officials irrespective of 
whether they are appointed to an office or merely serve by contract (e.g., contract city 
attorney).  The key issue is whether the individual functions under the normal 
supervision and reporting requirements for an officer or employee, as opposed to that 
of an independent contractor who performs a task free of such day to day constraints. 
Accordingly, an independent contractor who performs a study or constructs a building 
or project must be selected in an open session of the legislative body.  (See, e.g., Rowen 
v. Santa Clara Unified School District (1981) 121 Cal.App.3d 231, 233 [which 
concluded under prior law that discussions regarding the qualifications of an 
independent contractor to sell surplus land for the district should have been conducted 
in public].) 

In no case does the term “employee” include elected officers or persons appointed to 
fill a vacancy of an elected office. Elected officers who are separately appointed to 
preside over their boards are not employees within the meaning of the Act.  Therefore, 
complaints against such presiding officers may not be discussed in a closed session. 
(See also 61 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 10 (1978).) 

The courts and this office have consistently maintained that the personnel exception 
must be used in connection with the consideration of a particular employee.  The 
exemption is not available for across-the-board decisions or evaluations of employees, 
classifications and salary structures. In Santa Clara Federation of Teachers v. 
Governing Board (1981) 116 Cal.App.3d 831, 846, the court concluded that a board’s 
consideration of a hearing officer’s decision concerning teacher layoff policy must be 
conducted in open session. 

In 63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 153 (1980), we concluded that abstract discussions concerning 
the creation of a new administrative position and the workload of existing positions 

35
 



 

were inappropriate for a closed session.  However, had the workload discussions 
involved the evaluation of the performance of specific employees, a closed session 
would have been proper for that portion of the discussion. 

In Lucas v. Board of Trustees (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 988, 990, the court determined 
that a decision not to rehire a district superintendent of a high school district was 
properly made in closed session.  Also, in 59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 532, 536 (1976), we 
concluded that the use of a closed session by a school district governing board to 
discuss and evaluate the performance of its superintendent was appropriate.  In both 
situations, the superintendent was found to be an “employee.” 

In San Diego Union v. City Council (1983) 146 Cal.App.3d 947, the court broke new 
ground in delineating the subjects which are appropriate for consideration in closed 
sessions under the personnel exception. There, the court considered whether the city 
council could meet in closed session to discuss the job performances and salary levels 
of certain employees.  The court concluded that a closed session was appropriate for 
the purpose of reviewing an employee’s job performance and making the threshold 
decision of whether any salary increase should be granted.  However, all discussions 
concerning the amount of any salary increase should be held in public session. 

The court specifically rejected the argument that the terms “employment” or 
“performance” as used in section 54957 should be interpreted to include salary level 
determinations.  The court stated, “Salaries and other terms of compensation constitute 
municipal budgetary matters of substantial public interest warranting open discussion 
and eventual electoral public ratification.” (San Diego Union v. City Council (1983) 
146 Cal.App.3d 947, 955.) The court stated that although an individual’s job 
performance could be considered in closed session, there were a variety of other factors 
that must be considered in determining the appropriate salary level (e.g., availability 
of funds; other funding priorities; relative compensation of similar positions elsewhere, 
both inside and outside of the jurisdiction). 

The San Diego Union decision has now been codified in section 54957, which states, 
“[C]losed sessions held pursuant to this section shall not include discussion or action 
on proposed compensation except for a reduction of compensation that results from the 
imposition of discipline.” Although the amount of any proposed increase in an 
employee’s compensation may not be considered in closed session, the employee’s job 
performance may be discussed in closed session, including the threshold decision of 
whether the employee should receive a raise. 

To the extent there are bona fide negotiations between a legislative body and an 
unrepresented individual who is a current or prospective employee of the body, the 
body may meet with its representative to provide instructions on how to conduct the 
negotiations. (§ 54957.6.) However, if the board is merely setting the salary without 

36
 



entering into bona fide negotiations, this section is inapplicable.  The instructions to 
the negotiator may include consideration of an agency’s available funds and funding 
priorities, insofar as such discussions relate to providing instructions to the local 
agency’s negotiator. However, closed sessions under section 54957.6 may not include 
a final decision concerning an unrepresented employee’s compensation. 

B. Pending Litigation and the Attorney-Client Privilege 

(1) Historical Background 

In 1953, the Legislature enacted the Act but did not make any provisions for 
closed sessions in connection with litigation or the attorney-client privilege. 
In 1968, the court, in Sacramento Newspaper Guild v. Sacramento County Bd. 
of Suprs. (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 41, 57, reasoned that the Act was not intended 
to impliedly repeal preexisting and well-established laws relating to privileges 
and confidentiality.  Accordingly, the attorney-client privilege impliedly 
authorized closed sessions for legislative bodies to confer with their attorneys. 

In 1984, the Legislature enacted SB 2216, chapter 1126, which added section 
54956.9 to the Act. That section expressly authorized closed sessions in 
connection with pending litigation and created specific procedures and 
definitions for implementing these closed sessions. 

In 1987, the Legislature enacted SB 200, chapter 1320, to provide that the 
expressly authorized exemption regarding pending litigation is the exclusive 
expression of the attorney-client privilege for purposes of conducting closed-
session meetings.  The legislation also provided that no closed session may be 
held unless it is expressly authorized by statute. (§ 54962.) This provision 
means that other confidentiality privileges may not be relied upon as implicit 
authorization for closed sessions. 

(2) Pending Litigation Exception 

The codified pending litigation exception relating to local bodies is contained 
in section 54956.9. This section authorizes bodies to conduct closed sessions 
with their legal counsel to discuss pending litigation when discussion in open 
session would prejudice the agency in that litigation.  “Litigation” includes any 
adjudicatory proceeding, including eminent domain, before a court, 
administrative body, hearing officer or arbitrator.  For the purpose of this 
section, litigation is pending when any of the following occurs: litigation to 
which the agency is a party has been initiated formally (§ 54956.9(a); 69 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 232, 240 (1986) [issuance of tentative cease and desist order 
initiates an adjudicatory proceeding]; the agency has decided or is meeting to 

37
 



 

decide whether to initiate litigation (§ 54956.9(c); or in the opinion of the 
legislative body on advice of its legal counsel, there is a significant exposure 
to litigation if matters related to specific facts and circumstances are discussed 
in open session (§ 54956.9(b)(1). Agencies are also authorized to meet in 
closed session to consider whether a significant exposure to litigation exists, 
based on specific facts and circumstances.  (§ 54956.9(b)(2); see 71 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 96, 105 (1988) [mere possibility of judicial review does not 
constitute significant exposure to litigation based on existing facts and 
circumstances].) For purposes of section 54956.9(b)(1) and (b)(2), “existing 
facts and circumstances” are specifically defined in section 54956.9(b)(3), 
along with the requirement to disclose certain information regarding the facts 
and circumstances prior to the holding of a closed session.  (See Chapter IV, 
part 4(B) of this pamphlet for a description of the disclosure requirements.) 

Existing facts and circumstances which create a significant exposure to 
litigation consist only of the following: 

•	 The agency believes that facts creating significant exposure to litigation 
are not known to potential plaintiffs. (§ 54956.9(b)(3)(A). 

•	 Facts (e.g., an accident, disaster, incident, or transaction) creating 
significant exposure to litigation are known to potential plaintiffs.  (§ 
54956.9(b)(3)(B).) 

•	 A claim or other written communication threatening litigation is 
received by the agency. (§ 54956.9(b)(3)(C).) 

•	 A person makes a statement in an open and public meeting threatening 
litigation. (§ 54956.9(b)(3)(D).) 

•	 A person makes a statement outside of an open and public meeting 
threatening litigation, and an agency official having knowledge of the 
threat makes a contemporaneous or other record of the statement prior 
to the meeting.  (§ 54956.9(b)(3)(E).) 

Prior to conducting a closed session under the pending litigation exception, the 
body must state on the agenda or publicly announce the subdivision of section 
54956.9 which authorizes the session. If litigation has already been initiated, 
the body must state the title of the litigation unless to do so would jeopardize 
service of process or settlement negotiations.  (§ 54956.9(c).) 

In 75 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 14, 20 (1992), this office concluded that the pending 
litigation exception could be invoked by a body to deliberate upon or take 

38
 



 

 

action concerning the settlement of litigation.  The court, in Sacramento 
Newspaper Guild, stated: 

“In settlement advice, the attorney’s professional task is 
to provide his client a frank appraisal of strength and weakness, 
gains and risks, hopes and fears.” (Sacramento Newspaper 
Guild v. Sacramento County Bd. of Suprs. (1968) 263 
Cal.App.2d 41, 56.) 

Elaborating on this reasoning, this office’s opinion concluded: 

“Unless section 54956.9 were given a strained and 
unnatural construction, the wording of the statute permits 
individual members of a legislative body not only to deliberate 
and exchange opinions with counsel but also among themselves 
in the presence of counsel. As we noted in 69 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 232, 239, supra, the pending litigation 
exception fills the need to discuss confidentially with counsel 
‘the strength and weaknesses of the local’ agency’s position in 
the litigation. And as articulated by the court in Sacramento 
Newspaper Guild, Inc., supra, with respect to both ‘settlement 
and avoidance of litigation,’ these are ‘particularly sensitive 
activities, whose conduct would be grossly confounded, often 
made impossible, by undiscriminating insistence on open 
lawyer-client conferences.’ (263 Cal.App.2d at p. 56.)” (75 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 14, 18-19 (1992).) (Original emphasis.) 

The opinion went on to state that a body: 

“. . . must be able to confer with its attorney and then 
decide in private such matters as the upper and lower limits 
with respect to settlement, whether to accept a settlement or 
make a counter offer, or even whether to settle at all.  These are 
matters which will depend upon the strength and weakness of 
the individual case as developed from conferring with counsel. 
A local agency of necessity must be able to decide and instruct 
its counsel with respect to these matters in private.” (75 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 14, 19-20 (1992).) 

This interpretation is supported by section 54957.l(a)(3), which requires the 
body to disclose settlements where the body accepts a signed settlement 
agreement in closed session unless the agreement must be approved by another 
party or the court. Under the pending litigation exception, it appears that a 

39
 



 

body generally must be a party or a potential party to litigation in order to meet 
in closed session with its attorney. In addition, it is possible that a legislative 
body may receive advice from its legal counsel concerning the body’s 
participation in litigation as an amicus curiae, even though the language of 
section 54956.9 does not clearly authorize a closed session in such 
circumstances.  (§ 54957.1.)  When a government entity such as a city or a 
county is sued, or when government officials such as a city council or a board 
of supervisors are sued in their official capacities, questions may arise 
concerning what other city or county entities or officials may be considered 
parties for purposes of the pending litigation exception. 67 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 
111, 116-117 (1984), which was issued prior to the enactment of section 
54956.9, suggests that when the county is a party to a lawsuit, an advisory body 
to the board of supervisors on the general subject matter of the lawsuit also may 
be a party or a potential party for the purposes of conducting a closed-session 
meeting to receive advice from its attorney. 

In 69 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 232 (1986), this office considered the circumstances 
in which a decision by one city body to meet in public on matters related to 
pending litigation waived the right of all other bodies of that city to conduct 
closed sessions concerning the same pending litigation.  Our opinion concluded 
that one city body’s decision to meet in public session regarding pending 
litigation is not necessarily a bar to other city bodies who wish to exercise their 
right to confer with their attorney in closed session.  Specifically, we concluded 
that the city public works board did not and could not waive the city council’s 
right to meet with its attorney in closed session. 

Lastly, it should be emphasized that the purpose of the pending litigation 
exception is to permit a body to meet with its attorney under certain defined 
circumstances.  If the attorney is not present (either in person or by 
teleconference means), the closed session may not be conducted.  It should also 
be emphasized that the purpose of the exception is to permit the body to receive 
legal advice and make litigation decisions only; it is not to be used as a 
subterfuge to reach nonlitigation oriented policy decisions. (71 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 96, 104-105 (1988).) 

Since the purpose of the pending litigation exception is to protect confidential 
attorney-client communications, our opinion in 62 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 150 
(1979) continues to be applicable insofar as it concluded that nonconfidential 
communications between an attorney and his or her client are not protected.  In 
that opinion, two boards which were adversaries in a lawsuit, along with their 
counsel, sought to meet in closed session for purposes of negotiating a 
settlement to that lawsuit. Thus, it was the negotiations, rather than 
confidential communications between the lawyer and the client, which the 

40
 



bodies sought to protect. Accordingly, we concluded that a closed session was 
not appropriate for these negotiations. 

This office also concluded that Evidence Code section 1152 (which renders 
inadmissible for the purpose of proving liability, evidence of the conduct or 
statements of a litigant during settlement negotiations) does not authorize the 
holding of a joint closed session between two legislative bodies, engaged in 
litigation against each other, for the purpose of conducting settlement 
negotiations. Section 1152 has as its purpose the fostering of settlements of 
disputes rather than the protection of confidential communications.  (62 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 150, 154-155 (1979).) 

Settlement negotiations, however, may be conducted by the attorneys for the 
respective litigating bodies, and a closed session, pursuant to the pending 
litigation exception, may be held by each body to consult with its attorney 
about the settlement.  (62 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 150, 154-155 (1979).) 

It is important to remember that the requirements of the pending litigation 
exception only apply to communications in the context of a meeting.  Written 
one way confidential attorney-client advice is not a meeting, and therefore, is 
not subject to the Brown Act.  (Roberts v. City of Palmdale (1993) 5 Cal.4th 
363; see page 15 of this pamphlet.)  Also, negotiations conducted by a limited 
term ad hoc advisory committee comprised solely of less than a quorum of the 
body is not subject to the Act. (See page 5 of this pamphlet.)  To the extent that 
either of these avenues is pursued one must be careful to avoid serial 
communications that would constitute a violation of the Act.  (See page 11 of 
this pamphlet.) 

C. Real Property Negotiations Exception 

The Act contains provisions concerning the circumstances under which a body may 
meet in closed session to grant authority to its negotiator concerning the price and 
terms of payment in real property negotiations.  (§ 54956.8.) Since the Act requires the 
body to report, at the conclusion of the closed session, the approval of an agreement 
concluding real property negotiations where the body’s action renders the agreement 
final, the body’s power to grant authority to its negotiator also includes the power to 
finalize any agreement so negotiated.  (§§ 54956.8 and 54957.1.) 

The exception for real property negotiations permits the body to meet in closed session 
to advise its negotiator concerning the “price” and “terms of payment” in connection 
with the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of property by or for the agency.  In Kleitman 
v. Superior Court (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 324, the court indicated that the purpose for 
the exception arises out of the realities of the commercial market place and the need 

41
 



 

 

to prevent the person with whom the local government is negotiating from sitting in on 
the session at which the negotiating terms are developed.  (Kleitman v. Superior Court 
(1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 324, 331; see also Shapiro v. San Diego City Council (2002) 
96 Cal.App.4th 904.) 

The closed session, however, must be preceded by an open session in which the body 
identifies the real property in question, the individual who will act as its negotiator, and 
the persons with whom its negotiator may negotiate.  In 73 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 1, 5 
(1990), this office concluded that a district interested in purchasing property could not 
identify 700 prospective parcels, but must specifically identify the actual parcels 
subject to negotiation so that the public would have the opportunity to voice any 
objection to the proposed transaction. Eminent domain proceedings are not subject to 
section 54956.8, and a body may hold closed sessions to discuss eminent domain 
proceedings with its attorney under the pending litigation exception. 

Depending on the circumstances, the agency may designate a member of the body, a 
staff person, the agency’s attorney or another person to serve as its negotiator. 

D. Labor Negotiations Exception 

The Act provides for closed sessions to enable a legislative body to meet with its 
negotiator concerning discussions with employee organizations and unrepresented 
employees regarding salaries and fringe benefits.  (§ 54957.6(a).) However, prior to 
the closed session, the body must meet in open session and identify its negotiators.  The 
purpose of the closed session is to permit the body to review its position and instruct 
its negotiator concerning the conduct of labor negotiations with current or prospective 
employees.  During the closed session, the legislative body may approve an agreement 
concluding labor negotiations with its represented employees.  (See § 54957.1(a)(6).) 
However, closed sessions with the negotiator may not include final action on the 
proposed compensation of one or more unrepresented employees. 

The scope of the closed session held with the negotiator pursuant to section 54957.6 
is limited to issues concerning salaries, salary schedules, and compensation paid in the 
form of fringe benefits.  In addition, for represented employees, the legislative body 
also may grant authority to its negotiator concerning any other matter within the 
statutorily-provided scope of representation.  Closed session discussions under the 
labor negotiations exception may include consideration of an agency’s available funds 
and funding priorities, so long as such discussions relate to providing instructions to 
the local agency’s designated negotiator.  It should be emphasized that the labor 
negotiations exception applies only to actual bona fide labor negotiations, and a closed 
session may not be conducted where a legislative body merely wishes to set the salary 
of an employee. 

42
 



The body may appoint from its membership one or more members constituting less 
than a quorum, to act as its negotiator, with whom it may meet and confer in closed 
session under the provisions of section 54957.6.  (57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 209, 212 
(1974).) However, if a body decides to conduct its meet-and-confer sessions itself 
without using a negotiator, the legislative body may not meet in closed session to 
review and decide upon its bargaining position.  (57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 209, 212 
(1974).) In addition, the legislative body as a whole may meet in closed session with 
a state conciliator who has intervened in the negotiations.  (§ 54957.6(a); see also, 51 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 201 (1968).) 

For purposes of section 54957.6, the term “employee” not only refers to rank and file, 
but also includes an officer or an independent contractor who functions as an officer 
or employee.  The term “employee” does not include any elected official, member of 
a legislative body, or other independent contractors. (§ 54957.6(b).) 

E. Public Security Exception 

The Act permits local agencies to meet in closed session with the Attorney General, 
district attorney, agency counsel, sheriff, or chief of police or their deputies, or a 
security consultant or a security operations manager on matters posing a threat to the 
security of public buildings, a threat to the security of essential public services, 
including water, drinking water, wastewater treatment, natural gas service, and electric 
service, or a threat to the public’s right of access to public services or public facilities. 
(§ 54957.) 

F. License Application Exception 

The Act establishes special provisions for the consideration of license applications by 
persons with criminal records.  (§ 54956.7.) 

3. Minute Book 

The Act provides for the discretionary keeping of a minute book with respect to closed 
sessions. (§ 54957.2.) The minute book is confidential and shall be available only to members 
of the legislative body or to a court in connection with litigation involving an alleged violation 
of the Act during a closed session. (§ 54957.2.)  Neither the minute book nor the information 
which it memorializes may be released by the body’s members.  (Cal.Atty.Gen., Indexed 
Letter, No. IL 76-201 (October 20, 1976).) However, the minutes of an improper closed session 
are not confidential. (Register Div. of Freedom Newspapers, Inc. v. County of Orange (1984) 
158 Cal.App.3d 893, 907-908.) 

43
 



 

Under the Act, the recording of closed sessions is authorized by section 54957.2 only to the 
extent that such recording is accomplished with the knowledge or consent of the other 
participants in the closed session, pursuant to the requirements of Penal Code section 632.  (62 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 292 (1979).) 

CHAPTER VII. 

PENALTIES AND REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF THE ACT 

If a person or member of the media believes a violation of open meeting laws has occurred or is about 
to occur, he or she may wish to contact the local body, the attorney for that body, a superior agency 
or the district attorney. If such contacts are not successful in resolving the concerns, the complainant 
may wish to consider one of the remedies or penalties provided by the Legislature to combat violations 
of the Act.  These include criminal penalties, civil injunctive relief and the award of attorney’s fees. 
In addition, with certain statutory exceptions, actions taken in violation of the Brown Act may be 
declared null and void by a court. 

1. 	Criminal Penalties 

The Act provides criminal misdemeanor penalties for certain violations.  Specifically, the Act 
punishes attendance by a member of a body at a meeting where action is taken in violation of 
the Act, and where the member intends to deprive the public of information to which the 
member knows or has reason to know the public is entitled.  (§ 54959.)  The term “action 
taken” as defined by section 54952.6 includes a collective decision, commitment or promise 
by a majority of the members of a body.  The fact that the decision is tentative rather than final 
does not shield participants from criminal liability; whether “action”within the meaning of the 
statute was taken would be a factual question in each case.  (61 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 283, 292-
293 (1978).) Mere deliberation without the taking of some action will not trigger a criminal 
penalty. 

2.	 Civil Remedies 

A.	 Injunctive, Mandatory or Declaratory Relief 

The Act provides two distinct types of civil remedies: 

(1)	 Injunction, mandamus or declaratory relief to prevent or stop violations or 
threatened violations. (§ 54960.) 

(2)	 Action to void past acts of the body.  (§ 54960.1.) 

44
 



   

These remedies are discussed in turn below. 

The district attorney or any interested person also may seek injunctive, mandatory or 
declaratory relief in a superior court. (§ 54960.)  An “interested person” may include, 
in addition to the public, a public entity or its officers.  Unlike the criminal remedy, 
these civil remedies do not require that the body take action or that the members act 
with a specific intent to deprive the public of information to which the members know 
that the public is entitled. 

In granting complainants the power to seek injunctive, mandatory or declaratory relief, 
the Legislature indicated on the face of the statute that such remedies were available 
to stop or prevent violations of the Act. (§ 54960.) This point was reiterated by the 
California Supreme Court in the case of Regents of the University of California v. 
Superior Court (1999) 20 Cal.4th 509, 522, where it concluded that these remedies 
were not available to redress the past actions of a body.  However, with respect to state 
agencies, the Legislature quickly acted to supersede this interpretation.  (See § 11130.) 

A body may not always announce its intended action so as to give rise to an action for 
injunctive, mandatory or declaratory relief.  Under these circumstances, the plaintiff 
may seek to support its case by demonstrating that a pattern of past conduct indicates 
the existence of present or future violations. (Shapiro v. San Diego City Council 
(2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 904; Duval v. Board of Trustees (2001) 93 Cal.App.4th 902, 
906.) Alternatively, the body may seek to demonstrate that there is a current 
controversy that is evidenced by past practices of the body, and the body has not 
renunciated such practices. (CAUSE v. City of San Diego (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 1024, 
1029.) The court indicated that since the city would not admit to a violation it was 
likely that the current practices would continue. The court in Common Cause v. 
Stirling (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 518, 524, concluded that courts may presume that a 
municipality will continue similar practices in light of the city attorney’s refusal to 
admit the violation. 

Where a legislative body has committed a violation of the Act concerning the conduct 
of closed sessions subject to the Act, a court may order the body to tape record future 
closed sessions pursuant to the procedures set forth in section 54960(b). 

B. Voidability of Action 

Either interested persons or the district attorney may seek to have actions taken in 
violation of the Act declared null and void by a court. (§ 54960.1.) In Boyle v. City 
of Redondo Beach (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1109, 1118, the court ruled that merely 
conferring with and giving direction to staff, where no vote was taken and no decision 
made, did not constitute action that could be adjudged null and void. 

45
 



 

 

The Act specifically provides that before a suit can be initiated, the complainant must 
make within 90 days a written demand to the board to cure or correct the violation, 
unless the action was taken in an open session but in violation of section 54954.2 
(agenda requirements), in which case the written demand shall be made within 30 days 
from the date the action was taken.  (§ 54960.1(c)(1); County of Del Norte v. City of 
Crescent City (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 965, 978; Bell v. Vista Unified School Dist. 
(2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 672, 684.) The Act further provides that if the board refuses or 
fails to cure or correct a violation of sections 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956 
or 54956.5 within 30 days from receipt of the written demand, the complainant may file 
a suit to have the action adjudged null and void.  (§ 54960.1(c)(3).) Suits under this 
section must be brought within 15 days after receipt of the body’s decision to cure or 
correct, or not to cure or correct; or 15 days after the expiration of the 30-day period 
for the body to cure or correct -- whichever is earlier.  (§ 54960.1(c)(4); see Boyle v. 
City of Redondo Beach (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1109, 1117, fn. 5.)  Once an action is 
challenged, a body nevertheless may cure or correct that action without prejudice and, 
where a lawsuit has been filed, may have the suit dismissed.  (§ 54960.1(e); see Boyle 
v. City of Redondo Beach (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1109; Bell v. Vista Unified School 
Dist. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 672, 685.)  Since a violation may be cured or corrected 
after a lawsuit has been filed, the plaintiff need not wait for an answer to its demand 
that a body cure or correct an action before filing suit.  (See Bell v. Vista Unified 
School Dist. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 672 [where the demand and the lawsuit were filed 
on the same day].) 

Exemptions are provided in connection with decisions involving bonds, taxes and 
contracts on which there has been detrimental reliance.  (§ 54960.1(d).) Also, actions 
“in substantial compliance” with the requirements of the Brown Act are exempt.  (§ 
54960.1(d)(1); see County of Del Norte v. City of Crescent City (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 
965, 978-979.) Persons having actual notice of matters to be considered at a meeting, 
within statutorily prescribed time periods in advance of a meeting, are barred from 
suing to have an action declared null and void. (§ 54960.1(d)(5).) 

In a case concerning a similar provision of the open meeting law governing state 
agencies, the California Supreme Court found that the time deadlines for notification 
and initiation of a legal action could not be extended, even if the defendant fraudulently 
concealed violations of the open meeting law.  The Court concluded that the time 
deadlines were intended to balance two conflicting policies: the desire to permit 
nullification of an agency’s decisions on the one hand, and the need not to imperil the 
finality of agency decisions, on the other.  Extension of the time deadlines would 
disturb this balance. (Regents of the University of California v. Superior Court (1999) 
20 Cal.4th 509, 527.) 

For a summary of the foregoing time deadlines for filing a suit to void an action 
taken by a body see Appendix A. 

46
 



 

C. Attorney Fees 

The Act provides for the award of attorney fees. (§ 54960.5.) 

The Act provides that a plaintiff may receive attorney fees, but the award is against the 
agency, not the individual member or members who violated the Act.  The defendant 
agency also may receive attorney fees when it prevails in a final determination and 
when the proceeding against the agency is frivolous and without merit.  (Sutter Sensible 
Planning, Inc. v. Board of Supervisors (1981) 122 Cal.App.3d 813, 825-826; Frazer 
v. Dixon Unified School Dist. (1993) 18 Cal.App.4th 781, 800.) 

The provision authorizing the award of attorney fees and court costs applies to both 
trial court and appellate court litigation. (Boyle v. City of Redondo Beach (1999) 70 
Cal.App.4th 1109, 1121-1122; International Longshoremen’s & Warehousemen’s 
Union v. Los Angeles Expert Terminal, Inc. (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 287, 302-304.) 
However, the award of fees is in the nature of a sanction and therefore, due process 
must be observed in the making of the award.  Accordingly, the court must make 
written findings in order for a reviewing court to determine whether the awarding court 
properly exercised its discretion.  (Boyle v. City of Redondo Beach (1999) 70 
Cal.App.4th 1109.) 

In Common Cause v. Stirling (1981) 119 Cal.App.3d 658, the trial court measured the 
petition for attorney fees under section 54960.5 against the standards established in 
Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5, regarding the enforcement of an important 
right affecting the public interest. 

Since the trial court concluded that attorney fees would not have been justified under 
section 1021.5, it refused to grant an award under the Act. The appellate court 
reversed, stating that even though recoveries would be small under normal principles, 
the damage was to the public integrity and, therefore, the Legislature had determined 
that public funds should be made available to pay for attorney fees to enforce these 
laws. Factors which should be considered in determining whether an award of attorney 
fees would be “unjust” and, therefore, should not be made, include the effect of such 
an award on settlement, the necessity for the lawsuit, the lack of injury to the public, 
the likelihood that the problem would have been solved by other means, and the 
likelihood that the problem would reoccur in the absence of the lawsuit. 

The case was remanded to the trial court which still concluded that the plaintiff was not 
entitled to attorney fees.  The matter once again was appealed, and the appellate court 
reversed the trial court a second time.  (Common Cause v. Stirling (1983) 147 
Cal.App.3d 518.) The court held that the plaintiff was entitled to attorney fees because 
it had established a legal principle on behalf of the public. 

47
 



In International Longshoremen’s & Warehousemen’s Union v. Los Angeles Expert 
Terminal, Inc. (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 287, 302, the court upheld an award of attorney 
fees because without the suit, violations of the Brown Act would have been ongoing. 
There, a for profit corporation claimed that it was not subject to the Brown Act. 
Plaintiffs demonstrated that the Act was applicable because the entity was created by 
a city council in order to exercise delegated governmental authority. 

The award of fees may reflect market rates even though the prevailing party’s attorney 
fees were lower. (International Longshoremen’s & Warehousemen’s Union v. Los 
Angeles Expert Terminal, Inc. (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 287, 303.) 

48
 



 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A
 

TIME DEADLINES 

FOR FILING A SUIT TO VOID AN ACTION TAKEN BY A BODY 

An action is taken that a district attorney or interested person believes is in violation 
of: 

•	 general open meeting requirement (§ 54953) 
•	 agenda requirements for regular meetings (§ 54954.2) 
•	 safe harbor notice provisions for closed sessions (§ 54954.5) 
•	 procedures for new taxes and assessments (§ 54954.6) 
•	 requirements for special meetings (§ 54956) 
• requirements for emergency meetings (§ 54956.5)
 

Complainant must make written demand to the body to cure or correct within:
 

A.	 30 days of the action if it were in open session, but in violation of 
agenda requirements. 

B. 90 days of the action in all other situations. 

Once the body receives demand, it has 30 days to cure or correct the violation. 

If the body fails to cure or correct within this 30-day period, interested person may file 
suit to void the action.
 

The action must be filed within 15 days of:
 

A. 	 Receipt of decision to cure or correct or refusal to do so. 

B. 	 End of 30-day period to cure or correct. 

49
 



APPENDIX B
 

THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT 

CONTENTS 

§ 54950. Policy declaration 
§ 54950.5. Title 
§ 54951. Definition of local agency 
§ 54952. Definition of legislative body 
§ 54952.1. Definition of member of a legislative body 
§ 54952.2. Definition of meeting 
§ 54952.6. Definition of action taken 
§ 54952.7. Copies of Act; Distribution 
§ 54953. Open meetings required; Teleconferencing; Secret ballots 
§ 54953.1. Grand jury testimony by members 
§ 54953.3. Conditions to attendance at meetings 
§ 54953.2. Meeting; Disability rights 
§ 54953.5. Recording meetings 
§ 54953.6. Broadcasting meetings 
§ 54953.7. Greater access to meetings permitted 
§ 54954. Notice of regular meetings; Boundary restrictions for all meetings 
§ 54954.1. Agenda information provided by mail; Fee 
§ 54954.2. Agenda requirements; Regular meetings 
§ 54954.3. Public’s right to testify at meetings 
§ 54954.4. Reimbursement of costs 
§ 54954.5. Safe harbor agenda for closed sessions 
§ 54954.6. New taxes and/or assessments; Procedural requirements 
§ 54955. Adjournment 
§ 54955.1. Continuance 
§ 54956. Special meetings 
§ 54956.5. Emergency meetings 
§ 54956.6. Fees 
§ 54956.7. Closed session; License application of rehabilitated criminal 
§ 54956.8. Closed session; Real Property negotiations 
§ 54956.86. Closed session; Health claims 
§ 54956.87. Record exempt; Closed session; County health plan 
§ 54956.9. Closed session; Pending litigation 
§ 54956.95. Closed session; Insurance liability 
§ 54957. Closed session; Personnel and threat to public security 
§ 54957.1. Report at conclusion of closed session 
§ 54957.2. Minutes of closed session 
§ 54957.5. Agendas and other materials; Public records 

50
 



 

§ 54957.6. Closed session; Labor negotiations 
§ 54957.7. Announcement prior to closed sessions 
§ 54957.8. Closed session; Multijurisdictional drug enforcement agency 
§ 54957.9. Disruption of meeting 
§ 54957.10. Closed session; Deferred Compensation Plan; Early withdrawal 
§ 54958. Act supercedes conflicting laws 
§ 54959. Violation of Act; Criminal penalty 
§ 54960. Violation of Act; Civil remedies 
§ 54960.1. Violation of Act; Actions declared null and void 
§ 54960.5. Costs and attorney fees 
§ 54961. Discrimination; Disabled access; Fees for attendance; 

Disclosure of victims 
§ 54962. Closed session; Express authorization required 
§ 54963. Closed session; Disclosure of confidential information 

THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT 

54950. Policy declaration 

In enacting this chapter, the Legislature finds and declares that the public commissions, boards 
and councils and the other public agencies in this State exist to aid in the conduct of the people’s 
business. It is the intent of the law that their actions be taken openly and that their deliberations be 
conducted openly. 

The people of this State do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies which serve them.  The 
people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for 
the people to know and what is not good for them to know.  The people insist on remaining informed 
so that they may retain control over the instruments they have created. 

54950.5. Title 

This chapter shall be known as the Ralph M. Brown Act. 

54951. Definition of local agency 

As used in this chapter, “local agency” means a county, city, whether general law or chartered, 
city and county, town, school district, municipal corporation, district, political subdivision, or any 
board, commission or agency thereof, or other local public agency. 

51
 



54952. Definition of legislative body 

As used in this chapter, “legislative body” means: 

(a) The governing body of a local agency or any other local body created by state or federal 
statute. 

(b) A commission, committee, board, or other body of a local agency, whether permanent 
or temporary, decisionmaking or advisory, created by charter, ordinance, resolution, or formal action 
of a legislative body. However, advisory committees, composed solely of the members of the 
legislative body that are less than a quorum of the legislative body are not legislative bodies, except 
that standing committees of a legislative body, irrespective of their composition, which have a 
continuing subject matter jurisdiction, or a meeting schedule fixed by charter, ordinance, resolution, 
or formal action of a legislative body are legislative bodies for purposes of this chapter. 

(c) (1) A board, commission, committee, or other multimember body that governs a 
private corporation, limited liability company, or other entity that either: 

(A) Is created by the elected legislative body in order to exercise authority 
that may lawfully be delegated by the elected governing body to a private corporation, limited liability 
company, or other entity. 

(B) Receives funds from a local agency and the membership of whose 
governing body includes a member of the legislative body of the local agency appointed to that 
governing body as a full voting member by the legislative body of the local agency. 

(2) Notwithstanding subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1), no board, commission, 
committee, or other multimember body that governs a private corporation, limited liability company, 
or other entity that receives funds from a local agency and, as of February 9, 1996, has a member of 
the legislative body of the local agency as a full voting member of the governing body of that private 
corporation, limited liability company, or other entity shall be relieved from the public meeting 
requirements of this chapter by virtue of a change in status of the full voting member to a nonvoting 
member. 

(d) The lessee of any hospital the whole or part of which is first leased pursuant to 
subdivision (p) of Section 32121 of the Health and Safety Code after January 1, 1994, where the lessee 
exercises any material authority of a legislative body of a local agency delegated to it by that legislative 
body whether the lessee is organized and operated by the local agency or by a delegated authority. 

52
 



54952.1. Definition of member of a legislative body 

Any person elected to serve as a member of a legislative body who has not yet assumed the 
duties of office shall conform his or her conduct to the requirements of this chapter and shall be treated 
for purposes of enforcement of this chapter as if he or she has already assumed office. 

54952.2. Definition of meeting 

(a) As used in this chapter, “meeting” includes any congregation of a majority of the 
members of a legislative body at the same time and place to hear, discuss, or deliberate upon any item 
that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body or the local agency to which it 
pertains. 

(b) Except as authorized pursuant to Section 54953, any use of direct communication, 
personal intermediaries, or technological devices that is employed by a majority of the members of the 
legislative body to develop a collective concurrence as to action to be taken on an item by the members 
of the legislative body is prohibited. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall impose the requirements of this chapter upon any of the 
following: 

(1) Individual contacts or conversations between a member of a legislative body 
and any other person. 

(2) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a 
conference or similar gathering open to the public that involves a discussion of issues of general 
interest to the public or to public agencies of the type represented by the legislative body, provided that 
a majority of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled 
program, business of a specified nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the local agency. 
Nothing in this paragraph is intended to allow members of the public free admission to a conference 
or similar gathering at which the organizers have required other participants or registrants to pay fees 
or charges as a condition of attendance. 

(3) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 
and publicized meeting organized to address a topic of local community concern by a person or 
organization other than the local agency, provided that a majority of the members do not discuss 
among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled program, business of a specific nature that is 
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(4) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 
and noticed meeting of another body of the local agency, or at an open and noticed meeting of a 
legislative body of another local agency, provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among 

53
 



themselves, other than as part of the scheduled meeting, business of a specific nature that is within the 
subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(5) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a purely 
social or ceremonial occasion, provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among 
themselves business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative 
body of the local agency. 

(6)   The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 
and noticed meeting of a standing committee of that body, provided that the members of the legislative 
body who are not members of the standing committee attend only as observers. 

54952.6. Definition of action taken 

As used in this chapter, “action taken” means a collective decision made by a majority of the 
members of a legislative body, a collective commitment or promise by a majority of the members of 
a legislative body to make a positive or a negative decision, or an actual vote by a majority of the 
members of a legislative body when sitting as a body or entity, upon a motion, proposal, resolution, 
order or ordinance. 

54952.7. Copies of Act; Distribution 

A legislative body of a local agency may require that a copy of this chapter be given to each 
member of the legislative body and any person elected to serve as a member of the legislative body 
who has not assumed the duties of office.  An elected legislative body of a local agency may require 
that a copy of this chapter be given to each member of each legislative body all or a majority of whose 
members are appointed by or under the authority of the elected legislative body. 

54953. Open meetings required; Teleconferencing; Secret ballots 

(a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all 
persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as 
otherwise provided in this chapter. 

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local 
agency may use teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency 
in connection with any meeting or proceeding authorized by law.  The teleconferenced meeting or 
proceeding shall comply with all requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions 
of law relating to a specific type of meeting or proceeding. 

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes 
in connection with any meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body.  All votes 
taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall. 

54
 



(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall 
post agendas at all teleconference locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that 
protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the 
legislative body of a local agency. Each teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and 
agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. 
During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall participate 
from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction. 
The agenda shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body 
directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 at each teleconference location. 

(4) For the purposes of this section, “teleconference” means a meeting of a 
legislative body, the members of which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, 
through either audio or video, or both. Nothing in this section shall prohibit a local agency from 
providing the public with additional teleconference locations. 

(c) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final. 

54953.2. Meeting; Disability rights 

All meetings of a legislative body of a local agency that are open and public shall meet the 
protections and prohibitions contained in Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
(42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. 

54953.1. Grand jury testimony by members 

The provisions of this chapter shall not be construed to prohibit the members of the legislative 
body of a local agency from giving testimony in private before a grand jury, either as individuals or 
as a body. 

54953.3. Conditions to attendance at meetings 

A member of the public shall not be required, as a condition to attendance at a meeting of a 
legislative body of a local agency, to register his or her name, to provide other information, to complete 
a questionnaire, or otherwise to fulfill any condition precedent to his or her attendance. 

If an attendance list, register, questionnaire, or other similar document is posted at or near the 
entrance to the room where the meeting is to be held, or is circulated to the persons present during the 
meeting, it shall state clearly that the signing, registering, or completion of the document is voluntary, 
and that all persons may attend the meeting regardless of whether a person signs, registers, or 
completes the document. 

55
 



54953.5. Recording meetings 

(a) Any person attending an open and public meeting of a legislative body of a local agency 
shall have the right to record the proceedings with an audio or video tape recorder or a still or motion 
picture camera in the absence of a reasonable finding by the legislative body of the local agency that 
the recording cannot continue without noise, illumination, or obstruction of view that constitutes, or 
would constitute, a persistent disruption of the proceedings. 

(b) Any tape or film record of an open and public meeting made for whatever purpose by 
or at the direction of the local agency shall be subject to inspection pursuant to the California Public 
Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1), but, 
notwithstanding Section 34090, may be erased or destroyed 30 days after the taping or recording.  Any 
inspection of a video or tape recording shall be provided without charge on a video or tape player made 
available by the local agency. 

54953.6. Broadcasting meetings 

No legislative body of a local agency shall prohibit or otherwise restrict the broadcast of its 
open and public meetings in the absence of a reasonable finding that the broadcast cannot be 
accomplished without noise, illumination, or obstruction of view that would constitute a persistent 
disruption of the proceedings. 

54953.7. Greater access to meetings permitted 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, legislative bodies of local agencies may impose 
requirements upon themselves which allow greater access to their meetings than prescribed by the 
minimal standards set forth in this chapter.  In addition thereto, an elected legislative body of a local 
agency may impose such requirements on those appointed legislative bodies of the local agency of 
which all or a majority of the members are appointed by or under the authority of the elected legislative 
body. 

54954. Notice of regular meetings; Boundary restrictions for all meetings 

(a) Each legislative body of a local agency, except for advisory committees or standing 
committees, shall provide, by ordinance, resolution, bylaws, or by whatever other rule is required for 
the conduct of business by that body, the time and place for holding regular meetings.  Meetings of 
advisory committees or standing committees, for which an agenda is posted at least 72 hours in 
advance of the meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54954.2, shall be considered for 
purposes of this chapter as regular meetings of the legislative body. 

(b) Regular and special meetings of the legislative body shall be held within the boundaries 
of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except to do any of the following: 

56
 



(1) Comply with state or federal law or court order, or attend a judicial or 
administrative proceeding to which the local agency is a party. 

(2) Inspect real or personal property which cannot be conveniently brought within 
the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction provided that the topic 
of the meeting is limited to items directly related to the real or personal property. 

(3) Participate in meetings or discussions of multiagency significance that are 
outside the boundaries of a local agency’s jurisdiction.  However, any meeting or discussion held 
pursuant to this subdivision shall take place within the jurisdiction of one of the participating local 
agencies and be noticed by all participating agencies as provided for in this chapter. 

(4) Meet in the closest meeting facility if the local agency has no meeting facility 
within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, or at the 
principal office of the local agency if that office is located outside the territory over which the agency 
exercises jurisdiction. 

(5) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction with elected or appointed officials of 
the United States or the State of California when a local meeting would be impractical, solely to 
discuss a legislative or regulatory issue affecting the local agency and over which the federal or state 
officials have jurisdiction. 

(6) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction if the meeting takes place in or nearby 
a facility owned by the agency, provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to items directly 
related to the facility. 

(7) Visit the office of the local agency’s legal counsel for a closed session on 
pending litigation held pursuant to Section 54956.9, when to do so would reduce legal fees or costs. 

(c) Meetings of the governing board of a school district shall be held within the district 
except under the circumstances enumerated in subdivision (b), or to do any of the following: 

(1) Attend a conference on nonadversarial collective bargaining techniques. 

(2) Interview members of the public residing in another district with reference to 
the trustees’ potential employment of the superintendent of that district. 

(3) Interview a potential employee from another district. 

(d) Meetings of a joint powers authority shall occur within the territory of at least one of 
its member agencies, or as provided in subdivision (b).  However, a joint powers authority which has 
members throughout the state may meet at any facility in the state which complies with the 
requirements of Section 54961. 

57
 



(e) If, by reason of fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency, it shall be unsafe to meet 
in the place designated, the meetings shall be held for the duration of the emergency at the place 
designated by the presiding officer of the legislative body or his or her designee in a notice to the local 
media that have requested notice pursuant to Section 54956, by the most rapid means of 
communication available at the time. 

54954.1. Agenda information provided by mail; Fee 

Any person may request that a copy of the agenda, or a copy of all the documents constituting 
the agenda packet, of any meeting of a legislative body be mailed to that person. If requested, the 
agenda and documents in the agenda packet shall be made available in appropriate alternative formats 
to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
(42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. Upon 
receipt of the written request, the legislative body or its designee shall cause the requested materials 
to be mailed at the time the agenda is posted pursuant to Section 54954.2 and 54956 or upon 
distribution to all, or a majority of all, of the members of a legislative body, whichever occurs first. 
Any request for mailed copies of agendas or agenda packets shall be valid for the calendar year in 
which it is filed, and must be renewed following January 1 of each year. The legislative body may 
establish a fee for mailing the agenda or agenda packet, which fee shall not exceed the cost of 
providing the service. Failure of the requesting person to receive the agenda or agenda packet pursuant 
to this section shall not constitute grounds for invalidation of the actions of the legislative body taken 
at the meeting for which the agenda or agenda packet was not received. 

54954.2. Agenda requirements; Regular meetings 

(a) At least 72 hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body of the local agency, or 
its designee, shall post an agenda containing a brief general description of each item of business to be 
transacted or discussed at the meeting, including items to be discussed in closed session. A brief 
general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 words. The agenda shall specify the time 
and location of the regular meeting and shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to 
members of the public. If requested, the agenda shall be made available in appropriate alternative 
formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation 
thereof. The agenda shall include information regarding how, to whom, and when a request for 
disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services may be made 
by a person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation in order to participate in 
the public meeting. 

No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda, 
except that members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly respond to statements made or 
questions posed by persons exercising their public testimony rights under Section 54954.3. In addition, 
on their own initiative or in response to questions posed by the public, a member of a legislative body 
or its staff may ask a question for clarification, make a brief announcement, or make a brief report on 

58
 



his or her own activities. Furthermore, a member of a legislative body, or the body itself, subject to 
rules or procedures of the legislative body, may provide a reference to staff or other resources for 
factual information, request staff to report back to the body at a subsequent meeting concerning any 
matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business on a future agenda. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the legislative body may take action on items of 
business not appearing on the posted agenda under any of the conditions stated below. Prior to 
discussing any item pursuant to this subdivision, the legislative body shall publicly identify the item. 

(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the legislative body that an 
emergency situation exists, as defined in Section 54956.5. 

(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative 
body present at the meeting, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, a unanimous vote 
of those members present, that there is a need to take immediate action and that the need for action 
came to the attention of the local agency subsequent to the agenda being posted as specified in 
subdivision (a). 

(3) The item was posted pursuant to subdivision (a) for a prior meeting of the 
legislative body occurring not more than five calendar days prior to the date action is taken on the item, 
and at the prior meeting the item was continued to the meeting at which action is being taken. 

54954.3. Public’s right to testify at meetings 

(a) Every agenda for regular meetings shall provide an opportunity for members of the 
public to directly address the legislative body on any item of interest to the public, before or during 
the legislative body’s consideration of the item, that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body, provided that no action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda unless 
the action is otherwise authorized by subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2.  However, the agenda need 
not provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body on any item that 
has already been considered by a committee, composed exclusively of members of the legislative body, 
at a public meeting wherein all interested members of the public were afforded the opportunity to 
address the committee on the item, before or during the committee’s consideration of the item, unless 
the item has been substantially changed since the committee heard the item, as determined by the 
legislative body. Every notice for a special meeting shall provide an opportunity for members of the 
public to directly address the legislative body concerning any item that has been described in the notice 
for the meeting before or during consideration of that item. 

(b) The legislative body of a local agency may adopt reasonable regulations to ensure that 
the intent of subdivision (a) is carried out, including, but not limited to, regulations limiting the total 
amount of time allocated for public testimony on particular issues and for each individual speaker. 

59
 



 

(c) The legislative body of a local agency shall not prohibit public criticism of the policies, 
procedures, programs, or services of the agency, or of the acts or omissions of the legislative body. 
Nothing in this subdivision shall confer any privilege or protection for expression beyond that 
otherwise provided by law. 

54954.4. Reimbursement of costs 

(a) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that Section 12 of Chapter 641 of the Statutes 
of 1986, authorizing reimbursement to local agencies and school districts for costs mandated by the 
state pursuant to that act, shall be interpreted strictly.  The intent of the Legislature is to provide 
reimbursement for only those costs which are clearly and unequivocally incurred as the direct and 
necessary result of compliance with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986. 

(b) In this regard, the Legislature directs all state employees and officials involved in 
reviewing or authorizing claims for reimbursement, or otherwise participating in the reimbursement 
process, to rigorously review each claim and authorize only those claims, or parts thereof, which 
represent costs which are clearly and unequivocally incurred as the direct and necessary result of 
compliance with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 and for which complete documentation exists. 
For purposes of Section 54954.2, costs eligible for reimbursement shall only include the actual cost 
to post a single agenda for any one meeting. 

(c) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that complete, faithful, and uninterrupted 
compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act (Chapter 9 (commencing with Section 54950) of Part 1 of 
Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code) is a matter of overriding public importance.  Unless 
specifically stated, no future Budget Act, or related budget enactments, shall, in any manner, be 
interpreted to suspend, eliminate, or otherwise modify the legal obligation and duty of local agencies 
to fully comply with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 in a complete, faithful, and uninterrupted 
manner. 

54954.5. Safe harbor agenda for closed sessions 

For purposes of describing closed session items pursuant to Section 54954.2, the agenda may 
describe closed sessions as provided below. No legislative body or elected official shall be in violation 
of Section 54954.2 or 54956 if the closed session items were described in substantial compliance with 
this section. Substantial compliance is satisfied by including the information provided below, 
irrespective of its format. 

(a) With respect to a closed session held pursuant to Section 54956.7: 

LICENSE/PERMIT DETERMINATION 

Applicant(s): (Specify number of applicants) 

60
 



(b) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54956.8: 

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property: (Specify street address, or if no street address, the parcel number or 
other unique reference, of the real property under negotiation) 

Agency negotiator: (Specify names of negotiators attending the closed session) 
(If circumstances necessitate the absence of a specified negotiator, an agent or 
designee may participate in place of the absent negotiator so long as the name 
of the agent or designee is announced at an open session held prior to the closed 
session.) 

Negotiating parties: (Specify name of party (not agent)) 

Under negotiation: (Specify whether instruction to negotiator will concern 
price, terms of payment, or both) 

(c) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54956.9: 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL--EXISTING LITIGATION 
(Subdivision (a) of Section 54956.9) 

Name of case: (Specify by reference to claimant's name, names of parties, case 
or claim numbers) 

or 

Case name unspecified: (Specify whether disclosure would jeopardize service 
of process or existing settlement negotiations) 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL--ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 
54956.9: (Specify number of potential cases) 

(In addition to the information noticed above, the agency may be required to 
provide additional information on the agenda or in an oral statement prior to the 
closed session pursuant to subparagraphs (B) to (E), inclusive, of paragraph (3) 
of subdivision (b) of Section 54956.9.) 

61
 



Initiation of litigation pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 54956.9: (Specify 
number of potential cases) 

(d) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54956.95: 

LIABILITY CLAIMS 

Claimant: (Specify name unless unspecified pursuant to Section 54961) 

Agency claimed against: (Specify name) 

(e) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54957: 

THREAT TO PUBLIC SERVICES OR FACILITIES 

Consultation with: (Specify name of law enforcement agency and title of 
officer, or name of applicable agency representative and title) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT 

Title: (Specify description of position to be filled) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT 

Title: (Specify description of position to be filled) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

Title: (Specify position title of employee being reviewed) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 
consider discipline, dismissal, or release of a public employee. Discipline 
includes potential reduction of compensation.) 

(f) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54957.6: 

62
 



 

 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency designated representatives: (Specify names of designated 
representatives attending the closed session) (If circumstances necessitate the 
absence of a specified designated representative, an agent or designee may 
participate in place of the absent representative so long as the name of the agent 
or designee is announced at an open session held prior to the closed session.) 

Employee organization: (Specify name of organization representing employee 
or employees in question) 

or 

Unrepresented employee: (Specify position title of unrepresented employee 
who is the subject of the negotiations) 

(g)	 With respect to closed sessions called pursuant to Section 54957.8:
 

CASE REVIEW/PLANNING
 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 
consider case review or planning.) 

(h) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Sections 1461, 32106, and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code or Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the 
Government Code: 

REPORT INVOLVING TRADE SECRET 

Discussion will concern: (Specify whether discussion will concern proposed 
new service, program, or facility) 

Estimated date of public disclosure: (Specify month and year) 

HEARINGS 

Subject matter: (Specify whether testimony/deliberation will concern staff 
privileges, report of medical audit committee, or report of quality assurance 
committee) 

(i) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54956.86: 

63
 



CHARGE OR COMPLAINT INVOLVING INFORMATION PROTECTED BY 
FEDERAL LAW 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 
discuss a charge or complaint pursuant to Section 54956.86.) 

54954.6. New taxes and/or assessments; Procedural requirements 

(a) (1) Before adopting any new or increased general tax or any new or increased 
assessment, the legislative body of a local agency shall conduct at least one public meeting at which 
local officials shall allow public testimony regarding the proposed new or increased general tax or new 
or increased assessment in addition to the noticed public hearing at which the legislative body proposes 
to enact or increase the general tax or assessment. 

For purposes of this section, the term “new or increased assessment” does not include any of 
the following: 

(A) A fee that does not exceed the reasonable cost of providing the services, 
facilities, or regulatory activity for which the fee is charged. 

(B) A service charge, rate, or charge, unless a special district’s principal act 
requires the service charge, rate, or charge to conform to the requirements of this section. 

(C) An ongoing annual assessment if it is imposed at the same or lower 
amount as any previous year. 

(D) An assessment that does not exceed an assessment formula or range of 
assessments previously specified in the notice given to the public pursuant to subparagraph (G) of 
paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) and that was previously adopted by the agency or approved by the 
voters in the area where the assessment is imposed. 

(E) Standby or immediate availability charges. 

(2) The legislative body shall provide at least 45 days’ public notice of the public 
hearing at which the legislative body proposes to enact or increase the general tax or assessment.  The 
legislative body shall provide notice for the public meeting at the same time and in the same document 
as the notice for the public hearing, but the meeting shall occur prior to the hearing. 

(b) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required by 
subdivision (a) with respect to a proposal for a new or increased general tax shall be accomplished by 
placing a display advertisement of at least one-eighth page in a newspaper of general circulation for 
three weeks pursuant to Section 6063 and by a first-class mailing to those interested parties who have 
filed a written request with the local agency for mailed notice of public meetings or hearings on new 

64
 



 

or increased general taxes. The public meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier 
than 10 days after the first publication of the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision.  The public 
hearing shall take place no earlier than seven days after the public meeting pursuant to this subdivision. 
Notwithstanding paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), the joint notice need not include notice of the public 
meeting after the meeting has taken place.  The public hearing pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take 
place no earlier than 45 days after the first publication of the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision. 
Any written request for mailed notices shall be effective for one year from the date on which it is filed 
unless a renewal request is filed. Renewal requests for mailed notices shall be filed on or before April 
1 of each year.  The legislative body may establish a reasonable annual charge for sending notices 
based on the estimated cost of providing the service. 

(2) The notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, but not 
be limited to, the following: 

(A) The amount or rate of the tax.  If the tax is proposed to be increased from 
any previous year, the joint notice shall separately state both the existing tax rate and the proposed tax 
rate increase. 

(B) The activity to be taxed. 

(C) The estimated amount of revenue to be raised by the tax annually. 

(D) The method and frequency for collecting the tax. 

(E) The dates, times, and locations of the public meeting and hearing 
described in subdivision (a). 

(F) The phone number and address of an individual, office, or organization 
that interested persons may contact to receive additional information about the tax. 

(c) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required by 
subdivision (a) with respect to a proposal for a new or increased assessment on real property shall be 
accomplished through a mailing, postage prepaid, in the United States mail and shall be deemed given 
when so deposited. The public meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 10 
days after the joint mailing pursuant to this subdivision.  The public hearing shall take place no earlier 
than seven days after the public meeting pursuant to this subdivision.  The envelope or the cover of 
the mailing shall include the name of the local agency and the return address of the sender.  This 
mailed notice shall be in at least 10-point type and shall be given to all property owners proposed to 
be subject to the new or increased assessment by a mailing by name to those persons whose names and 
addresses appear on the last equalized county assessment roll or the State Board of Equalization 
assessment roll, as the case may be. 

65
 



(2) The joint notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, but 
not be limited to, the following: 

(A) The estimated amount of the assessment per parcel.  If the assessment 
is proposed to be increased from any previous year, the joint notice shall separately state both the 
amount of the existing assessment and the proposed assessment increase. 

(B) A general description of the purpose or improvements that the 
assessment will fund. 

(C) The address to which property owners may mail a protest against the 
assessment. 

(D) The phone number and address of an individual, office, or organization 
that interested persons may contact to receive additional information about the assessment. 

(E) A statement that a majority protest will cause the assessment to be 
abandoned if the assessment act used to levy the assessment so provides.  Notice shall also state the 
percentage of protests required to trigger an election, if applicable. 

(F) The dates, times, and locations of the public meeting and hearing 
described in subdivision (a). 

(G) A proposed assessment formula or range as described in subparagraph 
(D) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) if applicable and that is noticed pursuant to this section. 

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment that is proposed 
exclusively for operation and maintenance expenses imposed throughout the entire local agency, or 
exclusively for operation and maintenance assessments proposed to be levied on 50,000 parcels or 
more, notice may be provided pursuant to this subdivision or pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision 
(b) and shall include the estimated amount of the assessment of various types, amounts, or uses of 
property and the information required by subparagraphs (B) to (G), inclusive, of paragraph (2) of 
subdivision (c). 

(4) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment proposed to be 
levied pursuant to Part 2 (commencing with Section 22500) of Division 2 of the Streets and Highways 
Code by a regional park district, regional park and open-space district, or regional open-space district 
formed pursuant to Article 3 (commencing with Section 5500) of Chapter 3 of Division 5 of, or 
pursuant to Division 26 (commencing with Section 35100) of, the Public Resources Code, notice may 
be provided pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 

66
 



 

(d) The notice requirements imposed by this section shall be construed as additional to, and 
not to supersede, existing provisions of law, and shall be applied concurrently with the existing 
provisions so as to not delay or prolong the governmental decisionmaking process. 

(e) This section shall not apply to any new or increased general tax or any new or increased 
assessment that requires an election of either of the following: 

(1) The property owners subject to the assessment. 

(2) The voters within the local agency imposing the tax or assessment. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a local agency from holding a consolidated 
meeting or hearing at which the legislative body discusses multiple tax or assessment proposals. 

(g) The local agency may recover the reasonable costs of public meetings, public hearings, 
and notice required by this section from the proceeds of the tax or assessment.  The costs recovered 
for these purposes, whether recovered pursuant to this subdivision or any other provision of law, shall 
not exceed the reasonable costs of the public meetings, public hearings, and notice. 

(h) Any new or increased assessment that is subject to the notice and hearing provisions 
of Article XIIIC or XIIID of the California Constitution is not subject to the notice and hearing 
requirements of this section. 

54955. Adjournment 

The legislative body of a local agency may adjourn any regular, adjourned regular, special or 
adjourned special meeting to a time and place specified in the order of adjournment.  Less than a 
quorum may so adjourn from time to time.  If all members are absent from any regular or adjourned 
regular meeting the clerk or secretary of the legislative body may declare the meeting adjourned to a 
stated time and place and he shall cause a written notice of the adjournment to be given in the same 
manner as provided in Section 54956 for special meetings, unless such notice is waived as provided 
for special meetings.  A copy of the order or notice of adjournment shall be conspicuously posted on 
or near the door of the place where the regular, adjourned regular, special or adjourned special meeting 
was held within 24 hours after the time of the adjournment.  When a regular or adjourned regular 
meeting is adjourned as provided in this section, the resulting adjourned regular meeting is a regular 
meeting for all purposes.  When an order of adjournment of any meeting fails to state the hour at which 
the adjourned meeting is to be held, it shall be held at the hour specified for regular meetings by 
ordinance, resolution, bylaw, or other rule. 

54955.1. Continuance 

Any hearing being held, or noticed or ordered to be held, by a legislative body of a local agency 
at any meeting may by order or notice of continuance be continued or recontinued to any subsequent 

67
 



meeting of the legislative body in the same manner and to the same extent set forth in Section 54955 
for the adjournment of meetings; provided, that if the hearing is continued to a time less than 24 hours 
after the time specified in the order or notice of hearing, a copy of the order or notice of continuance 
of hearing shall be posted immediately following the meeting at which the order or declaration of 
continuance was adopted or made. 

54956. Special meetings 

A special meeting may be called at any time by the presiding officer of the legislative body of 
a local agency, or by a majority of the members of the legislative body, by delivering written notice 
to each member of the legislative body and to each local newspaper of general circulation and radio 
or television station requesting notice in writing. The notice shall be delivered personally or by any 
other means and shall be received at least 24 hours before the time of the meeting as specified in the 
notice. The call and notice shall specify the time and place of the special meeting and the business to 
be transacted or discussed. No other business shall be considered at these meetings by the legislative 
body. The written notice may be dispensed with as to any member who at or prior to the time the 
meeting convenes files with the clerk or secretary of the legislative body a written waiver of notice. 
The waiver may be given by telegram.  The written notice may also be dispensed with as to any 
member who is actually present at the meeting at the time it convenes. 

The call and notice shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting in a location 
that is freely accessible to members of the public. 

54956.5. Emergency meetings 

(a) For purposes of this section, "emergency situation" means both of the following: 

(1) An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, crippling activity, 
or other activity that severely impairs public health, safety, or both, as determined by a majority of the 
members of the legislative body. 

(2) A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, mass 
destruction, terrorist act, or threatened terrorist activity that poses peril so immediate and significant 
that requiring a legislative body to provide one-hour notice before holding an emergency meeting 
under this section may endanger the public health, safety, or both, as determined by a majority of the 
members of the legislative body. 

(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), in the case of an emergency situation involving matters 
upon which prompt action is necessary due to the disruption or threatened disruption of public 
facilities, a legislative body may hold an emergency meeting without complying with either the 24-
hour notice requirement or the 24-hour posting requirement of Section 54956 or both of the notice and 
posting requirements. 

68
 



(2) Each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station that 
has requested notice of special meetings pursuant to Section 54956 shall be notified by the presiding 
officer of the legislative body, or designee thereof, one hour prior to the emergency meeting, or, in the 
case of a dire emergency, at or near the time that the presiding officer or designee notifies the members 
of the legislative body of the emergency meeting. This notice shall be given by telephone and all 
telephone numbers provided in the most recent request of a newspaper or station for notification of 
special meetings shall be exhausted. In the event that telephone services are not functioning, the notice 
requirements of this section shall be deemed waived, and the legislative body, or designee of the 
legislative body, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations, or television stations of the fact of the 
holding of the emergency meeting, the purpose of the meeting, and any action taken at the meeting as 
soon after the meeting as possible. 

(c) During a meeting held pursuant to this section, the legislative body may meet in closed 
session pursuant to Section 54957 if agreed to by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative 
body present, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, by a unanimous vote of the 
members present. 

(d) All special meeting requirements, as prescribed in Section 54956 shall be applicable 
to a meeting called pursuant to this section, with the exception of the 24-hour notice requirement. 

(e) The minutes of a meeting called pursuant to this section, a list of persons who the 
presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee of the legislative body, notified or attempted to 
notify, a copy of the rollcall vote, and any actions taken at the meeting shall be posted for a minimum 
of 10 days in a public place as soon after the meeting as possible. 

54956.6. Fees 

No fees may be charged by the legislative body of a local agency for carrying out any provision 
of this chapter, except as specifically authorized by this chapter. 

54956.7. Closed session; License application of rehabilitated criminal 

Whenever a legislative body of a local agency determines that it is necessary to discuss and 
determine whether an applicant for a license or license renewal, who has a criminal record, is 
sufficiently rehabilitated to obtain the license, the legislative body may hold a closed session with the 
applicant and the applicant’s attorney, if any, for the purpose of holding the discussion and making the 
determination.  If the legislative body determines, as a result of the closed session, that the issuance 
or renewal of the license should be denied, the applicant shall be offered the opportunity to withdraw 
the application. If the applicant withdraws the application, no record shall be kept of the discussions 
or decisions made at the closed session and all matters relating to the closed session shall be 
confidential. If the applicant does not withdraw the application, the legislative body shall take action 
at the public meeting during which the closed session is held or at its next public meeting denying the 
application for the license but all matters relating to the closed session are confidential and shall not 

69
 



be disclosed without the consent of the applicant, except in an action by an applicant who has been 
denied a license challenging the denial of the license. 

54956.8. Closed session; Real property negotiations 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local agency may 
hold a closed session with its negotiator prior to the purchase, sale, exchange, or lease of real property 
by or for the local agency to grant authority to its negotiator regarding the price and terms of payment 
for the purchase, sale, exchange, or lease. 

However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall hold an open 
and public session in which it identifies its negotiators, the real property or real properties which the 
negotiations may concern, and the person or persons with whom its negotiators may negotiate. 

For purposes of this section, negotiators may be members of the legislative body of the local 
agency. 

For purposes of this section, “lease” includes renewal or renegotiation of a lease. 

Nothing in this section shall preclude a local agency from holding a closed session for 
discussions regarding eminent domain proceedings pursuant to Section 54956.9. 

54956.86. Closed session; Health claims 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local agency which 
provides services pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code may hold a closed 
session to hear a charge or complaint from a member enrolled in its health plan if the member does 
not wish to have his or her name, medical status, or other information that is protected by federal law 
publicly disclosed. Prior to holding a closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative body shall 
inform the member, in writing, of his or her right to have the charge or complaint heard in an open 
session rather than a closed session. 

54956.87. Record exempt; Closed session; County health plan 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, the records of a health plan that 
is licensed pursuant to the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 (Chapter 2.2 
(commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code) and that is governed 
by a county board of supervisors, whether paper records, records maintained in the management 
information system, or records in any other form, that relate to provider rate or payment 
determinations, allocation or distribution methodologies for provider payments, formulae or 
calculations for these payments, and contract negotiations with providers of health care for alternative 
rates are exempt from disclosure for a period of three years after the contract is fully executed.  The 
transmission of the records, or the information contained therein in an alternative form, to the board 

70
 



of supervisors shall not constitute a waiver of exemption from disclosure, and the records and 
information once transmitted to the board of supervisors shall be subject to this same exemption. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a health plan that 
is licensed pursuant to the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 (Chapter 2.2 
(commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code) and that is governed 
by a county board of supervisors may order that a meeting held solely for the purpose of discussion 
or taking action on health plan trade secrets, as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 32106 of the 
Health and Safety Code, shall be held in closed session.  The requirements of making a public report 
of action taken in closed session, and the vote or abstention of every member present, may be limited 
to a brief general description without the information constituting the trade secret. 

(c) The governing board may delete the portion or portions containing trade secrets from 
any documents that were finally approved in the closed session held pursuant to subdivision (b) that 
are provided to persons who have made the timely or standing request. 

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed as preventing the governing board from 
meeting in closed session as otherwise provided by law. 

(e) The provisions of this section shall not prevent access to any records by the Joint 
Legislative Audit Committee in the exercise of its powers pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with 
Section 10500) of Chapter 4 of Part 2 of Division 2 of Title 2.  The provisions of this section also shall 
not prevent access to any records by the Department of Corporations in the exercise of its powers 
pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 1340) of Chapter 2.2 of Division 2 of the Health and 
Safety Code. 

54956.9. Closed session; Pending litigation 

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body of a local agency, based 
on advice of its legal counsel, from holding a closed session to confer with, or receive advice from, 
its legal counsel regarding pending litigation when discussion in open session concerning those matters 
would prejudice the position of the local agency in the litigation. 

For purposes of this chapter, all expressions of the lawyer-client privilege other than those 
provided in this section are hereby abrogated. This section is the exclusive expression of the 
lawyer-client privilege for purposes of conducting closed-session meetings pursuant to this chapter. 

For purposes of this section, “litigation” includes any adjudicatory proceeding, including 
eminent domain, before a court, administrative body exercising its adjudicatory authority, hearing 
officer, or arbitrator. 

For purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of the following 
circumstances exist: 

71
 



(a) Litigation, to which the local agency is a party, has been initiated formally. 

(b) (1) A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the legislative body of the 
local agency on the advice of its legal counsel, based on existing facts and circumstances, there is a 
significant exposure to litigation against the local agency. 

(2) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local 
agency is meeting only to decide whether a closed session is authorized pursuant to paragraph (1) of 
this subdivision. 

(3) For purposes of paragraphs (1) and (2), “existing facts and circumstances” shall 
consist only of one of the following: 

(A) Facts and circumstances that might result in litigation against the local 
agency but which the local agency believes are not yet known to a potential plaintiff or plaintiffs, 
which facts and circumstances need not be disclosed. 

(B) Facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, an accident, 
disaster, incident, or transactional occurrence that might result in litigation against the agency and that 
are known to a potential plaintiff or plaintiffs, which facts or circumstances shall be publicly stated 
on the agenda or announced. 

(C) The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Tort Claims Act or some other 
written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, which claim or communication 
shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5. 

(D) A statement made by a person in an open and public meeting threatening 
litigation on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative body. 

(E) A statement threatening litigation made by a person outside an open and 
public meeting on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative body so long as the 
official or employee of the local agency receiving knowledge of the threat makes a contemporaneous 
or other record of the statement prior to the meeting, which record shall be available for public 
inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5. The records so created need not identify the alleged victim 
of unlawful or tortious sexual conduct or anyone making the threat on their behalf, or identify a public 
employee who is the alleged perpetrator of any unlawful or tortious conduct upon which a threat of 
litigation is based, unless the identity of the person has been publicly disclosed. 

(F) Nothing in this section shall require disclosure of written 
communications that are privileged and not subject to disclosure pursuant to the California Public 
Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1). 

72
 



(c) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local agency has 
decided to initiate or is deciding whether to initiate litigation. 

Prior to holding a closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative body of the local 
agency shall state on the agenda or publicly announce the subdivision of this section that authorizes 
the closed session. If the session is closed pursuant to subdivision (a), the body shall state the title of 
or otherwise specifically identify the litigation to be discussed, unless the body states that to do so 
would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of process upon one or more unserved 
parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude existing settlement negotiations to its 
advantage. 

A local agency shall be considered to be a “party” or to have a “significant exposure to 
litigation” if an officer or employee of the local agency is a party or has significant exposure to 
litigation concerning prior or prospective activities or alleged activities during the course and scope 
of that office or employment, including litigation in which it is an issue whether an activity is outside 
the course and scope of the office or employment. 

§ 54956.95. Closed session; Insurance liability 

(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a joint powers agency formed 
pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1, for 
purposes of insurance pooling, or a local agency member of the joint powers agency, from holding a 
closed session to discuss a claim for the payment of tort liability losses, public liability losses, or 
workers’ compensation liability incurred by the joint powers agency or a local agency member of the 
joint powers agency. 

(b) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the Local Agency Self-Insurance 
Authority formed pursuant to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with Section 6599.01) of Division 7 of Title 
1, or a local agency member of the authority, from holding a closed session to discuss a claim for the 
payment of tort liability losses, public liability losses, or workers’ compensation liability incurred by 
the authority or a local agency member of the authority. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect Section 54956.9 with respect to any 
other local agency. 

54957. Closed session; Personnel and threat to public security 

(a) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of 
a local agency from holding closed sessions with the Attorney General, district attorney, agency 
counsel, sheriff, or chief of police, or their respective deputies, or a security consultant or a security 

73
 



operations manager, on matters posing a threat to the security of public buildings, a threat to the 
security of essential public services, including water, drinking water, wastewater treatment, natural gas 
service, and electric service, or a threat to the public's right of access to public services or public 
facilities. 

(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed 
to prevent the legislative body of a local agency from holding closed sessions during a regular or 
special meeting to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation of performance, discipline, or 
dismissal of a public employee or to hear complaints or charges brought against the employee by 
another person or employee unless the employee requests a public session. 

(2) As a condition to holding a closed session on specific complaints or charges 
brought against an employee by another person or employee, the employee shall be given written 
notice of his or her right to have the complaints or charges heard in an open session rather than a 
closed session, which notice shall be delivered to the employee personally or by mail at least 24 hours 
before the time for holding the session. If notice is not given, any disciplinary or other action taken by 
the legislative body against the employee based on the specific complaints or charges in the closed 
session shall be null and void. 

(3) The legislative body also may exclude from the public or closed meeting, during 
the examination of a witness, any or all other witnesses in the matter being investigated by the 
legislative body. 

(4) For the purposes of this subdivision, the term "employee" shall include an 
officer or an independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee but shall not include 
any elected official, member of a legislative body or other independent contractors. Nothing in this 
subdivision shall limit local officials' ability to hold closed session meetings pursuant to Sections 1461, 
32106, and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code or Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government 
Code. Closed sessions held pursuant to this subdivision shall not include discussion or action on 
proposed compensation except for a reduction of compensation that results from the imposition of 
discipline. 

§ 54957.1. Report at conclusion of closed session 

(a) The legislative body of any local agency shall publicly report any action taken in closed 
session and the vote or abstention of every member present thereon, as follows: 

(1) Approval of an agreement concluding real estate negotiations pursuant to 
Section 54956.8 shall be reported after the agreement is final, as specified below: 

(A) If its own approval renders the agreement final, the body shall report that 
approval and the substance of the agreement in open session at the public meeting during which the 
closed session is held. 

74
 



(B) If final approval rests with the other party to the negotiations, the local 
agency shall disclose the fact of that approval and the substance of the agreement upon inquiry by any 
person, as soon as the other party or its agent has informed the local agency of its approval. 

(2) Approval given to its legal counsel to defend, or seek or refrain from seeking 
appellate review or relief, or to enter as an amicus curiae in any form of litigation as the result of a 
consultation under Section 54956.9 shall be reported in open session at the public meeting during 
which the closed session is held. The report shall identify, if known, the adverse party or parties and 
the substance of the litigation. In the case of approval given to initiate or intervene in an action, the 
announcement need not identify the action, the defendants, or other particulars, but shall specify that 
the direction to initiate or intervene in an action has been given and that the action, the defendants, and 
the other particulars shall, once formally commenced, be disclosed to any person upon inquiry, unless 
to do so would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of process on one or more unserved 
parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude existing settlement negotiations to its 
advantage. 

(3) Approval given to its legal counsel of a settlement of pending litigation, as 
defined in Section 54956.9, at any stage prior to or during a judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding shall 
be reported after the settlement is final, as specified below: 

(A) If the legislative body accepts a settlement offer signed by the opposing 
party, the body shall report its acceptance and identify the substance of the agreement in open session 
at the public meeting during which the closed session is held. 

(B) If final approval rests with some other party to the litigation or with the 
court, then as soon as the settlement becomes final, and upon inquiry by any person, the local agency 
shall disclose the fact of that approval, and identify the substance of the agreement. 

(4) Disposition reached as to claims discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 
54956.95 shall be reported as soon as reached in a manner that identifies the name of the claimant, the 
name of the local agency claimed against, the substance of the claim, and any monetary amount 
approved for payment and agreed upon by the claimant. 

(5) Action taken to appoint, employ, dismiss, accept the resignation of, or otherwise 
affect the employment status of a public employee in closed session pursuant to Section 54957 shall 
be reported at the public meeting during which the closed session is held.  Any report required by this 
paragraph shall identify the title of the position.  The general requirement of this paragraph 
notwithstanding, the report of a dismissal or of the nonrenewal of an employment contract shall be 
deferred until the first public meeting following the exhaustion of administrative remedies, if any. 

75
 



 

(6) Approval of an agreement concluding labor negotiations with represented 
employees pursuant to Section 54957.6 shall be reported after the agreement is final and has been 
accepted or ratified by the other party. The report shall identify the item approved and the other party 
or parties to the negotiation. 

(b) Reports that are required to be made pursuant to this section may be made orally or in 
writing. The legislative body shall provide to any person who has submitted a written request to the 
legislative body within 24 hours of the posting of the agenda, or to any person who has made a 
standing request for all documentation as part of a request for notice of meetings pursuant to Section 
54954.1 or 54956, if the requester is present at the time the closed session ends, copies of any 
contracts, settlement agreements, or other documents that were finally approved or adopted in the 
closed session. If the action taken results in one or more substantive amendments to the related 
documents requiring retyping, the documents need not be released until the retyping is completed 
during normal business hours, provided that the presiding officer of the legislative body or his or her 
designee orally summarizes the substance of the amendments for the benefit of the document requester 
or any other person present and requesting the information. 

(c) The documentation referred to in paragraph (b) shall be available to any person on the 
next business day following the meeting in which the action referred to is taken or, in the case of 
substantial amendments, when any necessary retyping is complete. 

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to require that the legislative body approve 
actions not otherwise subject to legislative body approval. 

(e) No action for injury to a reputational, liberty, or other personal interest may be 
commenced by or on behalf of any employee or former employee with respect to whom a disclosure 
is made by a legislative body in an effort to comply with this section. 

54957.2. Minutes of closed session 

(a) The legislative body of a local agency may, by ordinance or resolution, designate a clerk 
or other officer or employee of the local agency who shall then attend each closed session of the 
legislative body and keep and enter in a minute book a record of topics discussed and decisions made 
at the meeting.  The minute book made pursuant to this section is not a public record subject to 
inspection pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 
6250) of Division 7 of Title 1), and shall be kept confidential.  The minute book shall be available only 
to members of the legislative body or, if a violation of this chapter is alleged to have occurred at a 
closed session, to a court of general jurisdiction wherein the local agency lies.  Such minute book may, 
but need not, consist of a recording of the closed session. 

(b) An elected legislative body of a local agency may require that each legislative body all 
or a majority of whose members are appointed by or under the authority of the elected legislative body 
keep a minute book as prescribed under subdivision (a). 

76
 



 

54957.5. Agendas and other materials; Public records 

(a) Notwithstanding Section 6255 or any other provisions of law, agendas of public 
meetings and any other writings, when distributed to all, or a majority of all, of the members of a 
legislative body of a local agency by any person in connection with a matter subject to discussion or 
consideration at a public meeting of the body, are disclosable public records under the California 
Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1), and shall 
be made available upon request without delay. However, this section shall not include any writing 
exempt from public disclosure under Section 6253.5, 6254, 6254.7, or 6254.22. 

(b) Writings that are public records under subdivision (a) and that are distributed during 
a public meeting shall be made available for public inspection at the meeting if prepared by the local 
agency or a member of its legislative body, or after the meeting if prepared by some other person. 
These writings shall be made available in appropriate alternative formats upon request by a person with 
a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 
12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. 

(c) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local 
agency from charging a fee or deposit for a copy of a public record pursuant to Section 6253, except 
that no surcharge shall be imposed on persons with disabilities in violation of Section 202 of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations 
adopted in implementation thereof. 

(d) This section shall not be construed to limit or delay the public's right to inspect or 
obtain a copy of any record required to be disclosed under the requirements of the California Public 
Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1). Nothing in this 
chapter shall be construed to require a legislative body of a local agency to place any paid 
advertisement or any other paid notice in any publication. 

54957.6. Closed session; Labor negotiations 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may 
hold closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representatives regarding the salaries, salary 
schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of its represented and unrepresented 
employees, and, for represented employees, any other matter within the statutorily provided scope of 
representation. 

However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall hold an open 
and public session in which it identifies its designated representatives. 

Closed sessions of a legislative body of a local agency, as permitted in this section, shall be for 
the purpose of reviewing its position and instructing the local agency’s designated representatives. 

77
 



Closed sessions, as permitted in this section, may take place prior to and during consultations 
and discussions with representatives of employee organizations and unrepresented employees. 

Closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representative regarding the salaries, salary 
schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits may include discussion of an agency’s 
available funds and funding priorities, but only insofar as these discussions relate to providing 
instructions to the local agency’s designated representative. 

Closed sessions held pursuant to this section shall not include final action on the proposed 
compensation of one or more unrepresented employees. 

For the purposes enumerated in this section, a legislative body of a local agency may also meet 
with a state conciliator who has intervened in the proceedings. 

(b) For the purposes of this section, the term “employee” shall include an officer or an 
independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee, but shall not include any elected 
official, member of a legislative body, or other independent contractors. 

54957.7. Announcement prior to closed sessions 

(a) Prior to holding any closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall 
disclose, in an open meeting, the item or items to be discussed in the closed session.  The disclosure 
may take the form of a reference to the item or items as they are listed by number or letter on the 
agenda.  In the closed session, the legislative body may consider only those matters covered in its 
statement.  Nothing in this section shall require or authorize a disclosure of information prohibited by 
state or federal law. 

(b) After any closed session, the legislative body shall reconvene into open session prior 
to adjournment and shall make any disclosures required by Section 54957.1 of action taken in the 
closed session. 

(c) The announcements required to be made in open session pursuant to this section may 
be made at the location announced in the agenda for the closed session, as long as the public is allowed 
to be present at that location for the purpose of hearing the announcements. 

54957.8. Closed session; Multijurisdictional drug enforcement agency 

Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a 
multijurisdictional drug law enforcement agency, or an advisory body of a multijurisdictional drug law 
enforcement agency, from holding closed sessions to discuss the case records of any ongoing criminal 

78
 



investigation of the multijurisdictional drug law enforcement agency or of any party to the joint powers 
agreement, to hear testimony from persons involved in the investigation, and to discuss courses of 
action in particular cases. 

“Multijurisdictional drug law enforcement agency,” for purposes of this section, means a joint 
powers entity formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 
7 of Title 1, which provides drug law enforcement services for the parties to the joint powers 
agreement. 

The Legislature finds and declares that this section is within the public interest, in that its 
provisions are necessary to prevent the impairment of ongoing law enforcement investigations, to 
protect witnesses and informants, and to permit the discussion of effective courses of action in 
particular cases. 

54957.9. Disruption of meeting 

In the event that any meeting is willfully interrupted by a group or groups of persons so as to 
render the orderly conduct of such meeting unfeasible and order cannot be restored by the removal of 
individuals who are willfully interrupting the meeting, the members of the legislative body conducting 
the meeting may order the meeting room cleared and continue in session.  Only matters appearing on 
the agenda may be considered in such a session.  Representatives of the press or other news media, 
except those participating in the disturbance, shall be allowed to attend any session held pursuant to 
this section. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the legislative body from establishing a procedure 
for readmitting an individual or individuals not responsible for willfully disturbing the orderly conduct 
of the meeting. 

54957.10. Closed session; Deferred Compensation Plan; Early withdrawal 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may hold 
closed sessions to discuss a local agency employee’s application for early withdrawal of funds in a 
deferred compensation plan when the application is based on financial hardship arising from an 
unforeseeable emergency due to illness, accident, casualty, or other extraordinary event, as specified 
in the deferred compensation plan. 

54958. Act supercedes conflicting laws 

The provisions of this chapter shall apply to the legislative body of every local agency 
notwithstanding the conflicting provisions of any other state law. 

54959. Violation of Act; Criminal penalty 

Each member of a legislative body who attends a meeting of that legislative body where action 
is taken in violation of any provision of this chapter, and where the member intends to deprive the 

79
 



public of information to which the member knows or has reason to know the public is entitled under 
this chapter, is guilty of a misdemeanor. 

54960. Violation of Act; Civil remedies 

(a) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by mandamus, 
injunction or declaratory relief for the purpose of stopping or preventing violations or threatened 
violations of this chapter by members of the legislative body of a local agency or to determine the 
applicability of this chapter to actions or threatened future action of the legislative body, or to 
determine whether any rule or action by the legislative body to penalize or otherwise discourage the 
expression of one or more of its members is valid or invalid under the laws of this state or of the 
United States, or to compel the legislative body to tape record its closed sessions as hereinafter 
provided. 

(b) The court in its discretion may, upon a judgment of a violation of Section 54956.7, 
54956.8, 54956.9, 54956.95, 54957, or 54957.6, order the legislative body to tape record its closed 
sessions and preserve the tape recordings for the period and under the terms of security and 
confidentiality the court deems appropriate. 

(c) (1) Each recording so kept shall be immediately labeled with the date of the closed 
session recorded and the title of the clerk or other officer who shall be custodian of the recording. 

(2) The tapes shall be subject to the following discovery procedures: 

(A) In any case in which discovery or disclosure of the tape is sought by 
either the district attorney or the plaintiff in a civil action pursuant to Section 54959, 54960, or 54960.1 
alleging that a violation of this chapter has occurred in a closed session which has been recorded 
pursuant to this section, the party seeking discovery or disclosure shall file a written notice of motion 
with the appropriate court with notice to the governmental agency which has custody and control of 
the tape recording. The notice shall be given pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 1005 of the Code 
of Civil Procedure. 

(B) The notice shall include, in addition to the items required by Section 
1010 of the Code of Civil Procedure, all of the following: 

(i) Identification of the proceeding in which discovery or disclosure 
is sought, the party seeking discovery or disclosure, the date and time of the meeting recorded, and the 
governmental agency which has custody and control of the recording. 

(ii) An affidavit which contains specific facts indicating that a 
violation of the act occurred in the closed session. 

80
 



(3) If the court, following a review of the motion, finds that there is good cause to 
believe that a violation has occurred, the court may review, in camera, the recording of that portion 
of the closed session alleged to have violated the act. 

(4) If, following the in camera review, the court concludes that disclosure of a 
portion of the recording would be likely to materially assist in the resolution of the litigation alleging 
violation of this chapter, the court shall, in its discretion, make a certified transcript of the portion of 
the recording a public exhibit in the proceeding. 

(5) Nothing in this section shall permit discovery of communications which are 
protected by the attorney-client privilege. 

54960.1. Violation of Act; Actions declared null and void 

(a) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by mandamus 
or injunction for the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that an action taken by a legislative 
body of a local agency in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 
is null and void under this section. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative 
body from curing or correcting an action challenged pursuant to this section. 

(b) Prior to any action being commenced pursuant to subdivision (a), the district attorney 
or interested person shall make a demand of the legislative body to cure or correct the action alleged 
to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5. The 
demand shall be in writing and clearly describe the challenged action of the legislative body and nature 
of the alleged violation. 

(c) (1) The written demand shall be made within 90 days from the date the action was 
taken unless the action was taken in an open session but in violation of Section 54954.2, in which case 
the written demand shall be made within 30 days from the date the action was taken. 

(2) Within 30 days of receipt of the demand, the legislative body shall cure or 
correct the challenged action and inform the demanding party in writing of its actions to cure or correct 
or inform the demanding party in writing of its decision not to cure or correct the challenged action. 

(3) If the legislative body takes no action within the 30-day period, the inaction 
shall be deemed a decision not to cure or correct the challenged action, and the 15-day period to 
commence the action described in subdivision (a) shall commence to run the day after the 30-day 
period to cure or correct expires. 

(4) Within 15 days of receipt of the written notice of the legislative body's decision 
to cure or correct, or not to cure or correct, or within 15 days of the expiration of the 30-day period to 
cure or correct, whichever is earlier, the demanding party shall be required to commence the action 
pursuant to subdivision (a) or thereafter be barred from commencing the action. 

81
 



(d) An action taken that is alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 
54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 shall not be determined to be null and void if any of 
the following conditions exist: 

(1) The action taken was in substantial compliance with Sections 54953, 54954.2, 
54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, and 54956.5. 

(2) The action taken was in connection with the sale or issuance of notes, bonds, 
or other evidences of indebtedness or any contract, instrument, or agreement thereto. 

(3) The action taken gave rise to a contractual obligation, including a contract let 
by competitive bid other than compensation for services in the form of salary or fees for professional 
services, upon which a party has, in good faith and without notice of a challenge to the validity of the 
action, detrimentally relied. 

(4) The action taken was in connection with the collection of any tax. 

(5) Any person, city, city and county, county, district, or any agency or subdivision 
of the state alleging noncompliance with subdivision (a) of Section 54954.2, Section 54956, or Section 
54956.5, because of any defect, error, irregularity, or omission in the notice given pursuant to those 
provisions, had actual notice of the item of business at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at which the 
action was taken, if the meeting was noticed pursuant to Section 54954.2, or 24 hours prior to the 
meeting at which the action was taken if the meeting was noticed pursuant to Section 54956, or prior 
to the meeting at which the action was taken if the meeting is held pursuant to Section 54956.5. 

(e) During any action seeking a judicial determination pursuant to subdivision (a) if the 
court determines, pursuant to a showing by the legislative body that an action alleged to have been 
taken in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 has been cured or 
corrected by a subsequent action of the legislative body, the action filed pursuant to subdivision (a) 
shall be dismissed with prejudice. 

(f) The fact that a legislative body takes a subsequent action to cure or correct an action 
taken pursuant to this section shall not be construed or admissible as evidence of a violation of this 
chapter. 

54960.5. Costs and attorney fees 

A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff in an action brought 
pursuant to Section 54960 or 54960.1 where it is found that a legislative body of the local agency has 
violated this chapter. The costs and fees shall be paid by the local agency and shall not become a 
personal liability of any public officer or employee of the local agency. 

82
 



A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to a defendant in any action 
brought pursuant to Section 54960 or 54960.1 where the defendant has prevailed in a final 
determination of such action and the court finds that the action was clearly frivolous and totally lacking 
in merit. 

54961. Discrimination; Disabled access; Fees for attendance; Disclosure of victims 

(a) No legislative body of a local agency shall conduct any meeting in any facility that 
prohibits the admittance of any person, or persons, on the basis of race, religious creed, color, national 
origin, ancestry, or sex, or which is inaccessible to disabled persons, or where members of the public 
may not be present without making a payment or purchase.  This section shall apply to every local 
agency as defined in Section 54951. 

(b) No notice, agenda, announcement, or report required under this chapter need identify 
any victim or alleged victim of tortious sexual conduct or child abuse unless the identity of the person 
has been publicly disclosed. 

54962. Closed session; Express authorization required 

Except as expressly authorized by this chapter, or by Sections 1461, 1462, 32106, and 32155 
of the Health and Safety Code or Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government Code as they apply 
to hospitals, or by any provision of the Education Code pertaining to school districts and community 
college districts, no closed session may be held by any legislative body of any local agency. 

54963. Closed session; Disclosure of confidential information 

(a) A person may not disclose confidential information that has been acquired by being 
present in a closed session authorized by Section 54956.7, 54956.8, 54956.86, 54956.87, 54956.9, 
54957, 54957.6, 54957.8, or 54957.10 to a person not entitled to receive it, unless the legislative body 
authorizes disclosure of that confidential information. 

(b) For purposes of this section, "confidential information" means a communication made 
in a closed session that is specifically related to the basis for the legislative body of a local agency to 
meet lawfully in closed session under this chapter. 

(c) Violation of this section may be addressed by the use of such remedies as are currently 
available by law, including, but not limited to: 

(1) Injunctive relief to prevent the disclosure of confidential information prohibited 
by this section. 

(2) Disciplinary action against an employee who has willfully disclosed confidential 
information in violation of this section. 

83
 



(3) Referral of a member of a legislative body who has willfully disclosed 
confidential information in violation of this section to the grandjury. 

(d) Disciplinary action pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) shall require that the 
employee in question has either received training as to the requirements of this section or otherwise 
has been given notice of the requirements of this section. 

(e) A local agency may not take any action authorized by subdivision (c) against a person, 
nor shall it be deemed a violation of this section, for doing any of the following: 

(1) Making a confidential inquiry or complaint to a district attorney or grand jury 
concerning a perceived violation of law, including disclosing facts to a district attorney or grand jury 
that are necessary to establish the illegality of an action taken by a legislative body of a local agency 
or the potential illegality of an action that has been the subject of deliberation at a closed session if that 
action were to be taken by a legislative body of a local agency. 

(2) Expressing an opinion concerning the propriety or legality of actions taken by 
a legislative body of a local agency in closed session, including disclosure of the nature and extent of 
the illegal or potentially illegal action. 

(3) Disclosing information acquired by being present in a closed session under this 
chapter that is not confidential information. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit disclosures under the 
whistleblower statutes contained in Section 1102.5 of the Labor Code or Article 4.5 (commencing with 
Section 53296) of Chapter 2 of this code. 

84
 



 

Table of Authorities 

Page 

Cases 

216 Sutter Bay Associates v. County of Sutter
 (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 860 2, 20 

Baca v. Moreno Valley Unified School Dist.
 (1996) 936 F.Supp. 719 20, 28 

Bell v. Vista Unified School Dist.
 (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 672 34, 46 

Bollinger v. San Diego Civil Service Comm.
 (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 568 34 

Boyle v. City of Redondo Beach
 (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1109 1, 45-47 

Carlson v. Paradise Unified School Dist.
 (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 196 16-17, 21 

CAUSE v. City of San Diego
 (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 1024 45 

Cohan v. City of Thousand Oaks
 (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 547 1 

Common Cause v. Stirling
 (1981) 119 Cal.App.3d 658 47 

Common Cause v. Stirling
 (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 518 15, 45, 47 

County of Del Norte v. City of Crescent City
 (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 965 46 

Duval v. Board of Trustees
 (2001) 93 Cal.App.4th 902 34, 45 

85
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Cases (Continued) 
Page 

Epstein v. Hollywood Entertainment District II Business Improvement District
 (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 152 7 

Fischer v. Los Angeles Unified School Dist.
 (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 87 33-34 

Frazer v. Dixon Unified School Dist.
 (1993) 18 Cal.App.4th 781 2, 5, 13, 47 

Freedom Newspapers v. Orange County Employees Retirement System
 (1993) 6 Cal.4th 821 4 

Furtado v. Sierra Community College
 (1998) 68 Cal.App.4th 876 34 

Gillespie v. San Francisco Pub. Library Comm’n
 (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1165 25, 33 

International Longshoremen’s & Warehousemen’s Union v. 
Los Angeles Expert Terminal, Inc.
 (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 287 2, 7, 47-48 

Joiner v. City of Sebastopol
 (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 799 5, 6 

Kleitman v. Superior Court
 (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 324 33, 41-42 

Leventhal v. Vista Unified School Dist.
 (1997) 973 F.Supp. 951 19-20, 28 

86
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Cases (Continued) 
Page 

Lucas v. Board of Trustees
 (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 988 36 

Nevens v. City of Chino
 (1965) 233 Cal.App.2d 775 27 

North County Parents Organization for Children with Special Needs v. 
California Department of Education
 (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 144 29 

Regents of the University of California v. Superior Court
 (1999) 20 Cal.4th 509 45-46 

Register Div. of Freedom Newspapers, Inc. v. County of Orange
 (1984) 158 Cal.App.3d 893 43 

Roberts v. City of Palmdale
 (1993) 5 Cal.4th 363 15, 28, 41 

Rowen v. Santa Clara Unified School District
 (1981) 121 Cal.App.3d 231 1, 30, 35 

Sacramento Newspaper Guild v. Sacramento County Bd. of Suprs.
 (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 41 1, 8-9, 11, 30, 37, 39 

San Diego Union v. City Council
 (1983) 146 Cal.App.3d 947 4, 33, 36 

Santa Clara Federation of Teachers v. Governing Board
 (1981) 116 Cal.App.3d 831 35 

Shapiro v. San Diego City Council
 (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 904 42, 45 

Stockton Newspapers, Inc. v. Redevelopment Agency
 (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 95 11, 13 

87
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Cases (Continued) 
Page 

Sutter Sensible Planning, Inc. v. Board of Supervisors
 (1981) 122 Cal.App.3d 813 30, 47 

Torres v. Board of Commissioners
 (1979) 89 Cal.App.3d 545 3, 4 

Wilson v. San Francisco Mun. Ry.
 (1973) 29 Cal.App.3d 870 2 

Statutes 

Civil Code 
§ 47(b) 30 

Code of Civil Procedure 
§ 1021.5 47 

Education Code 
§ 966 17 
§ 47604(a) 6 

Evidence Code 
§ 1040 30 
§ 1040(b)(1) 33 
§ 1152 40 

Government Code 
§ 4450 29 
§ 6091 27 
§ 6253(c) 29 
§ 6254 28-29 
§ 6254(k) 15 
§ 6500 5 
§ 11120 3 
§ 11125.7(d) 19 
§ 11130 45 
§ 34090 29 

88
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Statutes (Continued) 

§ 53296 
§ 54950 
§ 54951 
§ 54952 
§ 54952.1 
§ 54952(a) 
§ 54952(b) 
§ 54952(c) 
§ 54952(c)(1) 
§ 54952(c)(2) 
§ 54952(d) 
§ 54952.2 
§ 54952.2(a) 
§ 54952.2(b) 
§ 54952.2(c) 
§ 54952.2(c)(1) 
§ 54952.2(c)(2) 
§ 54952.2(c)(3) 
§ 54952.2(c)(4) 
§ 54952.2(c)(5) 
§ 54952.2(c)(6) 
§ 54952.6 
§ 54953 
§ 54953(a) 
§ 54953(b) 
§ 54953(c) 
§ 54953.2 
§ 54953.3 
§ 54953.5 
§ 54953.5(b) 
§ 54953.6 
§ 54953.7 
§ 54954 
§ 54954(a) 
§ 54954(b) 
§ 54954(b)(1) 
§ 54954(b)(2) 
§ 54954(b)(3) 

Page 

32
 
1, 30
 

2-3
 
2, 4
 

2
 
3, 5
 
5-6
 

7
 
7
 
7
 
7
 
8
 
8
 

8, 11, 14
 
8, 26
 

13
 
9
 

10
 
10
 
11
 
10
 
44
 
45
 
1
 

14
 
31
 
29
 

1, 27
 
1, 27
 

29
 
27
 
30
 

1, 26
 
16
 

16, 26-27
 
26
 
26
 
26
 

89
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Statutes (Continued) 
Page 

§ 54954(b)(4) 26 
§ 54954(b)(5) 26 
§ 54954(b)(6) 26 
§ 54954(b)(7) 26 
§ 54954(c)(1) 27 
§ 54954(c)(2) 27 
§ 54954(c)(3) 26 
§ 54954(d) 27 
§ 54954(e) 27 
§ 54954.1 29-30 
§ 54954.2 1-2, 16-18, 22, 25, 30, 46 
§ 54954.2(a) 16, 18-19, 21 
§ 54954.2(b) 17-19 
§ 54954.2(b)(1) 18 
§ 54954.2(b)(2) 18 
§ 54954.2(b)(3) 18, 25 
§ 54954.3 14 
§ 54954.3(a) 1, 19-20, 27-28 
§ 54954.3(b) 19, 28 
§ 54954.3(c) 19, 28 
§ 54954.5 22-23, 46 
§ 54954.6 27, 46 
§ 54955 16, 18, 25 
§ 54955.1 16, 18, 25 
§ 54956 20-21, 23, 25, 46 
§ 54956.5 18, 20, 46 
§ 54956.5(a)(1) 20 
§ 54956.5(a)(2) 21 
§ 54956.5(b) 20 
§ 54956.5(c) 21 
§ 54956.5(d) 21 
§ 54956.5(e) 21 
§ 54956.6 29 
§ 54956.7 43 
§ 54956.8 2, 22, 41-42 
§ 54956.9 2, 15, 21, 23-24, 26, 37, 38, 40 
§ 54956.9(a) 37 
§ 54956.9(b) 16 

90
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Statutes (Continued) 
Page 

§ 54956.9(b)(1) 38 
§ 54956.9(b)(2) 38 
§ 54956.9(b)(3) 21, 23, 38 
§ 54956.9(b)(3)(A) 23, 38 
§ 54956.9(b)(3)(B) 23, 38 
§ 54956.9(b)(3)(C) 24, 38 
§ 54956.9(b)(3)(D) 24, 38 
§ 54956.9(b)(3)(E) 24, 38 
§ 54956.9(b)(3)(F) 23 
§ 54956.9(c) 21, 37-38 
§ 54957 2, 21, 33-36, 43 
§ 54957.1 2, 16, 21, 25, 40-41 
§ 54957.1(a) 24 
§ 54957.1(a)(2) 24 
§ 54957.1(a)(3) 39 
§ 54957.1(a)(5) 25 
§ 54957.1(a)(6) 25, 42 
§ 54957.1(b) 24, 28 
§ 54957.1(c) 24 
§ 54957.1(e) 25 
§54957.2 43-44 
§ 54957.5 1, 24, 28, 30 
§ 54957.5(a) 28 
§ 54957.5(b) 28 
§ 54957.5(c) 29 
§ 54957.6 2, 22, 25, 36-37, 42-43 
§ 54957.6(a) 42-43 
§ 54957.6(b) 43 
§ 54957.7 2 
§ 54957.7(a) 16, 21, 23 
§ 54957.7(b) 24 
§ 54957.9 28 
§ 54959 44 
§ 54960  44-45 
§ 54960(b) 45 
§ 54960.1 44-45 
§ 54960.1(c)(1) 46 
§ 54960.1(c)(3) 46 

91
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Statutes (Continued) 
Page 

§ 54960.1(c)(4) 46 
§ 54960.1(d) 46 
§ 54960.1(d)(1) 46 
§ 54960.1(d)(5) 46 
§ 54960.1(e) 46 
§ 54960.5 47 
§ 54961 29 
§ 54962 1, 30, 33, 37 
§ 54963 32 

Health and Safety Code 
§ 19955 29 
§ 32121(p) 7 

Labor Code 
§ 1102.5 32 

Penal Code 
§ 632 44 

Attorney General Opinions 

27 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 123 (1956) 27 

32 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 240 (1958) 1 

42 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 61 (1963) 1, 9 

43 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 36 (1964) 11 

46 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 34 (1965) 31 

51 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 201 (1968) 43 

53 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 245 (1970) 20 

56 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 14 (1973) 2 

92
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Attorney General Opinions (Continued) 

57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 189 (1974) 

57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 209 (1974) 

59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 162 (1976) 

59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 532 (1976) 

59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 619 (1976) 

61 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 10 (1978) 

61 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 220 (1978) 

61 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 283 (1978) 

62 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 150 (1979) 

62 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 292 (1979) 

63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 153 (1980) 

63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 820 (1980) 

64 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 317 (1981) 

65 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 63 (1982) 

67 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 84 (1984) 

67 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 111 (1984) 

68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 34 (1985) 

68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 65 (1985) 

69 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 232 (1986) 

Page 

4, 31 

43 

4 

36 

31 

35 

4, 30 

33-34, 44 

40-41 

44 

35 

13 

29 

13 

17 

40 

1 

31 

37, 40 

93
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Attorney General Opinions (Continued) 
Page 

71 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 96 (1988) 4, 31, 38, 40 

73 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 1 (1990) 4, 42 

75 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 14 (1992) 38-39 

75 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 263 (1992) 2 

76 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 289 (1993) 33 

78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 218 (1995) 34 

78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 224 (1995) 20, 28 

78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 327 (1995) 17 

80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 231 (1997) 33 

80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 247 (1997) 27 

80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 308 (1997) 33 

81 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 156 (1998) 10 

81 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 281 (1998) 7 

84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 30 (2001) 15 

84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 181 (2001) 14 

85 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 55 (2002) 7 

85 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 77 (2002) 33 

Other Authorities 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 29 

94
 



Table of Authorities 
(Continued) 

Other Authorities (Continued) 
Page 

SB 2216, Statutes of 1984, chapter 1126 37
 

SB 200, Statutes of 1987, chapter 1320 37
 

I.L. 60-16 (February 14, 1960) 4
 

I.L. 62-46 (May 15, 1962) 4
 

I.L. 70-184 (October 9, 1970) 31
 

I.L. 72-79 (April 4, 1979) 4
 

I.L. 75-109 (June 3, 1975) 4
 

I.L. 76-181 (September 13, 1976) 2
 

I.L. 76-201 (October 20, 1976)  43
 

I.L. 77-67 (April 28, 1977) 28
 

95




NOTES
 



NOTES
 



NOTES
 



NOTES
 



Attorney General’s Office
 
Public Inquiry Unit
 
P.O. Box 944255
 

Sacramento, CA 94244-2550
 
1 (800) 952-5225
 

Return to Introduction



ATTACHMENT 4
Office of the City Attorney City of Oakland FAQ Sheet

regarding participation via teleconference



OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

 

Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 

Regarding the City Council’s (and Other Local Legislative Bodies’) Return to In-Person 

Meetings and Their Members’ Participation by Teleconference under the Ralph M. Brown 

Act, California’s Open Meeting Law 

 

Issued:   March 30, 2023  

Revised:  

Issued By:  Barbara J. Parker, Oakland City Attorney    

 

   

I. INTRODUCTION  

 

On February 28, 2023, California Governor Gavin Newsom issued a proclamation 

terminating the statewide COVID-19 State of Emergency that had been in effect since March 4, 

2020. The termination of the State of Emergency impacts the ability of members of  the Oakland 

City Council and other local bodies covered by the California Ralph M. Brown Act, California 

Government Code section 54950 et seq. (hereinafter the “Brown Act”) to attend meetings by 

teleconference.   

 

Assembly Bill (“AB”) 361, signed by the Governor on September 15, 2021, and the 

Governor’s prior emergency orders, temporarily suspended  the Brown Act’s restrictions on 

participation in public meetings via teleconference. Prior to March 2020, members of local 

bodies could participate in public meetings via teleconference only if, among other things:  

 

1. Notices and agendas were posted for each teleconference location from which 

members of the local body intended to participate; 

2. Teleconference locations were accessible to the public, including persons with 

disabilities;  

3. The public could participate in the meeting from each teleconference location; 

and 

4. A quorum of the legislative body participated from within the boundaries of 

the jurisdiction.1 

 

AB 361 modified these requirements, providing that members of local bodies could 

participate in public meetings without complying with the public notice of and access to the 

teleconference location when, among other things, a state of emergency exists and the local body 

or the state recommends social distancing as a safety measure.2 A state of emergency refers 

specifically to the authority of the Governor of California to invoke a state of emergency, and not 

to states of emergency declared by local bodies.3 As set forth above, the termination of the 

 
1 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(b)(3).   
2 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953 (e)(1). 
3 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(j)(5). 



FAQs Regarding Return to In-Person Meetings and Participation By Teleconference under the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, California’s Open Meeting Law 

Issued: March 30, 2023 

 

 

 -2-  

Governor’s State of Emergency means that, effective March 1, 2023, local bodies may no longer 

rely upon AB 361 to participate in meetings via teleconference. 

 

The termination of the Governor’s State of Emergency leaves two options for teleconference 

participation by members of local legislative bodies:  

 

1. the traditional teleconference rules; and  

 

2. the limited exceptions provided by Assembly Bill (“AB”) 2449.   

 

Effective January 1, 2023, AB 2449 preserves, under very limited circumstances, an option for 

members of bodies subject to the Brown Act to participate in meetings via teleconference 

without complying with the public notice and public access to a member’s remote teleconference 

location. The AB 2449 exceptions to the standard teleconference rules are very limited and, 

among other things, only apply to meetings that provide a teleconference option for public 

participation, and can be invoked only for a maximum of 20% of the regularly scheduled 

meetings per calendar year.4 

 

To ensure that the public, City of Oakland (“City”) employees, and City officials have the 

same information, the City Attorney is issuing this FAQ to provide answers to common 

questions regarding AB 2449 and the ability of members of local bodies to participate in public 

meetings via teleconference going forward. For additional questions regarding the Brown Act 

see our recent FAQ here. 

 

This FAQ is a general guide and does not constitute legal advice as the specific facts and 

circumstances must be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.  

 

II. FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS REGARDING TELECONFERENCE 

               MEETINGS UNDER BROWN ACT 

 

1. Why Are Members of Local Bodies Returning to In-Person Meetings? 

 

Answer: Since March 4, 2020, California has been in a COVID-19 State of 

Emergency that Governor Newsom. AB 361 declared and prior emergency orders 

allowed members of local bodies to conduct and participate in public meetings 

without complying with the notice of and public access to the teleconference 

locations when, among other things, a proclaimed state of emergency existed.5 On 

February 28, 2023, California Governor Gavin Newsom issued a proclamation 

terminating the statewide COVID-19 State of Emergency. As a result, local bodies 

 
4 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(1); Cal. Gov’t Code § (f)(2)(A)(i) and (ii). 
5 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953 (e)(1). State of emergency refers specifically to the authority of the Governor 

of California to invoke a state of emergency, and not to states of emergency declared by local bodies. Cal. 

Gov’t Code § 54953(j)(5). 



FAQs Regarding Return to In-Person Meetings and Participation By Teleconference under the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, California’s Open Meeting Law 

Issued: March 30, 2023 

 

 

 -3-  

can no longer invoke AB 361 and are limited to the pre-pandemic traditional 

teleconference rules and the limited circumstances allowed by AB 2449. In other 

words, members of local bodies can participate in public meetings via teleconference 

after the termination of the COVID-19 State of Emergency but the circumstances are 

much more restricted. 

 

2. Can Members of Local Bodies Still Participate in Meetings Via Teleconference 

under the Longstanding Teleconference Rules? 

 

Answer: Yes. The Governor’s termination of the statewide COVID-19 State of  

Emergency does not impact the longstanding teleconference rules under California 

Government Code section 54953(b)(3), which provides in pertinent part: 

 

If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall 

post agendas at all teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall 

be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each 

teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the 

teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall 

participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the 

local agency exercises jurisdiction.6 

 

Members of local bodies intending to use the longstanding teleconference rules 

should coordinate with their staff liaison and/or the City Clerk to ensure: 1) Brown 

Act required noticing of the location of the teleconference meeting; 2) Brown Act 

required  postings of the notice and agenda at the teleconference location; 3) 

coordination regarding any technical requirements for participating remotely; and 4) a 

quorum of the body will participate in the meeting within the boundaries of City of 

Oakland. 

 

3. What is Assembly Bill (“AB”) 2449? 

 

Answer: AB 2449, effective January 1, 2023 and codified in California Government 

Code § 54953, allows members of local bodies covered by the Brown Act to 

participate in meetings remotely via teleconference for “just cause” and “emergency 

circumstances” regardless of whether a state of emergency exists and without 

providing notice of or public access to the teleconference location.7 

 

 

 
6 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(b)(3)   
7 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i) and (ii) (Just Cause and Emergency Circumstances exception to 

54953(b)(3) – the longstanding teleconferencing requirements) 



FAQs Regarding Return to In-Person Meetings and Participation By Teleconference under the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, California’s Open Meeting Law 

Issued: March 30, 2023 

 

 

 -4-  

AB 2449 can be used only when members of the public also are allowed to participate 

remotely (i.e. to listen/observe and provide comment) via teleconference.8 AB 2449 

does not apply and cannot be used for meetings that are only offered in-person or that 

are in-person with a teleconference option set to “observation only” such that the 

public cannot provide comment via teleconference. 

 

4. Is the Public Always Allowed Notice of the Teleconference Location and Access 

to Participate in Meetings Via the Teleconference Location? 

 

Answer: No. Only the longstanding teleconference rules require public notice of and 

access to the teleconference location. AB 2449 provides for exceptions to those 

requirements. 

 

5. How Does AB 2449 Work?  

 

Answer: The procedures vary depending on whether the member asserts “just cause” 

or “emergency circumstances” as the basis for the need to participate in the meeting 

remotely. 

 

For Just Cause 

 

• Timing of Notice: The member must notify the legislative body of their need to 

participate remotely at the earliest opportunity possible, up to the commencement 

of the meeting.9 

• What to include in the Notice: The notice must provide a general description of 

the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting.10 

• “Just cause” means any of the following: 

(A) A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, 

grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic partner that requires them to 

participate remotely; 

(B) A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in 

person. 

(C) A need related to a physical or mental disability not otherwise 

accommodated. 

(D) Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another 

state or local agency.11  

 

 

 
8 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54593(e)(2)(A) 
9 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i). 
10 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i). 
11 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(j)(2). 



FAQs Regarding Return to In-Person Meetings and Participation By Teleconference under the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, California’s Open Meeting Law 

Issued: March 30, 2023 

 

 

 -5-  

• Per meeting notice is not required: Unlike the emergency circumstances 

exception, it does not appear that separate notices are required for participating 

remotely under the just cause exception.12 Thus, a member could provide notice 

of remote participation via teleconference for just cause for up to two meetings—

the maximum number of times just cause can be used13—if the member is aware 

of the need in advance, such as for childcare or official travel.  

• No action by legislative body required: Invoking the just cause exception is self-

executing and no further action by the body is required.14 

• No requirement to notice the member’s remote participation on the agenda. 

 

For Emergency Circumstances 

 

• Timing of Request: The member must request that the legislative body allow them to 

participate in the meeting remotely due to emergency circumstances as soon as 

possible, preferably with enough time to place the proposed action on the posted 

agenda for the meeting for which the request was made. However, if the timing of the 

request does not allow sufficient time to post the matter on the agenda, the legislative 

body may take action at the beginning of the meeting.15  

• What to include in the Request: The member need not provide any additional 

information at the time of the Request to participate in the meeting remotely due to 

emergency circumstances. However, the legislative body must request a general 

description of the circumstances relating to the member’s need to appear remotely at 

the given meeting. The general description need not exceed 20 words and shall not 

require the member to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal 

medical information that is already exempt under existing law.16 

• “Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical emergency that 

prevents a member from attending in person.17  

• Per meeting request is required: A member must make a separate request for each 

meeting in which they seek to participate remotely.18  

• Action by legislative body is required:19 The legislative body may approve such a 

request by a majority vote of the legislative body.20 

 

 

 
12 Compare Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i) to Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(ii)(I). 
13 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i). 
14 Compare Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i) to Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(ii)(II). 
15 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(ii)(I)-(II). 
16 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(ii). 
17 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(j)(1) 
18 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(ii)(I) 
19 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(ii)(II). 
20 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54954.2(b)(4). 



FAQs Regarding Return to In-Person Meetings and Participation By Teleconference under the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, California’s Open Meeting Law 

Issued: March 30, 2023 

 

 

 -6-  

6. Are There Any Specific Limitations on the Manner of Voting by Members 

During a Teleconferenced Meeting? 

 

Answer: Yes. For any meeting in which the legislative body elects to use 

teleconferencing, whether via the longstanding  teleconferencing rules or under AB 

2449, all votes during the meeting must be by rollcall.21 

 

7. Is There a Limit to the Number of Times a Member of a Local Body Can 

Participate via Teleconference? 

 

Answer: It depends on which teleconference rules are invoked. No limit exists on the 

number of times a member of a local body can participate via teleconference using 

the longstanding teleconference rules. However, AB 2449 does impose strict limits on 

use of its provisions. AB 2449 has two categories of exceptions that allow use of 

participation by teleconference: just cause and emergency circumstances.22 Just cause 

can be used no more than twice in a calendar year.23 And just cause and emergency 

circumstances, together, may not be used more than 20% of the regularly scheduled 

meetings for the calendar year or for more than 3 consecutive months.24  

 

8. Are There Any Other Limitations on the Use of AB 2449? 

 

Answer: Yes.  

 

• AB 2449 can be used only when members of the public are also allowed to 

participate remotely (i.e. to listen/observe and provide comment) via 

teleconference. AB 2449 does not apply and cannot be used for meetings that are 

only offered in-person or that are in-person with teleconference options set to 

“observation only” such that the public cannot provide comment via 

teleconference.25 

• AB 2449 can be used only if a quorum of members of the legislative body 

participate in person from the same location within the City, and location must be 

clearly identified on the agenda and open to the public.  

• AB 2449 can be used only for a maximum of 20% of the regularly scheduled 

meetings for the calendar year or for more than 3 consecutive months.26 “Just 

cause” cannot be used more than twice in a calendar year.27 For boards or 

commissions that meet monthly, AB 2449 can only be used a total of two times, 
 

21 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(b)(2)(A). 
22 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i) and (ii) (Just Cause and Emergency Circumstances exception to 

54953(b)(3) – Standard (traditional) teleconferencing requirements). 
23 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i). 
24 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(3). 
25 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54593(e)(2)(A). 
26 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(3). 
27 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i). 



FAQs Regarding Return to In-Person Meetings and Participation By Teleconference under the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, California’s Open Meeting Law 

Issued: March 30, 2023 

 

 

 -7-  

regardless of the exception (just cause or emergency circumstances) in the whole 

calendar year. 

• Members participating remotely under AB 2449 must participate both on camera 

and via audio.28 

• Additionally, before any action is taken, the member must disclose if anyone 18 

or older is in the room at the remote location with them, and the general nature of 

the relationship with the person or persons.29 

• Members of the public must be allowed to remotely hear and visually observe the 

meeting, and remotely address the legislative body via either 1) a two-way 

audiovisual platform (e.g. Zoom) or 2) a two-way telephonic service and a live 

webcasting of the meeting.30 

 

• The agenda must identify the call-in option, internet-based service option and the 

in-person location of the meeting.31 

 

9. Does AB 2449 or the Brown Act Require City Staff or the City Attorney or City 

Attorney staff to Attend Meetings of Legislative Bodies In Person As Well? 

 

Answer: No. AB 2449 amends the Brown Act to provide additional but limited 

circumstances under which members of local bodies can participate in public 

meetings via teleconference after the termination of the COVID-19 State of 

Emergency. However, neither AB 2449 nor the Brown Act require City staff, City 

Attorneys or members of the public to participate in public meetings in person.  

 

10. Must the Meeting Stop If the Internet Service Broadcasting the Meeting Goes 

Down During the Meeting? 

 

Answer: No. The meeting need not stop while such technical difficulties are 

resolved, however whether the legislative body can take further action on items 

appearing on the agenda depends on whether any member of the body is participating 

by teleconference via AB 2449. 

 

The meeting may continue as normal if no member of the legislative body has 

invoked AB 2449 to participate via teleconference.   

 

However, if a member has invoked AB 2449 and is participating via teleconference, 

in the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the 

meeting to members of the public, or in the event of disruption within the agency’s 

control that prevents members of the public from offering public comment, the body 

 
28 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(C). 
29 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(2)(B). 
30 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(1)(A)(i)-(ii).  
31 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(1)(C). 



FAQs Regarding Return to In-Person Meetings and Participation By Teleconference under the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, California’s Open Meeting Law 

Issued: March 30, 2023 

 

 

 -8-  

must not take further action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public 

access to the meeting is restored.32 In-person public comment and discussion by the 

body may continue.33 Of course, nothing in AB 2449 or the Brown Act prevents a 

legislative body from exercising its discretion to pause a meeting while technical 

difficulties are resolved, even though no law requires them to do so.  

 

11. Do Standing Committees of Local Bodies Have to Meet in Person? 

 

Answer: Yes. The teleconference meeting rules apply to all legislative bodies 

covered by the Brown Act. The Brown Act defines legislative body to include the 

governing body of the local agency, as well as any other “body of a local agency, 

whether permanent or temporary, decision-making or advisory, created by charter, 

ordinance, resolution, or formal action of a legislative body.34  

 

For the City, this includes the Oakland City Council, which is the governing body of the 

City, the City Council’s standing committees, and all other bodies created by the City 

Charter or by Council action, such as the Public Ethics Commission, the Police 

Commission, the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, and the Civil Service 

Board. Any standing committees of those bodies also would be considered a legislative 

body covered by the Brown Act.   

 

The Oakland-Alameda County Joint Powers Authority is a local, legislative body that is 

subject to the Brown Act35. 

 

By contrast, an advisory body composed of less than a quorum of the legislative body 

that is established for a specific, single purpose and that is temporary in nature is not 

subject to the Brown Act.36 These temporary advisory bodies sometimes are referred to as 

ad hoc committees. Ad hoc committees are not considered a legislative body and thus are 

not subject to the Brown Act. Ad hoc committees are not impacted by the teleconference 

meeting rules and those committees may continue to meet as they did before the 

termination of the COVID-19 State of Emergency.  

 

 
3244063v2 

 
32 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54953(f)(1)(D). 
33 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54952.6. 
34 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54952. 
35 McKee v. Los Angeles Interagency Metropolitan Police Apprehension Crime Task Force, 134 Cal. 

    App. 4th 354, 362-363 (2005). 
36 Cal. Gov’t Code § 54952(b). 



ATTACHMENT 5
PFRS Rules & Regulations



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 1 of 15 

Article 1:  IDENTIFICATION 

Section 1.1: Name 

 The Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) Board 

Section 1.2:  Office Location 

 Retirement Systems, 150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 3332, Oakland, CA 94612 

Section 1.3:  Authority, Statutory Requirements 

The PFRS Board shall comply with all applicable laws, including but not limited to Article XVI, Section 17 
of the California Constitution, Article XXVI of the Oakland City Charter, the Oakland Sunshine Ordinance 
(Oakland Municipal Code (“OMC”) Chapter 2.20, the Ralph M. Brown Act (Government Code section 54950 
et seq.), the California Public Records Act (Government Code section 6250 et seq.), and the Oakland 
Conflict of Interest Code (OMC Chapter 3.16). 
 

Article 2: MISSION STATEMENT 

The Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System is dedicated to the protection and prudent investment of 
the pension funds for the benefit of the PFRS retirees and beneficiaries. PFRS strives to give the 
beneficiaries of this retirement system friendly and courteous service. The Board of the Oakland Police and 
Fire Retirement System manages and administers the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System and 
Fund. In order to fulfill this mission, the PFRS Board shall: 

1. Possess power to make all necessary rules and regulations for its guidance;  

2. Have exclusive control of the administration and investment of the fund established for the maintenance 
and operation of the System;  

3. Administer the System in accordance with the provisions of Article XXVI of the Oakland City Charter; 

4. Exercise its plenary authority and fiduciary responsibility for investment of the Plan’s funds in 
accordance with Article XVI, Section 17 of the California Constitution. 

 

Article 3: BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Section 3.1: Board Membership 

The Board of the Police and Fire Retirement System consists of seven members, appointed or elected as 
set forth in Oakland City Charter section 2601: the Mayor (or a designated representative), a life insurance 
executive of a local office, a senior officer of a local bank, a community representative, an elected retired 
member of the Police Department, an elected retired member of the Fire Department, and an elected retired 
member position that alternates between the Police Department and Fire Department memberships. 

Section 3.2: Procedure to Fill Vacancy of Elected Members 

In the event a vacancy occurs before the end of a full term in any of the three (3) elected offices of the 
Board which are filled by retired members of the Retirement System, a successor shall be elected for the 
unexpired portion of the term vacated In accordance with Section 11.12. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 2 of 15 

Section 3.3: Procedure to Fill Vacancy of Appointed Members 

In the event a vacancy occurs before the end of a five (5) year term in any of the three (3) appointed offices 
of the Board, the Mayor’s office will be notified of the vacancy by the Retirement office.  The new appointee 
shall be appointed by the Mayor, confirmed by Oakland City Council and sworn-in by the Oakland City 
Clerk’s office.  A successor appointed under this Section shall be appointed for the remainder of the vacated 
term.   

Section 3.4: Holdover 

In the event of a failure to appoint a successor to the Board seat held by the life insurance representative, 
bank representative, or community representative after the expiration of a five (5) year term, the Board 
member most recently filling that seat may continue to serve as a Board member during the following term 
in a holdover capacity for up to one year. 

Section 3.5: Compensation 

All Board members shall serve without compensation. 
 

Article 4: BOARD MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES AND CORE COMPETENCIES 

Section 4.1: Attendance 

All Board members are expected to attend all board and applicable committee meetings. While attendance 
is not always possible, board members should, once the calendar for a year is set, immediately identify any 
scheduling conflicts and thereafter manage their schedules to avoid creating additional conflicts. Absences 
for medical or other substantial reasons shall be deemed to be excused absences in the discretion of the 
Board President. 

Section 4.2: Preparation 

Board members should come to Board and committee meetings having already read the materials prepared 
and circulated by staff and/or consultants, and having already asked any questions of staff necessary for 
their understanding. 

 Section 4.3: Integrity 

Board members shall conduct themselves with integrity and dignity, maintaining the highest ethical conduct 
at all times. They should understand system objectives and exercise care, prudence and diligence in 
handling confidential information. 

Section 4.4: Conflict of Interest 

No Board member and no employee of the Board shall have any interest, direct or indirect in the making of 
any investment, or in the gains or profits accruing there from. No member or employee of the Board, directly 
or indirectly, for himself or herself or as an agent or partner of others, shall borrow any of its funds or 
deposits or in any manner use the same except to make such current and necessary payments as are 
authorized by the Board; nor shall any member or employee of the Board become an endorser or surety or 
become in any manner an obligor for moneys invested by the Board.  

Board members, staff and specified consultants are subject to the conflict of interest provisions the Oakland 
Municipal Code (OMC Chapter 3.16) and California state law, including but not limited to the Political 
Reform Act (Government Code section 81000 et seq) and Government Code section 1090.   



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 3 of 15 

Board members shall timely file annually the Statement of Economic Interests (Fair Political Practices 
Commission Form 700) as required by the City of Oakland’s Conflict of Interest Code. 

Section 4.5: Knowledge 

Board members should develop and maintain their knowledge and understanding of the issues involved in 
the management of the system. The specific areas in which board members should develop and maintain 
a high level of knowledge should include: 

 Public pension plan governance. 

 Asset allocation and investment management. 

 Actuarial principles and funding policies. 

 Financial reporting, controls and audits. 

 Benefits administration. 

 Vendor selection process. 

 Open meeting and public records laws. 

 Fiduciary responsibility. 

 Ethics and conflicts of interest. 

Section 4.6: Education 

Board members are expected to pursue educational opportunities that will assist them in the fulfillment of 
their fiduciary duties to the retirement plan and its beneficiaries. Each Board member will be allocated an 
educational allowance on an annual basis. 

Section 4.7: Collegiality 

Board members shall make every effort to engage in collegial deliberations, and to maintain an atmosphere 
in which board or committee members can speak freely, explore ideas before becoming committed to 
positions and seek information from staff and other members.  
 

Article 5: MEETINGS 

Section 5.1: Open Meetings / Quorum 

Public notice of all meetings shall be provided as required by the Brown Act and the Sunshine Ordinance. 
Four members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Two Board Members 
constitute a quorum for the purpose of a Committee meeting. The powers conferred by the Charter upon 
the Board shall be exercised by order or resolution adopted by the affirmative votes of at least four (4) 
Board members. The affirmative votes of five (5) members of the Board are required for all investment 
decisions excluding Board approved drawdowns for benefits payments or administrative expenses. 

Section 5.2: Time and Place of Regular Meetings 

Section 5.2a: Full Board 

The regularly scheduled meetings of the PFRS Board shall take place at Oakland City Hall on the last 
Wednesday of each month. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 4 of 15 

Section 5.2b: Standing Committee 

The regularly scheduled meetings of the Audit/Operations Committee shall take place at Oakland City 
Hall on the last Wednesday of each month, at a specified time. 

The regularly scheduled meetings of the Investment Committee shall take place at Oakland City Hall on 
the last Wednesday of each month, at a specified time. 

Section 5.3: Special Meetings 

The President or a majority of the members of the Board may schedule a Special Meeting of the board at 
any time, with notice given in accordance with the notice provisions of the Sunshine Ordinance and 
Brown Act. 
 

Article 6: FISCAL YEAR 

The fiscal year of the Board shall commence upon the first day of July each year and terminate on the 
thirtieth day of June of the following year. 
 

Article 7: OFFICERS 

Section 7.1: Elective Officers 

At the regular meeting in September of each year, the Board shall elect one of its members to act as 
President for the ensuing year, and one to act as Vice President.  

Section 7.2: Terms of President and Vice-President 

The President and Vice-President shall take office at the close of the September meeting following their 
election and shall serve for one year or until their successors have been elected and take office. 

Section 7.3: Duties of President and Vice-President 

The President of the Board shall preside at all Board meetings. In his or her absence, the Vice-President 
shall preside. In the absence of both the President and the Vice-President, when the President has not 
selected a President Pro Tem in advance, the Board shall select one of its own members to preside.  

The President shall also: 

 Appoint the members of the Board’s standing committees annually prior to the October meeting; 

 Manage the Full Board Meeting Agenda and Committee Agendas in accordance with Article 9 of the 
PFRS Rules and Regulations; 

 Ensure that Committee Chairpersons manage committee agendas in accordance with Article 9 of the 
PFRS Rules and Regulations; 

 Schedule a Special Meeting of the Board, 

 Create ad hoc committees for a limited duration and purpose, which shall be comprised of at least one 
but less than a quorum of board members, and may include a non-board member(s), 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 5 of 15 

 Sign authorized contracts, agreements and financial documents on the Board’s behalf; and 

 Perform other duties as directed by the Board.  

The Vice President shall also: 

 Assume and discharge the President’s duties when the President is absent or otherwise unable to 
perform them, or when directed by the President; and 

 Perform other duties as directed by the Board. 

Section 7.4: Duties of the Secretary of the Board 

The Board shall also appoint a Secretary who shall hold office at its pleasure. The Secretary shall have the 
power to: 

 Administer oaths and affirmations 

 Issue subpoenas in all matters pertaining to the administration and operation of the System 

Section 7.5: Duties of the Plan Administrator 

The Plan Administrator is authorized to:  

 Approve the withdrawal of funds for the purpose of making benefit payments to retirees and their 
beneficiaries in the event that the Board is unable to do so in a timely manner and submit to the board 
for ratification. 

 Approve all demands for payment of claims against the administrative appropriation as approved by 
the Board. 

The Plan Administrator shall also:   

 Submit a monthly report to the Board that shall summarize plan expenses and membership count of 
the Retirement System.  

 Prepare an annual report for the Board and the City Council.  

 Annually submit a budget for approval by the Board and to be submitted to the City Administrator for 
the bi-annual budget. 

 

Article 8: STANDING COMMITTEES 

Section 8.1: Investment Committee 

The Investment Committee shall be a Standing Committee of the Board, consisting of three members, 
whose chairperson shall be the banker representative on the Board. If the banker representative position 
is vacant, the Board President shall appoint a chairperson. Annually, before the October meeting, the 
President of the Board shall appoint the additional members of the committee, who shall serve until their 
successors have been appointed. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 6 of 15 

The Investment Committee shall have the responsibility for making recommendations to the Board in the 
following areas: 

 Review the Plan’s overall investment objectives, risk tolerance and performance standards and 
recommend changes to the Board. 

 Recommend the hire or termination of investment managers to the PFRS Board. 

 Keep the Board apprised of the performance of the Plan’s investment portfolio. 

 Recommend the asset allocation of the Plan to the Board. 

 Recommend to the Board which investments to target for the purpose of making benefit payments 
under the Plan. 

 Review the Investment Policy and recommend changes to the Board. 

Section 8.2: Audit/Operations Committee 

The Audit/Operations Committee shall be a Standing Committee of the Board, consisting of three members. 
Annually, before the October meeting, the President of the Board shall appoint the members of the 
committee, who shall serve until their successors have been appointed. The President shall appoint a 
Committee chairperson from one of the three Committee members. 

The Audit/Operations Committee shall have the responsibility for making recommendations to the Board in 
the following areas: 

 Review the Plan’s administrative procedures for the purpose of ensuring prompt delivery of benefits 
and related services to participants and their beneficiaries and recommend necessary changes to the 
full Board. 

 Review and recommend solutions to specific issues raised by the Board that relate to administration of 
the PFRS Plan. 

 Review the actuarial valuation report and the annual financial audit report of the Plan and recommend 
approval by the Board, unless the Board President determines that a report should be reviewed in the 
first instance by the full Board. 

 Review the annual budget and recommend approval by the Board. 

 Monitor the Plan’s administrative budget and assist the Board in defraying reasonable expenses. 

 Develop and recommend changes to Board rules, regulations and policies in non-investment areas.  

 Review PFRS Rules and Regulations every three years. 

 Review PFRS Travel Policy as needed but no less than three years from the previous approval date. 

 Recommend approval of board member and staff travel in accordance with the PFRS Travel Policy. 

 Other duties and/ or issues as directed by the Board. 
 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 7 of 15 

Article 9: MEETING PROCEDURES AND BOARD ACTION  

Section 9.1: Board and Committee Time Management 

The Board President or Committee Chairperson is responsible for time management of the applicable body. 
To the greatest extent feasible, all items on Board and Committee agendas shall be supported by concise, 
easily accessible written information. 

Section 9.2: Speakers’ Cards 

Members of the public wishing to speak must submit their name and the item on the agenda they wish to 
discuss, if any, to staff before being recognized by the presiding officer.  

Members of the public who wish to speak must complete a speaker card for each agenda item s/he wishes 
to speak on. Multiple agenda items cannot be listed on one speaker card.  

Section 9.3: Speaker Procedures 

Members of the public addressing the Board shall state their name. They shall confine their remarks to the 
agenda item under discussion, unless they are speaking during the Open Forum portion of the agenda. 

Section 9.4: Time Limits for Speakers 

Any member of the public who has submitted a speaker card on an agenda item, other than open forum, 
shall be allotted three (3) minutes to speak prior to any vote or action by the Board. 

Subject to the provisions of this Rule that apply to speakers who submit multiple speaker’s cards, all 
speakers on any one item shall be allotted the same amount of speaking time on that item, unless given 
ceded time, or unless more time must be given to comply with due process or other legal requirements or 
in circumstances where the Board is acting in a quasi-adjudicatory capacity. 

Section 9.5: Speakers Submitting Speaker’s Cards on Multiple Items 

Subject to Section 9.4 and the discretion of the presiding officer, which discretion must be exercised in 
accordance with Section 9.4, a speaker who submits his or her name to speak on four or more items (other 
than open forum) will be instructed to address all items concurrently and shall be allotted 2 minutes per 
item up to a maximum of 10 minutes; if the presiding officer exercises his/her discretion under Section 9.4 
to reduce each speaker’s time to one (1) minute, speakers who submit four or more speaker’s cards shall 
be allotted one (1) minute per item up to a maximum of 5 minutes.  

Section 9.6:  Ceding Time 

In case the allotted time for each speaker is less than two (2) minutes on an agendized item, a speaker 
may extend his or her speaking time if other speakers who have submitted their names to speak agree to 
cede their time to the recipient speaker. The recipient speaker will receive one (1) minute speaking time 
from each ceding speaker, up to a maximum of five (5) minutes. At the presiding officer’s discretion, a 
speaker may be allotted more than five (5) minutes based on ceded time. The recipient speaker must submit 
the ceding speakers’ speaking cards, and the ceding speakers must be present at the time the recipient 
speaker speaks. 

Section 9.7:  Open Forum 

Speakers submitting their names to speak under open forum shall be allotted a maximum of three (3) 
minutes. A speaker may speak only once under open forum during any one meeting, subject to the 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 8 of 15 

discretion of the presiding officer. The presiding officer may reduce each speaker’s allotted time to one (1) 
minute if he or she publicly states all reasons justifying any reduction in speaker time, which reasons shall 
be based at least on consideration of the time allocated or anticipated for the meeting, the number and 
complexity of agenda items and the number of persons wishing to address the local body, and whether 
there will be sufficient time available during the meeting to consider all agenda items if all speakers are 
allowed two (2) minutes to speak. 

The Board cannot take any action under Open Forum unless it is deemed an emergency or urgency matter 
under the Sunshine Ordinance and Brown Act by a vote of the Board. 

Section 9.8: Procedure for Placing New Items on an Agenda 

For any new business by any board member, the full Board is authorized to add the item to future agendas 
of any meeting by an affirmative vote of a majority of the quorum of Board members present.  

Section 9.9: Procedure to Add, Remove Agenda Items  

For Board items, any Board member wishing to add (or remove) a Board agenda item after the Board has 
met, but before the agenda is published, must obtain authorization from the President of the Board.  

For Committee items, any Board member wishing to add (or remove) a Committee agenda item after the 
Committee has met, but before the agenda is published, must obtain authorization from the President of 
the Board and the Chair of the Committee. 

Section 9.10: Timeline for Submission of Agenda Materials 

Items which are placed onto a Board or Committee agenda pursuant to the processes described in 

Sections 9.8 and 9.9 normally will be supported by written materials submitted to the Plan Administrator 

by close of business on the Wednesday that is two (2) weeks prior to the scheduled Board/Committee 

meeting. If such materials are received following this deadline, the item will not be placed onto the 

appropriate agenda until the following month. 

Section 9.11: Minutes 

The Secretary shall cause to be recorded in the minutes, the time and place of each meeting of the Board, 
the names of Board members present and all official acts of the Board along with a summation of the Board 
discussion along with the votes, and shall cause the minutes to be written and presented for approval no 
later than the next scheduled regular meeting.   

Section 9.12: Other Requests 

Other requests by the plan sponsor, other entities or the public will be directed to the Plan Administrator, 
who will review and respond administratively. To the extent the request need to be addressed to or by the 
Board, the request will be brought to the full board for further direction or authorization.  

Section 9.13: Requests by the Board 

Any research, analyses and reports from staff as are necessary for the Board’s effective oversight of PFRS 
operations shall be initiated by placing that item on a future agenda in accordance with section 9.8. Such 
requests will be agendized and considered at regularly scheduled Board meetings. If approved, the Plan 
Administrator will be responsible for coordinating the completion of the approved project or report within a 
reasonable time or by the completion date specified in the Board action. 

Section 9.14: Requests by Individual Board Members 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 9 of 15 

Board members making individual requests for information will be advised to place the item on the Board 
meeting agenda in accordance with section 9.8 unless the information is readily available and the Plan 
Administrator determines that a response will not require any significant commitment of staff time or other 
PFRS resources. 

Section 9.15: Resolutions 

The Board shall act either by order or by resolutions, numbered in sequence of passage. In every instance, 
authorization by Board resolution shall be required for the following: 

 Setting of Retirement and Disability Allowances;  

 Changes to the types of compensation to be included as “Compensation” and “Compensation Attached 
to the Average Rank Held”; 

 Approval of Death Benefits;  

 Approval of continuation of allowances to eligible surviving spouse. 

 Authorization of Contracts. 

The Board may, in its discretion, act by resolution in other matters not listed above. Actions taken by the 
Board by way of order shall be set forth in the minutes of the Board. 

Section 9.16: Ayes and Noes 

The Board shall pass resolutions or orders only by taking the ayes and noes by an audible vote, which shall 
be entered in its minute book. Each resolution shall show on its face the ayes and noes vote thereon and 
the members so voting. 

Section 9.17: Subject and Title 

Every resolution of the Board shall be confined to one subject, which shall be clearly expressed in its title. 
 

Article 10: RULES OF ORDER 

Roberts’ Rules of Order shall be the final authority on all questions of procedure and parliamentary law, not 
otherwise provided for by the City Charter, (Article XXVI) or these rules. The deputy City Attorney in 
attendance will serve as the Parliamentarian for the PFRS Board and its Committees. 
 

Article 11:  ELECTION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD REPRESENTING RETIRED MEMBERS OF 
THE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

Section 11.1: Day for Counting of Ballots 

The fourth Wednesday in August of the year in which such election is required to be held is hereby 
designated as the day for counting of ballots. 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 10 of 15 

In the event of a vacancy of one or more of the elected PFRS Retirement Board seats before the completion 
of the full term, the day for counting ballots for the election to fill the vacant PFRS Retirement Board seat 
shall be the fourth Wednesday of the month that follows 90 days after the date of being informed of the 
vacancy. 

Section 11.2: Notice of Nomination 

On or before the first business day in June of each year in which an election is required, the office of the 
Police and Fire Retirement Board shall send a notice stating that nomination papers may be obtained at 
the office of said Police and Fire Retirement Board, the place where nomination papers shall be filed and 
the final date of filing thereof, the date when ballots will be counted and such other information as may be 
appropriate to the following organizations: 

 Retired Oakland Police Officers’ Association (ROPOA) 

 International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 55 (IAFF Local 55) 

In the event of a vacancy of one of the elected PFRS Retirement Board seats before the completion of the 
full term, the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board shall send notice as stated above no later than 
ten (10) calendar days after the date of being informed of the vacancy. 

Section 11.3: Nomination for Membership 

Nomination for membership on the Police and Fire Retirement Board from the retired membership of the 
Police and Fire Department shall be in writing on forms supplied by the office of said Police and Fire 
Retirement Board upon request.  Nomination papers shall be substantially in the form shown in Appendix 
A. Nomination papers shall be signed by at least ten retired members of the Police or Fire Department, as 
the case may be, who are members of the POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM, other than the 
person nominated. Each signatory of a nominating paper shall write the date of his/her signature at the end 
of the line opposite his/her signature. Beneficiaries of deceased members are not eligible to vote in 
elections. 

Section 11.4: Date of Filing Nomination Papers 

Nominating papers shall be filed in the Office of the Oakland City Clerk, Room 306 of the Oakland City Hall, 
not less than thirty-five days before the day of counting ballots.  If said date falls on a non-business day for 
the City of Oakland, it shall be filed on the next business day. 

Section 11.5: Determination of Sufficiency of Nominating Papers 

The City Clerk of the City of Oakland will determine when a member is nominated and for this purpose shall 
have access to the records of the Police and Fire Retirement Board the names of those retired members 
of the respective departments determined by him to have been nominated. 

Section 11.6: Winner by Default 

In the event that only one person is nominated in accordance with this Article 11 as a member of the Board, 
that person shall be declared a winner. 

Section 11.7: Mailing of Ballots 

Not less than fifteen days before the day for the counting of the ballots that shall be prepared by and mailed 
for the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board to each retired member of the Police Department of 
Fire Department who is a member of the Police and Fire Retirement System a ballot addressed to his or 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 11 of 15 

her address as shown by the records of the Police and Fire Retirement Board.  The Ballots shall contain 
the names in alphabetical order of the candidates certified by the City Clerk as nominated.  Such ballot, 
sealed in a blank envelope provided for this purpose, which shall be enclosed in another envelope, also 
provided for such purpose, upon which the voter shall place his or her name, may be returned to the City 
Clerk not later than 10:00 a.m. of the day for the counting of ballots. 

Section 11.8: Roster of Eligible Voters 

There shall be prepared in the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board a roster of eligible voters 
which shall contain the names of the retired members of the Police or Fire Department who are members 
of the Police and Fire Retirement System, excluding beneficiaries of deceased members.  Such roster of 
eligible voters shall be delivered to the City Clerk not less than fifteen days before the day for the counting 
of ballots and shall be in such form as to permit appropriate asking thereon by the City Clerk to indicate that 
an eligible member has voted. 

Section 11.9: Counting of Ballots 

On the day for the counting of ballots at the hour of 10:00 A.M. thereof, the ballot box shall be opened and 
no ballot received after said hour shall be counted.  The ballots will be counted under the supervision and 
control of the City Clerk in such manner that the identity of the individual casting any ballot will not be 
disclosed.  No ballot shall be counted unless it is enclosed in an envelope bearing the name of the voter.  
No ballot shall be counted which contains a vote for a person not nominated in accordance with Article 12.  
Upon the conclusion of the counting of the ballots, the City Clerk will certify the count and the candidate 
elected, and notify each candidate thereof by mail. 

Section 11.10: Vote Necessary for Election 

The candidate receiving the highest number of eligible votes shall be declared elected. 

Section 11.11: Disposition of Ballots after Counting 

Upon conclusion of the counting of the ballots they shall be kept by the City Clerk in the manner and for the 
period the ballots of municipal elections are kept. 

Section 11.12: Procedure to Fill Vacancy of Elected Members 

In the event a vacancy occurs before the end of a full term in any of the three (3) elected offices of the 
Board which are filled by retired members of the Retirement System, a successor shall be elected for the 
unexpired portion of the term vacated.  The successor shall be elected from the same department of the 
member who is vacating the seat for the remainder of said unexpired three (3) year, or five (5) year, term. 
The election shall be governed by Article 11. 
 

Article 12: RECALL OF MEMBER OF THE BOARD REPRESENTING RETIRED MEMBERS OF 
THE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

Section 12.1: Day for Counting Recall Ballots 

The Ballots shall be counted not less than 90 days from receiving Recall Petition. 

Section 12.2: Notice of Recall Petition 

Upon receiving a Notice of Recall, the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board shall send to the 
Retired Oakland Police Officers’ Association (ROPOA), International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 55 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 12 of 15 

(IAFF Local 55) and the City Clerk a notice stating that a recall petition had been received, the date when 
ballots will be counted and such other information as may be appropriate. 

The Petition for recall of a retired member on the Police and Fire Retirement Board shall be in writing on 
forms supplied by the Secretary of the Board upon request.  Recall petitions shall be substantially in the 
form as shown in Appendix B. 

Recall petition shall be signed by 10 retired members of the Police or Fire Department (as the case may 
be).  And who are members of the POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM, other than the person 
recalled.  Each signatory of a recall petition shall write the date of his/her signature at the end of the line 
opposite his/her signature.  Beneficiaries of deceased retired members are not eligible to sign or vote on 
recall. 

Section 12.3: Date of Filing Recall Petition Paper 

Petition papers shall be filed in the Office of the Oakland City Clerk, Room 306 of the Oakland City Hall, 
not more than thirty (30) days after filing the notice of recall petition. 

Within seven (7) days after filing of petition the board member sought for recall may file with the City Clerk, 
a response, in not more than 200 words, to the statement of the proponents.  If a response is filed, the City 
Clerk shall serve a copy by Certified Mail, to one of the proponents named in the petition. 

Copies of the Petition and Response shall be distributed and posted within the offices of ROPOA, IAFF 
Local 55 and the City Clerk.  The statement and answers shall be for voter’s information and will be mailed 
to them upon the request. 

Section 12.4: Determination of Recall Petition 

The City Clerk of the City of Oakland will determine when a member is recalled and for this purpose shall 
have access to the records of the Police and Fire Retirement Board.  The City Clerk, within five (5) days 
after the last day for filing Recall Petition papers will certify to the office of the Police and Retirement Board 
the names of those retired members of the respective departments determined by him to have been 
recalled. 

Section 12.5: Mailing of Ballots 

Not less than fifteen (15) days before the day the counting of the ballots shall be prepared by and mailed 
form the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board to each retired member of the Police or Fire 
Department and who is a member of the Police and Fire Retirement System a ballot addressed to his or 
her address as shown by the records of the Police and Fire Retirement Board.  The ballots shall contain 
the name of the member to be recalled, as certified by the City Clerk.  Such ballot, sealed in a blank 
envelope provided for this purpose, which shall be enclosed in another envelope, also provided for such 
purpose, upon which the voter shall place his/her name, may be returned to the City Clerk not later than 
10:00 A.M. of the day for counting of ballots. 

Section 12.6: Roster of Eligible Voters 

The Roster of Eligible Voters described in Section 11.8 shall be delivered to the City Clerk not less than 
fifteen (15) days before the day for counting of the ballots and shall be in such form as to permit appropriate 
marking thereon by the City Clerk to indicate that an eligible member has voted on the recall. 

 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

Section 12.7: Counting of Ballots 

On the day for counting of ballots at the hour of 10:00 A.M. thereof the ballot box shall be opened and no 
ballots received after said hour shall be counted. Upon the conclusion of the counting of the ballots, the 
City Clerk will certify the count and notify the Retire~ment Board of the results. 

Section 12.8: Vote Necessary for Recall 

The majority of eligible votes counted and cast to recall or not recall the board member shall prevail. 

Section 12.9: Disposition of Ballots after CountirLQ. 

Upon conclusion of the counting of the ballots, they shall be kept by the City Clerk in the manner and for 
the period, the ballots of municipal recalls are kept. 

Article 13: PROCEDURE TO FILL VACANCY OF RECALLED MEMBER 

A vacancy created after a successful recall pursuant to Article 12 shall be filled by the procedure set forth 
in Article 11.12. 

These rules may be amended by a majority vote of the Board at any regular meeting or special meeting 
called for that purpose. 

Article 14: AMENDMENT OF RULES AND FlEGULATIONS 

These Rules and Regulations may be amended under the following procedures: 

• Amendments shall be read at a regular meeting. 

• No vote may be taken earlier than the next regular meeting. 

• At least four (4) members of the Board must vote in favor of the amendments. 

The Rules and Regulations of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System have been approved by vote 

of the Board of Administration, effective ---------=J=U=N=E=-=27'-'-"2""'0'""'1.;::.8 ________ _ 

& FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD 

KATANO KASAINE 
SECRETARY 
OAKLAND POLICE & FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD 

Page 13of15 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 14 of 15 

APPENDIX A 
 

Nomination Form – Elected PFRS Member 
 

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
 

I, undersigned, am a retired member of the Oakland Police Department (or Fire 

Department as the case may be), and a member of the POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT 

SYSTEM, and I hereby nominate    ,  

a member of the POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM, as a candidate for 

membership on the Police and Fire Retirement Board from the retired membership of the 

Oakland Police Department (or Fire Department as the case may be), for the term expiring 

August 31,  . 

 Name Signature Date 

1.       

2.       

3.       

4.       

5.       

6.       

7.       

8.       

9.       

10.       

 
I accept the nomination and consent to serve if elected. 
 
    
 Signature of Nominee 

PRINT NOMINEE NAME 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

Page 15 of 15 

APPENDIX B 
 

Board Member Recall Form – Elected PFRS Member 
 

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
 

I, undersigned, am a retired member of the Oakland Police or Fire Department (as the 

case may be), and a member of the POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM. I 

hereby request that    , 

 a member of the POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD as representative for the 

Police or Fire Department (as the case may be), be recalled by the retired membership 

of said department, for the unexpired term ending  , for the 

following reasons: 

  

  

 

 Name Signature Date 

1.       

2.       

3.       

4.       

5.       

6.       

7.       

8.       

9.       

10.       

 



 

 

MEKETA.COM 

December 2024 Report 

 

Economic and Market Update 

 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Commentary 

Although most major markets finished 2024 in positive territory, in the fourth quarter, with the exception of 
US stocks, the majority of markets declined. 

→ Trump’s victory along with a now Republican controlled Congress, supported US equity markets in the fourth 
quarter on anticipation of pro-growth policies. Domestic equity markets (Russell 3000) posted a return of 2.6% in 
the quarter and an impressive 23.8% for the year driven by large cap technology stocks. 

→ Non-US developed stocks sold-off in the fourth quarter (MSCI EAFE: -8.1%) largely driven by the strength of the 
US dollar, as well as slowing growth in Europe and the potential for trade wars. For the year, they trailed US equities 
by a wide 20% margin (3.8% versus 23.8%). 

→ Emerging market stocks also fell (MSCI Emerging Markets: -8.0%) in the fourth quarter, again driven by the strong 
dollar and concerns about US tariffs. In 2024, emerging markets beat developed international markets (7.5% versus 
3.8%) but significantly trailed the US. 

→ The Federal Reserve cut its policy rate another 0.25% in December, but its Summary of Economic Projections and 
hawkish comments provoked a repricing of future rate cuts and their timing. 

→ Most fixed income markets fell for the quarter with interest rates rising given fears of inflation from the proposed 
policies of the incoming US administration. The broad US bond market (Bloomberg Aggregate) declined 3.1% for 
the quarter, reducing its 2024 gain to 1.3%. For the year, most major bond markets delivered positive returns on 
cooling global inflation.  

→ Looking ahead, uncertainty related to the policies of the new Trump Administration and its impact on the economy, 
inflation, and Fed policy will be key. The path of China’s economy and concerns over elevated valuations and 
technology driven concentration in the US equity market will also be important focuses of 2025.  

Page 2 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Index Returns1 

→ In 2024, most major assets classes posted gains, led by the S&P 500’s 25.0% return. 

→ Markets had mixed returns in the fourth quarter. US equities rose on optimism over potential pro-growth policies 
from the incoming administration while inflation concerns and a strong dollar, respectively, weighed on bonds and 
international equities.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of December 31, 2024. 

2024 Q4 2024 

 

25.0%

23.8%

17.5%

11.5%

8.7%

8.2%

7.5%

5.4%

4.7%

3.8%

1.8%

1.3%

-2.4%

S&P 500

Russell 3000

MSCI ACWI

Russell 2000

FTSE NAREIT Equity

Bloomberg High Yield

MSCI Emerging Markets

Bloomberg Commodity Index

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

MSCI EAFE

Bloomberg US TIPS

Bloomberg Aggregate

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

2.6%

2.4%

0.3%

0.2%

-0.1%

-0.4%

-1.0%

-2.9%

-3.1%

-6.2%

-7.0%

-8.0%

-8.1%

Russell 3000

S&P 500

Russell 2000

Bloomberg High Yield

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

Bloomberg Commodity Index

MSCI ACWI

Bloomberg US TIPS

Bloomberg Aggregate

FTSE NAREIT Equity

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

MSCI Emerging Markets

MSCI EAFE

Page 3 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Domestic Equity Returns1 
 

Domestic Equity 
December 

(%) 
Q4 2024 

(%) 
2024 
(%) 

3 YR 
(%) 

5 YR 
(%) 

10 YR 
(%) 

S&P 500 -2.4 2.4 25.0 8.9 14.5 13.1 

Russell 3000 -3.1 2.6 23.8 8.0 13.9 12.5 

Russell 1000 -2.8 2.7 24.5 8.4 14.3 12.9 

Russell 1000 Growth 0.9 7.1 33.4 10.5 19.0 16.8 

Russell 1000 Value -6.8 -2.0 14.4 5.6 8.7 8.5 

Russell MidCap -7.0 0.6 15.3 3.8 9.9 9.6 

Russell MidCap Growth -6.2 8.1 22.1 4.0 11.5 11.5 

Russell MidCap Value -7.3 -1.7 13.1 3.9 8.6 8.1 

Russell 2000 -8.3 0.3 11.5 1.2 7.4 7.8 

Russell 2000 Growth -8.2 1.7 15.2 0.2 6.9 8.1 

Russell 2000 Value -8.3 -1.1 8.1 1.9 7.3 7.1 

US Equities: The Russell 3000 rose 2.6% in the fourth quarter, bringing the year-to-date results to +23.8%.  

→ US stocks rose broadly in the fourth quarter on a post-election rally. However, value stocks did not participate and 
ended the quarter lower. In the large cap space, the Russell 1000 Value index’s omission of several “Magnificent 7” 
stocks, such as NVIDIA, Amazon, and Tesla, drove much of the divergence.  

→ For the full year, US equities gained 23.8%. NVIDIA was the leading contributor among all stocks in the 
Russell 3000 index. The stock appreciated 171% during the year and was responsible for 20% of total index gains. 
The “Magnificent 7” stocks contributed just under 50% of the 2024 index gains. 

→ Growth stocks outperformed value stocks across the market cap spectrum in 2024, which was more pronounced 
in the large cap space. Larger companies (Russell 1000) produced more than double the returns of smaller 
companies (Russell 2000) for the year.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of December 31, 2024. 

Page 4 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Russell 3000 Sector Returns1 

 

→ US equity sectors experienced mixed results in the final quarter of the year but all sectors except materials, 
experienced gains in 2024. 

→ Technology stocks rose 37.1% last year, which led all sectors. Within technology, NVIDIA and 
Broadcom accounted for more than half of the sector’s contribution to overall index gains.  

→ After technology, consumer discretionary (+28.3%) and financials (+28.0%) were next driven by Amazon and Tesla 
and a steepening yield curve/strong economy, respectively.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of December 31, 2024. 

-4.5%

28.3%

3.1% 2.3%

28.0%

2.0%

16.8%

37.1%

18.5% 19.1%
23.8%

-12.9%

11.3%

-6.5%
-2.1%

6.1%

-10.1%

0.0%

6.4%
2.0%

-5.6%

2.6%

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

B
a

s
ic

 M
a
te

ri
a
ls

C
o

n
s
u

m
e

r 
D

is
c
re

ti
o

n
a
ry

C
o

n
s
u

m
e

r 
S

ta
p

le
s

E
n

e
rg

y

F
in

a
n

c
ia

ls

H
e

a
lt

h
 C

a
re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
ls

T
e
c

h
n

o
lo

g
y

T
e
le

c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti

o
n

s

U
ti

li
ti

e
s

R
u

s
s

e
ll
 3

0
0

0

2024 Q4 2024

Page 5 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

 Foreign Equity Returns1 
 

Foreign Equity 
December 

(%) 

Q4 2024 
(%) 

2024 
(%) 

3 YR 
(%) 

5 YR 
(%) 

10 YR 
(%) 

MSCI ACWI Ex US -1.9 -7.6 5.5 0.8 4.1 4.8 

MSCI EAFE -2.3 -8.1 3.8 1.6 4.7 5.2 

MSCI EAFE (Local Currency) 0.4 -0.6 11.3 6.3 7.5 7.1 

MSCI EAFE Small Cap -2.3 -8.4 1.8 -3.2 2.3 5.5 

MSCI Emerging Markets -0.1 -8.0 7.5 -1.9 1.7 3.6 

MSCI Emerging Markets (Local Currency) 1.2 -4.4 13.1 1.6 4.5 6.0 

MSCI EM ex China -1.2 -8.1 3.6 0.1 4.4 4.7 

MSCI China 2.7 -7.7 19.4 -6.1 -3.4 1.9 

Foreign Equity: Developed international equities (MSCI EAFE) fell -8.1% in the fourth quarter but rose 3.8% 
for the year, while emerging market equities (MSCI Emerging Markets) fell -8.0% in the quarter but returned 
7.5% for the year.  

→ Continued strength in the US dollar weighed on developed market shares, with declines in local terms significantly 
lower (-0.6% versus -8.1%). An unstable political environment, potential tariffs from the US, and weak growth all 
weighed on eurozone equities. Japan was a bright spot, outperforming the US for the quarter, with renewed yen 
weakness boosting the outlook for exporters. 

→ Emerging markets reacted poorly to Mr. Trump’s win in the fourth quarter, due largely to tariff fears and the Fed’s 
decreased likelihood of reducing rates in 2025. A strong dollar also weighed on results but not as much as in 
developed markets. China declined less than the broader index for the quarter (-7.7% versus -8.0%). 

→ Over the full 2024 calendar year, international equities significantly trailed US equities.   
 

1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of December 31, 2024. 

Page 6 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E Ratios1 

 

→ Valuations in US stocks continued to move higher over the quarter while valuations for international equities fell. 

→ US stocks, priced at 38.1 times earnings, continue to trade well above their long-run PE average of 28.2.  

→ Non-US developed market valuations are trading at their long-term average. Emerging market stock valuations 
declined the most over the quarter (16.1 to 14.8) and remain below their long-term average.   

 
1  US Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E on S&P 500 Index. Source: Robert Shiller, Yale University, and Meketa Investment Group. Developed and Emerging Market Equity (MSCI EAFE and EM Index) Cyclically Adjusted P/E Source: Bloomberg. Earnings 

figures represent the average of monthly “as reported” earnings over the previous ten years. Data is as of December 2024. The average line is the long-term average of the US, EM, and EAFE PE values from April 1998 to the recent month-end, 
respectively. 

Page 7 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Fixed Income Returns1 

Fixed Income 
December 

(%) 
Q4 2024 

(%) 
2024 
(%) 

3 YR 
(%) 

5 YR 
(%) 

10 YR 
(%) 

Current 
Yield 
(%) 

Duration 
(Years) 

Bloomberg Universal -1.5 -2.7 2.0 -1.9 0.1 1.7 5.1 5.9 

Bloomberg Aggregate -1.6 -3.1 1.3 -2.4 -0.3 1.3 4.9 6.1 

Bloomberg US TIPS -1.6 -2.9 1.8 -2.3 1.9 2.2 4.6 6.5 

Bloomberg Short-term TIPS -0.1 -0.1 4.7 2.1 3.3 2.6 4.4 2.4 

Bloomberg US Long Treasury -5.3 -8.6 -6.4 -12.0 -5.2 -0.6 4.9 14.9 

Bloomberg High Yield -0.4 0.2 8.2 2.9 4.2 5.2 7.5 3.5 

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified 
(USD) 

-1.9 -7.0 -2.4 -1.0 -1.9 -0.4 -- -- 

Fixed Income: The Bloomberg Universal index fell 2.7% in the quarter, bringing the year-to-date return to +2.0%. 

→ Fixed income indexes largely declined over the quarter due to rising interest rates as investors considered 
proposed policies like tariffs and deportations and their respective risks to inflation.  

→ The broad US bond market (Bloomberg Aggregate) fell 3.1% over the quarter, with TIPS performing similarly at 
longer maturities. Long-term Treasury bonds experienced the largest declines, with a drop of 8.6%. 

→ High yield bonds outperformed as investor risk appetite remained robust, while emerging market debt weakened 
on uncertainty about the path of proposed US tariffs by the incoming administration as well as by higher 
US interest rates.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of December 31, 2024. The yield and duration data from Bloomberg is defined as the index’s yield to worst and modified duration, respectively. JPM GBI-EM data is from J.P. Morgan. Current yield and duration data is 

not available. 

Page 8 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

US Yield Curve1 

 

→ With the exception of the very shortest maturities, US Treasury yields rose in the fourth quarter driven by resilient 
growth and increased inflation expectations. Term premium (a measure of interest rate uncertainty) spiking over 
the quarter was a key driver of higher rates.  

→ Over the quarter, the more policy sensitive 2-year Treasury yield rose from 3.64% to 4.24%, while the 10-year 
Treasury yield rose from 3.78% to 4.57%.  

→ The yield curve was no longer inverted (short-term interest rates higher than long-term interest rates) at year-end 
given expectations for the Fed to continue to reduce rates and resilient economic growth and persistent inflation.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of December 31, 2024. The August 2023 Treasury yields are shown as a reference before the first interest rate cut. 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

3M 6M 1Y 2Y 5Y 7Y 10Y 30Y

8/31/2023 12/31/2024

Page 9 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

10-Year Treasury Yield versus Fed Funds Rate1 

 
 

→ Typically, when the Fed cuts interest rates, the yield on the ten-year Treasury follows as rate cuts often come in 
an environment of falling inflation and rising unemployment. 

→ The recent dynamic has been very unusual with the Fed cutting interest rates by a total of 1.0% since September 
and the ten-year Treasury increasing by a similar amount over the same time period. 

→ Questions remain about why this is happening with some saying it is related to fiscal concerns and others pointing 
to lower demand for our debt from overseas. It is also possible the market feels the Fed has overcut rates already. 

 
1 Source: FRED. Data is as of January 15, 2025. 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

10 Year Treasury Yield Effective Federal Funds Rate

Page 10 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Credit Spreads vs. US Treasury Bonds1 

 

→ Spreads (the yield above a comparable maturity Treasury) all continued to tighten over the quarter.  

→ All yield spreads remained below their respective long-run averages, particularly high yield (2.9% versus 5.0%).  

→ Although spreads are tight, absolute yields remain at above-average levels compared to the last two decades.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as December 31, 2024. Average lines denote the average of the investment grade, high yield, and emerging market spread values from September 2002 to the recent month-end, respectively. 

Page 11 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Equity and Fixed Income Volatility1 

 

→ Bond and equity volatility experienced several spikes over the quarter ahead of the election but finished lower after 
the clear results. 

→ Volatility levels (VIX) in the US stock market finished the quarter below its long-run average, while volatility in the 
bond market (MOVE) ended December above its long-run average.   

 
1 Equity Volatility – Source: FRED. Fixed Income Volatility – Source: Bloomberg. Implied volatility as measured using VIX Index for equity markets and the MOVE Index to measure interest rate volatility for fixed income markets. Data is as of 

December 31, 2024. The average line indicated is the average of the VIX and MOVE values between January 2000 and December 2024. 

Page 12 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

US Ten-Year Breakeven Inflation and CPI1 

 

→ In December, inflation rose 0.4% month-over-month with energy prices accounting for 40% of the monthly increase.  

→ Year-over-year inflation increased from 2.4% to 2.9% over the quarter largely driven by base year effects. In the 
December reading shelter (+4.6%), transportation (+7.3%), and medical care (+3.4%) contributed to the annual 
gain while energy prices (-0.5%) fell over the past year despite the December (+2.6%) gains.  

→ Year-over-year core inflation (excluding food and energy) fell slightly over the quarter (3.3% to 3.2%).  

→ Inflation expectations (breakevens) rose over the quarter from the September lows of 2.0%, on continued 
uncertainty regarding the likelihood and magnitude of potential policies of the next US president.  

 
1 Source: FRED. Data is as of December 2024. The CPI and 10 Year Breakeven average lines denote the average values from February 1997 to the present month-end, respectively. Breakeven values represent month-end values for comparative 

purposes. 

Page 13 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Global Inflation (CPI Trailing Twelve Months)1 

 

→ In the eurozone, inflation rose each month over the quarter (1.7% to 2.4%) but levels remain below the US. The 
increase was largely driven by last year’s significant fall in energy prices no longer being included in the calculation. 

→ Inflation in Japan rose over the quarter due in part to an increase in food prices and the end of energy subsidies 
driving electricity and gas prices higher.  

→ Inflation in China grinded lower in the fourth quarter (0.4% to 0.1%). China continues to experience deflationary 
pressures despite recent stimulus measures.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as December 2024, except Japan which is as of November 2024.  

Page 14 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

US Unemployment1 

 

→ The unemployment rate stayed stable over the quarter at 4.1% with close to 500k jobs added to the economy since 
the end of September. 

→ In December, the heath care (+46K), retail (+43k), and government (+33K) sectors added jobs, while retail – which 
lost jobs in November – rebounded (+43K) jobs.  

→ Job openings (8.1M) rose over last month’s openings (7.7M) but are well below pandemic highs (>12M); the 
number of openings exceeds the number of unemployed workers looking for work (6.9M).  

→ Separations (5.1M) and hires (5.3M) remain steady and average hourly wages continue to grow at approximately 
3.9% a year.   

 
1 Source: FRED and BLS. Data is as of December 31, 2024. 

Page 15 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Policy Rates1 

 

→ In the US, the Fed reduced interest rates by 0.25% twice over the quarter to a range of 4.25% to 4.50%, in moves 
largely expected by investors. Going forward, questions remain about the timing and amount of additional cuts 
given the strength of the economy and persistent above-target inflation. 

→ The Bank of England left rates unchanged in December after their November 0.25% cut, while the 
European Central Bank cut rates by another 0.25% in early December.  

→ After exiting negative interest rates in 2024 and making several rate increases, rate cutting by other major central 
banks are complicating prospects for further policy rate hikes in Japan.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of December 31, 2024. United States rate is the mid-point of the Federal Funds Target Rate range. Eurozone rate is the ECB Deposit Facility Announcement Rate. Japan rate is the Bank of Japan Unsecured Overnight 

Call Rate Expected. China rate is the China Central Bank 1-Year Medium Term Interest Rate. UK rate is the UK Bank of England Official Bank Rate. 

Page 16 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

US Dollar vs. Broad Currencies1 

 

→ Over the quarter, the US dollar sharply strengthened (+8.0%) versus other currencies.  

→ A rise in interest rates driven by potential inflationary impacts of proposed higher tariffs, lower taxes, and 
immigration policies from candidate, and now president-elect Trump, drove the dollar’s gains.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data as of December 31, 2024. 

Page 17 of 19



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Summary 

Key Trends: 

→ According to the International Monetary Fund’s (IMF) October report, global growth in 2025 is expected to be similar 
to 2024 at around 3.2% with most major economies predicted to avoid a recession.  

→ Questions remain about what policies will be implemented by the new administration in the US. Although 
deregulation and tax cuts could support growth, these policies, along with higher tariffs and restrictive immigration, 
could fan inflation. This will likely lead to additional uncertainty regarding the timing and pace of interest rate cuts 
in the coming year.  

→ US consumers could feel pressure as certain components of inflation (e.g., shelter) remain high, borrowing costs 
stay elevated, and the job market may weaken further. 

→ A focus for US equities going forward will be whether earnings can remain resilient if growth slows. Also, the future 
paths of the large technology companies that have driven market gains will be important. 

→ We have started to see divergences in monetary policy. Some central banks, such as the Fed, 
European Central Bank, and the Bank of England, have started to cut interest rates and others, like the 
Bank of Japan, have increased interest rates. This disparity will likely influence capital flows and currencies.  

→ China appears to have shifted focus to more policy support for the economy/asset prices with a suite of fiscal and 
financial policy stimulus measures. Thus far, these efforts have not increased weak consumer spending or helped 
the lingering trouble in the real estate sector. It is still not clear what the long-term impact of these policies will be 
on the economy and if policy makers will remain committed to these efforts. 

Page 18 of 19



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 
 

THIS REPORT (THE “REPORT”) HAS BEEN PREPARED FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”).  

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT, AND IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT. THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN, INCLUDING ANY OPINIONS OR 

RECOMMENDATIONS, REPRESENTS OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY 

TIME. ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK, AND THERE CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS 

DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

THE INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT MAY HAVE BEEN OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND 

OTHER EXTERNAL SOURCES. SOME OF THIS REPORT MAY HAVE BEEN PRODUCED WITH THE ASSISTANCE OF ARTIFICIAL 

INTELLIGENCE (“AI”) TECHNOLOGY. WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT 

GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY, ADEQUACY, VALIDITY, RELIABILITY, AVAILABILITY, OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY INFORMATION 

CONTAINED HEREIN, WHETHER OBTAINED EXTERNALLY OR PRODUCED BY THE AI. 

THE RECIPIENT SHOULD BE AWARE THAT AI-GENERATED CONTENT MAY NOT HAVE CONSIDERED ALL RISK FACTORS. THE RECIPIENT 

IS ADVISED TO PERFORM THEIR OWN DUE DILIGENCE AND CONSULT WITH PROFESSIONAL ADVISORS BEFORE MAKING ANY 

FINANCIAL DECISIONS OR TAKING ANY ACTION BASED ON THE CONTENT OF THIS REPORT. WE BELIEVE THE INFORMATION TO BE 

FACTUAL AND UP TO DATE BUT DO NOT ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ERRORS OR OMISSIONS IN THE CONTENT PRODUCED BY 

AI TECHNOLOGY. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL WE BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, DIRECT, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR 

INCIDENTAL DAMAGES OR ANY DAMAGES WHATSOEVER, WHETHER IN AN ACTION OF CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, OR OTHER TORT, 

ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE USE OF AI-GENERATED CONTENT. PLEASE REMEMBER, AI TECHNOLOGY IS NOT A 

SUBSTITUTE FOR HUMAN EXPERTISE. IT IS IMPORTANT FOR THE RECIPIENT TO CRITICALLY EVALUATE THE INFORMATION PROVIDED. 

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE 

IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM,” “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” 

“ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE,” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE 

TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS REPORT ARE 

BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD-LOOKING 

STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY 

DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS REPORT. 

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE 

RESULTS. 

Page 19 of 19



MEKETA.COM

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

January 29, 2025

December Flash Report



Allocation vs. Targets and Policy
Balance

($)
Current

(%)
Long-Term
Policy (%)

Difference
(%)

Interim
Policy (%)

Policy Range
(%)

Within IPS
Range?

Domestic Equity 211,086,408 45.6 25.0 20.6 34.0 15.0 - 35.0 No

International Equity 60,379,355 13.0 5.0 8.0 12.0 2.0 - 22.0 Yes

Fixed Income 109,911,826 23.7 51.0 -27.3 44.0 31.0 - 71.0 No

Credit 7,433,085 1.6 10.0 -8.4 0.0 0.0 - 16.0 Yes

Covered Calls 20,191,744 4.4 0.0 4.4 0.0 0.0 - 5.0 Yes

Crisis Risk Offset 37,541,773 8.1 9.0 -0.9 10.0 4.0 - 14.0 Yes

Cash 16,425,606 3.5 0.0 3.5 0.0 0.0 - 5.0 Yes

Total 462,969,798 100.0 100.0 0.0 100.0

Policy Current

0.0%

3.5%

9.0%
8.1%

0.0%

4.4%

10.0%

51.0%

23.7%

5.0%

13.0%

25.0% 45.6%

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

 As of December 31, 2024

The new asset allocation policy established after the completion of the 2023 Asset-Liability Study became effective in July 2024. The asset classes may be out of policy ranges due to pending transitions.

¢£

¢£

¢£
¢£

¢£
¢£

¢£

1.6%

Page 2 of 12



Asset Class Performance Summary

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

OPFRS Total Plan 462,969,798 100.0 -2.9 -1.8 9.3 1.9 5.7 6.8 6.7 Dec-88

      OPFRS Policy Benchmark -2.0 -1.5 10.9 3.2 6.5 7.1 8.0

            Excess Return -0.8 -0.3 -1.6 -1.3 -0.8 -0.3 -1.3

  Domestic Equity 211,086,408 45.6 -4.3 0.3 17.2 5.3 11.4 11.1 9.2 Jun-97

      Russell 3000 (Blend) -3.1 2.6 23.8 8.0 13.9 12.5 9.8

            Excess Return -1.2 -2.3 -6.6 -2.7 -2.5 -1.4 -0.5

  International Equity 60,379,355 13.0 -2.4 -6.7 7.5 2.5 5.0 6.1 5.4 Jan-98

      MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend) -1.9 -7.6 5.5 0.8 4.1 4.8 5.1

            Excess Return -0.4 0.9 1.9 1.7 0.9 1.3 0.3

  Fixed Income 109,911,826 23.7 -1.8 -3.2 1.6 -2.1 0.1 1.8 4.4 Jan-94

      Bloomberg Universal (Blend) -1.5 -2.7 2.0 -2.0 0.1 1.7 4.5

            Excess Return -0.3 -0.4 -0.4 -0.2 0.0 0.1 -0.1

  Credit 7,433,085 1.6 0.6 0.8 7.9 3.7 5.4 -- 5.2 Feb-15

      Blmbg. U.S. Corp: High Yield Index -0.4 0.2 8.2 2.9 4.2 -- 5.1

            Excess Return 1.0 0.6 -0.3 0.8 1.2 -- 0.1

  Covered Calls 20,191,744 4.4 -1.2 3.0 18.4 7.5 11.4 10.2 9.9 Apr-14

      Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index 2.2 5.8 20.1 6.0 6.9 6.9 6.7

            Excess Return -3.4 -2.8 -1.7 1.5 4.5 3.2 3.1

  Crisis Risk Offset 37,541,773 8.1 -1.0 -4.2 -3.6 -6.0 -9.6 -- -7.0 Aug-18

      Crisis Risk Offset Benchmark -0.8 -2.4 2.0 3.1 0.1 -- 0.3

            Excess Return -0.2 -1.8 -5.6 -9.1 -9.7 -- -7.4

  Cash 16,425,606 3.5 0.0 0.2 0.8 0.3 0.4 0.8 0.6 Mar-11

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class Performance Summary | As of December 31, 2024

Performance shown is net of fees, except for Total Plan, Domestic Equity, and International Equity composites which have a mix of gross and net of fees performance. Please see the Addendum for more details.
Since inception date and performance begin in the month following an investment's initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see Benchmark History section for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 3 of 12



Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

OPFRS Total Plan 462,969,798 100.0 -2.9 -1.8 9.3 1.9 5.7 6.8 6.7 Dec-88

      OPFRS Policy Benchmark -2.0 -1.5 10.9 3.2 6.5 7.1 8.0

            Excess Return -0.8 -0.3 -1.6 -1.3 -0.8 -0.3 -1.3

  Domestic Equity 211,086,408 45.6 -4.3 0.3 17.2 5.3 11.4 11.1 9.2 Jun-97

      Russell 3000 (Blend) -3.1 2.6 23.8 8.0 13.9 12.5 9.8

            Excess Return -1.2 -2.3 -6.6 -2.7 -2.5 -1.4 -0.5

    Northern Trust Russell 1000 109,837,244 23.7 -2.8 2.7 24.4 8.3 14.2 12.8 14.2 Jun-10

      Russell 1000 Index -2.8 2.7 24.5 8.4 14.3 12.9 14.3

            Excess Return 0.0 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1

    EARNEST Partners 41,511,365 9.0 -6.8 -3.2 7.1 1.7 9.5 10.9 9.3 Apr-06

      Russell Midcap Index -7.0 0.6 15.3 3.8 9.9 9.6 9.1

            Excess Return 0.3 -3.8 -8.2 -2.1 -0.4 1.3 0.2

    Wellington Select Quality Equity 26,998,936 5.8 -4.4 -4.1 10.4 -- -- -- 8.0 May-22

      Russell 1000 Index -2.8 2.7 24.5 -- -- -- 15.7

            Excess Return -1.6 -6.9 -14.1 -- -- -- -7.7

    Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 14,767,286 3.2 -8.2 -1.4 12.7 6.9 -- -- 8.2 Apr-21

      Russell 2000 Value Index -8.3 -1.1 8.1 1.9 -- -- 3.1

            Excess Return 0.1 -0.3 4.7 5.0 -- -- 5.1

    Rice Hall James 17,971,578 3.9 -4.0 2.5 16.1 0.0 7.3 -- 7.9 Aug-17

      Russell 2000 Growth Index -8.2 1.7 15.2 0.2 6.9 -- 8.2

            Excess Return 4.2 0.8 0.9 -0.2 0.4 -- -0.3

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class & Manager Performance | As of December 31, 2024

Performance shown is net of fees, except for Total Plan and Domestic Equity which have a mix of gross and net of fees performance. Please see the Addendum for more details. Since inception date and performance begin in the month
following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see the Benchmark History for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 4 of 12



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class & Manager Performance | As of December 31, 2024
Market Value

($)
% of

Portfolio
1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

  International Equity 60,379,355 13.0 -2.4 -6.7 7.5 2.5 5.0 6.1 5.4 Jan-98

      MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend) -1.9 -7.6 5.5 0.8 4.1 4.8 5.1

            Excess Return -0.4 0.9 1.9 1.7 0.9 1.3 0.3

    Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 16,013,244 3.5 -3.5 -8.1 3.2 1.0 4.8 -- 6.7 Sep-19

      FTSE Developed All Cap ex-U.S. Index -2.8 -7.9 3.7 1.3 5.1 -- 7.0

            Excess Return -0.7 -0.2 -0.5 -0.3 -0.3 -- -0.3

    SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 44,366,111 9.6 -2.0 -6.2 9.1 3.3 5.3 -- 5.3 Dec-19

      MSCI AC World ex USA (Net) -1.9 -7.6 5.5 0.8 4.1 -- 4.9

            Excess Return 0.0 1.4 3.6 2.4 1.2 -- 0.4

  Fixed Income 109,911,826 23.7 -1.8 -3.2 1.6 -2.1 0.1 1.8 4.4 Jan-94

      Bloomberg Universal (Blend) -1.5 -2.7 2.0 -2.0 0.1 1.7 4.5

            Excess Return -0.3 -0.4 -0.4 -0.2 0.0 0.1 -0.1

    Ramirez 74,416,688 16.1 -1.9 -3.3 1.4 -2.3 -0.2 -- 1.6 Jan-17

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index -1.6 -3.1 1.3 -2.4 -0.3 -- 1.3

            Excess Return -0.3 -0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2 -- 0.4

    Wellington Core Bond 7,160,521 1.5 -1.4 -3.0 2.4 -2.1 -- -- -1.2 Apr-21

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index -1.6 -3.1 1.3 -2.4 -- -- -1.4

            Excess Return 0.2 0.1 1.1 0.3 -- -- 0.2

    Reams 28,334,617 6.1 -1.8 -3.0 1.9 -1.6 2.4 2.9 4.8 Feb-98

      Bloomberg Universal (Blend) -1.5 -2.7 2.0 -2.0 0.1 1.7 4.1

            Excess Return -0.3 -0.3 -0.1 0.4 2.3 1.1 0.7

Performance shown is net of fees, except for International Equity composite which has a mix of gross and net of fees performance. Please see the Addendum for more details. Since inception date and performance begin in the month
following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see the Benchmark History for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 5 of 12



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class & Manager Performance | As of December 31, 2024
Market Value

($)
% of

Portfolio
1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

  Credit 7,433,085 1.6 0.6 0.8 7.9 3.7 5.4 -- 5.2 Feb-15

      Blmbg. U.S. Corp: High Yield Index -0.4 0.2 8.2 2.9 4.2 -- 5.1

            Excess Return 1.0 0.6 -0.3 0.8 1.2 -- 0.1

    Polen Capital 7,433,085 1.6 0.6 0.8 7.9 3.7 5.4 -- 5.2 Feb-15

      ICE BofA U.S.  High Yield Index -0.4 0.2 8.2 2.9 4.0 -- 5.1

            Excess Return 1.0 0.6 -0.3 0.8 1.4 -- 0.2

  Covered Calls 20,191,744 4.4 -1.2 3.0 18.4 7.5 11.4 10.2 9.9 Apr-14

      Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index 2.2 5.8 20.1 6.0 6.9 6.9 6.7

            Excess Return -3.4 -2.8 -1.7 1.5 4.5 3.2 3.1

    Parametric BXM 9,642,261 2.1 -1.1 3.4 16.9 6.9 9.0 8.3 8.0 Apr-14

      Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index 2.2 5.8 20.1 6.0 6.9 6.9 6.7

            Excess Return -3.3 -2.4 -3.3 0.9 2.1 1.3 1.2

    Parametric DeltaShift 10,549,483 2.3 -1.3 2.6 19.9 8.1 13.6 11.7 11.9 Apr-14

      Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index 2.2 5.8 20.1 6.0 6.9 6.9 6.7

            Excess Return -3.5 -3.2 -0.2 2.1 6.7 4.7 5.1

Performance shown is net of fees. Since inception date and performance begin in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see the Benchmark History for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 6 of 12



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class & Manager Performance | As of December 31, 2024
Market Value

($)
% of

Portfolio
1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

  Crisis Risk Offset 37,541,773 8.1 -1.0 -4.2 -3.6 -6.0 -9.6 -- -7.0 Aug-18

      Crisis Risk Offset Benchmark -0.8 -2.4 2.0 3.1 0.1 -- 0.3

            Excess Return -0.2 -1.8 -5.6 -9.1 -9.7 -- -7.4

    Kepos Alternative Risk Premia 12,522,581 2.7 1.7 2.0 15.0 -- -- -- 8.0 Feb-22

      SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index 1.5 1.0 9.4 -- -- -- 6.8

            Excess Return 0.2 1.0 5.6 -- -- -- 1.3

    Versor Trend Following 12,707,305 2.7 1.1 -5.4 -14.7 -- -- -- -5.9 Apr-22

      SG Trend Index 1.5 0.3 2.6 -- -- -- 2.3

            Excess Return -0.4 -5.7 -17.3 -- -- -- -8.2

    Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF 12,311,888 2.7 -5.5 -8.8 -6.3 -11.9 -5.2 -- -4.2 Jul-19

      Blmbg. U.S. Gov Long Index -5.3 -8.6 -6.4 -11.9 -5.2 -- -4.1

            Excess Return -0.2 -0.2 0.1 0.0 -0.1 -- -0.1

  Cash 16,425,606 3.5 0.0 0.2 0.8 0.3 0.4 0.8 0.6 Mar-11

Performance shown is net of fees. Since inception date and performance begin in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see the Benchmark History for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 7 of 12



Cash Flow Summary
Month to Date

Beginning
Market Value($) Net Cash Flow($)

Net Investment
Change($)

Ending
Market Value($)

Northern Trust Russell 1000 112,983,601 - -3,146,357 109,837,244

EARNEST Partners 44,424,381 72,901 -2,985,917 41,511,365

Wellington Select Quality Equity 28,244,200 - -1,245,264 26,998,936

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 15,805,357 249,201 -1,287,272 14,767,286

Rice Hall James 18,709,605 - -738,027 17,971,578

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 16,843,710 -238,625 -591,840 16,013,244

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 45,217,757 - -851,646 44,366,111

Ramirez 75,852,524 - -1,435,836 74,416,688

Wellington Core Bond 7,264,378 - -103,857 7,160,521

Reams 28,845,891 - -511,274 28,334,617

Polen Capital 7,392,356 - 40,729 7,433,085

Parametric BXM 9,743,383 - -101,122 9,642,261

Parametric DeltaShift 10,682,093 - -132,610 10,549,483

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia 12,311,976 - 210,604 12,522,581

Versor Trend Following 12,568,640 - 138,664 12,707,305

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF 13,128,232 -94,669 -721,675 12,311,888

Cash - Money Market 6,248,289 363,128 3,189 6,614,606

Cash - Treasury 9,824,000 -13,000 - 9,811,000

Securities Lending Northern Trust - -10,590 10,590 -

OPFRS Total Plan 476,090,374 328,346 -13,448,922 462,969,798

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Financial Reconciliation | December 31, 2024

Page 8 of 12



Benchmark History
From Date To Date Benchmark

OPFRS Total Plan

07/01/2024 Present 34.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA (Net), 44.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 10.0% Crisis Risk Offset
Benchmark

06/01/2022 07/01/2024 40.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA (Net), 31.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 2.0% Blmbg. U.S. Corp:
High Yield Index, 5.0% Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index, 10.0% Crisis Risk Offset Benchmark

01/01/2019 06/01/2022 40.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 31.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 5.0% Cboe S&P 500 Buy
Write Index, 2.0% Blmbg. U.S. Treasury: Long, 10.0% Crisis Risk Offset Benchmark

05/01/2016 01/01/2019 48.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 20.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 20.0% CBOE BXM

10/01/2015 05/01/2016 43.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 20.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 15.0% CBOE BXM,
10.0% CPI - All Urban Consumers (unadjusted) +3%

01/01/2014 10/01/2015 48.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 20.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 10.0% CBOE BXM,
10.0% CPI - All Urban Consumers (unadjusted) +3%

03/01/2013 01/01/2014 40.0% Russell 3000 Index, 10.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 17.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 33.0% ICE BofA 3 Month
U.S. T-Bill

08/01/2012 03/01/2013 20.0% Russell 3000 Index, 7.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 18.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 55.0% ICE BofA 3 Month
U.S. T-Bill

10/01/2007 08/01/2012 53.0% Russell 3000 Index, 17.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 30.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index

04/01/2006 10/01/2007 35.0% Russell 3000 Index, 15.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 50.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index

01/01/2005 04/01/2006 35.0% Russell 3000 Index, 50.0% Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index, 15.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index

04/01/1998 01/01/2005 20.0% Russell 1000 Value Index, 10.0% Russell 1000 Index, 5.0% Russell Midcap Index, 50.0% Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index,
15.0% MSCI EAFE (Net)

01/01/1978 04/01/1998 40.0% S&P 500 Index, 55.0% Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index, 5.0% FTSE 3 Month T-Bill

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Benchmark History | As of December 31, 2024

Page 9 of 12



Benchmark History
From Date To Date Benchmark

Domestic Equity

01/01/2005 Present 100.0% Russell 3000 Index

04/01/1998 01/01/2005 57.1% Russell 1000 Value Index, 28.6% Russell 1000 Index, 14.3% Russell Midcap Index

09/01/1988 04/01/1998 100.0% S&P 500 Index

International Equity

01/01/2005 Present 100.0% MSCI AC World ex USA (Net)

01/01/1998 01/01/2005 100.0% MSCI EAFE Index

Fixed Income

04/01/2006 Present 100.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index

01/01/1976 04/01/2006 100.0% Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index

Covered Calls

04/01/2014 Present Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index

Crisis Risk Offset

01/01/2023 Present 33.3% SG Trend Index, 33.3% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index, 33.3% Blmbg. U.S. Government: Long Term Bond Index

08/01/2018 01/01/2023 100.0% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index

Cash

03/01/2011 Present FTSE 3 Month T-Bill

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

 Benchmark History | As of December 31, 2024

Page 10 of 12



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Additional Information

Additional Information

Performance Return Types: Performance shown is net of fees, except for OPFRS Total Plan, Domestic Equity, and International

Equity Composites, which have a mix of gross and net of fees performance. Performance shown for OPFRS Total Plan and

International Equity composite is gross of fees prior to January 2016. Performance shown for Domestic Equity composite is gross of

fees prior to January 2017.

Inception Date: Since inception date and performance begin in the month following an investments initial funding.

Fiscal Year: Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Fair Value Pricing Methodology: Though Vanguard Developed Markets ETF is a passive strategy, short-term performance may

appear to diverge from the index it tracks more than would be expected. This is due to Fair Value Pricing (FVP) adjustments that

address the pricing discrepancies that may arise from time-zone differences among global securities markets. The resulting temporary

divergence is expected to correct itself when the foreign markets reopen.

Page 11 of 12



 
Disclaimer  

 
 

 

MEKETA.COM 

THIS REPORT (THE “REPORT”) HAS BEEN PREPARED FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”).  

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT, AND IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 
RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT. THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN, INCLUDING ANY OPINIONS OR 
RECOMMENDATIONS, REPRESENTS OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY 
TIME. ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK, AND THERE CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS 
DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

THE INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT MAY HAVE BEEN OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND 
OTHER EXTERNAL SOURCES. SOME OF THIS REPORT MAY HAVE BEEN PRODUCED WITH THE ASSISTANCE OF ARTIFICIAL 
INTELLIGENCE (“AI”) TECHNOLOGY. WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT 
GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY, ADEQUACY, VALIDITY, RELIABILITY, AVAILABILITY, OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY INFORMATION 
CONTAINED HEREIN, WHETHER OBTAINED EXTERNALLY OR PRODUCED BY THE AI. 

THE RECIPIENT SHOULD BE AWARE THAT THIS REPORT MAY INCLUDE AI-GENERATED CONTENT THAT MAY NOT HAVE CONSIDERED 
ALL RISK FACTORS. THE RECIPIENT IS ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH THEIR MEKETA ADVISOR OR ANOTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISOR 
BEFORE MAKING ANY FINANCIAL DECISIONS OR TAKING ANY ACTION BASED ON THE CONTENT OF THIS REPORT. WE BELIEVE THE 
INFORMATION TO BE FACTUAL AND UP TO DATE BUT DO NOT ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ERRORS OR OMISSIONS IN THE 
CONTENT PRODUCED. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL WE BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, DIRECT, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, 
OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES OR ANY DAMAGES WHATSOEVER, WHETHER IN AN ACTION OF CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, OR OTHER TORT, 
ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE USE OF THIS CONTENT. IT IS IMPORTANT FOR THE RECIPIENT TO CRITICALLY 
EVALUATE THE INFORMATION PROVIDED. 

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE 
IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM,” “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” 
“ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE,” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE 
TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS REPORT ARE 
BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY 
DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS REPORT. 

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE 
RESULTS. 

Page 12 of 12



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 

MEKETA.COM  

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

 

TO: Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) 
FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 
DATE:  January 29, 2025 
RE:  Benchmark Update Recommendations: Fixed Income & Credit 

 

Meketa reviews the benchmarks for the PFRS portfolio, the underlying classes, and the various 
managers, at least on an annual basis, to determine the continued suitability of these benchmarks in light 
of changing investment markets and the portfolio structure in transition. 

At the PFRS meeting in June 2024, Meketa reviewed the Fixed Income asset class and recommended 
a structure with two core- and two core-plus fixed income managers combining the Fixed Income and 
Credit components which are currently managed separately. 

Meketa recommends Bloomberg US Aggregate Index as the primary benchmark for the combined 
Fixed Income & Credit asset class as the successor and replacement of Fixed Income asset 
class’s Bloomberg US Universal Index starting January 1, 2025. This will also update the corresponding 
component within the Total Plan Policy Benchmark. 

Asset Class Current Benchmark New Benchmark 

Fixed Income (as combined Fixed 
Income & Credit) 

Bloomberg US Universal Index Bloomberg US Aggregate Index 

Meketa will continue to review benchmarks and make recommendations as part of ongoing asset class 
and manager roster reviews throughout the year. 

 

 

 

 

DS/PN/JLC/mn 

 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
MEKETA.COM 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 
Suite 300A 
Portland, OR 97210 

503.226.1050 
Meketa.com 

TO: Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) 
FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 
DATE:  January 29, 2025 
RE:  Core Fixed Income Manager Search Update & Finalist Recommendations 

 

This memorandum provides the PFRS Board with an update of the Request For Proposal (RFP) process 
for active Core Fixed Income managers along with an overview of the recommended finalists for further 
consideration. 

Background 

At the July 2024 meeting, the Board approved a search process to identify the most attractive candidates 
to manage PFRS’s two Core and two Core Plus mandates. These managers will be benchmarked to 
Bloomberg US Aggregate Bond Index with an allocation range of approximately $25 to $100 million each. 

Meketa released an RFP in October 2024 with a due date of November 1, 2024 for all prospective 
manager responses. The RFP contained a wide spectrum of questions that seek specific answers from 
the manager candidates on several topics related to the investment management of an active Core Fixed 
Income portfolio on behalf of PFRS. As a result of the RFP, Meketa received responses from 39 Core 
Fixed Income managers including the incumbents in the PFRS portfolio. 

Meketa evaluated the RFPs and analyzed performance, risk data, and other qualitative factors from each 
of the responding firms. Based on both qualitative and quantitative analysis, Meketa narrowed the field 
to a shortlist of eight managers for further consideration. Upon further analysis, the shortlist is narrowed 
down to three finalists for consideration and an interview by PFRS. Additional details on this process, 
including the list of all respondents, are included in the following pages. 

Recommendation 

Meketa recommends that the PFRS Board select the three following Core Fixed Income managers as 
finalists to be interviewed by PFRS Investment Committee, based on our review of the managers’ RFP 
responses. 

Recommended Finalists1 Product 

Loomis, Sayles & Company Core Disciplined Alpha 

Loop Capital Asset Management Core 

Ramirez Asset Management2 Core Fixed Income 

Upon completion of the search process, Meketa recommends that the Investment Committee select two 
managers. Each Core Fixed Income manager will be allocated approximately between $25 and 
$100 million.  

 
1 The manager list is sorted alphabetically. 
2 Ramirez is an incumbent manager with a Core Fixed Income mandate. 



 

January 29, 2025 

 

 
 Page 2 of 4 

 

Manager Search Process 

The following table contains the list of 39 respondents and their proposed products. 

Firm Product Firm Product 

AFL-CIO Housing Investment Trust Housing Investment Trust Manulife Asset Management (US) US Core 

Allspring Global Investments Core Fixed Income Merganser Capital Management Core Aggregate 

American Century Investments US Core Fixed Income MetLife Investment Management Core Fixed Income 

Brown Advisory Sustainable Core Fixed Income MFS Investment Management Core Fixed Income 

C.S. McKee Aggregate Fixed Income Neuberger Berman Core Fixed Income 

Columbia Threadneedle Inv. US Core Fixed Income New Century Advisors Core Bond 

Diamond Hill Capital Management Core Bond Northern Trust Asset Management Core 

Dimensional Fund Advisors US Core Fixed Income Nuveen Core Bond 

Federated Hermes Core Aggregate PGIM Fixed Income Core Fixed Income 

Fort Washington Inv. Advisors Core Bond Principal Global Investors Core Fixed Income 

Galliard Capital Management Broad Market Core Ramirez Asset Management Core Fixed Income 

Garcia Hamilton & Associates Fixed Income - Aggregate Sage Advisory Services Core Aggregate 

Income Research & Management Aggregate Sawgrass Asset Management High-Quality Core 

Insight Investment Core Schroder Investment Management Value Core 

Johnson Investment Counsel Core Fixed Income SLC Management Core Fixed Income 

Lazard Asset Management US Core Fixed Income T. Rowe Price Associates US Core Bond 

Longfellow Investment Mgmt. Core Vaughan Nelson Investment Mgmt. Core Fixed Income 

Loomis, Sayles & Company Core Disciplined Alpha Washington Capital Management Core Fixed Income 

Loop Capital Asset Management Core WEDGE Capital Management Core Aggregate Fixed Income 

Manulife Asset Management (US) US Core Wellington Management Company Core Bond 

To narrow the list to the eight managers below, respondents were removed for the following reasons: 

→ Consistency with scope of manager search, 

→ Ownership structure, 

→ Level of conviction in manager strategy/process, 

→ Track record and consistency of risk-adjusted returns, and 

→ Correlation with existing manager and/or other candidates. 

Eight Shortlisted Core Fixed Income Managers 

Income Research & Management 

Longfellow Investment Management Co. 

Loomis, Sayles & Company 

Loop Capital Asset Management 

MFS Investment Management 

Ramirez Asset Management 

Schroder Investment Management 

Wellington Management Company 



 

January 29, 2025 

 

 
 Page 3 of 4 

 

These eight firms were then analyzed on a quantitative and qualitative basis to determine a 
recommended list of finalists. The major areas of focus for each considered manager were: 

→ Organization: Focuses on the capacity of the firm to provide the required services. Also includes 
consideration of issues that may impact a firm’s operational stability, such as litigation brought against 
the firm. 

→ Investment Professionals: Explores the experience, capacity, and depth of the firm’s professionals, 
particularly with respect to the mandate under consideration. 

→ Investment Strategy: Review of investment philosophy, approach, strategy, and risk management 
to ensure they are consistent with the considered mandate. 

→ Client Base/Services: Seeks to identify whether the manager has experience servicing mandates 
similar in size and type to the one considered by OPFRS. 

→ Quantitative Analysis of Historical Performance and Characteristics: An analysis of portfolio 
performance and characteristics to determine whether actual management of the portfolio has been 
consistent with results expected under the considered mandate and if the proposed strategy is 
complementary to the plan’s existing investments. 

→ Fees: The costs of implementing the mandate deserve separate consideration and can vary 
substantially across a subset of candidates. Fees were computed based on an assumed mandate 
size of $70 million3. 

All three of the recommended finalists were identified as possessing the ability to provide PFRS with the 
appropriate services. 

Finalist Manager Candidates4 

 Loomis Loop Ramirez 

Firm Location Boston, MA Miami, FL New York, NY 

Firm Inception 1926 1985 2002 

Ownership Structure 100% Parent Owned 100% Parent Owned 100% Parent Owned 

Strategy Name Core Disciplined Alpha Core Fixed Income Core Fixed Income 

Strategy Inception August 2010 January 2009 September 2008 

AUM (Firm) $359.7 billion $9.3 billion $11.4 billion 

AUM (Strategy) $13.4 billion $3.6 billion $2.7 billion 

  

 
3 The assumed mandate size of $70 million is approximately a quarter of the total dollar allocation amount of PFRS’s allocation target for Fixed Income and Credit component 

(61%) applied to the Total Plan market value as of 12/31/2024 ($463 million). 
4 The manager list is sorted alphabetically. 



 

January 29, 2025 

 

 
 Page 4 of 4 

 

Finalist Manager Candidates Performance (Gross of Fees), as of June 30, 20245: 

  Loomis Loop Ramirez Benchmark6 

Trailing Period Returns (%): 

    

YTD -0.4 -0.2 -0.2 -0.7 

1 Year 3.2 3.0 3.2 2.6 

3 Years -2.7 -2.8 -2.7 -3.0 

5 Years 0.4 0.1 0.2 -0.2 

7 Years 1.4 1.1 1.5 0.9 

10 Years 1.9 1.5 2.1 1.3 

Calendar Year Returns (%)         

2023 6.1 6.0 6.2 5.5 

2022 -12.9 -13.2 -12.9 -13.0 

2021 -1.1 -1.6 -0.3 -1.5 

2020 9.3 8.1 7.1 7.5 

2019 9.2 9.4 9.7 8.7 

2018 0.2 -0.5 0.2 0.0 

2017 3.9 4.5 5.0 3.5 

2016 3.7 4.8 4.0 2.6 

2015 1.1 -1.2 1.2 0.5 

2014 6.5 6.5 6.9 6.0 

Finalist Manager Candidates: Fees and Terms 

 Loomis Loop Ramirez 

Investment Vehicle Type 
Commingled 

Separate Account or 
Commingled 

Separate Account 

Liquidity Daily Daily Daily 

All-in-Fee 22.5 bps 20 bps 22 bps 

Peer Group Percentile Rank7 
28 – Commingled Fund 

11 – Separate Account; 
17 – Commingled Fund 

22 – Separate Account 

 

DS/PN/JLC/mn 
 

 
5  Manager performance displayed as gross of fees composite returns provided by manager. 
6 Benchmark is Bloomberg US Aggregate Bond Index. 
7  Peer group rankings displayed represent lowest fees as 1 to highest fees as 100. Rankings compare effective fees from manager RFP responses against the eVestment US 

Core Fixed Income Universe for mandate size of $70 million. 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
MEKETA.COM 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 
Suite 300A 
Portland, OR 97210 

503.226.1050 
Meketa.com 

TO: Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) 
FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 
DATE:  January 29, 2025 
RE:  Core Plus Fixed Income Manager Search Update & Finalist Recommendations 

 

This memorandum provides the PFRS Board with an update of the Request For Proposal (RFP) process 
for active Core Plus Fixed Income managers along with an overview of the recommended finalists for 
further consideration. 

Background 

At the July 2024 meeting, the Board approved a search process to identify the most attractive candidates 
to manage PFRS’s two Core and two Core Plus mandates. These managers will be benchmarked to 
Bloomberg US Aggregate Bond Index with an allocation range of approximately $25 to $100 million each. 

Meketa released an RFP in October 2024 with a due date of November 1, 2024 for all prospective 
manager responses. The RFP contained a wide spectrum of questions that seek specific answers from 
the manager candidates on several topics related to the investment management of an active Core Plus 
Fixed Income portfolio on behalf of PFRS. As a result of the RFP, Meketa received responses from 
32 firms for 34 Core Plus Fixed Income strategies including the incumbents in the PFRS portfolio. 

Meketa evaluated the RFPs and analyzed performance, risk data, and other qualitative factors from each 
of the responding firms. Based on both qualitative and quantitative analysis, Meketa narrowed the field 
to a shortlist of eight managers for further consideration. Upon further analysis, the shortlist is narrowed 
down to three finalists for consideration and an interview by PFRS. Additional details on this process, 
including the list of all respondents, are included in the following pages. 

Recommendation 

Meketa recommends that the PFRS Board select the three following Core Plus Fixed Income managers 
as finalists to be interviewed by PFRS Investment Committee, based on our review of the managers’ 
RFP responses. 

Recommended Finalists1 Product 

Income Research & Management Core Plus 

Reams Asset Management2 Core Plus 

Wellington Management Company3 Core Bond Plus 

Upon completion of the search process, Meketa recommends that the Investment Committee select two 
managers. Each Core Plus Fixed Income manager will be allocated approximately between $25 and 
$100 million.  

 
1 The manager list is sorted alphabetically. 
2 Reams is an incumbent manager with a Core Plus Fixed Income mandate 
3 Wellington is an incumbent manager with a Core Fixed Income mandate. 



 

January  29, 2025 

 

 
 Page 2 of 4 

 

Manager Search Process 

The following table contains the list of respondents (32 firms) and their proposed products (34 strategies). 

Firm Product Firm Product 

Amundi Asset Management US Core Plus MetLife Core Plus 

Belle Haven Investments Taxable Plus MFS Investment Management Core Plus 

Brandywine Global Inv. Mgmt. US Fixed Income Neuberger Berman Core Plus 

Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. Core Plus Newfleet Asset Management Core Plus 

DoubleLine Capital Core Plus Northern Trust Asset Mgmt. Core Plus 

DoubleLine Capital Total Return Nuveen Core Bond Plus 

Ducenta Squared Asset Mgmt. Core Plus Pacific Asset Management Core Plus Bond 

Federated Hermes Core Plus PGIM Fixed Income Core Plus Fixed Income 

Fidelity Institutional Asset Mgmt. Core Plus Pugh Capital Management Core Plus 

Fort Washington Inv. Advisors Core Plus Reams Asset Management Core Plus Fixed Income 

Income Research & Management Core Plus Sit Investment Associates Return Plus 

Insight Investment Core Plus Sit Investment Associates Total Return 

Johnson Investment Counsel Core Plus Victory Capital Management Core Plus Fixed Income 

Longfellow Investment Mgmt. Core Plus Voya Investment Management Core Plus 

Loop Capital Asset Management Core Plus Washington Capital Core Plus 

MacKay Shields Core Plus Opportunities Wellington Management Company Core Bond Plus 

Manulife Asset Management (US) US Core Plus Xponance, Inc. Yield Advantage Opportunistic Core 

To narrow the list to the eight managers below, respondents were removed for the following reasons: 

→ Consistency with scope of manager search, 

→ Ownership structure, 

→ Level of conviction in manager strategy/process, 

→ Track record and consistency of risk-adjusted returns, and 

→ Correlation with existing manager and/or other candidates. 

Eight Shortlisted Core Plus Fixed Income Managers 

Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 

Fidelity Institutional Asset Management 

Income Research & Management 

Longfellow Investment Management Co. 

Loop Capital Asset Management 

PGIM Fixed Income 

Reams Asset Management Company 

Wellington Management Company 

 
  



 

January  29, 2025 

 

 
 Page 3 of 4 

 

These eight firms were then analyzed on a quantitative and qualitative basis to determine a 
recommended list of finalists. The major areas of focus for each considered manager were: 

→ Organization: Focuses on the capacity of the firm to provide the required services. Also includes 
consideration of issues that may impact a firm’s operational stability, such as litigation brought against 
the firm. 

→ Investment Professionals: Explores the experience, capacity, and depth of the firm’s professionals, 
particularly with respect to the mandate under consideration. 

→ Investment Strategy: Review of investment philosophy, approach, strategy, and risk management 
to ensure they are consistent with the considered mandate. 

→ Client Base/Services: Seeks to identify whether the manager has experience servicing mandates 
similar in size and type to the one considered by OPFRS. 

→ Quantitative Analysis of Historical Performance and Characteristics: An analysis of portfolio 
performance and characteristics to determine whether actual management of the portfolio has been 
consistent with results expected under the considered mandate and if the proposed strategy is 
complementary to the plan’s existing investments. 

→ Fees: The costs of implementing the mandate deserve separate consideration and can vary 
substantially across a subset of candidates. Fees were computed based on an assumed mandate 
size of $70 million4. 

All three of the recommended finalists were identified as possessing the ability to provide PFRS with the 
appropriate services. 

Finalist Manager Candidates5 

 IR&M Reams  Wellington  

Firm Location Boston, MA Indianapolis, IN Boston, MA 

Firm Inception 1987 1981 1982 

Ownership Structure Employee-owned Publicly Traded Limited Liability Partnership 

Strategy Name Core Plus Core Plus Core Bond Plus 

Strategy Inception July 2017 June 1981 March 1990 

AUM (Firm) $102.2 billion $10.1 billion $1.3 trillion 

AUM (Strategy) $1.5 billion $8.1 billion $17.6 billion 

 

  

 
4 The assumed mandate size of $70 million is approximately a quarter of the total dollar allocation amount of PFRS’s allocation target for Fixed Income and Credit component 

(61%) applied to the Total Plan market value as of 12/31/2024 ($463 million). 
5 The manager list is sorted alphabetically. 



 

January  29, 2025 

 

 
 Page 4 of 4 

 

Finalist Manager Candidates Performance (Gross of Fees), as of June 30, 20246: 

  IR&M Reams Wellington Benchmark7 

Trailing Period Returns (%): 

    

YTD 0.2 -0.4 0.5 -0.7 

1 Year 4.2 2.9 5.0 2.6 

3 Years -2.2 -1.9 -2.2 -3.0 

5 Years 1.1 2.1 0.9 -0.2 

7 Years --- 2.8 1.9 0.9 

10 Years --- 2.8 2.3 1.3 

Calendar Year Returns (%)         

2023 7.1 6.9 7.5 5.5 

2022 -13.1 -11.7 -13.8 -13.0 

2021 0.1 -1.4 -0.5 -1.5 

2020 9.9 17.0 9.7 7.5 

2019 10.1 8.7 10.6 8.7 

2018 0.0 1.3 -0.2 0.0 

2017 --- 3.7 5.4 3.5 

2016 --- 4.4 4.8 2.6 

2015 --- 0.4 -0.1 0.5 

2014 --- 3.8 6.2 6.0 

Finalist Manager Candidates: Fees and Terms 

 IR&M Reams Wellington 

Vehicle Type 
Commingled (Private 

Investment Fund) or Separate 
Account 

Separate Account Commingled Fund 

Liquidity Daily N/A Daily 

All-in-Fee 19 bps 20 bps 
20 bps (15bps Management 

Fee and 5 bps capped 
Operating Expense)8 

Peer Group  
Percentile Rank9 

2 – Commingled Fund 

4 – Separate Account 
5 – Separate Account 1– Commingled Fund 

DS/PN/JLC/mn 

 
6  Manager performance displayed as gross of fees composite returns provided by manager. 
7 Benchmark is Bloomberg US Aggregate Bond Index. 
8 Wellington Operating Expenses are capped at 5bps but was about 1.4bps as of 09/30/2024 
9  Peer group rankings displayed represent lowest fees as 1 to highest fees as 100. Rankings compare effective fees from manager RFP responses against the eVestment US 

Core Plus Fixed Income Universe for mandate size of $70 million. 



   

 

 
PFRS Board of Administration 

January 29, 2025 
Agenda Item:  E 

 
 
                   

                                                                                               AGENDA REPORT 
 

 

 TO: Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System  FROM: David F. Jones 

 
(PFRS) Board of Administration  PFRS Plan Administrator & 

Secretary 
    
SUBJECT: Property Tax Override (PTO) DATE: January 29, 2025 
   

 

 
The City of Oakland (“the City”) annually analyzes and sets property tax rates to levy on all Oakland 
homeowners. The City levies an ad valorem tax (the “property tax override” or “TOR”) on all property 
within the City subject to taxation by the City to help fund its pension obligations to PFRS for retired 
police officers and firefighters. In August 2024, City Council adopted Resolution No. 90303 C.M.S. 
reducing the TOR to 0.0705% from the maximum tax rate of 0.1575% due to excess fund balance 
available to support the Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) obligations.  
 
On December 17, 2024, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 90585 C.M.S. approving certain 
budget balancing actions to be taken by the City Administrator to maintain the fiscal health of the 
City of Oakland (the “City”).  One of the budget balancing actions is the reduction in PFRS tax rate 
in order to maintain affordability for Oakland residents as the City explore new tax measures for 
future elections. By reducing TOR, this gives the City capacity to seek additional taxes without 
increasing the overall tax rate to residents preventing overburdening residents with increased 
financial obligations.  
 
This action taken by the City should not impede in paying PFRS obligations because there is more 
than enough fund balance to fulfill PFRS obligations as shown in the table below. In addition, the 
City is obligated to fully fund PFRS obligations after 2026 if there is any short fall, per the City 
Charter.     
  
 

Pension Dedicated Assets  Pension Outstanding Liabilities 

PFRS Portfolio 
(12/31/24) 

TOR PFRS 
Reserve 

(12/31/24)  

Unfunded Actuarial 
Liability (UAL) 

(7/1/2024) 

Annual 
Contribution 

(FY 2025) 
Pension Obligation 

Bonds (FY 2025) 

$475,700,000 $418,150,000  ($58,357,000) ($34,800,000) ($56,112,000) 

https://oakland.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6817013&GUID=6A3E03F4-560B-4611-94A2-DE6F10811E5B&Options=ID|Text|&Search=90393
https://oakland.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=7028722&GUID=E1109821-DA15-4CFD-ADB8-E9AEC909D7A1


Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System Board of Administration 
Subject: Property Tax Override (PTO) 
Date: January 29, 2025 Page 2 

PFRS Board of Administration 
January 29, 2025 

Agenda Item:  E 

If required in the future to increase the TOR to meet PFRS obligations, the City could return to a 
higher PTO tax rate based on the amount needed. However, note that after July 1, 2026, the UAL is 
expected to be fully funded and all outstanding pension bonds would have been paid off, the 
contribution would generally be equal to the administrative expense, beginning in Fiscal Year 2026-
2027. The below graph shows a projection of the City’s required contributions based on the current 
actuarial valuation report. Again, reducing the TOR will not negatively impact the City’s ability to fully 
fund the PFRS obligations. 

For questions regarding this report, please contact Maxine Visaya, Administrative Analyst I, at 
(510) 238-7295.

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System 

Attachments: (1) FY 2024-25 Budget Balancing Agenda Report & Attachments A & B 
(2) FY 2024-25 Tax Levy Agenda Report & Attachment A
(3) Resolution No. 90303 C.M.S.



ATTACHMENT 1
FY 2024-25 Budget Balancing Agenda Report

& Attachments A & B



















































































































































































































ATTACHMENT 2
FY 2024-25 Tax Levy Agenda Report

& Attachment A



Mayor’s/Council Summer Recess 
August 20, 2024 

 

 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 

TO: Jestin D. Johnson FROM: Erin Roseman 
 City Administrator  Director of Finance 

SUBJECT: Fiscal Year 2024-25 Tax Levy For 
Voter Approved Indebtedness 

DATE: August 1, 2024 

 
City Administrator Approval Date: 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff Recommends That The City Council Adopt A Resolution Fixing The Rate Of Property 
Tax And Levying A Tax On Real And Personal Property In The City Of Oakland For Fiscal 
Year 2024-25 For Voter-Approved Indebtedness. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Adoption of the proposed resolution will permit the City of Oakland (the “City”) to collect the Fiscal 
Year 2024-25 (“FY24-25”) property tax revenues for the payment of the City’s voter approved 
outstanding general obligation (“GO”) bonds debt service and Police and Fire Retirement System 
(“PFRS”) obligations. The City must annually set property tax levy rates, based on the assessed 
valuation subject to taxation, and must inform the County of Alameda (the “County”) of these rates 
by August 31st for inclusion on the stated year’s property tax bill. If the estimated GO bond rates 
need to be adjusted to reflect the actual figures for the assessed valuation, the City Administrator 
or his designee will be authorized to make the necessary adjustments. 

 
This resolution is submitted during the Summer Recess in order to calculate the property tax levy 
rates using FY24-25’s assessed valuation figures, which become available in early August, and 
meet the County’s August 31st deadline for submitting these rates for inclusion on this year’s 
property tax bill. 

 
 

BACKGROUND / LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 

The proposed resolution has been prepared pursuant to California Government Code and Article 
VIII, Section 802, of the Oakland City Charter, setting the FY24-25 property tax rate for voter- 
approved indebtedness. Article XIIIA of the California Constitution (Proposition 13) precludes the 
adoption of a City-wide property tax rate. A County-wide one percent (1%) property tax rate is 
assessed by Alameda County and apportioned to cities and special districts in accordance with 
State law. 

Jestin Johnson (Aug 5, 2024 09:18 PDT) Aug 5, 2024



Jestin D. Johnson, City Administrator 
Subject: Fiscal Year 2024-25 Tax Levy For Voter Approved Indebtedness 
Date: August 1, 2024 Page 2 

Mayor’s/Council Summer Recess 
August 20, 2024 

 

 

ANALYSIS AND POLICY ALTERNATIVES 
 

The Citywide priority advanced by this recommended policy action meets the goal of a responsive, 
trustworthy government. 

For the City’s outstanding GO bonds, the required property tax levy rates are calculated annually 
based on the year’s debt service obligations and assessed valuation figures. 

 
For FY2024-25, the property tax levy rate required to fund the City’s continuing indebtedness to 
PFRS is 0.0705%. 

 
For the City’s FY2024-25 voter-approved indebtedness, the rates in Table 1 are estimated to 
satisfy the debt service obligations of the indicated GO bond series and indebtedness to PFRS. 

Table 1: Property Tax Rates 
 

Bond Issue Property Tax 
Rates 

$128,895,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A 0.0065% 
$26,500,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2017C (Measure DD) 0.0016% 
$62,735,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2017A-1 (Measure KK) 0.0023% 
$55,120,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2017A-2 (Measure KK) 0.0044% 
$140,010,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2020B-1 (Measure KK) 0.0041% 
$44,880,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2020B-2 (Measure KK) 0.0048% 
$64,260,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2020 0.0087% 
$198,645,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2022C-1 (Measure KK) 0.0097% 
$32,760,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023A-1 (Measure U) 0.0000% 
$68,370,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023A-2 (Measure U) 0.0019% 
$52,580,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023D (Measure KK) 0.0000% 

Police and Fire Retirement System obligations 0.0705% 
Total Levy Rate 0.11450% 

 
In the event of any changes to the County’s assessed valuation data, the proposed resolution 
allows the City Administrator or his designee to approve any necessary adjustments in the 
property tax levy rates for the indicated general obligation bonds prior to the County’s preparation 
of the tax bills. The City Council will be notified of any significant changes to the rates estimated 
in this report. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 
Adoption of this proposed resolution will allow the City to levy and collect the FY24-25 property tax 
revenues of approximately $37 million, which are included in the FY 2024-2025 Adopted Mid-Cycle 
Budget, for the payment of debt service on the City’s outstanding general obligation bonds and $59 
million for the payment of Police and Fire Retirement System obligations. The property tax rate 
calculations can be found in Attachment A. 



Jestin D. Johnson, City Administrator 
Subject: Fiscal Year 2024-25 Tax Levy For Voter Approved Indebtedness 
Date: August 1, 2024 Page 3 

Mayor’s/Council Summer Recess 
August 20, 2024 

 

 

 
PUBLIC OUTREACH / INTEREST 

 
This item did not require public outreach other than the required posting on the City’s website. 

 
COORDINATION 

 
This report was prepared by the Finance Department, and the legislation has been 
reviewed by the City Attorney’s Office. 

 
SUSTAINABLE OPPORTUNITIES 

 
Economic: Essential City services that serve the public greatly rely upon revenues generated 
from voter-approved special tax measures. 

 
Environmental: There are no direct environmental impacts associated with the City Council 
action requested in this report. 

Race & Equity: To the extent authorized by the individual measure, the funding provided from 
tax levies can be used to support Oakland’s equity goals and objectives, including programs and 
services to Oakland’s vulnerable population and communities of color. Some voter-approved 
measures, other than the general obligation bond measures, provide a mechanism for the 
exemptions from parcel tax to qualifying low-income households, senior households, affordable 
housing projects and certain religious organizations and schools. 



Jestin D. Johnson, City Administrator 
Subject: Fiscal Year 2024-25 Tax Levy For Voter Approved Indebtedness 
Date: August 1, 2024 Page 4 

Mayor’s/Council Summer Recess 
August 20, 2024 

 

 

 
 
Erin Roseman (Aug 2, 2024 12:00 PDT) 

ACTION REQUESTED OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
 

Staff Recommends That The City Council Adopt A Resolution Fixing The Rate Of Property Tax 
And Levying A Tax On Real And Personal Property In The City Of Oakland For Fiscal Year 2024- 
25 For Voter-Approved Indebtedness. 

For questions regarding this report, please contact Dawn Hort, Assistant Treasury Administrator, 
at (510) 238-2994. 

 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

ERIN ROSEMAN 
Director of Finance 
Finance Department 

 
 

Reviewed by: 
David Jones, Treasury Administrator 
Treasury Bureau 

 
 

Prepared by: 
Greg Danielian, Financial Analyst 
Treasury Bureau 

 
Attachments (1) 

 
(A) : General Obligation Bonds Levy Calculations for Fiscal Year 2024-25 



 

 

Attachment A 

City of Oakland 
General Obligation Bonds 

Levy Calculations for Fiscal Year 2024-25 

 

Bond Description 
Fund Number 

Series 2015A 
(Refunding) 

6064 

Series 2017C 
(Measure DD) 

6322 

Series 2017A-1 
(Measure KK) 

6330 

Series 2017A-2 
(Measure KK) 

6331 

Series 2020B-1 
(Measure KK) 

6332 

Series 2020B-2 
(Measure KK) 

6333 

Series 2020 
(Refunding) 

6334 

Series 2022C-1 
(Measure KK) 

6335 

Series 2023 A-1 
(Measure U) 

6340 

Series 2023A-2 
(Measure U) 

6341 

Series 2023D 
(Measure KK) 

6337 

GOB 
TOTAL 

Cash available for debt service as of 6/30/2024             

Cash held by Treasury  1,095,736 389,846 1,175,006 560,378 2,037,974 538,291 -938,363 7,889,491 802,483 11,203,936 1,183,846 25,938,624 
Cash held by Trustee  2,753 7,570 652 2,057 1,440 3,412 3,858 2,573 1,831,021 698 3,108,553 4,964,589 

Total cash as of 6/30/2024 1,098,489 397,416 1,175,658 562,436 2,039,414 541,704 -934,505 7,892,065 2,633,504 11,204,635 4,292,399 30,903,214 

Debt service payments through 12/31/2025 
            

DS payments for FY 2024-25 5,504,675 1,447,931 2,239,056 4,129,280 3,932,700 4,956,444 5,798,950 10,437,900 1,755,463 12,926,355 2,811,850 55,940,604 
DS payment for 7/15/2025 1,245,588 387,966 1,119,528 501,615 1,966,350 189,006 414,622 7,144,200 877,731 1,722,419 1,405,925 16,974,949 
DS payment for 12/31/2025 - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Bank and Bond expenses for FY 2024-25 12,500 8,500 8,500 8,500 12,000 8,500 8,000 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,500 100,500 

Total debt service through 12/31/2025 6,762,763 1,844,397 3,367,084 4,639,395 5,911,050 5,153,950 6,221,572 17,590,600 2,641,694 14,657,274 4,226,275 73,016,053 

Total DS Shortfall 
 

5,664,274 1,446,981 2,191,426 4,076,959 3,871,636 4,612,246 7,156,077 9,698,535 8,189 3,452,639 (66,124) 42,112,839 
Add: Reserve of DS at 6.00% 330,281 86,876 134,343 247,757 235,962 297,387 347,937 626,274 105,328 775,581 168,711 3,356,436 
Unsecured Roll (Prior Year's Rate) FY 2023-24 (162,158) (66,771) (109,695) (195,544) (190,775) (267,084) (85,849) (629,556) (81,556) (734,005) (109,695) (2,632,690) 
Add: Projected delinquencies, unsecured roll 
at 

 
6.48% 

 
10,508 

 
4,327 

 
7,108 

 
12,671 

 
12,362 

 
17,307 

 
5,563 

 
40,795 

 
5,285 

 
47,564 

 
7,108 

 
170,598 

Less: Unitary Tax collected as of FY 2023-24 (428,701) (176,524) (290,004) (516,963) (504,354) (706,096) (226,959) (1,664,369) (37,246) (1,940,503) 0 (6,491,718) 

Balance to be levied on tax roll  5,414,203 1,294,889 1,933,179 3,624,880 3,424,832 3,953,760 7,196,769 8,071,679 0 1,601,276 0 36,515,466 

Assessed Valuation (1) 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 83,041,997,549 

Secured tax rate (2)  0.0065% 0.0016% 0.0023% 0.0044% 0.0041% 0.0048% 0.0087% 0.0097% 0.0000% 0.0019% 0.0000% 0.0440% 
Prior year's secured tax rate  0.0034% 0.0014% 0.0023% 0.0041% 0.0040% 0.0056% 0.0018% 0.0132% 0.0017% 0.0154% 0.0023% 0.0552% 
Variance  0.0031% 0.0002% 0.0000% 0.0003% 0.0001% -0.0008% 0.0069% -0.0035% -0.0017% -0.0135% -0.0023% -0.0112% 
Note: Totals may not add up due to              

rounding.              

 
(1) AV is net of 1.77% in secured roll delinquencies. 
(2) Expected Unitary Tax Revenue for FY 2024-25 not factored into the secured tax rate given the uncertainty of the value of receipt; it will be taken into account for FY 2025-26 tax roll once the monies from the County are received. 

 
Delinquency Calculation             

Unsecured roll (Net AV plus Homeowner's 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 4,769,365,621 
Prior year's tax rate 0.0034% 0.0014% 0.0023% 0.0041% 0.0040% 0.0056% 0.0018% 0.0132% 0.0017% 0.0154% 0.0023% 0.0552% 

 162,158 66,771 109,695 195,544 190,775 267,084 85,849 629,556 81,556 734,005 109,695 2,632,690 
Prior year's delinquency rate, unsecured roll 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 6.48% 
Projected delinquencies, unsecured roll 10,508 4,327 7,108 12,671 12,362 17,307 5,563 40,795 5,285 47,564 7,108 170,598 

 



ATTACHMENT 3
Resolution No. 90303 C.M.S.









OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8120 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 
 

   

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

RESOLUTION FIXING THE MONTHLY ALLOWANCE OF ANTOINETTE 
CAULFIELD, SURVIVING SPOUSE OF PATRICK H. CAULFIELD; PATRICIA 
MATHEWS, SURVIVING SPOUSE OF ALEX R. MATHEWS; AND OUIDA E. 
REED, SURVIVING SPOUSE OF JAMES M. REED, RETIRED MEMBERS OF 
THE CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

WHEREAS, the retired members of the Police and Fire Retirement System, whose 
names appears in Column (1) below, died on the dates shown in Column (2) below; and  

WHEREAS, the surviving spouses, whose names appears in Column (3) below, do 
not claim that their spouse’s death was by reason of an injury received in, or illness 
caused by, or arising out of the performance of duty; and  

WHEREAS, there is now presented to this Board, the monthly allowances shown 
in Column (7) below and as calculated by the Actuary in accordance with Article XXVI of 
the Charter of the City of Oakland; now, therefore, be it  

RESOLVED:  That the Police and Fire Retirement Board does hereby fix the 
amount shown in Column (7) as the monthly allowance that said surviving spouses shall 
receive beginning on the date shown in Column (4): 

 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) 

Name of 
Deceased 
Member 

Date of  
Death 

Name of 
Surviving 

Spouse 

Effective 
Date of 

Allowance 

Form of 
Retirement 

% of 
Compensation 

Attached to 
Avg. Rank 

Held 

Monthly 
Allowance 

Patrick H. 
Caulfield 

12/07/24 
Antoinette 
Caulfield 

12/08/24 Dis 33.333% $4,829.97 

Alex R. 
Mathews 

11/19/24 
Patricia 

Mathews 
11/20/24 Svc 33.303% $4,150.73 

James M. 
Reed 

11/06/24 
Ouida E. 

Reed 
11/07/24 Dis 33.333% $4,154.55 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA                      JANUARY 29, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:   

AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON  

NOES:  
ABSTAIN:   
EXCUSED:  
 
 
 
 

ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8121 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 
 
  

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE DEATH BENEFIT PAYMENTS AND 
DIRECTING A WARRANT THEREUNDER IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,000.00 
PAYABLE TO THE BENEFICIARY OF DECEASED CITY OF OAKLAND 
POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM MEMBERS GEORGE KASTANOS 
AND RAYMOND C. NICOLAI. 

WHEREAS, due proof having been received in accordance with Article XXVI of the 
Charter of the City of Oakland of the death of the retired members of the Oakland Police 
or Fire Department identified in Column (1) below; and  

WHEREAS, the beneficiary to whom the death benefit provided in Charter Section 
2612 is payable, is the person whose name is stated in Column (2) opposite the name of 
the deceased retired member; and  

WHEREAS, the amount of said death benefit is stated in Column (3) opposite the 
name of the beneficiary; now, therefore, be it 

RESOLVED:  That the Police and Fire Retirement System Board does hereby 
approve the Death Benefit payments to the persons named in Column (2); and be it  

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Director of Finance, be and is hereby directed to 
draw and sign a warrant for the amount in Column (3) payable to the persons whose 
names appear in Column (2): 
 

(1) (2) (3) 
Name of 

Deceased Member 
Name of Beneficiary 

Death Benefit 
Amount 

George Kastanos 
Estate of 

George Kastanos $1,000.00 

Raymond C. Nicolai 
Joanne Nicolai and 

Jennifer Nicolai $1,000.00 

 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA                      JANUARY 29, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  
AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:    
ABSENT:                                  

 

                                                        

                                                                                                         ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY 



PFRS Board of Administration 
 January 29, 2025 

Agenda Item: G 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO: Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System  FROM: David F. Jones 
(PFRS) Board of Administration PFRS Plan Administrator & 

Secretary 

SUBJECT: PFRS Board of Administration 
Agenda Pending List 

DATE: January 29, 2025 

SUBJECT MEETING DATE STATUS 

1 Status Report of the PFRS Ad Hoc 
Committee regarding Actuarial 
Funding date of July 1, 2026 

01/22/2025 Ongoing 

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System 


	_PFRS_2025.01.29_AGENDA_REGULAR_ v1.2.pdf
	A) PFRS_2024.12.11_Draft Minutes_REGULAR_v1.0.pdf
	B (a) CHEIRON_ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT_2024.07.01.pdf
	B (b) CHEIRON_ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT_2024.07.01 (interactive presentation).pdf
	C1) PFRS_ADMIN EXPENSEREPORT_NOV 2024.pdf
	C2) PFRS_TRAVEL REQUEST_JTG (final).pdf
	C3) PFRS_TRAVEL REQUEST_RSW (final).pdf
	C4) PFRS_MANNER OF MEETINGS_AR 2025.01.29 (FINAL).pdf
	Bill Text - AB-2449 Open meetings_ local agencies_ teleconferences_.pdf
	Bill Text - AB-2302 Open meetings_ local agencies_ teleconferences_.pdf
	The Brown Act_ Open Meetings For Legislative Bodies (2003).pdf
	OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY CITY OF OAKLAND_FAQ_TELECONFERENCE.pdf
	PFRS Rules & Regs - APPROVED 01JUL2018.pdf

	D1) MEKETA_ECONOMIC & MARKET UPDATE_DEC24.pdf
	D2) MEKETA_FLASH REPORT_DEC24.pdf
	D5) MEKETA_BENCHMARK UPDATE_FIXED INCOME & CREDIT.pdf
	D6) MEKETA_MANAGER SEARCH UPDATE & RECOMMENDATION_CORE FIXED.pdf
	D7) MEKETA_MANAGER SEARCH UPDATE & RECOMMENDATION_CORE PLUS FIXED.pdf
	E) PFRS_PTO (Decrease TOR)_AR 2025.01.29 (Final).pdf
	Agenda Report And Attachments A And B And Exhibit 1 (x).pdf
	FY2024-25 Tax Levy_2024.08.01 Agenda Report & Attachment A.pdf
	OCC RESO 90393 C.M.S..pdf

	F1) PFRS_RESO 8120_CONTINUANCE.pdf
	F2) 2025 PFRS RESO 8121_DEATH BENEFIT.pdf
	G) PFRS_BOARD PENDING LIST_JAN25.pdf



